vol. n. 63/4

Cited in Index Medicus / Medline NLM ID 921440 (Pub-Med)

December 2022





The Journal has been accreditated, on occasion of the 17^{ch} December 2004 Meeting of the Executive and Sciencific STCI Councils, by the Italian Society of Dyglede, Preventive Medicine and Public Dealth



journal of prevencive medicine and hygiene

Editors Emanuele Montomoli Roberto Gasparini Department of Molecular and Developmental Medicine, University of Siena, Italy Full Professor of Hygiene and Preventive Medicine Nicola Nante Department of Molecular and Developmental Medicine, University of Siena, Italy Giancarlo Icardi Department of Health Sciences, University of Genoa, Italy Andrea Orsi Interuniversity Research Centre on Influenza and other infections (CIRI-IT), Department of Health Sciences, University of Genoa, Italy University of Genoa, Italy Interuniversity Research Centre on Influenza and Other Infections (CIRI-IT), University of Genoa, Italy **International Board** Gabriella Agazzotti Donatella Panatto Department of Biomedical, Metabolic, and Neural Sciences, University of Modena Department of Health Sciences, University of Genoa, Italy and Reggio Emilia, Italy Interuniversity Research Centre on Influenza and Other Infections (CIRI-IT), University of Genoa, Italy Daniela Amicizia Department of Health Sciences, University of Genoa, Italy Vana Papaevangelou Pediatric Infectious Diseases Third Department of Pediatrics General University Interuniversity Research Centre on Influenza and Other Infections (CIRI-IT), University of Genoa, Italy Hospital Attikon, Athens, Greece Roy Anderson Bettina Fuzne Piko FRS FMedSci, London Centre for Neglected Tropical Disease Research, London, Department of Behavioral Sciences, University of Szeged, Hungary United Kingdom Mario Ramirez Department of Infectious Disease Epidemiology, School of Public Health Faculty Instituto de Microbiologia Faculdade de Medicina, University of Lisboa, Portugal of Medicine, London, United Kingdom Rino Rappuoli MRC Centre for Global infectious Disease Analysis Fondazione Biotecnopolo di Siena, Siena, Italy Italo Francesco Angelillo Linda Sanftenberg Department of Experimental Medicine, University of Campania "Luigi Vanvitelli", Institute of General Practice and Family Medicine, University Hospital, LMU Naples, Italy Munich, Germany Filippo Ansaldi Laura Sticchi Department of Health Sciences, University of Genoa, Italy Department of Health Sciences, University of Genoa, Italy Interuniversity Research Centre on Influenza and Other Infections (CIRI-IT), Interuniversity Research Centre on Influenza and Other Infections (CIRI-IT), University of Genoa, Italy University of Genoa, Italy Novita Intan Arovah Fiona Timmins Department of Sports Science, Faculty of Sports Science, Yogyakarta State School of Nursing and Midwifery, Trinity College, Dublin, Ireland University, Yogyakarta, Indonesia Pierre Van Damme Mario Alberto Battaglia Center for Health Economics Research and Modeling Infectious Diseases, Vaccine Department of Life Sciences, University of Siena, Italy and Infectious Disease Institute, University of Antwerp, Belgium Paolo Bonanni Alessandro Remo Zanetti Department of Health Sciences, University of Florence, Italy Full Professor of Hygiene and Preventive Medicine Rosa Cristina Coppola Full Professor of Hygiene and Preventive Medicine **Editorial Board** Maria Luisa Cristina Daniela Amicizia Department of Health Sciences, University of Genoa, Italy Department of Health Sciences, University of Genoa, Italy Interuniversity Research Centre on Influenza and Other Infections (CIRI-IT), Francesco D'Agostini University of Genoa, Italy Department of Health Sciences, University of Genoa, Italy Piero Luigi Lai Silvio De Flora Department of Health Sciences, University of Genoa, Italy Full Professor of Hygiene and Preventive Medicine Interuniversity Research Centre on Influenza and Other Infections (CIRI-IT), Àngela Dominguez University of Genoa, Italy Department of Medicine, University of Barcelona, Spain Donatella Panatto Consortium for Biomedical Research in Epidemiology Public Health (CIBERESP), Department of Health Sciences, University of Genoa, Italy Madrid, Spain Interuniversity Research Centre on Influenza and Other Infections (CIRI-IT), Alexander Domnich University of Genoa, Italy Hygiene Unit, IRCCS Ospedale Policlinico San Martino, Genoa, Italy © Copyright by Pacini Editore Srl, Pisa, Italy Paolo Durando Department of Health Sciences, University of Genoa, Italy Managing Editor: Patrizia Alma Pacini Publisher; Pacini Editore Srl, Via Gherardesca 1, 56121 Pisa, Italy Giovanni Gabutti Tel. +39 050 313011 - Fax +39 050 3130300 Full Professor of Hygiene and Preventive Medicine info@pacinieditore.it - www.pacinimedicina.it Arti Gupta Published online February 2023 Department of Community and Family Medicine, All India Institute of Medical Sciences Mangalagiri, Andhra Pradesh, India Authorization Tribunal of Genoa, Italy n. 507 - 10/6/1960 Journal registred at "Registro pubblico degli Operatori della Comunicazione" (Pacini Editore srl reg-istration n. 6269 - 29/8/2001). Alberto Izzotti Department of Health Sciences, University of Genoa, Italy Pablo Francisco Martina Department of Biology Sciences, University of Misiones, Argentina Volume 63 - Issue 4 December 2022

www.jpmh.org

Contents

Healthcare system preparedness for the next pandemic beyond COVID-19 situation Tungki Pratama Umar, Al Kamal Muhammad Shafiul Kadir, Yasmine Adel Mohammed, Mounir Ould Setti	E493
Access to water, sanitation and hygiene in schools: A prerequisite to achieving SDGs in India Shubharanjan Jena, Nancy Satpathy, Krushna Chandra Sahoo, Venkatarao Epari	E495
Parents' knowledge, attitude, and practices towards COVID-19 in children: A Lebanese cross-sectional study Rida Saryeddine, Zeina Ajrouch, Malak El Ahmar, Nathalie Lahoud, Roula Ajrouche	E497
Childhood immunization coverage during the COVID-19 pandemic in the province of Siracusa, Italy Fabio Contarino, Erminio Di Pietro, Francesca Bella, Concetta Randazzo, Maria Lia Contrino	E513
Role of the 1 st booster dose of COVID-19 vaccine in the protection against the infection: A fundamental public health tool	
Sebastiano Calimeri, Daniela Lo Giudice, Agata Buda, Antonio Laganà, Alessio Facciolà, Angela Di Pietro, Giuseppa Visalli	E520
Health literacy in Mediterranean general population Vincenza La Fauci, Giuseppe Trimarchi, Concetta Ceccio, Francesco Mazzitelli, Roberta Pappalardo, Valeria Alessi	E527
Russian subject-level index of multidimensional deprivation and its association with all-cause and infant mortality Anastasia Zelenina	E533
What do young people know about HIV? Results of a cross sectional study on 18-24-year-old students Alessandra Mereu, Arianna Liori, Luca Fadda, Massimiliano Puddu, Luchino Chessa, Paolo Contu, Claudia Sardu	E541
Effect of sexual enrichment program on the sexual satisfaction of pregnant women in Iran: A randomized clinical trial Fatemeh Barvanloo-Golmohamadi, Zahra Motaghi, Afsaneh Keramat, Ali Mohammad Nazari, Fatemeh Hadizadeh-Talasaz	E549
An epidemiological profile of women suffering from urinary incontinence residing at one of the cities of western India: A mixed method approach study Karan Sharma, Parth Khandhedia, Viral R. Dave	E557
Vaccine hesitancy among Ukrainian refugees Gianmarco Troiano, Giuseppe Torchia, Alessandra Nardi	E566
Smear grading at initial treatment association with treatment outcomes among new smear positive pulmonary tuberculosis patients: A retrospective study	S
Abolfazl Mohammadbeigi, Seyed Abbas Hosseinali-Pour, Mohammad Aligol, Mahdi Mohammadi, Maryam Derakhshani, Marjan Soleymani-Monfared	E573
Determinants of public interest in emerging and re-emerging arboviral diseases in Europe: A spatio-temporal analysis of cross-sectional time series data	E570
Inadequate management of cardiovascular risk factors prior to admission for an acute coronary event	EJ (9
Christos Siafarikas, Stavros Liatis, Christos Kapelios, Marina Skouloudi, Maria Bonou, John Barbetseas	E598
Predicting role of illness perception in treatment self-regulation among patients with type 2 diabetes Fariba Abdollahi, Hamed Bikdeli, Sakineh Moghaddam Zeabadi, Rana Rezai Sepasi, Roghaye Kalhor, Seyedeh Ameneh Motalebi	E604
Validation of the Italian version of the SexContraKnow instrument Valentina Rossi, Francesca Napolitano, Mark Hayter, Roger Watson, Michela Calzolari, Giuseppe Aleo, Milko Zanini, Gianluca Catania, Loredana Sasso, Annamaria Bagnasco	E611

Hepatitis B vaccination in Iran: Historical policies and programs Meysam Behzadifar, Samad Azari, Somayeh Shirkhani, Shirin Gholamrezaei, Saeed Shahabi, Leila Doshmangir, Seyed Jafar Ehsanzadeh, Mariano Martini, Nicola Luigi Bragazzi,Masoud Behzadifar	E618
The Story of the plague in the Maritime Republic of Genoa (Italy) (1656-1657): An innovative public health system and an efficacious method of territorial health organization Mariano Martini, Paolo Calcagno, Francesco Brigo, Francesca Ferrando	E625

COVID-19

Healthcare system preparedness for the next pandemic beyond COVID-19 situation

TUNGKI PRATAMA UMAR¹, AL KAMAL MUHAMMAD SHAFIUL KADIR², YASMINE ADEL MOHAMMED³,

MOUNIR OULD SETTI^{4,5}

¹ Faculty of Medicine, Sriwijaya University, Palembang, Indonesia; ²Institute of Biological Sciences (IBSc), University of Rajshahi, Bangladesh; ³ Faculty of Medicine, Assiut University, Assiut, Egypt; ⁴ Institute of Public Health and Clinical Nutrition, University of Eastern Finland, Kuopio, Finland; ⁵ Global Database Studies, IQVIA, Espoo, Finland

Keywords

COVID-19 • Healthcare • Monkeypox • Pandemic

Dear Editor,

Monkeypox (MPX), first discovered in 1970 and becoming endemic in Africa, is a zoonotic viral disease that has recently caused outbreaks in different regions worldwide since May 2022. Following this situation, MPX has been designated as a Public Health Emergency of International Concern (PHEIC) since 23rd July 2022 [1]. The recent epidemic resulted in more than 77,000 MPX confirmed cases across over 100 countries globally until 30th October 2022 [2].

In the meanwhile, the world is still struggling with the COVID-19 pandemic, which has caused a significant impact on healthcare services [3]. In a systematic review by Moynihan et al., the authors noted a 37% reduction in overall utilisation of medical care services throughout the COVID-19 pandemic period compared to the pre-pandemic years, as measured by visit (42%), admission (28%), diagnostic testing (31%), and treatment (30%) parameters [4]. This phenomenon could significantly hinder the ability of healthcare systems to overcome new global health problems.

With the dispersion of MPX, public health preparedness must be extended to nonendemic areas. Human resources, testing capacities, and personal protective equipment (PPEs) are needed for quick interventions and emergency responses. All of these requirements must be fulfilled, although it has been severely depleted during the three-year course of the COVID-19 pandemic [1]. Thus, it is vital to determine the readiness of these resources for future pandemics.

Undoubtedly, the COVID-19 pandemic has negatively affected healthcare workers in terms of mental and physical health. Moreover, this pandemic has affected the healthcare systems' financial capacities, which became unable to provide the needed beds, treatments, vaccines, and intensive care units. It is clear that healthcare systems have not yet fully recovered from the COVID-19 pandemic [5]. With the growing threat of infectious diseases, healthcare systems might not be well prepared to face the next pandemic, whether related to the current emergence of MPX or any other infectious agents.

Protecting healthcare providers should be prioritised to combat the alarming threat of future pandemics. Based on the early scenario of the COVID-19 pandemic, the healthcare system is not well prepared and thus medical personnel support is insufficient. Several countries, including Italy, Spain, United Kingdom, and United States, encountered delays in implementing containment measures and did not anticipate the impact of the pandemic due to inadequate response of stakeholders, according to data from the initial phases of the COVID-19 pandemic [6]. Three main areas of medical personnel support can be identified: harm prevention (primarily through adequate access to PPE, training, and hospital hygiene practice), access to mental health services, and promotion of positivity (using peer support intervention or feedback sessions) [7].

Global leaders and health organizations should share the same vision to improve future pandemic preparedness. As soon as an emerging pathogenic agent is discovered, governments should endorse a comprehensive research approach focusing on in public health and biomedicine [8]. The goal is clear: by gathering better evidence in the early stages of an epidemic, its overall impact could be minimized and its development into a pandemic could be averted. Treatment options, such as antiviral agents, supportive treatments, symptom-specific interventions, and immunization approaches, should be investigated. In the case of MPX, vaccination initiatives may be an essential consideration due to the cross-protection with the currently available smallpox vaccine, such as JYNNEOSTM and its ability to limit the spread of the disease while preventing the occurrence of severe disease forms [1]. Considering the relatively slow transmissibility and long incubation period of the monkeypox virus (MPXV), ring vaccination is considered a better option to protect against it than mass vaccination [9]. In addition, investigations on safety of the available therapeutic and immunization approaches should be prioritized.

Due to the pandemic potential of MPX, it is recommended for healthcare professionals to participate in educational activities on the clinical manifestation of MPX cases, universal precaution, and suitable contact tracing. Although the current MPX outbreak has a low mortality rate (< 0.01%) globally, we must still be aware of higher mortality rates in several regions,

.....

such as Eastern Mediterranean (1.38%), Africa (1.5%), and Southeast Asia (3.33%) [2]. To prevent the loss of human resources, as experienced in the early COVID-19 pandemic, the satisfaction of healthcare workers must be monitored and invested into, especially regarding workload and incentives [10].

The global surge of MPX should serve as a red flag for stakeholders to begin meaningful efforts to combat this outbreak through cooperative collaboration. Public awareness should be raised, and governments should enhance their support for research activities, primarily to determine the virus characteristics while investigating the safety and effectiveness of potential therapeutic and preventive strategies [11]. However, the most important intervention is to avert misleading information, which intensifies vaccine hesitancy, reduces vaccination rates, and suppresses public health programs, resulting in substantial loss of life and resources during the current COVID-19 pandemic [12].

Acknowledgements

Funding sources: this research did not receive any specific grant from funding agencies in the public, commercial, or not-for-profit sectors.

Conflict of interest statement

The author declares no conflict of interest.

Authors' contributions

Manuscript ideation: TPU, AKMSK, and MOS; Reference acquisition: TPU, AKMSK, and YAM; Manuscript drafting: TPU, AKMSK, and YAM; Manuscript revision: TPU and MOS. All authors have read and approved the final version of the manuscript.

References

- [1] Farahat RA, Umar TP, Khan SH, Shrestha AB, Kamran A, Essar MY, El-Sokkary RH. Preparedness of Eastern Mediterranean countries in view of monkeypox emergence during the COV-ID-19 pandemic: a call for action. Int J Surg 2022;105:106878. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijsu.2022.106878
- [2] World Health Organization. Multi-country outbreak of monkeypox, External situation report #9. 2022. Available at: https://

www.who.int/publications/m/item/multi-country-outbreak-ofmonkeypox--external-situation-report--9---2-november-2022 (accessed on 07/11/2022).

- [3] Farahat RA, Baklola M, Umar TP. Omicron B.1.1.529 subvariant: brief evidence and future prospects. Ann Med Surg 2022;83:104808. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amsu.2022.104808
- [4] Moynihan R, Sanders S, Michaleff ZA, Scott AM, Clark J, To EJ, Jones M, Kitchener E, Fox M, Johansson M, Lang E, Duggan A, Scott I, Albarqouni L. Impact of COVID-19 pandemic on utilisation of healthcare services: a systematic review. BMJ Open 2021;11:e045343. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2020-045343
- [5] Amer F, Hammoud S, Khatatbeh H, Lohner S, Boncz I, Endrei D. A systematic review: the dimensions to evaluate health care performance and an implication during the pandemic. BMC Health Serv Res2022;22:621. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-022-07863-0
- [6] Khanna RC, Cicinelli MV, Gilbert SS, Honavar SG, Murthy GSV. COVID-19 pandemic: lessons learned and future directions. Indian J Ophthalmol 2020;68:703-710. https://doi. org/10.4103/ijo.IJO_843_20
- [7] David E, DePierro JM, Marin DB, Sharma V, Charney DS, Katz CL. COVID-19 Pandemic support programs for healthcare workers and implications for occupational mental health: a narrative review. Psychiatr Q 2022;93:227-247. https://doi. org/10.1007/s11126-021-09952-5
- [8]van Schalkwyk MCI, McKee M. Research into policy: lessons from the COVID-19 pandemic. Eur J Public Health 2021;31(Suppl. 4):iv3-iv8. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurpub/ckab155
- [9] Kozlov M. Monkeypox vaccination begins can the global outbreaks be contained? Nature 2022;606:444-445. https://doi. org/10.1038/d41586-022-01587-1
- [10] Bandyopadhyay S, Baticulon RE, Kadhum M, Alser M, Ojuka DK, Badereddin Y, Kamath A, Parepalli SA, Brown G, Iharchane S, Gandino S, Markovic-Obiago Z, Scott S, Manirambona E, Machhada A, Aggarwal A, Benazaize L, Ibrahim M, Kim D, Tol I, Taylor EH, Knighton A, Bbaale D, Jasim D, Alghoul H, Reddy H, Abuelgasim H, Saini K, Sigler A, Abuelgasim L, Moran-Romero M, Kumarendran M, Jamie NA, Ali O, Sudarshan R, Dean R, Kissyova R, Kelzang S, Roche S, Ahsan T, Mohamed Y, Dube AM, Gwini GP, Gwokyala R, Brown R, Papon MRKK, Li Z, Ruzats SS, Charuvila S, Peter N, Khalidy K, Moyo N, Alser O, Solano A, Robles-Perez E, Tarig A, Gaddah M, Kolovos S, Muchemwa FC, Saleh A, Gosman A, Pinedo-Villanueva R, Jani A, Khundkar R. Infection and mortality of healthcare workers worldwide from COV-ID-19: a systematic review. BMJ Glob Health 2020;5:e003097. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjgh-2020-003097
- [11] Bunge EM, Hoet B, Chen L, Lienert F, Weidenthaler H, Baer LR, Steffen R. The changing epidemiology of human monkeypox—A potential threat? A systematic review. PLoS Negl Trop Dis. 2022;16:e0010141. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pntd.0010141.
- [12] Gisondi MA, Barber R, Faust JS, Raja A, Strehlow MC, Westafer LM, Gottlieb M. A Deadly infodemic: social media and the power of COVID-19 misinformation. J Med Internet Res 2022;24:e35552. https://doi.org/10.2196/35552

Received on November 8, 2022. Accepted on January 19, 2023.

Correspondence: Tungki Pratama Umar, Faculty of Medicine, Sriwijaya University, Palembang, Indonesia - E-mail: tungkipratama@gmail.com

How to cite this article: Umar TP, Kadir AKMS, Mohammed YA, Setti MO. Healthcare system preparedness for the next pandemic beyond COVID-19 situation. J Prev Med Hyg 2022;63:E493-E494. https://doi.org/10.15167/2421-4248/jpmh2022.63.4.2786

© Copyright by Pacini Editore Srl, Pisa, Italy

This is an open access article distributed in accordance with the CC-BY-NC-ND (Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International) license. The article can be used by giving appropriate credit and mentioning the license, but only for non-commercial purposes and only in the original version. For further information: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/deed.en

OPEN ACCESS

HEALTH PROMOTION

Access to water, sanitation and hygiene in schools: A prerequisite to achieving SDGs in India

SHUBHARANJAN JENA¹, NANCY SATPATHY¹, KRUSHNA CHANDRA SAHOO², VENKATARAO EPARI¹ ¹ Department of Community Medicine, Institute of Medical Sciences & Sum Hospital, Siksha "O" Anusandhan Deemed to be University, Bhubaneswar, Odisha, India; ² ICMR-Regional Medical Research Centre, Bhubaneswar, Odisha, India

Keywords

Sustainable development goals • Water Sanitation and Hygiene (WASH) • Schoolchildren's • India

Dear Editor,

In 2015, the United Nations General Assembly (UN-GA) adopted 17 Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), comprising 169 targets, aimed at achieving worldwide sustainable development. The eight targets specified in SDG 6 focus on clean water and sanitation, the aim being to ensure the availability and sustainable management of water and sanitation for all by 2030. This involves ending open defecation and providing access to sanitation and hygiene, improving water quality, ensuring the supply of fresh water, implementing integrated water resource management and restoring water-related ecosystems [1, 2].

Since 2019, the world has been fighting the COVID-19 pandemic, and water, sanitation and hygiene (WASH) stand at the forefront of disease prevention efforts worldwide. However, the WASH situation in low- and middle-income countries (LMICs) remains an obstacle to the prevention of COVID-19 infection [3]. WASH play a critical role in improving schoolchildren's education, health and overall well-being. Indeed, the lack of WASH in schools facilitates the spread of preventable diseases and increases school absences, particularly among females. Inadequate funding and budgeting have been identified as a major impediment to integrating successful and sustainable WASH programs into school settings.

An integral and essential part of the social structure, children are known to be receptive to new ideas, and the school serves as a conduit for these [4]. Children spend much of their time at school, which is the best place to learn and practice good water, sanitation and hygiene habits. Furthermore, children can influence their family members and society, thereby changing the community's attitudes towards WASH. Children are therefore critical in shaping the WASH behaviors of future generations [4]. In this respect, school is a cornerstone of the future of an informed and healthy society. Thus, the provision of clean water, sanitation and hygiene in schools can be seen as a necessary prerequisite to achieving SDG 6.

According to the United Nations, billions of people still lack access to safe drinking water, adequate sanitation and adequate hygiene. As per the United Nations' 2021 report, 129 nations worldwide will be unable to manage water resources sustainably by 2030 unless the current rate of improvement is doubled [5]. According to the 2018 global baseline report, providing universal access to necessary WASH services in schools by 2030 will be a significant challenge. Indeed, in 2016, only 69% of schools globally had access to safe drinking water. Moreover, although schools play a critical role in children's fundamental education, in 2013-14 approximately 22% of schools in India lacked girls' bathrooms, while today water quality still remains a major concern in rural India [6]. In addition, open defecation is a significant global health issue, and in rural India, about 360 million people lack access to latrines [7].

Several national and international initiatives have addressed the above-mentioned concerns. The United Nations Water global analysis and assessment of sanitation and drinking water (GLAAS) initiative is a worldwide effort by the WHO to improve the monitoring, management and reporting of national WASH policies in diverse geographic locations throughout the world [8]. UNICEF estimates that less than half of India's population has access to safe drinking water [9]. According to the 2018 global baseline study, most schools in India now have sanitary facilities, whereas in earlier years half of them did not [6].

India, which is the world's second-most populous country, faces major public health concerns. To tackle these issues, it has implemented measures such as the Swachh Bharat Mission (SBM) and the Total Sanitation Campaign (TSC) project for school sanitation. Moreover, under India's new leadership, a new government ministry was established. Called "Jal Shakti", this ministry has primary responsibility for water, sanitation and hygiene, and works to achieve SDGs [10]. After the construction of school latrines in India, the number of girls' enrollments has increased in comparison with those of boys [11]. Furthermore, as India is a culturally diversified country, the caste system can also impact sanitation.

Thus, in India, there are still key challenges regarding WASH, such as poor water supply, scant sanitary conditions and deficient knowledge of the use of toilets; these are significant barriers to achieving the country's sanitation objectives [12].

Every child deserves an education and the knowledge necessary to thrive in life, and sanitation, hygiene and access to safe water are fundamental components of a child's development. Moreover, it has been demonstrated that children are significantly more receptive than adults to novel ideas and can readily acquire positive habits during their formative years [13]. If these children are provided with facilities and are educated in the importance of hygiene, they will become powerful agents of change, handing down their knowledge to the next generation. It is therefore critical to incorporate WASH into the school curriculum and infrastructure and to equip teachers to promote essential hygiene behaviors. As India has unmet public health needs, the government needs to improve school education programs by implementing separate toilet facilities for boys and girls and raising awareness through short movies, education on sanitation-related behavioral change, etc. In this way, we can achieve universal sanitation for all and achieve the SDGs.

Acknowledgements

Funding sources: this research did not receive any specific grant from funding agencies in the public, commercial, or not-for-profit sectors.

Conflict of interest statement

The author declares no conflict of interest.

Authors' contributions

The first author wrote the manuscript with the help of three other authors. All the authors have equal contributions to developing ideas to write the manuscript. The corresponding author supervised and reviewed the manuscript.

References

[1] Department of Economic and Social Affairs. Transforming our world: the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development. Available at: https://sdgs.un.org/2030agenda (Accessed on 05/03/2022).

- [2] Hoekstra AY, Chapagain AK, Van Oel PR. Advancing water footprint assessment research: challenges in monitoring progress towards sustainable development goal 6. Water 2017;9:438. https://doi.org/10.3390/w9060438
- [3] Donde OO, Atoni E, Muia AW, Yillia PT. COVID-19 pandemic: Water, Sanitation and Hygiene (WASH) as a critical control measure remains a major challenge in low-income countries. Water Res 2021;191:116793. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2020.116793
- [4] WHO/Europe. Improving health and learning through better water, sanitation and hygiene in schools. An information package for school staff (2019). Available at: https://www.euro. who.int/en/publications/abstracts/improving-health-and-learning-through-better-water,-sanitation-and-hygiene-in-schools.an-information-package-for-school-staff-2019 (Accessed on 05/03/2022).
- [5] Sustainable Development Report 2021. Available at: https:// www.sustainabledevelopment.report (accessed on 05/03/2022).
- [6] Drinking water, sanitation and hygiene in schools: global baseline report 2018 – UNICEF data. Available at: https://data. unicef.org/resources/wash-in-schools (accessed on 05/03/2022).
- [7] O'Reilly K, Dhanju R, Goel A. Exploring "the remote" and "the rural": open defecation and latrine use in Uttarakhand, India. World Development 2017;93:193-205. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2016.12.022
- [8] UN-Water GLAAS 2019: national systems to support drinking-water, sanitation and hygiene - Global status report 2019. Available at: https://www.unwater.org/publications/un-water glaas-2019-national-systems-to-support-drinking-water-sanitation-and-hygiene-global-status-report-2019 (Accessed on 05/03/2022).
- [9] Water, sanitation and hygiene. UNICEF India. Available at: https://www.unicef.org/india/what-we-do/water-sanitation-hygiene (Accessed on 05/03/2022).
- [10] Ministry of Jal Shakti. Available at: https://jalshakti.gov.in/. (Accessed on 05/03/2022).
- [11] United Nations. Sustainable Development Goal 6 Synthesis report 2018 on water and sanitation. 2018. Available at: https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/content/documents/19901SDG6_SR2018_web_3.pdf (Accessed on 05/03/2022).
- [12] Behera MR, Pradhan HS, Behera D, Jena D, Satpathy SK. Achievements and challenges of India's sanitation campaign under clean India mission: a commentary. J Educ Health Promot 2021;10:350. https://doi.org/10.4103/jehp.jehp_1658_20
- [13] Transforming the workforce for children birth through age 8: a unifying foundation. The National Academies Press. Available at: https://www.nap.edu/catalog/19401/transformingthe-workforce-for-children-birth-through-age-8 (Accessed on 05/03/2022).

Received on May 3, 2022. Accepted on January 13, 2023.

Correspondence: Venkatarao Epari, Department of Community Medicine, IMS & SUM Hospital, Siksha "O" Anusandhan Deemed to be University, Bhubaneswar, Odisha, India - Tel.: +91 9668443382, +91 7853889552 - E-mail: e.venkata.rao@gmail.com | evenkatarao@soa.ac.in

How to cite this article: Jena S, Satpathy N, Sahoo KC, Epari V. Access to water, sanitation and hygiene in schools: A prerequisite to achieving SDGs in India. J Prev Med Hyg 2022;63:E495-E496. https://doi.org/10.15167/2421-4248/jpmh2022.63.4.2539

© Copyright by Pacini Editore Srl, Pisa, Italy

This is an open access article distributed in accordance with the CC-BY-NC-ND (Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International) license. The article can be used by giving appropriate credit and mentioning the license, but only for non-commercial purposes and only in the original version. For further information: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/deed.en

OPEN ACCESS

COVID-19

Parents' knowledge, attitude, and practices towards COVID-19 in children: A Lebanese cross-sectional study

RIDA SARYEDDINE¹, ZEINA AJROUCH², MALAK EL AHMAR³, NATHALIE LAHOUD^{1,4,5}, ROULA AJROUCHE^{1,4} ¹ Clinical and Epidemiological Research laboratory, Faculty of Pharmacy, Lebanese University, Hadat, Lebanon; ² Family medicine, Bothell Washington, USA;³ Lebanese University, Beirut, Lebanon; ⁴ INSPECT-LB (Institut National de Santé Publique, d'Épidémiologie Clinique et de Toxicologie-Liban), Beirut, Lebanon; ⁵ Faculty of Public Health, Lebanese University, Fanar, Lebanon

Keywords

Knowledge • Attitude • Practices • COVID-19 • Children

Summary

Introduction. The Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic, a serious public health crisis, can affect all ages, even children. This study aimed to investigate the knowledge, attitude, and practices of parents living in Lebanon towards the COVID-19 in children.

Methods. A cross-sectional online survey was conducted between June and July 2021, targeting parents living in Lebanon. The questionnaire was divided into 4 parts: socio-demographic, knowledge, attitude, and practices. A score was calculated to evaluate parents' knowledge towards COVID-19 in children. Descriptive and bivariate analyses were conducted. Then, determinants of COVID-19 knowledge were assessed using multivariable linear regression. P < 0.05 was considered statistically significant.

Results. A total of 429 parents were included. The mean knowledge score was 11.28 ± 2.19 out of 15. Knowledge was significantly

Introduction

Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic caused by the severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2), is a serious public health crisis threatening humanity since the middle of December 2019. This new form of coronavirus has emerged in Wuhan, China, and has quickly spread globally [1]. The World Health Organization (WHO) declared a public health emergency of worldwide significance by the end of January 2020, and urged all governments to work together to avoid its fast spread. COVID-19 was later named a "global pandemic" by the WHO [2].

The first confirmed case infected with SARS-CoV-2 was diagnosed in Lebanon on February 21, 2020 [3]. Up to February 7, 2022, there have been 978,125 confirmed cases of COVID-19 with 9,730 deaths. The COVID-19 incidence rate in the age group 0-9 was over 400 cases per 100,000 children, and over 800 cases per 100,000 children in the age group 10-19. The fatality rate was 0.06% in the age group 0-9, and 0.03% in the age group 10-19 [4].

Although a lower incidence of COVID-19 cases in children than adults has been demonstrated [5],

lower among older (p = 0.022), and single parents (p = 0.035), who don't know if COVID-19 is a serious disease (p < 0.001) and if it will be successfully controlled (p = 0.007), and higher among female parents (p = 0.006). The majority of parents had a positive attitude and good practices towards COVID-19 in children, but 76.7% of them were worried about their child getting coronavirus. About 66.9% of parents expressed their willingness to vaccinate their kids when a vaccine would be available for them, and 66.2% answered that they are sending or willing to send their children to the school or the nursery.

Conclusions. Parents' knowledge about COVID-19 in children was good, but remains lower among older and single parents. Health authorities should conduct awareness campaigns to target specific groups of parents who lacked critical knowledge about COVID-19 in children.

investigating the burden in this special population is essential as a part of contact tracing.

As of February 7, 2022, over 12 million children have been tested positive for COVID-19 since the beginning of the pandemic in the United States, and this number represented 18.9% of all cases (16,000 cases per 100,000 children). Children accounted for 1.6 to 4.7% of total cumulative hospitalizations in the states, and 0.00-0.24% of all COVID-19 deaths [6]. Children aged 0-4 years had the highest percentage of hospitalizations and ICU admissions among children, adolescents, and young adults [7]. In this age group, immaturity of the respiratory tract and immune system is considered to have a role in severe viral respiratory disease [8].

The average incubation period for COVID-19 is 5.2 days [9]. COVID-19 infection in children appears to be primarily transmitted through the family cluster [10]. Because younger children cannot wear masks and have not taken particular preventive and control measures, the number of child infection cases has increased dramatically since then [11]. Unlike adults, most infected children are asymptomatic or have only minimal clinical symptoms [10]. The flu-like syndrome, fluctuating fever, pneumonia, upper respiratory signs (cough, sore

throat, stuffy nose, sneezing, and rhinorrhea), diarrhea, and abdominal pain are the main COVID-19 symptoms in children [11].

To add, children, particularly those from racial and ethnic minorities, as well as those with underlying medical conditions and disabilities, can become seriously ill. They could develop multisystem inflammatory syndrome in children (MIS-C), a life-threatening hyperinflammatory state 4-6 weeks after infection with primary COVID-19, with symptoms ranging from severe abdominal pain to organ damage [12]. Up to January 31, 2022, 6,851 cases of MIS-C and 59 MIS-C deaths were reported in the United States [13].

The majority of children who developed MIS-C were school-aged, and previously healthy. In these patients, the original COVID-19 infection is often mild or asymptomatic. They usually get a persistent fever, gastrointestinal symptoms (pain, vomiting, diarrhea), evidence of mucocutaneous inflammation (rash, conjunctivitis, oromucosal alterations), lymphopenia, and high circulating inflammation levels. A small proportion of MIS-C patients develops a severe disease, such as hypotension/shock, and evidence of cardiac involvement, including myocarditis, myocardial dysfunction, and alterations in coronary arteries. Immune modulation has been applied in conjunction with optimum supportive care to treat MIS-C, and in most cases, the inflammation has resolved quickly. Fatal cases are rare (2%) [14, 15].

COVID-19 in children poses a significant challenge due to the asymptomatic presentations and role in community transmission. The confirmed diagnosis is important, and cannot be without microbiologic testing. COVID-19 is primarily diagnosed through direct detection of SARS-CoV-2 RNA in the upper respiratory tract using nucleic acid amplification tests (NAATs), most commonly reverse-transcription polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) [16]. Also, tests that detect SARS-CoV-2 antigen can be performed quickly with rapid results, but are less sensitive than NAATs [17]. Serologic tests that detect antibodies to SARS-CoV-2 in the blood have insufficient utility for diagnosis in the first days to weeks of infection, but help identify patients who have previously had a SARS-CoV-2 infection, as well as, patients with current infection, who have had symptoms for 3 to 4 weeks [18]. Regarding the vaccine, the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) on May 10, 2021, expanded the emergency use authorization for the Pfizer-BioNTech COVID-19 vaccine for the prevention of COVID-19 caused by SARS-CoV-2 to include adolescents aged 12 to 15 [19]. On 29 October 2021, the FDA authorized its emergency use to include children aged 5 to 11 [20]. As of February 4, 2022, 16.4 million children aged 12 to 17 in the United States have received at least one dose of the COVID-19 vaccine, with 13.9 million of these children fully vaccinated, representing 65 and 55% of 12-17 year old children, respectively. In addition, 8.6 million children aged 5 to 11 in the United States have received at least one dose of the COVID-19 vaccine, with 6.2 million of these children fully vaccinated, as of

February 4, 2022, representing 30% and 22% of children at this age, respectively [21].

In Lebanon, approximately 30.40% of residents completed their vaccinations on February 8, 2022 [22]. There is no data regarding the number of vaccines administered for the age group 12-18 in Lebanon since the vaccine is still unavailable for the younger group.

While keeping the focus on continuing safety measures for the younger group, knowledge regarding the clinical characteristics and disease burden in children, positive attitudes and good practices among their parents are critical at this stage of the pandemic.

Parents must educate their children, and help them practice preventive measures and hygiene behaviors. Assessing the knowledge, attitude, and practices (KAP) related to COVID-19 in children among parents would be helpful to identify knowledge gaps, provide control of transmission and proper allocation of healthcare resources in this age group, and develop preventive strategies and programs for health promotion in children.

Few studies about KAP towards COVID-19 in children among parents and caregivers were conducted [23, 24]. In addition, to the best of our knowledge, there was no published study among the Lebanese parents towards COVID-19 in children. Thus, we aimed to investigate the KAP among parents towards COVID-19 in children.

Methods

STUDY DESIGN AND POPULATION

A cross-sectional anonymous survey was designed, targeting parents living in Lebanon to evaluate their KAP towards the COVID-19 pandemic in children between 17 June and 22 July 2021. Parents (having at least one child aged less than 18 years), that were over 18 years old and living in Lebanon were eligible to participate in the survey. This study was conducted through a link shared on social networking platforms using the Snowball sampling technique.

SURVEY INSTRUMENT

The structured questionnaire was developed based on the literature [23, 25, 26] and was designed in English and then translated to Arabic, the native language in Lebanon.

The online survey was divided into four parts that included 54 mandatory questions. The first one required the sociodemographic information of the participant (sex, age, nationality, marital status, number of children of all ages, level of education, occupation, family income, and place of current residence), his medical history, his experience with the COVID-19 pandemic, and his vaccination status. The second one, having 15 knowledge questions (K1 to K15) about COVID-19 symptoms, treatment, mode of transmission, MIS-C, and measures for prevention in children, required true/false/I don't know the answers. Each right answer was given one point, and each wrong or I don't know the answer was given a zero. The total knowledge score ranged from 0 to 15, with a higher score denoting a better knowledge about COVID-19 in children. The Cronbach's alpha coefficient of the knowledge questionnaire was 0.613 in our sample, indicating acceptable internal consistency.

The third part included 6 questions reflecting the attitude of the respondents towards the disease and the vaccine, and the last part consisted of 6 questions about the practice of the parents towards COVID-19 in children, like social distancing, wearing a mask, washing hands, avoiding the touch of eyes, nose, and mouth, and willing to send children to the school or the nursery. Parents were asked to respond "yes" or "no" to the practice items. For the first five practice questions, a score of one was given to answers that reflected good practice, and a score of zero was given for answers that reflected bad practice. The total score ranged from zero to five, with high scores indicating better practices.

A preliminary phase was conducted to check the reliability and the validity of the questionnaire. Two experts in the pediatric medical field were asked to review the questions to make sure that it reflects the KAP of the Lebanese parents towards COVID-19 in children. The next step was pretesting of the questionnaire on 10 participants who were excluded later from the study sample. Accordingly, modifications have been applied to meet the aim required. The data generated from the initial pilot study was excluded from the final analysis.

DATA COLLECTION

On the first page of the online survey, respondents were informed about the background and objectives of the study. Participants were informed that they were free to withdraw at any time, and that all information and opinions provided would be anonymous and confidential. Online informed consent was obtained before proceeding with the questionnaire.

An online open-access google form survey was created and participants from all areas of Lebanon were invited via social media platforms (Facebook[°] and Instagram[°]) through the accounts of the members of the research team with all our contacts and friends. In addition, members of the research team shared the survey link through our contacts lists in the chatting group "WhatsApp[°]".

SAMPLE SIZE

The sample size was determined using the Epi InfoTM software, version 7.2. As there were no similar studies related to COVID-19 in children, the calculations were based on the assumption that the probability of having good knowledge, positive attitude, and effective practices towards preventive measures against COVID-19 among parents was 50.0%, at a 95% confidence interval (CI), a margin of error of 5%, with a design effect of 1.0, the calculated sample size was 384 participants.

STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

The results were analyzed using Statistical Package for the Social Science (SPSS) software version 22 (IBM,

New York-USA). No missing data were obtained. Categorical data were expressed as frequencies (percentages) while continuous data as means \pm standard deviation (SD). The dependent variable is a continuous variable: knowledge score. Normality was checked for variables with n < 30 in one or more of the categories. Student's t and ANOVA tests were used to compare the mean knowledge score between different demographic groups for variables with adequate normal distribution. Mann - Whitney U or Kruskal - Wallis tests were used for non-normally distributed continuous variables. Multivariable linear regression analysis was performed to identify factors associated with the knowledge score. Only variables with p < 0.2 in the bivariate analysis were included in the multivariate linear regression, using the Enter method. All results were considered "statistically significant" when the p-value was < 0.05 with a CI of 95%.

Results

Out of 454 participants, 447 completed the survey, generating a response rate of 98.46%. Eighteen of them were excluded because they reported that they don't have children. So, a total of 429 parents were included in the study.

DESCRIPTIVE ANALYSIS

Table I details the socio-demographic characteristics of the studied participants. The majority of parents were females (n = 344, 80.2%), aged 30-39 years (n = 186, 43.4%), married (n = 412, 96%), Lebanese (n = 422, 98.4%), had a bachelor's degree (n = 173, 40.3%), and had a family income between 675,000 and 1,999,000 LBP (n = 132, 30.8%). In addition, 12.4% (n = 53) of parents were healthcare workers.

Additionally, 66.7% (n = 286) of the parents had 1-2 children, 52% (n = 223) had at least one child aged 4 or less, 55.9 % (n = 240) had at least one child aged between 5 and 11 years, and 37.3 % (n = 160) of them had at least one child aged between 12 and 18 years.

About 54.3% (n = 233) of the respondents were living in Mount-Lebanon.

Moreover, 22.8% (n = 98) of the parents were smokers, 16.3% (n = 70) of the parents and, 8.9% (n = 38) of the children had a history of one or more chronic diseases (Tab. II).

Concerning their experience with the COVID-19 pandemic, 55.5% (n = 238) of the parents reported that they were once in quarantine because of symptoms or because they were in close contact with someone tested positive for COVID-19 or because they returned from a country that had a large number of cases, 32.2% (n = 138) have tested positive with coronavirus using PCR or other tests, 24.7% (n = 106) of parents reported that at least one of their children experienced COVID-19 symptoms and 11.9% (n = 51) of them had at least one of their children tested positive with coronavirus using PCR or other tests.

Variable	Frequency (n = 429)	Percentage (%)
Sex		
Female	344	80.2
Male	85	19.8
Age		
18-29	72	16.8
30-39	186	43.4
40-49	118	27.5
≥ 50	53	12.4
Nationality		
Lebanese	422	98.4
Other nationalities	7	1.6
Marital status		
Married	412	96
Not married	17	4
Number of children		
1-2	286	66.7
3-4	129	30.1
≥ 5	14	3.3
At least one child aged 4 years or less	223	52
At least one child aged between 5 and 11 years	240	55.9
At least one child aged between 12 and 18 years	160	37.3
Level of education	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
High school's degree and below	118	27.5
Bachelor's degree	173	40.3
Master's degree and above	138	32.2
Occupation		
Unemployed	147	34.3
Student	10	2.3
Healthcare worker	53	12.4
Other occupations	219	51
Family income		
No current income	58	13.5
< 675,000 LBP	22	5.1
675,000-1,999,000 LBP	132	30.8
2,000,000-3,999,000 LBP	123	28.7
≥ 4,000,000 LBP	94	21.9
Place of current residence		
Beirut governorate	35	8.2
Mount-Lebanon governorate	233	54.3
South-Lebanon governorate	41	9.6
Bekaa + Baalbeck - Hermel governorates	40	9.3
Nabatieh governorate	34	7.9
North + Akkar governorates	46	10.7

Tab. I. Socio-demographic characteristics of parents.

Regarding the vaccine, 33.8% (n = 145) of the parents have already received one of the available vaccines for COVID-19, 42% (n = 180) of those who had not been vaccinated were willing to receive it, 36.1% (n = 155) had a partner who received the vaccine and 42.2% (n = 181) of them had a partner who had not been vaccinated and was willing to receive it.

For their information on COVID-19, parents primarily relied on social media (n = 128, 29.8%) (Tab. III).

The total knowledge score ranged from 0 to 15, with a mean of 11.28 ± 2.19 . Table IV below details the knowledge score, the attitude, and the practices of parents towards COVID-19 in children.

Participants gave the most correct answers when asked about the ways of the spread of the COVID-19 virus (K7-95.3%), the need for isolation (K13-94.9%), and some practices related to prevention and control of the infection (K10-95.1%, K11-95.6%, K12-93.9%) (Supplementary Tab. I).

The questions with the lowest rates of correct answers were those related to eating habits related to COVID-19 transmission (K5-24.2%) and the MIS-C (K15-29.1%) (Supplementary Tab. I).

Concerning the attitude of the parents towards COVID-19 in children, 85.3% (n = 366) agreed that COVID-19 is a serious disease, 76.7% (n = 329) of

Tab. II. Medical history of parents and children.

.....

Variable	Frequency (n = 429)	Percentage (%)		
Smoking status of parents				
No	331	77.2		
Yes	98	22.8		
Chronic diseases in parents				
No	359	83.7		
Yes	70	16.3		
Type of chronic diseases in parents				
No chronic diseases	338	78.8		
Cardiac problems	13	3		
Respiratory problems	3	0.7		
Neurological problems	1	0.2		
Diabetes	4	0.9		
Allergies	23	5.4		
Other diseases	22	5.1		
More than 1 chronic disease	25	5.9		
Chronic diseases in children				
No	391	91.1		
Yes	38	8.9		
Type of chronic diseases in children				
No chronic diseases	379	88.3		
Cardiac problems	2	0.5		
Respiratory problems	2	0.5		
Neurological problems	0	0		
Diabetes	2	0.5		
Allergies	29	6.8		
Other diseases	10	2.3		
More than 1 chronic disease	5	1.1		

Tab. III. Parents' experience with the COVID-19 pandemic and their vaccination status.

Variable	Frequency (n = 429)	Percentage (%)			
Were you ever in quarantine because of symptoms or because you were in close contact with someone tested positive					
for COVID-19 or because you returned from a country that had a	large number of cases?				
No 191 44.5					
Yes	238	55.5			
Have you tested positive with coronavirus using PCR or other te	ests?				
No	291	67.8			
Yes	138	32.2			
Did any of your children experience any COVID-19 symptoms?					
No	323	75.3			
Yes	106	24.7			
Have any of your children tested positive with coronavirus using PCR or other tests?					
No	378 88.1				
Yes	51	11.9			
Did you receive one of the available vaccines for COVID-19?					
No	284	66.2			
Yes	145	33.8			
Are you willing to receive one of the available vaccines for COVII	D-19?				
No	116	27			
Yes	180	42			
I already received my vaccine	133	31			
Did your partner receive one of the available vaccines for COVID-19?					
No	263	61.3			
Yes	155	36.1			
I don't have a partner	11	2.6			

.....

 Tab. III. Parents' experience with the COVID-19 pandemic and their vaccination status.

Variable	Frequency (n=429)	Percentage (%)		
Is your partner willing to receive one of the available vaccines for COVID-19?				
No	103	24		
Yes	181	42.2		
I don't have a partner	11	2.6		
My partner has already received his vaccine	134	31.2		
Most used source of information regarding COVID-19				
Social media	128	29.8		
Google and search engines	48	11.2		
Family, friends, neighbors	10	2.3		
News channels	61	14.2		
Ministry of health website	89	20.7		
Scientific articles and research	93	21.7		

.....

 Tab. IV. Knowledge, attitude and practices of parents towards COVID-19 in children.

Variable	Frequency (n = 429)	Percentage (%)		
Knowledge score of the parents towards COVID-19 in children				
11.28 ± 2.19 (mean \pm standard deviation)				
Attitude of the parents towards COVID-19 in children				
Do you agree that COVID-19 is a serious disease?				
Agree	366	85.3		
Disagree	47	11.0		
I don't know	16	3.7		
Are you worried about your child getting coronavirus?				
Yes	329	76.7		
No	100	23.3		
Do you agree that COVID-19 will finally be successfully controlled	d?			
Agree	299	69.7		
Disagree	38	8.9		
I don't know	92	21.4		
Do you think that the pandemic will be controlled in Lebanon in	the near future?			
Yes	257	59.9		
No	172	40.1		
Do you think authorities should close educational centers (kind	ergartens, schools, and unive	ersities) to limit the spread		
of the disease?				
Yes	220	51.3		
No 209 48.7				
Are you willing to vaccinate your kids when a vaccine will be available for them?				
Yes	287	66.9		
No	142	33.1		
Practices of the parents towards COVID-19 in children				
In recent days, have you taken your children to any crowded pla	ace (> 10 people indoor, > 25	people outdoor)?		
Yes	140	32.6		
No	289	67.4		
Have you asked your kids to wear a mask outside the house or v	when in presence with other	people?		
Yes	338	78.8		
No	91	21.2		
Do you teach your children to wash their hands with soap and v	vater for 20 seconds frequen	itly?		
Yes	409	95.3		
No	20	4.7		
Do you teach your children to maintain an appropriate distance	between them and other pe	eople?		
Yes	391	91.1		
No	38	8.9		
Do you teach your children to avoid touching their eyes, nose a	nd mouth?			
Yes	397	92.5		
No	32	7.5		
Are you sending or willing to send your children to the school of	or to the nursery?			
Yes	284	66.2		
No	145	33.8		

	Knowledge score			
Variable	Standardized β	Unstandardized β	95% CI	P-value
Sex - Female	0.137	0.751	0.213, 1.289	0.006 *
Age \geq 50 years	-0.157	-1.045	-1.941, -0.149	0.022 *
Marital status - Single	-0.100	-1.123	-2.168, -0.078	0.035 *
Don't know if COVID-19 is a serious disease	-0.188	-2.168	-3.228, -1.108	0.000 *
Don't know if COVID-19 will finally be successfully controlled	-0.126	-0.672	-1.163, -0.181	0.007 *

Tab. V. Factors associated with COVID-19 knowledge score.

CI: confidence interval; β : regression coefficient; *: p < 0.05 is considered significant.

them were worried about their child getting coronavirus, 69.7% (n = 299) agreed that COVID-19 will finally be successfully controlled and 59.9% (n = 257) thought that the pandemic will be controlled in Lebanon in the near future. For governmental measures, 51.3% (n = 220) of parents reported that authorities should close educational centers (kindergartens, schools, and universities) to limit the spread of the disease. Finally, 66.9% (n = 287) of parents expressed their willingness to vaccinate their kids when a vaccine would be available for them.

The mean practices score was 4.25 ± 1.03 out of 5. Many parents indicated that they avoided crowded places (67.4%) and taught their children to wear a mask (78.8%), wash their hands (95.3%), maintain an appropriate distance between them and other people (91.1%), and avoid touching their eyes, nose, and mouth (92.5%). Furthermore, 66.2% of parents answered that they are sending or willing to send their children to the school or the nursery.

CHARACTERISTICS OF PARTICIPANTS ACCORDING TO COVID-19 KNOWLEDGE

Regarding socio-demographic characteristics, parents' knowledge score significantly differed by sex (p = 0.001) and occupation (p = 0.002). The knowledge score was higher among female parents and those who were students. Participants' age, marital status, nationality, number of children of all ages, level of education, family income, and place of current residence were not related to the knowledge level of COVID-19 (Supplementary Tab. II).

Regarding parents' and children's medical history, smoking status of parents, chronic diseases in parents and children, and the type of chronic diseases in parents and children, were not related to the knowledge level of COVID-19 (Supplementary Tab. III).

Parents' knowledge score significantly increased by the experience of COVID-19 symptoms in children (p = 0.027) (Supplementary Tab. IV).

There was no significant association between the knowledge score and being in quarantine because of symptoms or because of close contact with someone tested positive or because of returning from a country that had a large number of cases (p = 0.097), positive diagnostic with COVID-19 using PCR or other tests in parents (p = 0.078), and in children (p = 0.317), and the most used source of information regarding COVID-19 (p = 0.061). Received the vaccine (p = 0.127), had a partner who received the vaccine (p = 0.515), or who is willing to

receive it (p = 0.332) were not significantly associated with the knowledge score (Supplementary Tab. IV).

Concerning parents' attitudes towards COVID-19 in children, parents' knowledge scores significantly increased if the parent agreed that COVID-19 is a serious disease (p = 0.014) and if he was worried about his child getting coronavirus (p = 0.022) (Supplementary Tab. V). Concerning parents' practices towards COVID-19 in children, parents' knowledge scores significantly increased if the parent had not taken his children to a crowded place in recent days (p = 0.043), and if the parent taught his children to avoid touching their eyes, nose, and mouth (p = 0.002) (Supplementary Tab. V). In the multivariable linear regression model estimating factors associated with the COVID-19 knowledge score (Tab. V), we found that age ≥ 50 years ($\beta = -1.045$; p = 0.022; 95% CI: -1.941, -0.149), being single $(\beta = -1.123; p = 0.035; 95\% \text{ CI: } -2.168, -0.078), \text{ don't}$ know if COVID-19 is a serious disease ($\beta = -2.168$; p < 0.001; 95% CI: -3.228, -1.108) and don't know if COVID-19 will finally be successfully controlled $(\beta = -0.672; p = 0.007; 95\% \text{ CI: } -1.163, -0.181)$ were inversely associated with COVID-19 knowledge score. Female sex ($\beta = 0.751$; p = 0.006; 95% CI: 0.213, 1.289) was positively associated with COVID-19 knowledge score.

Discussion

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study in Lebanon that assesses the KAP towards COVID-19 in children among parents. In general, participants in our survey had good general knowledge about the disease, its ways of transmission, and measures for prevention in children. The mean knowledge score was 11.28 ± 2.19 over 15.

The results revealed that the mean knowledge score was significantly lower among older (\geq 50 years) and single parents, who don't know if COVID-19 is a serious disease and if it will be finally successfully controlled. The mean knowledge score was higher among female parents.

The majority of parents had a positive attitude and good practices towards COVID-19 in children. In details, 69.7% agreed that COVID-19 will finally be successfully controlled and 59.9% thought that the pandemic will be controlled in Lebanon shortly, but 76.7% of them were worried about their child getting coronavirus. About 66.9% of parents expressed their willingness to vaccinate their kids when a vaccine would be available

for them. Concerning their practices, many parents indicated that they avoided crowded places (67.4%) and taught their children to wear a mask (78.8%), wash their hands (95.3%), maintain an appropriate distance between them and other people (91.1%), and avoid touching their eyes, nose, and mouth (92.5%). Furthermore, 66.2% of parents answered that they are sending or willing to send their children to the school or the nursery. It can be considered that parents have more protective attitudes and adhere to more protective behaviors because, in addition to self-protection, they are responsible for their families.

The overall correct rate for the knowledge test was 75.2%, which can be attributed to the fact that nearly 73% of the parents had a university degree, and this was comparable to studies done elsewhere. For example, in the Arab countries, correct knowledge was found to be at 81.64% in Saudi Arabia [27], 74.5% in Egypt [28], 70.3% in Jordan, and 63.25% in Kuwait [29]. In addition, correct knowledge was found to be at 90% in China [25], 80.5% in Malaysia [30], and 70.16% in South Korea [31]. The difference in correct knowledge rate can be attributed to the absence of a question about the MIS-C in other countries' KAP questionnaires. Most parents (70.9%) were unaware of this rare and uncommon condition in children infected with COVID-19.

In our study, women showed more COVID-19 awareness than men, which is different from what was reported in a previous study in Saudi Arabia [32], but consistent with studies conducted in Palestine [33], Iran [34], China [25], South Korea [31], and the United States [35]. Similarly, for other diseases like cancer, women showed better knowledge about the different characteristics of the health condition than men [36].

Our data showed that older parents (\geq 50 years) had less knowledge about transmission and the symptoms of COVID-19 in children. This observation can be explained by the fact that the older population has limited use of various social media channels, which are the primary source of information about COVID-19 in our study. The results are consistent with previous studies done in Egypt [28], Palestine [33], China [37], and incompatible with others done in Lebanon [38], and Saudi Arabia [27].

In our participants, the mean knowledge score was significantly lower among single parents. These results were based on a small sample size (17 single parents), but were similar to the results of a study done in three Middle Eastern countries (Jordan, Saudi Arabia, and Kuwait) in which divorced individuals had a lower knowledge score [29]. Also, in a study realized in Iran, being single was associated with a lower knowledge score [34].

Furthermore, a lower COVID-19 knowledge score was found to be significantly associated with a lack of knowledge about whether COVID-19 is a serious disease, and whether it can be controlled. These are some basic facts about the disease, known in its early stages. This shows the importance of working on parents' knowledge towards COVID-19 in children by health strategies

which in turn, would improve their attitude and practices regarding COVID-19.

Concerning parents' attitude towards COVID-19 in children, the majority of them had a positive attitude towards the disease and the vaccine. And this was comparable to studies done in Palestine [33], Egypt [28], Saudi Arabia [27], and Iran [34].

About 67% of parents expressed their willingness to vaccinate their kids when a vaccine would be available for them. Similarly, in a study done in Lebanon about the willingness to pay for a coronavirus vaccine, 68.2% of adults were ready to do the vaccine if available [39]. This acceptability rate of the COVID-19 vaccine in children is comparable to a study done in Korea where 64.2% of parents intended to have their children vaccinated against COVID-19 [40]. Also, as found in a study done in Turkey about the willingness to accept the COVID-19 vaccine by healthcare professionals, having children was associated with an increased acceptance of the vaccine [41].

In comparison, a cross-sectional study done in Italy, found that 36.1% of families would not vaccinate their children [42]. The results of this study were consistent with ours, where 33,1% of parents reported that they would not vaccinate their children.

The desire to return to a normal life, the trust in sciences, and the fear of new outbreaks were the main reasons behind parents' willing to vaccinate their children. But, the reasons for children's vaccine resistance were centered on side effects, safety, and lack of vaccine effectiveness [43].

Also, parents adopted safe and good practices to protect themselves and their children against COVID-19. The same findings were reported by most of the studies done in countries around the world, where the governments imposed strict measures to control the spread of the virus [44–47]attitudes and practices (KAP.

About 66% of parents answered that they are sending or willing to send their children to the school or the nursery. This is consistent with a study assessing school hesitancy among parents, 84% of them were planning to send their children to school in fall 2021 [48].

There are several limitations to this study that should be considered. The main limitation was the use of a convenience sample (Snowball technique). Also, the surveying process, which excluded those who can't read and have access to the internet, generates a sample that may not represent all parents in Lebanon and may overestimate their knowledge level. Furthermore, this study did not use a validated instrument to measure the KAP of parents towards COVID-19 in children because, since that time, there was no reliable and validated instrument. In addition, because of the COVID-19 awareness done at this time, parents may have given socially desirable responses that are inconsistent with their actual practices towards COVID-19 in their children. Moreover, recall bias can be a result of selfreported data. Finally, a misclassification bias is likely to have occurred, such as when reporting the family income by the parent.

Despite these limitations, this study is believed to be the first in Lebanon to assess parents' KAP towards COVID-19 in children. Additionally, this study was conducted during a critical period of COVID-19 in Lebanon, when the vaccine was still unavailable for children under the age of 12. Also, the distribution of participants according to governorates was similar to the actual distribution of the population in Lebanon, where all the governorates were targeted with an overrepresentation of the Mount Lebanon governorate. The percentages of respondents' distribution were 10.7% in North Lebanon and Akkar governorates, 9.3% in Bekaa and Baalbeck-Hermel governorates, 7.9% in Nabatieh governorate, 9.6% in South Lebanon governorate, 54.3% in Mount Lebanon governorate, and 8.2% in Beirut governorate, in comparison with 22.07, 14.57, 7.9, 11.69, 34.50, and 9.27% respectively as mentioned in the statistical bulletin of the Ministry of Public Health 2019 [49].

.....

Conclusions

To conclude, parents living in Lebanon participating in our study had good general knowledge, positive attitude, and effective practices towards COVID-19 in children. However, knowledge was lower among older and single parents, as well as those who lacked some basic facts about the disease's seriousness and control. More awareness should target those groups of parents, especially that the COVID-19 vaccine is still unavailable for use in children under 12 years in Lebanon, and that schools and nurseries reopened after a year and a half due to the pandemic. Nearly two-thirds of parents in our study reported their willingness to send their children to schools and nurseries, and to vaccinate them when a vaccine would be available. Schools and nurseries should take steps to slow the spread of COVID-19 among children and their families by maintaining good hygiene and ventilation in the classrooms, reducing the frequency of physical contact between students, and helping in their vaccination program.

Ethics approval

Participants' anonymity and autonomy were respected in the study. Ethical approval has been obtained from the Clinical and Epidemiological department. The participants had the option to participate and delay the submission of the completed form.

Consent to participate

Participants were informed that they were free to withdraw at any time, and that all information and opinions provided would be anonymous and confidential. Online informed consent was obtained before proceeding with the questionnaire.

Acknowledgements

Funding sources: this research did not receive any specific grant from funding agencies in the public, commercial, or not-for-profit sectors.

Conflict of interest statement

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

Authors' contributions

RS performed study, collected data, analyzed data and drafted the manuscript.

ZA, ME, NL reviewed the questionnaire, edited the manuscript and approved the final

version of the manuscript to be submitted.

RA designed study, analyzed data, reviewed and approved the final version of the manuscript to be submitted.

References

- She J, Liu L, Liu W. COVID-19 epidemic: disease characteristics in children. J Med Virol 2020;92:747-754. https://doi. org/10.1002/jmv.25807
- [2] Tang D, Tou J, Wang J, Chen Q, Wang W, Huang J, Zhao H, Wei J, Xu Z, Zhao D, Fu J, Shu Q. Prevention and control strategies for emergency, limited-term, and elective operations in pediatric surgery during the epidemic period of COVID-19. World J Pediatr Surg 2020;3:e000122. https://doi.org/10.1136%2Fwjps-2020-000122
- [3] Lebanon: First case of coronavirus (COVID-19) confirmed February 21. GardaWorld. Available at: https://www.garda.com/ crisis24/news-alerts/316346/lebanon-first-case-of-coronaviruscovid-19-confirmed-february-21 (Accessed on 14/11/2021).
- [4] MOPH. Monitoring of COVID-19 infection in Lebanon. Available at: https://www.moph.gov.lb/en/Media/view/43750/1/ monitoring-of-covid-19 (Accessed on 08/02/2022).
- [5] CDC. Healthcare Workers. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Available at: https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019ncov/hcp/pediatric-hcp.html (Accessed on 11/11/2021).
- [6] American Academy of Pediatrics. Children and COVID-19 State Data Report. Available at: https://www.aap.org/en/ pages/2019-novel-coronavirus-covid-19-infections/childrenand-covid-19-state-level-data-report (Accessed on 08/02/2022).
- [7] Leidman E, Duca LM, Omura JD, Proia K, Stephens JW, Sauber-Schatz EK. COVID-19 trends among persons aged 0-24 years - United States, March 1-December 12, 2020. Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2021;70:88-94. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi. org/10.15585/mmwr.mm7003e1
- [8] Tregoning JS, Schwarze J. Respiratory viral infections in infants: causes, clinical symptoms, virology, and immunology. Clin Microbiol Rev 2010;23:74-98. https://doi.org/10.1128/ CMR.00032-09
- [9] Li Q, Guan X, Wu P, Wang X, Zhou L, Tong Y, Ren R, Leung KSM, Lau EHY, Wong JY, Xing X, Xiang N, Wu Y, Li C, Chen Q, Li D, Liu T, Zhao J, Liu M, Tu W, Chen C, Jin L, Yang R, Wang Q, Zhou S, Wang R, Liu H, Luo Y, Liu Y, Shao G, Li H, Tao Z, Yang Y, Deng Z, Liu B, Ma Z, Zhang Y, Shi G, Lam TTY, Wu JT, Gao GF, Cowling BJ, Yang B, Leung GM, Feng Z. Early transmission dynamics in Wuhan, China, of novel corona-

.....

virus-infected pneumonia. N Engl J Med 2020;382:1199-1207. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa2001316

- [10] Jiehao C, Jin X, Daojiong L, Zhi Y, Lei X, Zhenghai Q, Yuehua Z, Hua Z, Ran J, Pengcheng L, Xiangshi W, Yanling G, Aimei X, He T, Hailing C, Chuning W, Jingjing L, Jianshe W, Mei Z. A case series of children with 2019 novel coronavirus infection: clinical and epidemiological features. Clin Infect Dis 2020;71:1547-1551. https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/ciaa198
- [11] Wei M, Yuan J, Liu Y, Fu T, Yu X, Zhang ZJ. Novel coronavirus infection in hospitalized infants under 1 year of age in China. JAMA 2020;323:1313-1314. https://doi.org/10.1001/ jama.2020.2131
- [12] Godfred-Cato S, Bryant B, Leung J, Oster ME, Conklin L, Abrams J, Roguski K, Wallace B, Prezzato E, Koumans EH, Lee EH, Geevarughese A, Lash MK, Reilly KH, Pulver WP, Thomas D, Feder KA, Hsu KK, Plipat N, Richardson G, Lim S, Schmitz A, Pierce T, Hrapcak S, Datta D, Morris SB, Clarke K, Belay E. COVID-19 - associated multisystem inflammatory syndrome in children - United States, March-July 2020. Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2020;69:1074-1080. https://doi.org/10.15585/ mmwr.mm6932e2
- [13] CDC. COVID data tracker. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Available at: https://covid.cdc.gov/covid-data-tracker (Accessed on 08/02/2022).
- [14] Feldstein LR, Rose EB, Horwitz SM, Collins JP, Newhams MM, Son MBF, Newburger JW, Kleinman LC, Heidemann SM, Martin AA, Singh AR, Li S, Tarquinio KM, Jaggi P, Oster ME, Zackai SP, Gillen J, Ratner AJ, Walsh RF, Fitzgerald JC, Keenaghan MA, Alharash H, Doymaz S, Clouser KN, Giuliano JS, Gupta A, Parker RM, Maddux AB, Havalad V, Ramsingh S, Bukulmez H, Bradford TT, Smith LS, Tenforde MW, Carroll CL, Riggs BJ, Gertz SJ, Daube A, Lansell A, Munoz AC, Hobbs CV, Marohn KL, Halasa NB, Patel MM, Randolph AG. Multisystem inflammatory syndrome in U.S. children and adolescents. N Engl J Med 2020;383:334-346. https://doi. org/10.1056/NEJMoa2021680
- [15] Dufort EM, Koumans EH, Chow EJ, Rosenthal EM, Muse A, Rowlands J, Barranco MA, Maxted AM, Rosenberg ES, Easton D, Udo T, Kumar J, Pulver W, Smith L, Hutton B, Blog D, Zucker H. Multisystem inflammatory syndrome in children in New York State. N Engl J Med 2020;383:347-358. https://doi. org/10.1056/NEJM0a2021756
- [16] Fang FC, Naccache SN, Greninger AL. The laboratory diagnosis of coronavirus disease 2019- frequently asked questions. Clin Infect Dis 2020;71:2996-3001. https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/ciaa742
- [17] Dinnes J, Deeks JJ, Adriano A, Berhane S, Davenport C, Dittrich S, Emperador D, Takwoingi Y, Cunnigham J, Beese S, Dretzke J, Ruffano LFD, Harris IM, Price MJ, Taylor-Phillips S, Hooft L, Leeflang MM, Spijker R, Bruel AVD. Rapid, point-of-care antigen and molecular-based tests for diagnosis of SARS-CoV-2 infection. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2021;3:CD013705. https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.cd013705
- [18] Cheng MP, Yansouni CP, Basta NE, Desjardins M, Kanjilal S, Paquette K, Caya C, Semret M, Quach C, Libman M, Mazzola L, Sacks JA, Dittrich S, Papenburg J. Serodiagnostics for severe acute respiratory syndrome-related coronavirus 2: a narrative review. Ann Intern Med 2020;173:450-460. https://doi. org/10.7326/m20-2854
- [19] FDA. Coronavirus (COVID-19) update: FDA authorizes Pfizer-BioNTech COVID-19 vaccine for emergency use in adolescents in another important action in fight against pandemic. Available at: https://www.fda.gov/news-events/press-announcements/coronavirus-covid-19-update-fda-authorizes-pfizer-biontech-covid-19-vaccine-emergency-use (Accessed on 14/05/2021).
- [20] FDA. FDA authorizes Pfizer-BioNTech COVID-19 vaccine for emergency use in children 5 through 11 years of age. Available at: https://www.fda.gov/news-events/press-announcements/fdaauthorizes-pfizer-biontech-covid-19-vaccine-emergency-usechildren-5-through-11-years-age (Accessed on 10/11/2021).

.....

[21] American Academy of Pediatrics. Children and COVID-19 vaccination trends. Available at: http://www.aap.org/en/ pages/2019-novel-coronavirus-covid-19-infections/childrenand-covid-19-vaccination-trends (Accessed on 08/02/2022).

- [22] Covidvax.live: live COVID-19 vaccination tracker see vaccinations in real time. Available at: http://covidvax.live/location/ lbn (Accessed on 08/02/2022).
- [23] Abuhammad S. Parents' knowledge and attitude towards COVID-19 in children: a Jordanian study. Int J Clin Pract 2021;75:e13671. https://doi.org/10.1111/ijcp.13671
- [24] Goldman RD, Yan TD, Seiler M, Cotanda CP, Brown JC, Klein EJ, Hoeffe J, Gelernter R, Hall JE, Davis AL, Griffiths MA, Mater A, Manzano S, Gualco G, Shimizu N, Hurt TL, Ahmed S, Hansen M, Sheridan D, Ali S, Thompson GC, Gaucher N, Staubli G. Caregiver willingness to vaccinate their children against COVID-19: cross sectional survey. Vaccine 2020;38:7668-7673. https://doi. org/10.1016%2Fj.vaccine.2020.09.084
- [25] Zhong BL, Luo W, Li HM, Zhang QQ, Liu XG, Li WT, Li Y. Knowledge, attitudes, and practices towards COVID-19 among Chinese residents during the rapid rise period of the COVID-19 outbreak: a quick online cross-sectional survey. Int J Biol Sci 2020;16:1745-1752. https://doi.org/10.7150%2Fijbs.45221
- [26] CDC. COVID-19 and Your Health. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Available at: https://www.cdc.gov/ coronavirus/2019-ncov/daily-life-coping/children/protect-children.html (Accessed on 16/06/2021).
- [27] Al-Hanawi MK, Angawi K, Alshareef N, Qattan AMN, Helmy HZ, Abudawood Y, Alqurashi M, Kattan WM, Kadasah NA, Chirwa GC, Alsharqi O. Knowledge, attitude and practice toward COVID-19 among the public in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia: a cross-sectional study. Front Public Health 2020;8:217. https://doi.org/10.3389%2Ffpubh.2020.00217
- [28] Abdelhafiz AS, Mohammed Z, Ibrahim ME, Ziady HH, Alorabi M, Ayyad M, Sultan EA. Knowledge, perceptions, and attitude of Egyptians towards the novel coronavirus disease (COV-ID-19). J Community Health 2020;45:881-890. https://doi. org/10.1007/s10900-020-00827-7
- [29] Naser AY, Dahmash EZ, Alwafi H, Alsairafi ZK, Al Rajeh AM, Alhartani YJ, Turkistani FM, Alyami HS. Knowledge and practices towards COVID-19 during its outbreak: a multinational cross-sectional study. https://doi. org/10.1101/2020.04.13.20063560
- [30] Azlan AA, Hamzah MR, Sern TJ, Ayub SH, Mohamad E. Public knowledge, attitudes and practices towards COVID-19: a cross-sectional study in Malaysia. Plos One 2020;15:e0233668. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0233668
- [31] Lee M, Kang B-A, You M. Knowledge, attitudes, and practices (KAP) toward COVID-19: a cross-sectional study in South Korea. BMC Public Health 2021;21:295. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s12889-021-10285-y
- [32] Alahdal H, Basingab F, Alotaibi R. An analytical study on the awareness, attitude and practice during the COVID-19 pandemic in Riyadh, Saudi Arabia. J Infect Public Health 2020;13:1446-1452. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jiph.2020.06.015
- [33] Qutob N, Awartani F. Knowledge, attitudes and practices (KAP) towards COVID-19 among Palestinians during the COVID-19 outbreak: a cross-sectional survey. Plos One 2021;16:e0244925. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0244925
- [34] Erfani A, Shahriarirad R, Ranjbar K, Mirahmadizadeh A, Moghadami M. Knowledge, attitude and practice toward the novel coronavirus (COVID-19) outbreak: a population-based survey in Iran. World Health Organization 2020;23. https://doi. org/10.2471/BLT.20.256651
- [35] Alsan M, Stantcheva S, Yang D, Cutler D. Disparities in coronavirus 2019 reported incidence, knowledge, and behavior among US adults. JAMA Netw Open 2020;3:e2012403. https://doi. org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.12403
- [36] Kabalan M, El-Hajj M, Khachman D, Awada S, Rachidi S, Al-Hajje A, Ajrouche R. Public awareness of environmental risk

factors of cancer and attitude towards its prevention among the Lebanese general population. J Prev Med Hyg 2021;62:E466-E478. https://doi.org/10.15167/2421-4248/jpmh2021.62.2.1974

- [37] Li Z-H, Zhang X-R, Zhong W-F, Song W-Q, Wang Z-H, Chen Q, Liu D, Huang Q-M, Shen D, Chen P-L, Mao A, Zhang D, Yang X, Wu X-B, Mao C. Knowledge, attitudes, and practices related to coronavirus disease 2019 during the outbreak among workers in China: a large cross-sectional study. PLoS Negl Trop Dis 2020;14:e0008584. https://doi.org/10.1371%2Fjournal. pntd.0008584
- [38] Sakr S, Ghaddar A, Sheet I, Eid A-H, Hamam B. Knowledge, attitude and practices related to COVID-19 among young Lebanese population. BMC Public Health 2021;21:653. https://doi. org/10.1186/s12889-021-10575-5
- [39] Karam MM, Abdel Baki J, Al-Hajje A, Sraj M, Awada S, Salameh P, Ajrouche R. Willingness to pay for a coronavirus vaccine and its associated determinants in Lebanon. Value Health Reg Issues 2022;30:18-25. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vhri.2021.10.004
- [40] Choi SH, Jo YH, Jo KJ, Park SE. Pediatric and parents' attitudes towards COVID-19 vaccines and intention to vaccinate for children. J Korean Med Sci 2021;36:e227. https://doi. org/10.3346%2Fjkms.2021.36.e227
- [41] Kaplan AK, Sahin MK, Parildar H, Guvenc IA. The willingness to accept the COVID-19 vaccine and affecting factors among healthcare professionals: a cross-sectional study in Turkey. Int J Clin Pract 2021;75:e14226. https://doi.org/10.1111/ijcp.14226
- [42] Russo L, Croci I, Campagna I, Pandolfi E, Villani A, Reale A, Barbieri MA, Raponi M, Gesualdo F, Tozzi AE. Intention of parents to immunize children against SARS-CoV-2 in Italy. Vaccines 2021;9:1469. https://doi.org/10.3390/vaccines9121469
- [43] Pan F, Zhao H, Nicholas S, Maitland E, Liu R, Hou Q. Parents' decisions to vaccinate children against COVID-19: a scoping review. Vaccines 2021;9:1476. https://doi.org/10.3390%2Fvaccines9121476

- [44] Masoud AT, Zaazouee MS, Elsayed SM, Ragab KM, Kamal EM, Alnasser YT, Assar A, Nourelden AZ, Istatiah LJ, Abd-Elgawad MM, Abdelsattar AT, Sofy AA, Hegazy DG, Femía VZ, Mendonça AR, Sayed FM, Elmoursi A, Alareidi A, Abd-Eltawab AK, Abdelmonem M, Mohammed OM, Derballa EA, El-Fas KA, Abdel-Daim MM, Abushouk AI. KAP-COVIDGLOB-AL: a multinational survey of the levels and determinants of public knowledge, attitudes and practices towards COVID-19. BMJ Open 2021;11:e043971. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2020-043971
- [45] Enabulele O, Mobolaji A. COVID-19 pandemic: an assessment of risk perception and the implementation of precautionary measures in a group of primary care workers in Nigeria. J Prev Med Hyg 2021;62:E822-E829. https://doi.org/10.15167/2421-4248/jpmh2021.62.4.2145
- [46] Giovanni LY, Suryadinata H, Sofiatin Y, Rakhmilla LE, Ruslami R. Knowledge, attitude, and practice of undergraduate medical students in Indonesia on the COVID-19 prevention. J Prev Med Hyg 2021;62:E598-E604. https://doi.org/10.15167/2421-4248/ jpmh2021.62.3.1885
- [47] Stefanati A, d'Anchera E, Motoli FD, Savio M, Toffoletto MV, Gabutti G. Evaluation and review of preventive measures applied during COVID-19 pandemic: strategies adopted by European countries. J Prev Med Hyg 2021;62:E6-E17. https://doi. org/10.15167/2421-4248/jpmh2021.62.1s3.1851
- [48] Schwartz HL, Diliberti MK, Grant D. Will students come back? School hesitancy among parents and their preferences for COV-ID-19 safety practices in schools. RAND Corporation. Available at: https://www.rand.org/pubs/research_reports/RRA1393-1.html (Accessed on 04/01/2022).
- [49] MOPH. Statistics 2019. Available at: https://www.moph.gov. lb/en/DynamicPages/page_download_file/3829 (Accessed on 20/11/2021).

.....

Received on February 15, 2022. Accepted on December 27, 2022.

Correspondence: Rida Saryeddine, Clinical and Epidemiological Research laboratory, Faculty of Pharmacy, Lebanese University, Hadat, Lebanon - E-mail: rida.saryeddine@gmail.com

How to cite this article: Saryeddine R, Ajrouch Z, El Ahmar M, Lahoud N, Ajrouche R. Parents' knowledge, attitude, and practices towards COVID-19 in children: A Lebanese cross-sectional study. J Prev Med Hyg 2022;63:E497-E512. https://doi.org/10.15167/2421-4248/ jpmh2022.63.4.2521

© Copyright by Pacini Editore Srl, Pisa, Italy

This is an open access article distributed in accordance with the CC-BY-NC-ND (Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International) license. The article can be used by giving appropriate credit and mentioning the license, but only for non-commercial purposes and only in the original version. For further information: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/deed.en

.....

Supplementary Tab. I. The correct answer rates of the COVID-19 knowledge questionnaire.

Variable	Frequency (n = 429)	%		
K1. The main clinical symptoms of COVID-19 in children are fever, fatigue, dry cough, and myalg	lia	I		
Correct answer	298	69.5		
Incorrect answer	131	30.5		
K2. Unlike the common cold, stuffy nose, runny nose, and sneezing are less common in childre COVID-19 virus	n infected w	ith the		
Correct answer	231	53.8		
Incorrect answer	198	46.2		
K3. There currently is no effective cure for COVID-19, but early symptomatic and supportive tre children recover from the infection	atment can h	nelp most		
Correct answer	340	79.3		
Incorrect answer	89	20.7		
K4. Not all children with COVID-19 will develop to severe cases. Only those who have some med diabetes, heart disease, obesity) might be at increased risk of severe illness compared to oth	lical conditio er children	ns (asthma,		
Correct answer	342	79.7		
Incorrect answer	87	20.3		
K5. Eating or contacting wild animals (e.g., bats) would result in the infection by the COVID-19 v	/irus in childr	en		
Correct answer	104	24.2		
Incorrect answer	325	75.8		
K6. Persons with COVID-19 cannot infect the virus to others when a fever is not present	1	<u>I</u>		
Correct answer	350	81.6		
Incorrect answer	79	18.4		
K7. The COVID-19 virus spreads via respiratory droplets of infected individuals	1	<u>I</u>		
Correct answer	409	95.3		
Incorrect answer	20	4.7		
K8. Children aged 2 years and under should wear general medical masks to prevent the infection	on by the CO	VID-19 virus		
Correct answer	300	69.9		
Incorrect answer	129	30.1		
K9. Children aged 3-11 years should wear general medical masks to prevent the infection by the COVID-19 virus				
Correct answer	335	78.1		
Incorrect answer	94	21.9		
K10. Children aged 12 years and over should wear general medical masks to prevent the infecti	on by the CO	VID-19 virus		
Correct answer	408	95.1		
Incorrect answer	21	4.9		
K11. It is not necessary for children and young adults to take measures to prevent the infection	h by the COV	D-19 virus		
Correct answer	410	95.6		
Incorrect answer	19	4.4		
K12. To prevent the infection by COVID-19 in children, individuals should avoid going and taking crowded places (> 10 people indoor, > 25 people outdoor) and avoid taking public transportation	their childre	en to		
Correct answer	403	93.9		
Incorrect answer	26	6.1		
K13. Isolation and treatment of people (or children) who are infected with the COVID-19 virus a reduce the spread of the virus	re effective v	vays to		
Correct answer	407	94.9		
Incorrect answer	22	5.1		
K14. Children who have contact with someone infected with the COVID-19 virus should be imm proper place. In general, the observation period is 14 days	ediately isola	ated in a		
Correct answer	377	87.9		
Incorrect answer	52	12.1		
K15. Multisystem inflammatory syndrome (MIS-C) is a rare but serious medical condition association children	ated with CO	VID-19 in		
Correct answer	125	29.1		
Incorrect answer	304	70.9		

Supplementary Tab. II. Socio-demographic characteristics of parents according to COVID-19 knowledge score.

.....

	Knowledge score			
	N = 429	Mean ± SD	P-value	
Socio-demographic characteristics				
Sex				
Male	85	10.59 ± 2.75	0.004 **	
Female	344	11.45 ± 2.00	0.001 '	
Age	J	- -		
18-29	72	11.54 ± 2.34		
30-39	186	11.06 ± 2.35	0.400 +	
40-49	118	11.55 ± 1.85	0.166 *	
≥ 50	53	11.07 ± 2.07		
Marital status	J			
Married	412	11.32 ± 2.12	0.400 \$	
Not married	17	10.18 ± 3.47	0.168 s	
Nationality	I			
Lebanese	422	11.28 ± 2.20	0.464.8	
Other nationalities	7	11.14 ± 1.68	0.461 3	
Number of children	J			
1-2 children	286	11.23 ± 2.30		
3-4 children	129	11.39 ± 1.87	0.923 [¶]	
≥ 5 children	14	11.36 ± 2.7		
Number of children aged 4 or less				
0	206	11.34 ± 1.95	0 550 +	
At least one child	223	11.22 ± 2.39	0.556	
Number of children aged between 5 and 11 years				
0	189	11.46 ± 2.17	0.470 +	
At least one child	240	11.14 ± 2.21	0.130 1	
Number of children aged between 12 and 18 years				
0	269	11.15 ± 2.25	0.440 +	
At least one child	160	11.49 ± 2.08	0.119	
Level of education		· ·		
High school's degree and below	118	11.08 ± 2.21		
Bachelor's degree	173	11.48 ± 1.95	0.254 [‡]	
Master's degree and above	138	11.19 ± 2.45		
Occupation				
Unemployed	147	11.25 ± 2.25		
Student	10	12.1 ± 1.29	0.000 1*	
Healthcare worker	53	12.04 ± 2.03	0.002 "	
Other occupations	219	11.08 ± 2.19		
Family income				
No current income	58	10.79 ± 2.35		
< 675,000 LBP	22	11.82 ± 2.75		
675,000-1,999,000 LBP	132	11.36 ± 2.21	0.294 [‡]	
2,000,000-3,999,000 LBP	123	11.41 ± 1.91		
> 4,000,000 LBP	94	11.18 ± 2.26		
Place of current residence				
Beirut governorate	35	10.91 ± 2.76		
Mount-Lebanon governorate	233	11.35 ± 2.09		
South-Lebanon governorate	41	11.44 ± 2.05	0 770 +	
Bekaa + Baalbeck - Hermel governorates	40	11.10 ± 1.84	0.750 *	
Nabatieh governorate	34	10.94 ± 3.03		
North-Lebanon + Akkar governorates	46	11.46 ± 1.94		

SD: standard deviation; *: p < 0.05 is considered significant; ⁺: T-Test; [‡]: ANOVA; [§]: Mann-Whitney Test; ¹: Kruskal-Wallis Test.

.....

Supplementary Tab. III. Medical history of parents and children according to COVID-19 knowledge score.

	Knowledge score		
	N = 429	Mean ± SD	P-value
Medical history of parents and children			
Smoking status of parents			
No	331	11.35 ± 2.07	0.240 t
Yes	98	11.05 ± 2.57	0.240
Chronic diseases in parents			
No	359	11.28 ± 2.26	0 072 t
Yes	70	11.27 ± 1.85	0.972
Type of chronic diseases in parents			
No chronic diseases	338	11.26 ± 2.27	
Cardiac problems	13	11.54 ± 1.94	
Respiratory problems	3	12.33 ± 1.53	
Neurological problems	1	12 ± 0.00	0.762 1
Diabetes	4	10.25 ± 1.26	
Allergies	23	11.09 ± 2.17	
Other diseases	22	11.73 ± 1.45	
More than 1 chronic disease	25	11.24 ± 2.03	
Chronic diseases in children			
No	391	11.28 ± 2.24	0.046 +
Yes	38	11.31 ± 1.71	0.916
Type of chronic diseases in children			
No chronic diseases	379	11.27 ± 2.24	
Cardiac problems	2	13 ± 0.00	0.056 1
Respiratory problems	2	10 ± 0.00	
Diabetes	2	7.5 ± 3.53	
Allergies	29	11.55 ± 1.59	
Other diseases	10	10.9 ± 1.45	
More than 1 chronic disease	5	12.6 ± 1.14	
SD: standard deviation; *: p < 0.05 is considered significant; †: T-Test; ‡: ANOVA; §: Mann-Whitney T	est; 1: Kruskal-Wa	llis Test.	

Supplementary Tab. IV. Parents' experience with the COVID-19 pandemic, their vaccination status according to COVID-19 knowledge score.

	Knowledge score		
	N = 429	Mean ± SD	P-value
Parents' experience with the COVID-19 pandemic and their vaccination status			
Were you ever in quarantine because of symptoms or because you were in clo	ose contact w	ith someone te	ested positive
for COVID-19 or because you returned from a country that had a large numbe	r of cases?		
No	191	11.08 ± 2.29	0 097 t
Yes	238	11.44 ± 2.10	0.097
Have you tested positive with coronavirus using PCR or other tests?			
No	291	11.15 ± 2.3	0.079.†
Yes	138	11.55 ± 1.92	0.078
Did any of your children experience any COVID-19 symptoms?			
No	323	11.14 ± 2.26	0.007.**
Yes	106	11.69 ± 1.93	0.027
Have any of your children tested positive with coronavirus using PCR or other	r tests?		
No	378	11.24 ± 2.22	0 747 †
Yes	51	11.57 ± 1.94	0.517
Did you receive one of the available vaccines for COVID-19?			
No	284	11.20 ± 2.30	0.740 t
Yes	145	11.43 ± 1.97	0.519
Are you willing to receive one of the available vaccines for COVID-19?			
No	116	10.95 ± 2.51	
Yes	180	11.33 ± 2.25	0.127 [‡]
I already received my vaccine	133	11.50 ± 1.75	

►

.....

Supplementary Tab. IV. Parents' experience with the COVID-19 pandemic, their vaccination status according to COVID-19 knowledge score.

	Knowledge score				
	N = 429	Mean ± SD	P-value		
Did your partner receive one of the available vaccines for COVID-19?					
No	263	11.25 ± 2.09			
Yes	155	11.38 ± 2.22	0.515 [‡]		
I don't have a partner	11	10.64 ± 3.80			
Is your partner willing to receive one of the available vaccines for COVID-19?					
No	103	10.93 ± 2.45			
Yes	181	11.43 ± 1.97	0 770 1		
I don't have a partner	11	10.64 ± 3.80	0.552 "		
My partner has already received his vaccine	134	11.39 ± 2.09			
Most used source of information regarding COVID-19					
Social media	128	11.05 ± 2.49			
Google and search engines	48	11.87 ± 1.42			
Family, friends, neighbors	10	10.6 ± 2.22	0.061 ‡		
News channels	61	10.95 ± 2.46	0.001		
Ministry of health website	89	11.17 ± 2.16			
Scientific articles and research	93	11.68 ± 1.82			
SD: standard deviation; *: p < 0.05 is considered significant; †: T-Test; ‡: ANOVA; §: Mann-Whitney Test; 1: Kruskal-Wallis Test.					

Supplementary Tab. V. Parents' attitude and practices towards COVID-19 in children according to COVID-19 knowledge score.

	Knowledge score		е		
	N = 429	Mean ± SD	P-value		
Parents 'attitude towards COVID-19 in children					
Do you agree that COVID-19 is a serious disease?					
Agree	366	11.45 ± 1.93	0.014 ^{¶*}		
Disagree	47	10.70 ± 2.35			
I don't know	16	9 ± 4.76			
Are you worried about your child getting coronavirus?					
Yes	329	11.41 ± 2.08	0.022.1*		
No	100	10.84 ± 2.50	0.022		
Do you agree that COVID-19 will finally be successfully controlled?					
Agree	299	11.41 ± 2.18			
Disagree	38	11.37 ± 2.12	0.063 ‡		
l don't know	92	10.80 ± 2.22			
Do you think that the pandemic will be controlled in Lebanon in the near future?					
Yes	257	11.27 ± 2.26	0.933 +		
No	172	11.29 ± 2.09			
Do you think authorities should close educational centers (kindergartens, schools, and universities) to limit the spread of the disease?					
Yes	220	11.28 ± 2.23			
No	209	11.28 ± 2.16	0.984 *		
Are you willing to vaccinate your kids when a vaccine will be available for them?					
Yes	287	11.42 ± 2.10	0.063 +		
No	142	11.00 ± 2.36			
Parents 'practices towards COVID-19 in children					
In recent days, have you taken your children to any crowded place (> 10 people indoor, > 25 people outdoor)?					
Yes	140	10.97 ± 2.24	0.047 **		
No	289	11.43 ± 2.16	0.045		
Have you asked your kids to wear a mask outside the house or when in presence with other people?					
Yes	338	11.36 ± 2.08	0.154 t		
No	91	10.99 ± 2.54	0.134		

►

►

Supplementary Tab. V. Parents' attitude and practices towards COVID-19 in children according to COVID-19 knowledge score.

	Knowledge score			
	N = 429	Mean ± SD	P-value	
Do you teach your children to wash their hands with soap and water for 20 se	conds freque	ntly?		
Yes	409	11.27 ± 2.17	0.774.8	
No	20	11.5 ± 2.66	0.5713	
Do you teach your children to maintain an appropriate distance between the	m and other p	eople?		
Yes	391	11.33 ± 2.09	0.004 +	
No	38	10.71 ± 3.00	0.094 '	
Do you teach your children to avoid touching their eyes, nose and mouth?				
Yes	397	11.37 ± 2.13	0.002 **	
No	32	10.12 ± 2.62		
Are you sending or willing to send your children to the school or to the nursery?				
Yes	284	11.29 ± 2.28	0.869 +	
No	145	11.25 ± 2.02		
SD: standard deviation; *: p < 0.05 is considered significant; ⁺ : T-Test; [‡] : ANOVA; [§] : Mann-Whitney Test; ¹ : Kruskal-Wallis Test.				

......

.....

COVID-19

Childhood immunization coverage during the COVID-19 pandemic in the province of Siracusa, Italy

FABIO CONTARINO¹, ERMINIO DI PIETRO¹, FRANCESCA BELLA², CONCETTA RANDAZZO¹,

MARIA LIA CONTRINO³

¹Department of Public Health, Epidemiology Unit, Provincial Health Authority of Siracusa; ² Siracusa Cancer Registry, Provincial Health Authority of Siracusa; ³ Head of Department of Public Health, Provincial Health Authority of Siracusa

Keywords

COVID-19 pandemic • Childhood immunization • Vaccine coverage • Vaccine-preventable diseases • Catch-up programmes

Summary

Introduction. The COVID-19 pandemic has severely impacted routine immunization activities and a decline in vaccination coverage has been documented around the world. The aim of this study was to assess the impact of the direct and indirect effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on routine childhood vaccination coverage in the Province of Siracusa, Italy.

Methods. We compared 2020 and 2019 vaccination coverage by age group and vaccine type. Results were considered statistically significant at a two-tailed p-value ≤ 0.05 .

Results. Our findings show that vaccination coverage rates for mandatory and recommended vaccinations decreased in 2020 compared with the previous year (range from -1.4% to -7.8%). Anti-rotavirus vaccination increased (+4.8%, as compared to

Introduction

Childhood vaccination is one of the most important public health achievements in history and a cornerstone for the prevention of communicable infectious diseases. Routine immunizations of pregnant women, adults, elderly persons, patients with chronic conditions and higher risk, are also essential [1-5].

Although the direct health impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, caused by the new SARS-CoV-2 virus, on child health is generally low [6], the true impact on the paediatric population may lie in its indirect health impacts. The COVID-19 pandemic has severely impacted routine immunization activities and a decline in vaccination coverage has been documented around the world, regardless the economic status of the countries, rich and poor, developed and developing [7-9]. More than half of the countries in which data were available have reported moderate to severe disruptions, or total suspension of vaccination services during March-April 2020. Several countries postponed immunization campaigns in the first five months of the pandemic, including: measles vaccine, polio vaccine, meningococcal conjugated A vaccine, yellow fever vaccine, typhoid vaccine, cholera vaccine and tetanus-diphtheria vaccine [7-9]. According to WHO data, during the pandemic, global vaccine coverage (VC) has dropped from 86% in 2019 to 83% in 2020; an estimated of 23 million children under the age of one year did not receive

2019), while the reductions observed for polio vaccination (hexavalent) and human papillomavirus vaccination in males were not statistically significant. The reduction did not hit the population in the same manner, with the greater decreases observed for children aged > 24 months compared to the younger (-5.7% vs -2.2%) and for booster doses compared to the primary vaccinations (-6.4% vs -2.6%).

Conclusions. This study found that vaccination coverage of routine childhood immunisations was negatively affected during the COVID-19 pandemic in the Province of Siracusa. It is of huge importance to put in place some catch-up programs to ensure vaccinations at the earliest of individuals who missed immunization during the pandemic.

basic vaccines, which is the highest number since 2009; the number of completely unvaccinated children increased by 3.4 million in 2020; only 19 vaccine introductions were reported in 2020, less than half of any year in the past two decades; 1.6 million more girls were not fully protected against human papillomavirus (HPV) in 2020, compared to the previous year [10, 11]. Immunization coverage has dropped also among adults [12]. The re-organization of health services on one hand, including the shift of health personnel to deal with increasing numbers of COVID-19 patients; the public health measures to mitigate the epidemic and the fear of contracting the infection on the other hand, have led to interrupt, delay and replan of a large number of vaccinations [13].

When immunization programs are stopped or interrupted for any reason, we may observe an increasing number of vaccine-preventable infections and related deaths, because of an increase in susceptible individuals to diseases that were controlled or even eliminated. Specifically, maternal and child health could be most affected by this problem, and this situation will represent a particular threat for low- and middle-income Countries for battling the pandemic alongside preexisting challenges, including efforts to control vaccinepreventable diseases (VPDs) [14-16].

For this reason, interim guidelines warning about the risk of VPD outbreaks have been published, which could cause further pressure on health services [17-20].

Italy was the first country outside China to experience the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and one of the worst-affected countries in the first months of the pandemic. The first case of SARS-CoV-2 infection was reported on 20 February and the disease quickly spread across the north of the country [21]. Italy adopted a generalized lockdown on March 12 and gradually resumed all activities from May 4 to June 15 [22].

The Italian vaccination policy provides for the following 10 mandatory routine immunisations for children aged 0-16: poliovirus, diphtheria, tetanus, hepatitis B, pertussis, *Haemophilus influenzae* type b, measles, rubella, mumps, and chicken pox (the anti-varicella – chicken pox – vaccine is mandatory only for children born from 2017 onwards). Furthermore, the vaccinations against human papillomavirus (HPV), meningococcus serotype B (Men B) and serotypes A, C, W135, Y (Men ACW135Y) are recommended in children and in adolescents, as well as herpes zoster and pneumococcus (PNC) for the population over 65 years [23, 24]. These vaccinations are offered actively and free of charge by the Italian National Health Service.

In this study, we aimed to assess the impact of the direct and indirect effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on routine childhood vaccine coverage in the Province of Siracusa, an area with 386,071 inhabitants situated in south-east of Sicily, Italy, according to different birth cohorts and vaccine types.

Material and methods

Vaccination coverage data were extracted from the official records of Epidemiology Unit of the Health Department of Provincial Health Authority of Siracusa, that routinely collects data on all administered vaccines. To estimate changes in vaccine coverage, we calculated absolute differences between 2019 and 2020 coverage rates.

We used the birth cohorts, population, target age group, number of doses and year of administration as showed in Table I. We used polio and measles vaccination as the usual proxy for the hexavalent (polio, diphtheria, tetanus, hepatitis B, pertussis, Haemophilus influenzae type b) and quadrivalent (measles, rubella, mumps and chicken pox) or trivalent (measles, rubella, mumps) vaccinations, respectively, since these vaccines are administered in six-in-one and four-in-one or threein-one vaccine formulations in Italy. Data are reported for birth cohort and a complete vaccination cycle, regardless of the schedule adopted and the vaccine type administered. As for polio, measles, men B, men ACW135Y and PNC vaccination, we used the available data at 24 months of age (even though these vaccines are administered with different timing in the first two years of life according to Italian immunization) comparing vaccine coverage rates for the years 2019 (administered from January to December 2019 to the 2017 cohort) and 2020 (administered from January to December 2020 to the 2018 cohort).

Polio with diphtheria, tetanus, pertussis and measles with rubella, mumps (and chicken pox, not mandatory for children born before the 2017) vaccinations are boosted at 6, mandatorily. We used data on polio and measles vaccinations in 2020 (VC 2020) to the 2013 cohort (7 years old), as well as data on vaccinations administered through the year 2019 (VC 2019) to the 2012 cohorts (7 years old).

.....

Vaccination against rotavirus is administered in the first year of life, therefore we compared vaccine coverage rates at the 12-month timepoint (VC 2019 for the 2018 cohort and VC 2020 for the 2019 cohort). Regarding anti-HPV vaccination, we used the full-cycle coverage for 14-year-old (2005 cohort in 2019, 2006 cohort in 2020) since it is offered during the 12th year of life.

We performed a statistical analysis at 12 months (for rotavirus vaccination; cohort 2018 and 2019) and 24 months (polio, measles, men B, men ACW135Y/men C vaccinations; cohort 2017 and 2018), 7 years (polio and measles booster doses; cohort 2012 and 2013) and 13 years (HPV; cohort 2006 and 2007) for mandatory and recommended vaccinations. The Chi-square test was executed on proportions for the years 2020 vs. 2019.

Analysis findings were considered statistically significant at a two-tailed *p*-value ≤ 0.05 .

Results

The 2019 and 2020 level of vaccine coverage rates for mandatory and recommended vaccinations are reported in Table II and in Table III respectively. For each vaccine-preventable disease, cohort and year of administration, we reported the vaccine coverage, the number of vaccinated (in the numerator, extracted from official records of Epidemiology Unit) and the eligible population (in the denominator, according to Istat data, Italian National Statistical Institute).

With reference to the mandatory childhood immunisations, in 2020, 24-month coverage rates were 86.7% for polio (hexavalent vaccine), 87.2% for measles (quadrivalent vaccine), representing -1.4% (not statistically significant) and -3.8% decreases, respectively, as compared to 2019. By 7 years of age (booster doses), immunisation coverage was 77.3% for polio and 77.1% for measles, representing a -7.8% and -5.0%, respectively, compared to 2019 (Tab. II).

With reference to the recommended childhood immunisations, in 2020, 24-month coverage was 54.0% for Men B (-4.6% as compared to 2019), 61.7% for Men ACW135Y/C (-5.6% as compared to 2019), 83.5% for PNC vaccine (-2.4%, as compared to 2019), and 45.0% for rotavirus (+4.8%, as compared to 2019). Regarding HPV vaccination, in 2020, overall coverage was 41.7% (-4.3% compared to 2019), in female was 51.3% (-4.8%) and in male was 33.0% (-3.4%) (Tab. III).

Interestingly, we observed a significant increase for rotavirus vaccinations in 2020 compared to 2019 (+5.4%).

VDP	Mandatory/ Recommended	Birth cohort	Eligible population§	Target age group	Number of doses	Year of vaccine administration (1 st January - 31 st December)
Potovinus	Recommended	2018	3090	12 months	2*	2019
KULAVITUS		2019	2989			2020
Polio, Measles, Men B, Men ACW135Y/Men C	Mandatory	2017	3155	24 months	3 for polio and 3 (or 4) for Men B; 1 for measles and Men ACW135Y/C	2019
	Recommended	2018	3090			2020
Polio, Measles	Mandatory	2012	3605	7 years	4 for polio; 2 for measles	2019
		2013	3408			2020
HPV	Recommended	2005	3909	14 years	2	2019
		2006	3890			2020

Tab. I. VDP, birth cohort, population, target group, number of doses and year of administration of vaccinations to assess the vaccine coverage.

§ Data from www.demoistat.it. * The vaccination course of the vaccine used in the Province of Siracusa consists of two doses. VPD: vaccine-preventable disease. Men B, ACW135Y and C: *Neisseria meningitidis* serogroups B, ACW135Y and C; PNC: *Streptococcus pneumoniae*; HPV: human papillomavirus.

Tab. II. Vaccine coverage (VC) rates (%) registered for mandatory vaccinations, at 24 months and 7 years of age, stratified by vaccine type and year of administration, along.

With the percentage differences between the 2019 and 2020 rates in the Province of Sira

Target age group	VDP	VC Rat by Year of Vaccin	tes (%) e Administration	% Difference	<i>p</i> -Value *
		2019	2020	(2020 VS 2019)	
24 months	Polio	88.05 (2778/3155)	86.70 (2679/3090)	-1.4	0.11
24 monuns	Measles	90.94 (2869/3155)	87.15 (2693/3090)	-3.8	< 0.001
7.0000	Polio	85.10 (3068/3605)	77.26 (2633/3408)	-7.8	< 0.001
7 years Measles	82.14 (2961/3605)	77.11 (2628/3408)	-5.0	< 0.001	

* Chi-square test (2020 vs 2019); VC: vaccination coverage; VPD: vaccine-preventable disease.

Tab. III. Vaccine coverage (VC) rates (%) registered for recommended vaccinations at 12 months, 24 months. and 14 years of age, stratified by vaccine type and year of administration, along with the percentage differences between the 2019 and 2020 rates in in the Province of Siracusa.

Target age group	VDP	VC Rat by Year of Vaccin	tes (%) e Administration	% Difference	p-Value *
		2019	2020	(2020 VS 2019)	
12 months	Rotavirus	40.23 (1243/3134)	45.00 (1345/2988)	+4.8	< 0.001
	Men B	58.61 (1849/3155)	54.01 (1669/3090)	-4.6	< 0.001
24 months	Men ACW135Y Men C	67.29 (2123/3155)	61.68 (1906/3090)	-5.6	< 0.001
	PNC	85.86 (2709/3155)	83.50 (2580/3090)	-2.4	< 0.001
	HPV	45.95 (1796/3909)	41.67 (1621/3890)	-4.3	< 0.001
14 years	HPV females	56.12 (1059/1887)	51.30 (945/1842)	-4.8	< 0.01
	HPV (males)	36.45 (737/2022)	33.01 (676/2048)	-3.4	< 0.05

* Chi-square test (2020 vs 2019); Men B, ACW135Y and C: *Neisseria meningitidis* serogroups B, ACW135Y and C; PNC: *Streptococcus pneumoniae*; HPV: human papillomavirus; VC: vaccine coveragevaccination coverage; VPD: vaccine-preventable disease.

Discussion

Vaccine coverage of routine childhood immunisations was negatively affected during the COVID-19 pandemic in the Province of Siracusa. The reduction did not hit the population in the same manner, with the greater decreases observed for children aged > 24 months compared to the younger (-5.7% vs -2.2%) and for booster doses compared to the primary vaccinations (-6.4% vs - 2.6%). Moreover, our data show that vaccine coverage rates for mandatory vaccinations decreased in 2020 compared with the previous year (range from -1.4 % to -7.8%), while recommended vaccinations ranged from +4.8% to -5.6%. Since the introduction of compulsory vaccination in 2017, the vaccine coverage progressively increased in Italy [25-27]. Nevertheless, during the pandemic, a significant drop in vaccinations coverage was observed [28-31]. According to a survey launched by the Ministry of Health, vaccination activity has slowed down throughout Italy, even if with regional differences [32-34]. The relocation of health personnel involved in this service to support the management of the pandemic is the most important reason for this slowdown (more than 33% throughout the national territory). In addition to this, about one out of four vaccination centres has recorded a reduction or even a suspension of vaccination activities because of the measures of social isolation and distancing. According to the survey, the reduction in vaccinations did not affect the entire population in the same manner, but mainly concerned the pediatric group aged > 1 year, to a lesser extent the adult population, because a priority was given to the basic courses and to the most susceptible groups during the emergency context. Above all, the immunization with the greatest decline in coverage rate among the pediatric population was that against HPV. To a lesser extent, a decrease was also observed for DTaP (polio booster dose) and men B immunizations.

A decline in immunizations could endanger the 90-95% vaccination coverage target that is necessary for herd immunity against diseases such as measles, mumps, and whooping cough. In such circumstances, an increased risk of resurgence of vaccine-preventable diseases that were controlled or eliminated in children who missed vaccinations during the pandemic is expected, thereby posing a twofold challenge to public health systems, with possible dramatic effects especially in the LMCI's countries [14, 35].

Despite a decrease in vaccine coverage rates, we did not register an increase in vaccine-preventable disease outbreaks in the Province of Siracusa in 2020. In the year 2020, 1 case of measles was reported compared to 3 cases in 2019; 6 cases of chicken pox in 2020 to 17 cases in 2019; no case of meningococcal and pneumococcal infection in 2020 vs 2 cases in 2019. Probably, at least in the short-term, the impact of the pandemic on possible vaccine-preventable disease outbreaks have been balanced by public health measures (personal protective equipment, hand hygiene, quarantine/isolation, physical distancing), which likely prevented the spread of other respiratory diseases as well. Similar data have registered

in the rest of Italy, where no increase in outbreaks due to vaccine-preventable diseases has recorded [30, 36, 37]. Other countries reported a slight reduction in vaccine-preventable diseases rates [38-40].

.....

Several factors are associated with the reduction in vaccine coverage in the Province of Siracusa, as the same in the rest of the world: public actions to contain the spread of infection (lockdown, isolation, quarantine and other infection control measures), relocation oh health personnel involved in vaccination activity to deal with the pandemic, and also parental concerns about potentially exposing their children to COVID-19 during well child visits [41-43].

Measure to prevent the spread of infections have been implemented in all vaccination centres of Provincial Agency of Health of Siracusa: physical distancing, environmental sanitation, room ventilation, wearing of the face masks, hand hygiene, telephone appointment, detection of body temperature, different time slots to increase availability, optimisation of spaces dedicated to vaccine administration and active search for new locations.

Our findings demonstrate that an attempt was correctly made to give priority to the infants and to primary cycles. As matter of fact, our data show that the effect of pandemic on vaccine coverage was less pronounced in infants compared to toddlers, since the medical staff of the vaccination centres of the local health authority of Siracusa prioritized age group over another within the childhood vaccinations with active call for these categories of patients.

Consistent with national data, we found an increase of vaccine coverage of anti-rotavirus vaccination [27, 30]. We hypothesize that this finding may be explained, at least in part, by the greater attention given to the infants, as mentioned above, and the fear of exposing children to the possible consequence of rotavirus infection, such as severe dehydration and hospitalization, in a critical period for the healthcare facilities.

The WHO recommends that all routine vaccinations be administered as scheduled, even during the COVID-19 pandemic. Routine immunization sessions should continue, using special measures and precautions, to the extent possible and as permitted within the local COVID-19 response context. This includes routine immunization for infants, children, adolescents, pregnant women, high-risk groups, and adult healthcare providers [44, 45]. Any interrupted immunization services should be resumed, and catch-up vaccinations offered as quickly as possible [46, 47].

Our findings are consistent with other available reports in Italy during the pandemic [30, 32], in which we observe similar outcomes for almost all vaccine coverage rates differences, even if with different magnitude, except for HPV vaccination among males and Men ACW135Y. Our data are also consistent with data reported for Sicily, that show similar trends in vaccine coverage rates reduction [27].

The main strength of our study is first its originality since, to the best of our knowledge, it is the only study

that assess the impact of COVID-19 pandemic on vaccine coverage at local level in Italy. In our opinion, this is very useful to better understand the reasons for the reduction in vaccine coverage in a specific local context and above all to establish tailored catch-up programs for missed vaccinations more effectively. The local data can also allow to evaluate the actual staff of the vaccination services, that even before the pandemic, were not rarely understaffed, and lacking in some skills, such an effective communication to a wider public in the complex environment surrounding vaccinations [48]. Increasing society complexity is presenting new challenges for vaccines, including vaccine hesitancy and misinformation of vaccine safety and effectiveness in the mainstream media and social media, which require specific skills. National policies that aim at halting the circulation of false information about vaccines on social media are welcome, but also solutions to improve the communication strategy locally are extremely important [49, 50].

Conversely, several limitations that merits discussion were detected in our study. To begin with, evaluating the vaccine coverage at 24 months, we did not analyse the potential delay in the administration of some vaccines, such as hexavalent or quadrivalent, which should be administered within the first year of life or at the beginning of the second year of life, respectively, according to the immunization calendar. Second, social determinants such level of the education, family income, social isolation, geographic location or ethnic minorities, were not evaluated due to insufficient data availability [51]. It is likely the COVID-19 pandemic has exacerbated the adverse effects of some social determinants on vaccination uptake behaviours *e.g.*, employment, poverty, healthcare access, food insecurity, education, etc. It's well known that these determinants are associated, among other things, with lower vaccine coverage rates [51, 52]. Third, vaccine hesitancy is one of the top threats to public health and while it is as old as vaccination itself, the nature of the challenge continues to shift with the social landscape [53]. Today, in the era of COVID-19, vaccine hesitancy and the "infodemic" it fuels are key drivers of under-vaccination across the globe [54-57]. In this study vaccine hesitancy has not been investigated.

Conclusion

Childhood vaccination remains paramount: all children should receive all scheduled vaccinations according to their age, with priority given for completion of all primary series vaccines, with no interruption of scheduled sessions [58]. Timely vaccination is key to maintaining population immunity against vaccine-preventable diseases, ensuring populations are fully protected against life-threatening illnesses as early as possible, and preventing large outbreaks of vaccine-preventable diseases, particularly for diseases such as measles for which a high coverage is required to prevent outbreaks.

It is vital to put in place a catch-up vaccination strategy

to ensure vaccinations at the earliest of individuals who missed immunization during the pandemic, also with the involvement of primary care pediatricians in the direct administration of vaccination, going beyond any disparities in access driven by any social determinants, like education, income, ethnicity, location, social networks.

Our findings indicate that vaccine coverage of routine childhood immunisations was negatively affected during the COVID-19 pandemic in the Province of Siracusa, similar to what has been noted nationally and in other countries. Three mandatory and four recommended pediatric vaccinations slowed down during the epidemic waves in 2020; one mandatory vaccination and one recommended vaccination remain unchanged; lastly, one recommended vaccination increased significantly. These data are consistent with other available reports in Italy. Further research is needed to follow-up the evolution of the vaccine coverage of the cohorts under investigation and the possible implications on spread of vaccinepreventable diseases.

Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank all the health professionals involved in the routine immunisation activities in the Province of Siracusa.

Conflict of interest statement

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

Authors' contributions

FC: conceptualization, methodology, statistical analysis, writing and original draft preparation.

FC, EDP, CR: acquisition of data.

FC, FB, EDP, MLC: formal analysis and interpretation of data.

FC, FB: writing, review and editing.

FC, EDP, MLC: supervision and project administration. All authors have read and agreed to the submitted version of the manuscript.

References

- Rodrigues CMC, Plotkin SA. Impact of vaccines; health, economic and social perspectives. Frontiers in Microbiol 2020;11. https:// doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2020.01526
- [2] Doherty M, Schmidt-Ott R, Santos JI, Stanberry LR, Hofstetter AM, Rosenthal SL, Cunningham AL. Vaccination of special populations: Protecting the vulnerable. Vaccine 2016;34:6681-90. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2016.11.015
- [3] Piot P, Larson HJ, O'Brien KL, N'kengasong J, Ng E, Sow S, Kampmann B. Immunization: vital progress, unfinished agenda. Nature 2019;575:119-29. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-019-1656-7

.....

- [4] Orenstein WA, Ahmed R. Simply put: Vaccination saves lives. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2017;114:4031-3. https://doi. org/10.1073/pnas.1704507114
- [5] Lindstrand A, Cherian T, Chang-Blanc D, Feikin D, O'Brien KL. The world of immunization: achievements, challenges, and strategic vision for the next decade. J Infect Dis 2021;224(12 Suppl 2):S452-S467. https://doi.org/10.1093/infdis/jiab284
- [6] Castagnoli R, Votto M, Licari A, Brambilla I, Bruno R, Perlini S, Rovida F, Baldanti F, Marseglia GL. Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) Infection in Children and Adolescents. JAMA Pediatr 2020;174:882. https://doi. org/10.1001/jamapediatrics.2020.1467
- [7] Shet A, Carr K, Danovaro-Holliday MC, Sodha SV, Prosperi C, Wunderlich J, Wonodi C, Reynolds HW, Mirza I, Gacic-Dobo M, O'Brien KL, Lindstrand A. Impact of the SARS-CoV-2 pandemic on routine immunisation services: evidence of disruption and recovery from 170 countries and territories. Lancet Glob Health 2022;10:e186-e194. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2214-109X(21)00512-X
- [8] WHO. WHO and UNICEF warn of a decline in vaccinations during COVID-19. Available at: https://www.who.int/news/ item/15-07-2020-who-and-unicef-warn-of-a-decline-in-vaccinations-during-covid-19 (Accessed on: 29/03/2022).
- [9] WHO. At least 80 million children under one at risk of diseases such as diphtheria, measles and polio as COVID-19 disrupts routine vaccination efforts, warn Gavi, WHO and UNICEF. Available at: https://www.who.int/news/item/22-05-2020-at-least-80-million-children-under-one-at-risk-of-diseases-such-as-diphtheriameasles-and-polio-as-covid-19-disrupts-routine-vaccinationefforts-warn-gavi-who-and-unicef (Accessed on: 29/03/2022).
- [10] Lassi ZS, Naseem R, Salam RA, Siddiqui F, Das JK. The Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on immunization campaigns and programs: a systematic review. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2021;18:988. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18030988
- WHO. Immunization coverage. Available at: https://www.who. int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/immunization-coverage (Accessed on: 29/03/2022).
- [12] Medscape. Vaccine rates for all ages drop dramatically during COVID-19. Available at: https://www.medscape.com/ viewarticle/931913#vp_2 (Accessed on: 29/03/2022).
- [13] Nelson R. COVID-19 disrupts vaccine delivery. Lancet Infect Dis 2020;20:546. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(20)30304-2
- [14] Roberton T, Carter ED, Chou VB, Stegmuller AR, Jackson BD, Tam Y, Sawadogo-Lewis T, Walker N. Early estimates of the indirect effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on maternal and child mortality in low-income and middle-income countries: a modelling study. Lancet Glob Health 2020;8:e901-8. https:// doi.org/10.1016/S2214-109X(20)30229-1
- [15] Zar HJ, Dawa J, Fischer GB, Castro-Rodriguez JA. Challenges of COVID-19 in children in low- and middle-income countries. Paediatr Respir Rev 2020;35:70-74. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. prrv.2020.06.016
- [16] UNICEF. The impact of COVID-19 on routine vaccinations. [Internet]. [cited 2022 Mar 29]. Available at: https://www. unicef.org/eap/stories/impact-covid-19-routine-vaccinations (Accessed on: 29/03/2022).
- [17] Health system considerations: when influenza meets COV-ID-19 - Preparedness and response measureswhen COVID-19, influenza and acute respiratory infections coincide in the WHO European Region. Copenhagen: WHORegional Office for Europe; 2020. Licence: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO.
- [18] European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control. COVID-19 infection prevention and control measures for primary care, including general practitioner practices, dental clinics and pharmacy settings: first update. 19 October 2020. Stockholm: ECDC 2020.
- [19] Guiding Principles for Immunization Activities during the COVID-19 Pandemic: Interim Guidance, 26 March 2020; World Health Organization: Geneva, Switzerland, 2020.

.....

[20] World Health Organization. Regional Office for Europe (2020). Guidance on routine immunization services during COVID-19 pandemic in the WHO European Region, 20 March 2020. World Health Organization. Regional Office for Europe.

- [21] Presidency of the Council of Ministers. Department for Civil Protection. [COVID-19 Italy: regional data digital repository]. 2020. Available at: https://github.com/pcm-dpc/COVID-19/ tree/master/dati-regioni (Accessed on: 29/03/2022).
- [22] Decreto del Presidente del Consiglio dei Ministri (DPCM) 11 March 2020. Ulteriori disposizioni attuative del decreto-legge 23 febbraio 2020, n. 6, recante misure urgenti in materia di contenimento e gestione dell'emergenza epidemiologica da COVID-19, applicabili sull'intero territorio nazionale (GU Serie Generale n.64 del 11/03/2020). Available at: https://www. gazzettaufficiale.it/eli/id/2020/03/11/20A01 605/sg (Accessed on: 29/03/2022).
- [23] European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control. COVID-19 infection prevention and control measures for primary care, including general practitioner practices, dental clinics and pharmacy settings: first update. 19 October 2020. Stockholm ECDC 2020.
- [24] Ministero della salute. The immunisation schedule. Available at: https://www.salute.gov.it/portale/vaccinazioni/dettaglioContenutiVaccinazioni.jsp?lingua=english&id=5501&area=vaccin azioni&menu=vuoto (Accessed on: 29/03/2022).
- [25] Bozzola E, Spina G, Russo R, Bozzola M, Corsello G, Villani A. Mandatory vaccinations in European countries, undocumented information, false news and the impact on vaccination uptake: the position of the Italian pediatric society. Ital J Pediatr 2018;44:67. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13052-018-0504-y
- [26] Sabbatucci M, Odone A, Signorelli C, Siddu A, Maraglino F, Rezza G. Improved temporal trends of vaccination coverage rates in childhood after the mandatory vaccination act, Italy 2014-2019. J Clin Med 2021;10:2540. https://doi.org/10.3390/ jcm10122540
- [27] Ministero della salute. Vaccinazioni dell'età pediatrica e dell'adolescenza - Coperture. Available at: https:// www.salute.gov.it/portale/documentazione/p6_2_8_3_1. jsp?lingua=italiano&id=20 (Accessed on: 29/03/2022).
- [28] Bechini A, Garamella G, Giammarco B, Zanella B, Flori V, Bonanni P, Boccalini S. Paediatric activities and adherence to vaccinations during the COVID-19 epidemic period in Tuscany, Italy: a survey of paediatricians. J Prev Med Hyg 2020;61:E125-E129. https://doi.org/10.15167/2421-4248/jpmh2020.61.2.1626
- [29] Russo R, Bozzola E, Palma P, Corsello G, Villani A. Pediatric routine vaccinations in the COVID 19 lockdown period: the survey of the Italian Pediatric Society. Ital J Pediatr 2021;47:72. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13052-021-01023-6
- [30] Sabbatucci M, Odone A, Signorelli C, Siddu A, Silenzi A, Maraglino FP, Rezza G. Childhood Immunisation Coverage during the COVID-19 Epidemic in Italy. Vaccines (Basel) 2022;10:120. https://doi.org/10.3390/vaccines10010120
- [31] Un genitore su tre ha rinviato le vaccinazioni dei propri figli a causa del COVID-19: Società Italiana di Pediatria. 2021. Available at: https://sip.it/2020/07/01/un-genitore-su-tre-harinviato-le-vaccinazioni-dei-propri-figli-a-causa-del-covid-19/ (Accessed on: 29/03/2022).
- [32] Ministero Della Salute Impatto Dell'emergenza COVID-19 Sulle Attività di Vaccinazione – Analisi del Fenomeno e Raccomandazioni Operative. Available at: https://www.trovanorme. salute.gov.it/norme/renderNormsanPdf?anno=2020&codLeg=7 5346&parte=1%20&serie=null (Accessed on: 29/03/2022).
- [33] Epicentro. La pandemia COVID-19 e la riduzione o sospensione delle attività vaccinali a livello globale. https://www.epicentro.iss.it/vaccini/covid-19-riduzione-attivita-vaccinale. Available at: https://www.epicentro.iss.it/vaccini/covid-19-riduzioneattivita-vaccinale (Accessed on: 29/03/2022).
- [34] Ministero Della Salute. Indagine sull'impatto Dell'emergenza COVID-19 sulle Attività di Vaccinazione. Available at:

https://portale.fnomceo.it/wp-content/uploads/2020/05/Copia_ DocPrincipale_Circolare_Servizi_vaccinali__25_05_2020.pdf (Accessed on: 29/03/2022).

.....

- [35] Mao W, Ogbuoji O, Watkins D, Bharali I, Nsiah-Boateng E, Diab MM, Dwomoh D, Jamison DT, Kumar P, Kennedy Mc-Dade K, Nonvignon J, Ogundeji Y, Zeng FG, Zimmerman A, Yamey G. Achieving global mortality reduction targets and universal health coverage: The impact of COVID-19. PLoS Med 2021;18:e1003675. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pmed.1003675
- [36] Filia A, Bella A, Del Manso M, Baggieri M, Marchi A, Bucci P, Magurano F, Nicoletti L, Rota MC. Morbillo & Rosolia News Aggiornamento Mensile Rapporto N 63 – Gennaio 2021; Istituto Superiore di Sanità: Roma, Italy, 2021. Available at: https:// www.epicentro.iss.it/morbillo/bollettino/RM_News_2021_63. pdf (Accessed on: 29/03/2022).
- [37] Filia A, Bella A, Del Manso M, Baggieri M, Marchi A, Bucci P, Magurano F, Nicoletti L, Rota MC. Morbillo & Rosolia News Aggiornamento Mensile Rapporto N 64 – Settembre 2021; Istituto Superiore di Sanità: Roma, Italy, 2021. Available at: https:// www.epicentro.iss.it/morbillo/bollettino/RM_News_2021_64. pdf (Accessed on: 29/03/2022).
- [38] Yu JH, Jeong HJ, Kim SJ, Lee JY, Choe YJ, Choi EH, Cho EH. Sustained Vaccination Coverage during the Coronavirus Disease 2019 Epidemic in the Republic of Korea. Vaccines (Basel) 2020;9:2. https://doi.org/10.3390/vaccines9010002
- [39] Jarchow-MacDonald AA, Burns R, Miller J, Kerr L, Willocks LJ. Keeping childhood immunisation rates stable during the COVID-19 pandemic. Lancet Infect Dis 2021;21:459-60. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(20)30991-9
- [40] Middeldorp M, van Lier A, van der Maas N, Veldhuijzen I, Freudenburg W, van Sorge NM, Sanders EAM, Knol MJ, de Melker HE. Short term impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on incidence of vaccine preventable diseases and participation in routine infant vaccinations in the Netherlands in the period March-September 2020. Vaccine 2021;39:1039-43. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2020.12.080
- [41] Zarocostas J. How to fight an infodemic. Lancet 2020;395:676. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30461-X
- [42] Malik AA, McFadden SM, Elharake J, Omer SB. Determinants of COVID-19 vaccine acceptance in the US. EClinicalMedicine 2020;26:100495. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eclinm.2020.100495
- [43] Bendau A, Plag J, Petzold MB, Ströhle A. COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy and related fears and anxiety. Int Immunopharmacol 2021;97:107724. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.intimp.2021.107724
- [44] Dinleyici EC, Borrow R, Safadi MAP, van Damme P, Munoz FM. Vaccines and routine immunization strategies during the COVID-19 pandemic. Hum Vaccin Immunother 2021;17:400-7. https://doi.org/10.1080/21645515.2020.1804776
- [45] WHO: Immunization in the context of COVID-19 pandemic. Available at: file:///C:/Users/utente/Downloads/WHO-2019-nCoV-immunization_services-FAQ-2020.1-eng.pdf (Accessed on: 29/03/2022).
- [46] Pan American Health Organization. Vaccinations of newborns in the context of the COVID-19 Pandemic. Available at: https://

www.cdc.gov/vaccines/pandemic-guidance/index.html (Accessed on: 29/03/2022).

- [47] WHO. Pulse survey on continuity of essential health services during the COVID-19 pandemic. Interim report. Available at: file:///C:/Users/utente/Downloads/WHO-2019-nCoV-EHS_continuity-survey-2020.1-eng%20(2).pdf (Accessed on: 29/03/2022).
- [48] SDA Bocconi. School of Management. Observatory on Healthcare Organizations and Policies in Italy (OASI). Rapporto Oasi 2021. Osservatorio sulle Aziende e sul Sistema sanitario Italiano. Available at: https://cergas.unibocconi.eu/observatories/oasi_/oasi-report-2021 (Accessed on: 17/11/2022).
- [49] Muric G, Wu Y, Ferrara E. COVID-19 Vaccine Hesitancy on Social Media: Building a Public Twitter Data Set of Antivaccine Content, Vaccine Misinformation, and Conspiracies. JMIR Public Health Surveill 2021;7:e30642. https://doi. org/10.2196/30642
- [50] Germani F, Biller-Andorno N. The anti-vaccination infodemic on social media: A behavioral analysis. PLoS One 2021;16:e0247642. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0247642
- [51] Glatman-Freedman A, Nichols K. The effect of social determinants on immunization programs. Hum Vaccin Immunother 2012;8:293-301. https://doi.org/10.4161/hv.19003
- [52] Crocker-Buque T, Edelstein M, Mounier-Jack S. Interventions to reduce inequalities in vaccine uptake in children and adolescents aged <19 years: a systematic review. J Epidemiol Community Health 2017;71:87-97. https://doi.org/10.1136/ jech-2016-207572
- [53] MacDonald NE; SAGE Working Group on Vaccine Hesitancy. Vaccine hesitancy: Definition, scope and determinants. Vaccine 2015;33:4161-4. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2015.04.036
- [54] Wiysonge CS, Ndwandwe D, Ryan J, Jaca A, Batouré O, Anya BM, Cooper S. Vaccine hesitancy in the era of COVID-19: could lessons from the past help in divining the future? Hum Vaccin Immunother 2022;18:1-3. https://doi.org/10.1080/2164 5515.2021.1893062
- [55] Freeman D, Loe BS, Chadwick A, Vaccari C, Waite F, Rosebrock L, Jenner L, Petit A, Lewandowsky S, Vanderslott S, Innocenti S, Larkin M, Giubilini A, Yu LM, McShane H, Pollard AJ, Lambe S. COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy in the UK: the Oxford coronavirus explanations, attitudes, and narratives survey (Oceans) II. Psychol Med 2022;52:3127-41. https://doi. org/10.1017/S0033291720005188
- [56] Geoghegan S, O'Callaghan KP, Offit PA. Vaccine safety: myths and misinformation. Front Microbiol 2020;11:372. https://doi. org/10.3389/fmicb.2020.00372
- [57] Harrison EA, Wu JW. Vaccine confidence in the time of COVID-19. Eur J Epidemiol 2020;35:325-30. https://doi. org/10.1007/s10654-020-00634-3
- [58] European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control. Vaccinations of newborns in the context of the COVID-19 Pandemic. Available at: https://www.cdc.gov/vaccines/pandemic-guidance/index.html (Accessed on: 29/03/2022).

.....

Received on April 24, 2022. Accepted on November 30, 2022.

Correspondence: Fabio Contarino, Department of Public Health, Epidemiology Unit, Provincial Health Authority of Siracusa. Traversa la Pizzuta, 96100 Siracusa SR, Italy. Tel.: 00393288772055 - E-mail: fabiocontarino@hotmail.it

How to cite this article: Contarino F, Di Pietro E, Bella F, Randazzo C, Contrino ML. Childhood immunization coverage during the COVID-19 pandemic in the province of Siracusa, Italy. J Prev Med Hyg 2022;63:E513-E519. https://doi.org/10.15167/2421-4248/jpmh2022.63.4.2587

© Copyright by Pacini Editore Srl, Pisa, Italy

This is an open access article distributed in accordance with the CC-BY-NC-ND (Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International) license. The article can be used by giving appropriate credit and mentioning the license, but only for non-commercial purposes and only in the original version. For further information: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/deed.en \odot

OPEN ACCESS

COVID-19

Role of the 1st booster dose of COVID-19 vaccine in the protection against the infection: A fundamental public health tool

SEBASTIANO CALIMERI¹, DANIELA LO GIUDICE¹, AGATA BUDA², ANTONIO LAGANÀ^{1,3}, ALESSIO FACCIOLÀ¹, ANGELA DI PIETRO¹, GIUSEPPA VISALLI¹

¹ Department of Biomedical and Dental Sciences and Morphofunctional Imaging, University of Messina, Messina, Italy; ² Virology Operative Unit, University Hospital "G. Martino", Messina;

³ Istituto Clinico Polispecialistico C.O.T. Cure Ortopediche Traumatologiche S.p.A, Messina, Italy

Keywords

COVID-19 infection • COVID-19 Vaccination • Booster dose • Seroprevalence • Prevention

Summary

Introduction. The COVID-19 pandemic is having a huge impact on human health with high morbidity and mortality rates worldwide. Healthcare Workers (HCWs) are one of the most at risk categories to contract the infection. Effective anti-COVID-19 vaccines were approved in a very short time. Making the 1st booster dose is essential to induce a good protection against the infection. **Methods.** We conducted a retrospective sero-epidemiological survey of already existing data concerning the antibody response of a HCWs sample vaccinated with the primary cycle and the 1st booster dose of the Pfizer-BioNTech COVID-19 mRNA vaccine and, specifically, after three weeks from the third dose of vaccination.

Results. In our analysis, after the primary cycle, a 95.15% effi-

Introduction

The COVID-19 (Coronavirus Disease-19) pandemic with its huge impact on human health in terms of morbidity and mortality and on the environmental issues, shocked the community and gave a huge boost to the scientific research worldwide [1, 2]. The cause of this pandemic is the Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome Coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2), a new member of Coronavirus family (CoVs), responsible for high-risks pathological respiratory diseases [3]. This virus is surrounded by an external envelope containing a glycoprotein, called "spike" or "S" protein, forming spicules that allows it to recognize the cellular target [4].

Vaccination is undoubtedly one of the most effective preventive measures towards infectious diseases [5]. Traditionally, it takes between 4 to 15 years to develop a safe, efficacious, and cost-effective human vaccine. In comparison to these times, COVID-19 vaccine development has progressed at an unprecedented rate. On January 11, 2020, less than a month after the first documented cases in Wuhan, the complete viral genome sequence of SARS-CoV-2 was obtained [6]. Due to this crucial information, several laboratories and biotechnology companies globally have tried to produce an effective SARS-CoV-2 vaccine. Due to the

......

cacy was detected. Among the non-responders, women were significantly more frequent (69.56%). Moreover, we found a significant reverse correlation between the immune response and the age of the sample, especially in women. However, the 1st booster dose completely cancelled these differences.

Conclusions. Our data are perfectly in line with what has been declared by the conducted studies in terms of efficacy. However, it is important to highlight that people with only the primary cycle are at high risk to contract the COVID-19 infection. Therefore, it is necessary to not consider people vaccinated with the primary cycle completely risk-free and to stress the importance to perform the 1st booster dose.

knowledge obtained from previous vaccine development efforts against SARS and MERS, the initial step of target identification was remarkably facilitated as, for both SARS-CoV and MERS-CoV, the S protein had been demonstrated as the dominant antigen responsible for the production of neutralizing antibodies and an important target of protective T cell responses [7]. Several vaccine candidates for SARS-CoV-2 were then planned rapidly using the SARS-CoV-2 S protein as the primary immunogen.

mRNA vaccines are a new platform consisting of an mRNA, including a 5' cap, regulatory elements in the 5' and/or 3' regions, a poly(A) tail, and modified nucleosides to increase RNA stability, that is elaborated to encode specific viral antigens and delivered by polymer-based or lipid nanoparticles [8]. Once entered into the cell cytoplasm, the mRNA is translated by ribosomes as an endogenous mRNA, with production of the antigen that is presented to the immune system. Two mRNA vaccines, Pfizer/BioNtech's BNT162b2 and Moderna/NIAID's mRNA-1273, received the Emergency Use Authorization (EUA) status from the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) and other countries [9, 10] among which that from the European Medicines Agency (EMA) for the European Union (EU) [11, 12]. Specifically, BNT162b2 is an mRNA-lipid

nanoparticle-formulated vaccine encoding a membranebound, stabilized form of the full-length SARS-CoV-2 S protein [13]. mRNA-1273 encodes a prefusion stabilized form of the SARS-CoV-2 S protein and is delivered by lipid-encapsulated nanoparticles [14].

In natural infection, seroconversion for SARS-CoV-2 was described to occur 7–14 days after the onset of symptomatology, 100% within 19 days after clinical onset [15]. Several serologic investigations suggest that, in affected areas, SARS-CoV-2 infection has been acquired by a much higher number of persons compared to the number of infected people resulted positive to PCR analysis of nasopharyngeal swab specimens [15, 16].

In Italy, at 28 September 2022, from the beginning of the outbreak 22,567,577 cases were reported with a median age of 43 years and 173,368 deaths [17]. The vaccination campaign in Italy began on December 27, 2020. As of 28 September 2022, a total of 140,732,854 doses were administered (47,320,682 first doses, 49,975,928 second/single doses, 40,152,811 third doses). COVID-19 infection can be a problem especially for vulnerable and/or particularly at risk people such as people affected by comorbidities, obesity and pregnant women [18-20]. Among people particularly at risk to contract the infection, Healthcare Workers (HCWs) are surely one of the most exposed category. A metaanalysis assessed that the overall proportion of HCWs testing positive for SARS-CoV-2 was 8.7% among all enrolled subjects. Moreover, it has been reported that the values of seroprevalence among HCWs ranges from 0% to 45.3% [21]. These remarkable differences could be explained by different settings, observation period, and government strategies adopted with the aim of reducing viral transmission (e.g., lockdown, quarantine measures, etc.) [22]. In Italy, during the first wave of the infection, 421,521 (1.85% of the total reported cases) HCWs, of which 70.3% women and 29.7% men, with a median age of 47 years, have been reported to be infected since the beginning of the pandemic. In this category, 328 (0.2%)deaths were reported of which 226 (68.9%) were men and 102 (31.1%) were women with lethality rates of 0.6% and 0.1% in the two sexes respectively [23].

The purpose of this study was to evaluate the seroconversion rate of a population of HCWs vaccinated with the primary cycle and the 1st booster doses of COVID-19 mRNA vaccine, highlighting the role of the booster and the individual variables in the antibody response elicited by the vaccine.

Methods

DATA COLLECTION

The sample was made up by HCWs of the Messina University Hospital "G. Martino", Italy, to whom the primary cycle and the 1st booster of BNT162b2 COVID-19 mRNA vaccine (Pfizer/Biontech) were administered. As exclusion criterion, a previous COVID-19 infection was considered. Therefore, people that stated to have contracted the infection and/or already

underwent only a single dose of vaccine were excluded. Aiming to evaluate the efficacy of the vaccination cycle, we carried out a survey, in the period April-May 2022, evaluating the antibody response rate of the HCWs three weeks after the administration of the second dose of vaccine and three weeks after the administration of the 1st booster dose. To this aim, after obtaining the informed consent of all the participants including all the information about the study, we collected blood samples that were centrifuged at 4,000 rpm for 10 minutes and a CLIA (ChemiLuminescence ImmunoAssay) test (LIAISON SARS-CoV-2 S1/S2 IgG - DIASORIN S.p.A., Saluggia, Italia), consisting in a quantitative assay for the detection of IgG antibodies against S1/S2 antigens of SARS-CoV-2, was used. Specifically, values < 12 AU/ml were considered negative. The results were correlated with the individual variables (age and gender) to evaluate their potential role played influenced the immune response.

STATISTICAL ANALYSES

Descriptive statistics were used to find the percentages. Correlations were determined using the standard Pearson correlation coefficient. Significance was assessed at the p < 0.05 levels. All analyses were performed using Prism 4.0 software.

Results

The characteristics of the sample, concerning the total number of people, their gender, occupation and hospital areas, are shown in Table I.

The immune response to the primary vaccination cycle was 95.15% with a mean antibody response of 214.62 AU/mL (min 3.8; max \ge 400). Dividing according the gender, the mean antibody response was 224.53 AU/mL (min 3.8; max \ge 400) in men and 205.27 AU/mL (min 3.8; max \ge 400) in women. To the 1st booster does the immune response was 100% (68.75% of the sample reached the maximum value \ge 400) with a mean antibody response of 352.21 (min. 251; max \ge 400).

According to the antibody titre of the primary cycle, we divided the sample in four groups, specifically <12 = no response, 12-99 = low response, 100-299 = intermediate response and > 300 = high response, in order to better characterised the different responses to the vaccine evaluating for each group the role played by some individual variables such as age and gender (Fig. 1).

The figure shows that 4.85% of the sample was negative to the antibody search. Among these negative people, women were significantly more frequent than men with percentages of 69.56% and 30.44% respectively (P < 0.05). In general, about these non-responder people, the mean age was 46.26 ± 10.81, specifically 51.43 ± 11.59 in men and 44.88 ± 9.61 in women. Moreover, 78.48% of the entire sample shows an intermediate-high response, with an average age of 46.76 ± 12.62. Specifically, 61.29% were women and 38.71% were men, with a mean age of 46.33 ± 12.58 and

Tab. I. Personal details and features of the sample.

Total sample 480			
	Men	Women	
Absolute Number (%)	286 (59.58%)	194 (40.42%)	
Average Age (±SD)	45.97 ± 12.39 (min 25; max 67)	48.01 ± 12.01(min 25; max 67)	
	Occupation (%)		
	Physicians	39.23%	
	Nurses	36.92%	
Technicians		6.15%	
Administrative personnel		4.62%	
	Biologists	3.08%	
	Pharmacists	3.08%	
	Others	2.31%	
	Hospital areas (%)		
	Medical	36.93%	
	Surgical	19.32%	
	Emergency	9.09%	
	Services	34.66%	



 47.44 ± 12.66 years, respectively. For the three groups of responders, there were no significant statistical differences by gender and age.

A significant reverse correlation (P < 0.05) was found between the immune response and the age of the sample (Fig. 2).

No correlation was found between immune response and gender. However, dividing according the gender, this significance was found only for the women group (Fig. 3).

As shown by the figure, an important percentage decrease (35.97) was found in the immune response between the youngest and oldest women while in men such percentage decrease was 5.59. Moreover, among men, a slight percentage increase (4.74%) was found in the oldest compared to the second group.

In the first age group the immune response was higher in the women with a percentage increase of 17.78 compared to men. An opposite result was found in the others two age groups in which the response was higher

......



.....



in men with a percentage increase of 11.39 and 20.12 in the two age groups respectively.

No statistical correlation between the individual

variables and the immune response was observed after the 1st booster dose.

Discussion

HCWs are surely one of the most important categories at risk to contract COVID-19 [24, 25] and infections in general due to the exposure with potential infected people during their working activity [26, 27]. For this reason, according to the current Italian National Vaccination Plan, it is important to protect these at high risk people with the active offer of some strongly recommended vaccinations [28]. This issue applies also and above all concerning the COVID-19 infection. According to a recent meta-analysis of studies evaluating the positivity of SARS-CoV-2 antibodies on HCWs after natural infection, an overall result of 8.7%, ranging from 0% to 45.3%, was found [21].

Indeed, the occurrence of nosocomial transmission of SARS-CoV-2 has been reported, highlighting the necessity for HCWs of a strict adherence to infection control measures in order to protect themselves and avoid the transmission to inpatients and the onset of nosocomial outbreaks [29]. In this light, vaccination is undoubtedly the cornerstone of the control measures. Data from phase 3 clinical trials showed a 95% efficacy for the prevention of the infection at 7 days after the second dose of the BNT162b2 vaccine [30].

Unfortunately, vaccine hesitancy is an attitude more and more present in general population, linked to several wrong beliefs about vaccines among which fear of potential side effects and lack of trust towards health providers are the most declared [31]. This attitude is even present among HCWs, as showed by previous studies [32]. However, some reviews reported in this category a high rate of acceptance of COVID-19 vaccination [33, 34].

In our study, the antibody response of HCWs to vaccine was closely similar to that reported for general population [17]. After primary cycle, a significant correlation was found between the immune response and age especially in women. Specifically, the response decreased with the increasing of the age suggesting the important role played by the physiological process of immunosenescence [35]. The immune changes linked to the senescence explain the higher severity of some viral and bacterial infections (e.g., influenza, herpes zoster, pneumococcal disease) among elderly compared to younger individuals, and of the onset of more acute and long-term sequelae [36]. Moreover, in this category of people, vaccine responses are often lower and frequently failing to induce longterm immunity, placing these individuals at risk for subsequent disease [37]. These findings in elderly people have been largely linked to the failure of the adaptive immune response. Specifically, in elderly a lower antibody response is elicited by diphtheria [38], hepatitis A [39], Hepatitis B [40] and pneumococcal polysaccharide (PPV23) [41] vaccinations.

However, this result was more marked in women

compared to men and this could be explained by the presence, in aged women, of some variables influencing negatively the antibody response. Particularly, it has long been proven that, in women, menopause could negatively impact on the immune system and the response to vaccination. Previous evidences showed that in postmenopausal and with surgical menopause women, a reduced number of total lymphocytes, mainly B and CD4+ T lymphocytes, is present and that the CD4+/CD8+ ratio and the numbers of circulating B cells are decreasing, while NK cells are increasing [42]. These changes in immune system could explain the difference found between genders in our study. On the contrary, in younger group, the response was higher in women compared to men. This result can be explained by the difference existing between sexes in the antibody production. It has been reported that females produce more elevated circulating levels of antibodies than males following the positive influence exerted on the humoral immune responses by estrogens [43, 44]. On the other hand, androgens play a very important role in modulating negatively the immune responses by affecting both the innate and the adaptive immune system (immunosuppressive action) [45]. These hormonal differences can account for the discrepancies between females and males found on the onset of different kind of diseases among which autoimmune diseases, but also in response to infectious diseases and vaccination [46]. It is important to emphasize that the 1st booster dose completely annulled the amount of non-responders to the primary cycle even if no statistical correlation was found between individual variables and immune response probably because the majority of the sample (68.75%) had a response \geq 400 AU/mL and, therefore, hypothetical correlations were masked by this limit. Therefore, it is important to highlight the essential role played by the 1st booster dose in the complete protection against COVID-19 infection. This is important not only for HCWs but especially for general population. Indeed, it has been estimated that about 20% of general population in Italy has not yet received the 1st booster dose and is, therefore, at risk to get the infection with more severe clinical outcomes [47].

Conclusions

In conclusion, our data are perfectly in line with what has been declared by the conducted studies in terms of vaccine efficacy. Considering that HCWs are at first line in the fight against COVID-19 and, therefore, at high risk to contract and, eventually, spread the infection in nosocomial settings, it is important to highlight that, even if only a very little portion of the sample did not produce antibodies after the primary vaccination cycle, this risk was completely cancelled by the 1st booster dose. Moreover, individual variables as age and gender played an important role in the immune response to the primary cycle putting potentially at risk to get the infection and to have negative clinical outcomes more vulnerable

people. However, the 1st booster dose produced a good immune response in all the sample independently from the individual variables. This finding is valid also for the general population on which the importance of the 1st booster dose should be stressed through a general and correct information.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

Funding

None.

Ethics approval

The study has been performed in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki and has been approved by the Ethics Committee of the University Hospital "G. Martino", Messina, Italy (protocol number 1860 of 05/10/2022).

Authors' contributions

Conceptualization: ADP, SC and DLG. Methodology: AF and GV. Formal analysis, data curation and writing - original draft: GV and AF. Resources: AB and AL. All Authors revised the manuscript and gave their contribution to improve the paper. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

References

- Miyah Y, Benjelloun M, Lairini S, Lahrichi A. COVID-19 Impact on Public Health, Environment, Human Psychology, Global Socioeconomy, and Education. Sci World J 2022;2022:5578284. https://doi.org/10.1155/2022/5578284
- [2] Facciolà A, Laganà P, Caruso G. The COVID-19 pandemic and its implications on the environment. Environ Res 2021;201:111648. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2021.111648
- Burki T. Outbreak of coronavirus disease 2019. Lancet Infect Dis 2020;20:292-3. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(20)30076-1
- [4] Malik YS, Sircar S, Bhat S, Sharun K, Dhama K, Dadar M, Tiwari R, Chaicumpa W. Emerging novel coronavirus (2019-nCoV) –current scenario, evolutionary perspective based on genome analysis and recent developments. Vet Q 2020;40:68-76. https://doi.org/10.1080/01652176.2020.172 7993
- [5] World Health Organization (WHO). Immunization. Available at: https://www.who.int/news-room/facts-in-pictures/de-tail/immunization#:~:text=Immunization%20prevents%20 deaths%20every%20year,cost%2Deffective%20public%20 health%20interventions (Accessed on: 07/07/2022).
- [6] Zhou P, Yang XL, Wang XG, Hu B, Zhang L, Zhang W, Si HR, Zhu Y, Li B, Huang CL, Chen HD, Chen J, Luo Y, Guo H, Jiang RD, Liu MQ, Chen Y, Shen XR, Wang X, Zheng

.....

XS, Zhao K, Chen QJ, Deng F, Liu LL, Yan B, Zhan FX, Wang YY, Xiao GF, Shi ZL. A pneumonia outbreak associated with a new coronavirus of probable bat origin. Nature 2020;579:270-3. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-020-2012-7

[7] Yong CY, Ong HK, Yeap SK, Ho KL, Tan WS. Recent advances in the vaccine development against Middle East respiratory syndrome-coronavirus. Front Microbiol 2019;10:1999. https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2019.01781

.....

- [8] Pardi N, Hogan MJ, Porter FW, Weissman D. mRNA vaccines – a new era in vaccinology. Nat Rev Drug Discov 2018;17:261-79. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrd.2017.243
- [9] Cohen J. "Absolutely remarkable": No one who got Moderna's vaccine in trial developed severe COVID-19. Available at: https://www.sciencemag.org/news/2020/11/absolutelyremarkable-no-one-who-got-modernas-vaccine-trial-developed-severe-covid-19 (Accessed on: 30/07/2022).
- [10] World Health Organization (WHO). DRAFT Landscape of COVID-19. Available at: https://www.who.int/ publications/m/item/draft-landscape-of-covid-19-candidatevaccines (Accessed on: 04/08/2022).
- [11] European Medicines Agency (EMA). EMA recommends COVID-19 Vaccine Moderna for authorisation in the EU. Available at: https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/news/ema-recommends-covid-19-vaccine-moderna-authorisation-eu. Accessed on 05/08/2022.
- [12] European Medicines Agency (EMA). EMA recommends first COVID-19 vaccine for authorisation in the EU. Available at: https://www.ema.europa.eu/en/news/ema-recommends-first-covid-19-vaccine-authorisation-eu (Accessed on: 10/08/2022).
- [13] Walsh EE, Frenck RW, Falsey AR, Kitchin N, Absalon J, Gurtman A, Lockhart S, Neuzil K, Mulligan MJ, Bailey R, Swanson KA, Li P, Koury K, Kalina W, Cooper D, Fontes-Garfias C, Shi PY, Türeci Ö, Tompkins KR, Lyke KE, Raabe V, Dormitzer PR, Jansen KU, Şahin U, Gruber WC. Safety and immunogenicity of two RNA-based covid-19 vaccine candidates. N Engl J Med 2020;383:2439-50. https://doi. org/10.1056/nejmoa2027906
- [14] Jackson LA, Anderson EJ, Rouphael NG, Roberts PC, Makhene M, Coler RN, McCullough MP, Chappell JD, Denison MR, Stevens LJ, Pruijssers AJ, McDermott A, Flach B, Doria-Rose NA, Corbett KS, Morabito KM, O'Dell S, Schmidt SD, Swanson PA 2nd, Padilla M, Mascola JR, Neuzil KM, Bennett H, Sun W, Peters E, Makowski M, Albert J, Cross K, Buchanan W, Pikaart-Tautges R, Ledgerwood JE, Graham BS, Beigel JH; mRNA-1273 Study Group. An mRNA vaccine against SARS-CoV-2 – preliminary report. N Engl J Med 2020;383:1920-31. https://doi.org/10.1056/ NEJMoa2022483
- [15] Long QX, Liu BZ, Deng HJ, Wu GC, Deng K, Chen YK, Liao P, Qiu JF, Lin Y, Cai XF, Wang DQ, Hu Y, Ren JH, Tang N, Xu YY, Yu LH, Mo Z, Gong F, Zhang XL, Tian WG, Hu L, Zhang XX, Xiang JL, Du HX, Liu HW, Lang CH, Luo XH, Wu SB, Cui XP, Zhou Z, Zhu MM, Wang J, Xue CJ, Li XF, Wang L, Li ZJ, Wang K, Niu CC, Yang QJ, Tang XJ, Zhang Y, Liu XM, Li JJ, Zhang DC, Zhang F, Liu P, Yuan J, Li Q, Hu JL, Chen J, Huang AL. Antibody responses to SARS-CoV-2 in patients with COVID-19. Nat Med 2020;26:845-8. https:// doi.org/10.1038/s41591-020-0897-1
- [16] Percivalle E, Cambiè G, Cassaniti I, Nepita EV, Maserati R, Ferrari A, Di Martino R, Isernia P, Mojoli F, Bruno R, Tirani M, Cereda D, Nicora C, Lombardo M, Baldanti F. Prevalence of SARS-CoV-2 specific neutralising antibodies in blood donors from the Lodi Red Zone in Lombardy, Italy, as at 06 April 2020. Euro Surveill 2020;25:25. https://doi.org/10.2807/1560-7917.ES.2020.25.24.2001031
- [17] Epicentro. Sorveglianza integrata COVID-19: i principali dati nazionali. Available at: https://www.epicentro.iss.it/coronavirus/bollettino/Bollettino-sorveglianza-integrata-CO-VID-19_28-settembre-2022.pdf (Accessed on: 20/08/2022).
[18] Balik M, Svobodova E, Porizka M, Maly M, Brestovansky P, Volny L, Brozek T, Bartosova T, Jurisinova I, Mevaldova Z, Misovic O, Novotny A, Horejsek J, Otahal M, Flaksa M, Stach Z, Rulisek J, Trachta P, Kolman J, Sachl R, Kunstyr J, Kopecky P, Romaniv S, Huptych M, Svarc M, Hodkova G, Fichtl J, Mlejnsky F, Grus T, Belohlavek J, Lips M, Blaha J. The impact of obesity on the outcome of severe SARS-CoV-2 ARDS in a high volume ECMO centre: ECMO and corticosteroids support the obesity paradox. J Crit Care 2022;72:154162. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcrc.2022.154162

- [19] Facciolà A, Micali C, Visalli G, Venanzi Rullo E, Russotto Y, Laganà P, Laganà A, Nunnari G, Di Pietro A. COVID-19 and pregnancy: clinical outcomes and scientific evidence about vaccination. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci 2022;26:2610-26. https://doi.org/10.26355/eurrev_202204_28499
- [20] Morrison FJ, Su M, Turchin A. COVID-19 outcomes in patients taking cardioprotective medications. PLoS One 2022;17:e0275787. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0275787
- [21] Galanis P, Vraka I, Fragkou D, Bilali A, Kaitelidou D. Seroprevalence of SARS-CoV-2 antibodies and associated factors in health care workers: A systematic review and meta-analysis. J Hosp Infect 2021;108:120-34. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jhin.2020.11.008
- [22] Lai CC, Wang CY, Wang YH, Hsueh SC, Ko WC, Hsueh PR. Global epidemiology of coronavirus disease 2019 (COV-ID-19): disease incidence, daily cumulative index, mortality, and their association with country healthcare resources and economic status. Int J Antimicrob Agents 2020;55:105946. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijantimicag.2020.105946
- [23] Epicentro. Comirnaty (BNT162b2), il primo vaccino contro il COVID-19 approvato in Europa e in Italia (2021). Available at: https://www.epicentro.iss.it/vaccini/covid-19-vaccino-pfizer-biontech (Accessed on: 21/08/2022).
- [24] Center for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Interim Guidance for Managing Healthcare Personnel with SARS-CoV-2 Infection or Exposure to SARS-CoV-2 (2021). Available at: https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/ hcp/guidance-risk-assesment-hcp.html (Accessed on: 21/08/2022).
- [25] European Center for Disease Control and Prevention (ECDC). Infection prevention and control and preparedness for COVID-19 in healthcare settings – sixth update (2021). Available at: https://www.ecdc.europa.eu/en/publicationsdata/infection-prevention-and-control-and-preparednesscovid-19-healthcare-settings (Accessed on: 22/08/2022).
- [26] Rule AM, Apau O, Ahrenholz SH, Brueck SE, Lindsley WG, de Perio MA, Noti JD, Shaffer RE, Rothman R, Grigorovitch A, Noorbakhsh B, Beezhold DH, Yorio PL, Perl TM, Fisher EM. Healthcare personnel exposure in an emergency department during influenza season. PLoS One 2018;13:e0203223. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0203223
- [27] Calimeri S, La Fauci V, Squeri R, Lo Giudice D. Susceptibility to measles among health workers in a university hospital in southern Italy. Clin Ter 2020;171:e486-e489. https://doi. org/10.7417/CT.2020.2262
- [28] Di Pietro A, Visalli G, Antonuccio GM, Facciolà A. Today's vaccination policies in Italy: The National Plan for Vaccine Prevention 2017-2019 and the Law 119/2017 on the mandatory vaccinations. Ann Ig 2019;31(2 Suppl 1):54-64. https:// doi.org/10.7416/ai.2019.2277
- [29] Gómez-Ochoa SA, Franco OH, Rojas LZ, Raguindin PF, Roa-Díaz ZM, Wyssmann BM, Guevara SLR, Echeverría LE, Glisic M, Muka T. COVID-19 in healthcare workers: a living systematic review and meta-analysis of prevalence, risk factors, clinical characteristics, and outcomes. Am J Epidemiol 2021;190:161-75. https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwaa191
- [30] Polack FP, Thomas SJ, Kitchin N, Absalon J, Gurtman A, Lockhart S, Perez JL, Pérez Marc G, Moreira ED, Zerbini

C, Bailey R, Swanson KA, Roychoudhury S, Koury K, Li P, Kalina WV, Cooper D, Frenck RW Jr, Hammitt LL, Türeci Ö, Nell H, Schaefer A, Ünal S, Tresnan DB, Mather S, Dormitzer PR, Şahin U, Jansen KU, Gruber WC; C4591001 Clinical Trial Group. Safety and efficacy of the BNT162b2 mRNA Covid-19 vaccine. N Engl J Med 2020;383:2603-15. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa2034577

- [31] Facciolà A, Visalli G, Orlando A, Bertuccio MP, Spataro P, Squeri R, Picerno I, Di Pietro A. Vaccine hesitancy: An overview on parents' opinions about vaccination and possible reasons of vaccine refusal. J Public Health Res 2019;8:1436. https://doi.org/10.4081/jphr.2019.1436
- [32] Maltezou HC, Theodoridou K, Ledda C, Rapisarda V, Theodoridou M. Vaccination of healthcare workers: is mandatory vaccination needed? Expert Rev Vaccines 2019;18:5-13. https://doi.org/10.1080/14760584.2019.1552141
- [33] Gagneux-Brunon A, Detoc M, Bruel S, Tardy B, Rozaire O, Frappe P, Botelho-Nevers E. Intention to get vaccinations against COVID-19 in French healthcare workers during the first pandemic wave: a cross-sectional survey. J Hosp Infect 2021;108:168-73. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhin.2020.11.020
- [34] Verger P, Scronias D, Dauby N, Adedzi KA, Gobert C, Bergeat M, Gagneur A, Dubé E. Attitudes of healthcare workers towards COVID-19 vaccination: a survey in France and French-speaking parts of Belgium and Canada, 2020. Euro Surveill 2021;26:2002047. https://doi.org/10.2807/1560-7917.ES.2021.26.3.2002047
- [35] Zimmermann P, Curtis N. Factors That Influence the Immune Response to Vaccination. Clin Microbiol Rev 2019;32:e00084-18. https://doi.org/10.1128/CMR.00084-18
- [36] Gordon A, Reingold A. The burden of influenza: a complex problem. Curr Epidemiol Rep 2018;5:1-9. https://doi. org/10.1007/s40471-018-0136-1
- [37] Wagner A, Garner-Spitzer E, Jasinska J, Kollaritsch H, Stiasny K, Kundi M, Wiedermann U. Age-related differences in humoral and cellular immune responses after primary immunisation: indications for stratified vaccination schedules. Sci Rep 2018;8:9825. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-018-28111-8
- [38] Bayas JM, Vilella A, Bertran MJ, Vidal J, Batalla J, Asenjo MA, Salleras LL. Immunogenicity and reactogenicity of the adult tetanusdiphtheria vaccine. How many doses are necessary? Epidemiol Infect 2001;127:451-60. https://doi. org/10.1017/s095026880100629x
- [39] D'Acremont V, Herzog C, Genton B. Immunogenicity and safety of a virosomal hepatitis A vaccine (Epaxal) in the elderly. J Travel Med 2006;13:78-83. https://doi.org/10.1111/ j.1708-8305.2006.00001.x
- [40] Yang S, Tian G, Cui Y, Ding C, Deng M, Yu C, Xu K, Ren J, Yao J, Li Y, Cao Q, Chen P, Xie T, Wang C, Wang B, Mao C, Ruan B, Jiang T, Li L. Factors influencing immunologic response to hepatitis B vaccine in adults. Sci Rep 2016;6:27251. https://doi.org/10.1038/srep27251
- [41] Sankilampi U, Honkanen PO, Bloigu A, Herva E, Leinonen M. Antibody response to pneumococcal capsular polysaccharide vaccine in the elderly. J Infect Dis 1996;173:387-93. https://doi.org/10.1093/infdis/173.2.387
- [42] Kumru S, Godekmerdan A, Yilmaz B. Immune effects of surgical menopause and estrogen replacement therapy in peri-menopausal women. J Reprod Immunol 2004;63:31-8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jri.2004.02.001
- [43] Klein SL, Jedlicka A, Pekosz A. The Xs and Y of immune responses to viral vaccines. Lancet Infect Dis 2010;10:338-49. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(10)70049-9
- [44] Klein SL, Roberts CW, eds. Sex hormones and immunity to infection. Berlin: Springer Verlag 2010. https://doi. org/10.1007/978-3-642-02155-8.

- AI
- [45] Trigunaite A, Dimo J, Jørgensen TN. Suppressive effects of androgens on the immune system. Cell Immunol 2015;294:87-94. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cellimm.2015.02.004
- [46] Migliore L, Nicolì V, Stoccoro A. Gender specific differences in disease susceptibility: the role of epigenetics.

Biomedicines 2021;9:652. https://doi.org/10.3390/biomedicines9060652

[47] Ministero della Salute. Report Vaccini Anti COVID-19. 2022. Available at: https://www.governo.it/it/cscovid19/ report-vaccini/ (Accessed on: 05/09/2022).

Received on October 14, 2022. Accepted on November 29, 2022.

Correspondence: Alessio Facciolà, Department of Biomedical and Dental Sciences and Morphofunctional Imaging, University of Messina, Messina, Italy. E-mail: afacciola@unime.it

How to cite this article: Calimeri S, Lo Giudice D, Buda A, Laganà A, Facciolà A, Di Pietro A, Visalli G. Role of the 1st booster dose of COVID-19 vaccine in the protection against the infection: A fundamental public health tool. J Prev Med Hyg 2022;63:E520-E526. https://doi.org/10.15167/2421-4248/jpmh2022.63.4.2742

© Copyright by Pacini Editore Srl, Pisa, Italy

This is an open access article distributed in accordance with the CC-BY-NC-ND (Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International) license. The article can be used by giving appropriate credit and mentioning the license, but only for non-commercial purposes and only in the original version. For further information: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/deed.en HEALTH PROMOTION

Health literacy in Mediterranean general population

VINCENZA LA FAUCI¹, GIUSEPPE TRIMARCHI³, CONCETTA CECCIO¹, FRANCESCO MAZZITELLI², ROBERTA PAPPALARDO⁵, VALERIA ALESSI⁴

¹ Department of Biomedical and Dental Sciences and Morphofunctional Imaging, University of Messina, Messina, Italy;
 ² Postgraduate Medical School in Hygiene and Preventive Medicine, University of Messina, Messina, Italy;
 ³ Department of Economics, University of Messina, Italy;
 ⁴ Department of Prevention, Local Health Unit, Reggio Calabria, Italy;
 ⁵ Department of Experimental Medicine, University of Campania "Luigi Vanvitelli", Napoli, Italy

Keywords

Health literacy • Prevention • Public health

Summary

Introduction. Health literacy refers to "the ability to obtain, process, and understand basic health information and access health services in order to make informed choices." In essence, being able to acquire, understand, and use information for one's own health.

Methods. Observational study through the administration of a face-to-face questionnaire conducted between July and September 2020 on 260 individuals residing between Calabria and Sicily, aged between 18 and 89 years. Questions related to education, lifestyle (alcohol, smoking, and physical activity). Multiple-choice questions to assess health literacy and conceptual skills, ability to find information on health topics and services, use of preventive medicine especially vaccinations, and ability to make decisions

Introduction

Health literacy is gaining critical importance in public health. Since its introduction in the 1970s, the concept gradually expanded and continues to expand [1].

The World Health Organization during the Ninth Global Conference on Health Promotion defined health literacy as the ability of individuals to "gain access to, understand and use information in ways that promote and maintain good health" for themselves, their families and their communities" [2-3].

It is considered a determinant of health, as it is proven to influence healthy lifestyles, adherence to treatment, and appropriate access to health services, providing the foundation upon which citizens are able to play an active role in improving their health [4]. WHO supports the development of appropriate action plans to promote health literacy considering it an evolving concept, not just a personal resource; in fact, higher levels of health literacy within the population produce social welfare. Health Literacy is fundamental to patient empowerment, that is, a process through which people can gain greater control over decisions and actions that affect their health (World Health Organization. Regional Office for Europe, 2012) [5].

Health literacy can be considered a factor that affects several aspects of patient care ranging from the use of preventive medicine to the adequate control of chronic diseases to mortality itself. about one's own health.

Results. Of 260, 43% were male and 57% female. The most represented age group is between 50 and 59 years. Forty-eight percent of respondents had a high school diploma. 39% smoke and 32% habitually consume alcoholic beverages; only 40% engage in physical activity. Ten percent had a low level of health literacy, average 55%, and adequate 35%.

Conclusions. Given the importance of adequate HL on health choices and on individual and public wellbeing, it is essential to expand the knowledge of the individual, through public and private information campaigns and with an increasing involvement of family physicians, who are fundamental in training and informing their patients.

Poor health literacy is, therefore, related to a lower quality of life for patients and increased costs for the health care system [6].

A systematic review of the literature evaluates the association of low levels of health literacy with several health outcomes by correlating them with a higher probability of emergency room access and hospitalizations and in the elderly population with worse overall health status resulting in increased mortality [7]. The level of health literacy is also correlated with greater/lesser awareness of health-related risk factors [8-9]. The available evidence suggests that more people have limited health literacy than is often assumed. According to population data from the US, nearly half of the American adult population may have difficulties in acting on health information [10]. In Europe, findings from the recent European Health Literacy Survey indicate that 12% of the people surveyed have inadequate general health literacy, and 35% have problematic health literacy [11-12]. Although the prevalence of problematic health literacy varies widely between countries (between 2% inadequate health literacy in the Netherlands versus 27% in Bulgaria) and between groups within populations, it is clear that health literacy is not just a problem of a small minority [13].

In Italy, studies related to functional health literacy are few, a study on the general population states that 11.5% of the Italian population has a high probability of having

a limited level of health literacy, it is also pointed that the elderly, the less educated and the poorer have a higher probability of having a limited or inadequate level of health literacy [14].

Eurostat has analyzed the frequency with which European citizens ask for a consultation to primary care physicians, with 75% having done so in the last year and women going more frequently. As for Italy, it is sixth to last in terms of people who have never visited a primary care physicians, but it is in first place in terms of the percentage of people who have seen a general practitioner between one and two times in a year. In light of this, we also asked about the frequency of visits with their family doctor highlighting the communication and health information received.

Despite the enormous implications of inadequate health literacy, knowledge of health literacy in the general population and how health literacy impacts health behavior and health status remain scarce [15-16]. Considering the above, the aim of our study was to evaluate the levels of health literacy in a sample of the general population residing in Calabria and Sicily.

Materials and methods

An observational study was conducted, after obtaining informed consent from respondents, by administering anonymous face-to-face questionnaires to a sample of 260 patients. Participants were selected from primary care physicians' offices of some municipalities in the provinces of Calabria and Sicily: Reggio Calabria, Cosenza, Messina and Catania. The sample was stratified by age, sex, and level of schooling. Inclusion criteria were as follows: age between 18 and 89 years and Italian language. Exclusion criteria included cognitive

Tab. I. Sample representation	n by age,	education,	occupation.
-------------------------------	-----------	------------	-------------

.....

impairment, severe psychiatric illness, and end-stage disease. The research was conducted for a three-month period from June 1 to September 30, 2020. Questions were asked about education level, also assessing habits and lifestyles regarding, alcohol consumption, cigarette smoking habit and physical activity. An analysis of health-specific literacy and conceptual skills was conducted through multiple-choice questions, assessing the ability to find information on health topics and services and evaluating the use of preventive medicine particularly vaccinations. Also assessed were the ability to clearly express questions and opinions, analyzing risks and benefits, and finally, being able to make decisions related to one's own health. As far as the relationship with the family doctor is concerned, among European citizens, women go to their family doctor more frequently. The chi-squared test and p-value were used to assess statistical significance.

.....

Results

A total of 260 subjects between 18 and 89 years of age responded to the questionnaire (mean age 49.30 SD 16.14). The most represented age is between 50 and 59 years with 27% of responses, among them there is a significant gender difference with 21.7% males and 78.3% females (chi-square 20,261; p < 0.001). Forty-three percent of respondents were male while 57% were female. At least 48% of all respondents had a high school diploma; among women, 24% had a bachelor's degree, while among men only 13% had a bachelor's degree. Twenty percent of respondents are retired, among women 22% are housewives and 27% of men are retired, it is not possible to assess a statistically significant correlation between occupation and gender (Tab. I).

		Total $(N = 260)$	Male $(N = 112; 43\%)$	Female $(N = 148; 57\%)$
	18-20	(11 = 200)	(10/112) 17%	(14 = 148, 57, 6)
	30, 30	(43/200) 17/8		
	50-59	(55/200) 15%	(1//1/2) 15%	(16/146/11%)
	40-49	(45/260) 17%	(22/112) 20%	(23/148) 16%
Age	50-59	(69/260) 27%	(15/112) 13%	(54/148) 36%
	60-69	(33/260) 13%	(18/112) 16%	(15/148) 10%
	70-79	(32/260) 12%	(20/112) 18%	(12/148) 8%
	80-89	(3/260) 1%	(1/112) 1%	(2/148) 1%
	Elementary school	(17/260) 7%	(9/112) 8%	(8/148) 5%
Ctudios	Lower middle school	(67/260) 26%	(32/112) 29%	(35/148) 24%
studies	High school	(126/260) 48%	(57/112) 51%	(69/148) 47%
	Graduation	(50/260) 19%	(14/112) 13%	(36/148) 24%
	Unemployed	(39/260) 15%	(19/112) 17%	(20/148) 14%
	Freelancer	(41/260) 16%	(23/112) 21%	(18/148) 12%
	Retiree	(51/260) 20%	(30/112) 27%	(21/148) 14%
Work	Public employee	(56/260) 22%	(23/112) 21%	(33/148) 22%
	Private employee	(20/260) 8%	(10/112) 9%	(10/148) 7%
	Student	(21/260) 8%	(7/112) 6%	(14/148) 9%
	Housewife	(32/260) 12%	0%	(32/148) 22%



Among those who responded to the questionnaire, 39% smoke and 32% habitually consume alcoholic beverages and only 40% engage in physical activity. Evaluating statistical significance in relation to gender, we found that a highly significant correlation with alcohol consumption (chi-square = 16.777; p < 0.001) with males who drink more than females; a slightly significant correlation with physical activity (chi-square = 4.395; p < 0.036) with males engaging in more physical activity than females; in contrast, there were no significant differences related to smoking habit (chi-square = 1.332; p = 0.248) (Fig. 1). It is not possible to assess a statistically significant correlation between lifestyle variables and age and education level.

Questions were then asked regarding basic concepts and common notions of what the health terms are most frequently encountered in daily life. Terms such as drug package insert, contraindications, posology, but also the concept of over-the-counter medication or the use of antibiotics, were not always answered correctly, as shown in Table II.

Another section of the questionnaire investigated the knowledge in the field of prevention and in particular on vaccines and even more the fear for the same. In this case, 40% of subjects said they were afraid of the side effects of the vaccine, 44.6% do not know whether the vaccine is or is not the cause of autism as well as 45% do not know the possible correlation with an increased risk of developing allergies. Furthermore 43.5% of respondents admitted that in their opinion doctors do not provide enough information on the side effects of the vaccine (Tab. III).

By assigning a value of 0 to incorrect or missed responses and 1 to correct responses, it was possible to obtain ranges to assess the level of health literacy (HL), with a minimum total of 1 and a maximum of 10. On our sample of 260 individuals, the mean score obtained was 6.47 (SD 2.12). Statistical significance between the mean score and several parameters was then assessed. Considering the mean HL score obtained by males and females, the female gender has a higher score than males slightly significant Pvalue 0.046. The different occupation slightly significantly affects comparing the results obtained by public employees compared to students with a post-hoc Pvalue 0.040, where students have a higher average HL parameter value than public employees. Educational qualification highly significantly affects pvalue post-hoc 0.001, relating the mean of values obtained by high school graduates to those with only an elementary degree. In contrast,

.....

Tab. II.	. Percentage of	² correct answers t	o definitions o	f common	health terms.
----------	-----------------	--------------------------------	-----------------	----------	---------------

	Correct Answer Total (n = 260)	Correct Answer Male (n = 112; 3%)	Correct Answer Female (n = 148; 57%)
What is the meaning of the term "bugiardino" (alias package insert)?	(214) 82%	(85) 76%	(129) 87%
What are over-the-counter medications?	(219) 84%	(92) 82%	(127) 86%
Are antibiotics drugs for treatment of?	(192) 74%	(72) 64%	(120) 81%
What are contraindications?	(139) 53%	(60) 54%	(79) 53%
What does the posology represent?	(210) 81%	(85) 76%	(125) 84%
What is a vaccine?	(209) 80%	(85) 76%	(124) 84%

Tab. III. Questions related to vaccine knowledge.

Total	Yes	No	Don't know	No answer
The side effects of vaccinations worry me	(105) 40%	(107) 41%	(48) 18%	0%
Vaccines are important because they prevent diseases that can have even serious effects	(203) 78%	(24) 9%	(33) 13%	0%
Substances in vaccines are dangerous to humans	(46) 17,7%	(103) 39,6%	(110) 42,3%	(1) 0,4%
Doctors often fail to provide information about the side effects of vaccines	(113) 43,5%	(66) 25,4%	(79) 30,4%	(2) 0,8%
Autism could be caused by vaccinations	(51) 19,6%	(91) 35%	(116) 44,6%	(2) 0,8%
Vaccinations increase the risk of allergies	(40) 15%	(103) 40%	(117) 45%	0%

* Percentage on the total of those who answered the questionnaire.

there is no correlation between HL value and age pvalue 0.124. Finally, the correlation between voluptuous habits, physical activity with the HL parameter obtained on average from the sample was evaluated. There was no significant correlation between smoking (p value 0.084) and alcohol consumption (p value 0.163) and HL. But regarding physical activity the correlation is highly significant with pvalue 0.001 those who do physical activity have a higher mean HL than those who do not (Tab. IV).

Finally, the role of the general practitioner in communication and information with their patients and the frequency with which they visit was explored (Fig. 2).

When asked if the doctor's instructions and prescriptions on illnesses are always understandable, 70% answered yes, 59% not always and often unclear for 23%. In case of lack of clarity, only 24% ask the general practitioner

Tab.	IV.	Relationship	between	average	ΗL	value	and	behavioral	vari
ables	5.								

Behavioral variables			P-value
	Average	6,09	
	Median	6,00	
Physical activity (No)	DS	2,21	
	Lowest value	1,00	
	Max value	10,00	
	IQR	3,00	
	Average	7,05	0.001
	Median	7,00	
Dhysical activity (Vac)	DS	1,85	
	Lowest value	1,00	
	Max value	10,00	
	IQR	2,00	
	Average	6,5989	
Alcohol consumption (No)	Median	7,0000	
	DS	2,07052	
	Lowest value	2,00	
	Max value	10,00	
	IQR	3,00	
	Average	6,2048	0.162
	Median	6,0000	
Alcohol consumption	DS	2,21282	
(Yes)	Lowest value	1,00	
	Max value	10,00	
	IQR	3,00	
	Average	6,65	
	Median	7,00	
Smoke (No)	DS	2,00	
SITIORE (INO)	Lowest value	2,00	
	Max value	10,00	
	IQR	3,00	
	Average	6,19	0.084
	Median	6,00	
Smake (Vec)	DS	2,28	
SITIONE (TES)	Lowest value	1,00	
	Max value	10,00	
	IQR	3,00	

.....



for further clarification, 8% prefer to turn to a friend or acquaintance who practices medicine, 7% discuss it in the family, 3% ask the pharmacist for advice and 5% turn to the web.

With regard to information obtained via the web, 13% stated that they always resort to it after having spoken with their doctor, whereas 32% do so only a few times. Among those who make use of information obtained from social networks and medical websites, 17% do so to better understand their disease, 26% to learn more and, finally, 4% to know what to do. 16% use the web constantly to obtain information about their health and of these, 18% do not seek discussion with their doctor while 23% do so only sometimes.

87% of those who responded to the questionnaire, said they follow the instructions of the doctor for the treatment and use of drugs, but only 33% have ensured that they follow the directions of the doctor or pharmacist regarding the timing and mode of treatment, 39% do not trust either the directions of the doctor or the pharmacist and 25% follow the prescriptions only sometimes. The 12% of the subjects, stop taking drugs and antibiotics as soon as they feel better, without following the prescribed times and do it on their own initiative, without asking for the advice of the doctor.

Conclusion

From our survey has emerged a general lack of awareness of what are the terms that are most commonly encountered in everyday life about their health and care as well as a general distrust of prevention especially towards vaccines. The age group most represented in our survey is over 50 years old and 47% of them have a level of education that does not exceed a secondary school diploma. They are mainly housewives and retired people. Sixty percent of our sample does not engage in physical activity, and it is females who do less than men. On the other hand, men consume alcohol and drink significantly more than women, with significant gender differences. In our study, we stratified the responses of the subjects so that we could obtain three macro-categories, based on the formulation of correct or incorrect responses: those

who have a substantially low, medium, and adequate level of functional health literacy. Of the total, 10% have an evidently low level and of these, 6% are males and 4%females; 55% have a medium-intermediate level, (25% are males and 30% females) and 35% have an adequate level (12% are males and 23% females). Compared to the national data where 63.9% of the sample has an adequate level of health literacy, our sample has an adequate HL much lower than the national average, almost halved; we are in line, however, regarding the high probability of having a limited level of literacy [14]. We also observed how belonging to the female gender affects a higher HL value, as does student status and degree, where greater education also implies greater knowledge of the terminology and meaning of common health terms. There is no correlation between basic health knowledge and age. Interesting, however, is the correlation between physical activity and HL, based on the data obtained it would seem that those who practice physical activity have a greater awareness of their health and risk factors, showing more basic health knowledge. It is interesting to point out that 19% of our sample goes frequently to the family doctor, among them most are over 50 years old and are women; 7% and 23% often or not always understand what they are told by the doctor and 10% of them do not have enough confidence in the general practitioner to follow his prescriptions or directions on health. In addition to the barriers that low health literacy creates in the context of the clinical encounter, low health literacy also reduces the likelihood that people will access the health care system in a timely manner and understand the importance of the many risk factors such as smoking, alcohol, diet, lack of physical activity, and infectious agents [17-23] and understand how not following doctor's prescriptions in the time/ dose of antibiotics gives rise to antibiotic resistance (AMR) is important drivers of increased morbidity and mortality rates resulting in rising healthcare costs. Antibiotic resistance is multifactorial and may be favored by inappropriately prescribed antibiotics or due to erroneous dosages, by empirical therapies in which broad-spectrum antibiotics are used in the absence of adequate diagnostic procedures. WHO recommends that antibiotics be used only when prescribed by a certified health care professional and in accordance with the prescription and dosage [24-25].

It is therefore essential that health promotion includes concerted efforts to raise levels of health literacy from early childhood through adulthood, taking advantage of all means of communication, media campaigns, and all living and working environments such as schools of all levels. It becomes important and indispensable for the entire health care community to make a concerted effort to guide and transmit health education that is not limited to the mere transmission of information but to educate the patient so that he or she reaches an optimal level of health literacy. In addition, it would be appropriate to involve all healthcare professionals and especially the network of family physicians, the only ones who really come into contact with women and men throughout their lives, who often show little interest in prevention, especially with regard to the importance of vaccination in general, as shown by previous studies [26-27].

Even today, universal health literacy precautions need to be recommended to facilitate a better match between people's needs and the services and information offered through the health care system and to provide understandable and accessible information to all patients, regardless of their literacy or education level. This includes avoiding medical jargon, breaking down information or instructions into small, concrete steps, limiting the focus of a visit to three key points or activities, and assessing comprehension [28-30].

Acknowledgements

This research did not receive any specific grant from funding agencies in the public, commercial, or not-forprofit sectors.

Conflict of interest statement

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

Ethical approval

Not required.

Authors' contributions

Writing, data processing and commentary: VA, VLF. Statistical calculation: GT. Data collection: CC, FM, RP.

References

- Van den Broucke, S. Health literacy: a critical concept for public health. Arch Public Health 2014;72:10. https://doi. org/10.1186/2049-3258-72-10
- [2] #HealthInSDGs Policy brief 4: Health literacy 9th Global Conference on Health Promotion, Shanghai 2016. Available at: https://www.who.int/healthpromotion/conferences/9gchp/policybrief1-healthy-cities.pdf?ua=1 (Accessed on: 23/08/2021).
- [3] Nutbeam D. Health promotion glossary. Health Promot Int 1998;13:349-64. https://doi.org/10.1093/heapro/13.4.349
- [4] ECOSOC. 2009. "MINISTERIAL DECLARATION 2009 HIGH-LEVEL SEGMENT: Implementing the internationally agreed goals and commitments in regard to global public health." Available at: https://www.un.org/en/ecosoc/julyhls/pdf09/ministerial_declaration-2009.pdf (Accessed on: 23/08/2021).
- [5] WHO. Measurement of and target-setting for well-being: an initiative by the WHO Regional Office for Europe. 2012. Available at: https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/108617/ e96764.pdf (Accessed on: 23/08/2021).
- [6] Hersh L, Salzman B, Snyderman D. Health Literacy in Primary Care Practice. Am Fam Physician 2015;92:118-24.
- [7] Berkman ND, Sheridan SL, Donahue KE, Halpern DJ, Crotty K. Low health literacy and health outcomes: an updated sys-

tematic review. Ann Intern Med 2011;155:97-107. https://doi. org/10.7326/0003-4819-155-2-201107190-00005

- [8] La Fauci V, Squeri R, Genovese C, Alessi V, Facciolà A. The 'Dangerous Cocktail': an epidemiological survey on the attitude of a population of pregnant women towards some pregnancy risk factors. J Obstet Gynaecol 2020;40:330-5. https://doi.org/1 0.1080/01443615.2019.1621818
- [9] Facciolà A, Squeri R, Genovese C, Alessi V, La Fauci V. Perception of rubella risk in pregnancy: an epidemiological survey on a sample of pregnant women. Ann Ig 2019;31(2 Suppl. 1):65-71. https://doi.org/10.7416/ai.2019.227
- [10] Institute of Medicine (US) Committee on Health Literacy. Health Literacy: A Prescription to End Confusion. In: Nielsen-Bohlman L, Panzer AM, Kindig DA, eds. Washington (DC): National Academies Press (US) 2004.
- [11] Sørensen K, Van den Broucke S, Fullam J. Health literacy and public health: A systematic review and integration of definitions and models. BMC Public Health 2021;12:80. https://doi. org/10.1186/1471-2458-12-80
- [12] Kutner M, Greenberg E, Jin Y, Paulsen C, White S. The Health Literacy of America's Adults – Results. From the 2003 National Assessment of Adult Literacy. NAAL 2003. Report of U.S. Department of Education. NCES 2006-483.
- [13] Kickbusch I, Pelikan JM, Apfel F, Tsouros A. Health Literacy: The Solid Facts. Copenhagen: World Health Organization (WHO); 2013. Available at: https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/ handle/10665/128703/e96854.pdf (Accessed on: 23/08/2021).
- [14] Bonaccorsi G, Lastrucci V, Vettori V, Lorini C. Functional health literacy in a population-based sample in Florence: a cross-sectional study using the Newest Vital Sign. BMJ Open 2019;9:e026356. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2018-026356
- [15] Pelikan JM, Ganahl K. Measuring health literacy in general populations: primary findings from the HLS-EU Consortium's health literacy assessment effort. Stud Health Technol Inform 2017;240:34-59. https://doi.org/10.3233/978-1-61499-790-0-34
- [16] Eurostat. 2019. How often do you see a doctor? Available at: https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/en/web/products-eurostat-news/-/ ddn-20190225-1 (Accessed on: 23/08/2021).
- [17] Genovese C, La Fauci V, Costa GB, Buda A, Nucera S, Antonuccio GM, Alessi V, Carnuccio S, Cristiano P, Laudani N, Spataro P, Di Pietro A, Squeri A, Squeri R. A potential outbreak of measles and chickenpox among healthcare workers in a university hospital. EMBJ 2019;14:045-8. https://doi.org/10.3269/1970-5492.2019.14.10
- [18] Sansom-Daly UM, Lin M, Robertson EG, Wakefield CE, McGill BC, Girgis A, Cohn RJ. Health literacy in adolescents

and young adults: an updated review. J Adolesc Young Adult Oncol 2016;5:106-18. https://doi.org/10.1089/jayao.2015.0059

[19] La Fauci V, Alessi V, Assefa DZ, Lo Giudice D, Calimeri S, Ceccio C, Antonuccio GM, Genovese C, Squeri R. Mediterranean diet: knowledge and adherence in Italian young people. Clin Ter 2020;171:e437-e443. https://doi.org/10.7417/CT.2020.2254

.....

- [20] La Fauci V, Squeri R, Lo Giudice D, Calimeri S, Alessi V, Antonuccio GM, Genovese C. Nutritional disorders and related risk factors in a cohort of young Mediterranean population. EMBJ 2021;16:05-09.
- [21] Squeri R, Genovese C, Palamara MAR, Trimarchi G, Ceccio C, Donia V. An observational study on the effects of early and late risk factors on the development of childhood obesity in the South of Italy.Epidemiology, Biostatistics and Public Health 2018;15.
- [22] LA Fauci V, Squeri R, Spataro P, Genovese C, Laudani N, Alessi V. Young people, young adults and binge drinking. J Prev Med Hyg 2019;60:E376-E385. https://doi.org/10.15167/2421-4248/jpmh2019.60.4.1309
- [23] La Fauci V, Mondello S, Squeri R, Alessi V, Genovese C, Laudani N, Cattaruzza MS. Family, lifestyles and new and old type of smoking in young adults: insights from an italian multiplecenter study. Ann Ig 2021;33:131-40. https://doi.org/10.7416/ ai.2021.2419
- [24] World Health Organization, Antibiotic resistance. Available at: https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/antibioticresistance (Accessed on: 23/08/2021).
- [25] La Fauci V, Alessi V. Antibiotic resistance: Where are we going? Ann Ig 2018;30(4 Supple 1):52-57. https://doi.org/10.7416/ ai.2018.2235
- [26] Squeri R, La Fauci V, Picerno IAM, Trimarchi G, Cannavò G, Egitto G, Cosenza B, Merlina V, Genovese C. Evaluation of Vaccination Coverages in the Health Care Workers of a University Hospital in Southern Italy. Ann Ig 2019;31(2 Supple 1):13-24. https://doi.org/10.7416/ai.2019.2273
- [27] La Fauci V, Squeri R, Genovese C, Anzalone C, Fedele F, Squeri A, Alessi V. An observational study of university students of healthcare area: knowledge, attitudes and behaviour towards vaccinations. Clin Ter 2019;170:e448-e453. https://doi. org/10.7417/CT.2019.2174
- [28] Levy H, Janke A. Health Literacy and Access to Care. J Health Commun 2016;21 Suppl 1(Suppl):43-50. https://doi.org/ 10.1080/10810730.2015.1131776
- [29] Hersh L, Salzman B, Snyderman D. Health Literacy in Primary Care Practice. Am Fam Physician 2015;92:118-24.
- [30] DeWalt DA, Broucksou KA, Hawk V, Brach C, Hink A, Rudd R, Callahan L. Developing and testing the health literacy universal precautions toolkit. Nurs Outlook. 2011;59:85-94. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.outlook.2010.12.002

Received on January 25, 2022. Accepted on November 09, 2022.

.....

Correspondence: Vincenza La Fauci, Department of Biomedical and Dental Sciences and Morphofunctional Imaging, University of Messina, A.O.U. Policlinico "G. Martino", Biological tour 1° Floor, via Consolare Valeria, 98125 Messina, Italy. Tel.+39 090 2213620 - Fax +39 090 2213351 - E-mail: vlafauci@unime.it

How to cite this article: La Fauci V, Trimarchi G, Ceccio C, Mazzitelli F, Pappalardo R, Alessi V. Health literacy in Mediterranean general population. J Prev Med Hyg 2022;63:E527-E532. https://doi.org/10.15167/2421-4248/jpmh2022.63.4.2485

© Copyright by Pacini Editore Srl, Pisa, Italy

This is an open access article distributed in accordance with the CC-BY-NC-ND (Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International) license. The article can be used by giving appropriate credit and mentioning the license, but only for non-commercial purposes and only in the original version. For further information: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/deed.en

E532

HEALTH PROMOTION

Russian subject-level index of multidimensional deprivation and its association with all-cause and infant mortality

ANASTASIA ZELENINA

Department of Epidemiology of Chronic Non-Communicable Diseases, National Medical Research Center for Therapy and Preventive Medicine, Moscow, Russia

Keywords

Deprivation Index • Mortality • Population Census • Russia

Summary

Background. Social and environmental inequalities in public health are recognized as global problems of our time. From the point of view of the theory of deprivation, social and environmental determinants identified as deprivation indicators, which help to detect health inequality. Indices are one of the most practical and powerful tools for measuring the level of deprivation.

Objectives. The aims of our study are (1) to develop a Russian derivation index to measure the levels of deprivation and (2) to analyze its associations with total and infant mortality.

Material and methods. Deprivation indicators were obtained from the Federal State Statistics Service of Russia. All mortality data were taken from the official website of the Federal Research Institute for Health Organization and Informatics of Ministry of

Background

The World Health Organization (WHO) definition of health are based on the same principles: "a state of complete physical, mental and social well-being and not merely the absence of disease or infirmity". It follows that for the prosperous existence of a person, the external environment plays an essential role, the factors of which are defined as determinants.

According to WHO, "the social and environmental determinants of health are the full set of social and physical conditions in which people live and work, including socioeconomic, demographic, environmental and cultural factors, along with the health system" [1]. It is difficult to single out and classify all the determinants. Social determinants conditionally include the socioeconomic status (SES), race and ethnicity, cultural and linguistic characteristics, housing conditions and social support. SES is reflected by education, income level, employment status and professional affiliation. Separately, it is necessary to highlight environmental determinants, which include noise levels, access to green spaces, air pollution, drinking-water quality and sanitation, weather extremes and flooding.

According to WHO, social and environmental inequalities in public health are recognized as global problems. Environmental risk factors account for 23%

Health of the Russian Federation from 2009 to 2012. Principal components analysis with varimax rotation was used to (1) select suitable deprivation indicators and (2) create the index. A Spearman's correlation was run to determine the relationship of deprivation with all-cause and infant mortality. Ordinary least squares (OLS) regression was used to assess the relationship between deprivation and infant mortality. Development of the index and statistical analysis were carried out using R and SPSS software. **Results.** There is not a statistically significant correlation between deprivation and all-cause mortality. OLS regression showed a significant relationship between deprivation and infant mortality (p = 0.02). For every one-unit increase in the index score, infant mortality rate increases by about 20%.

of all deaths in the world and 20% of the total burden of disease, measured in disability adjusted life years (DALYs). For example, risk factors such as outdoor and indoor air pollution are responsible for 25 and 26% of the total burden of stroke, respectively, and 24 and 18% of the total burden of cardiovascular diseases, the leading causes of global death. Overall, environmental risk factors account for 42% of the total burden of stroke and 35% of the total burden of coronary heart disease [2]. Cancer is the cause of about 30% of all premature deaths from noncommunicable diseases among adults aged 30-69 [3]. About 19% (12-29%) of all cancers were estimated to be attributable to the environment [4].

From the point of view of the deprivation theory, we can identify social and environmental determinants as deprivation indicators, which help to detect health inequality. The theory was developed in the second half of the XX century by the English sociologist Peter Townsend [5]. Townsend defined deprivation as "the lack of resources to sustain the diet, lifestyle, activities and amenities that an individual or group are accustomed to or that are widely encouraged or approved in the society to which they belong". Currently, the deprivation theory is a theoretical basis for assessing the impact of differences in living conditions on individual and public health.

One of the most practical and powerful tools for measuring deprivation both at the individual and

population levels are deprivation indices [6, 7]. The main advantage of using the index instead of separate indicators is the assessment of problems and mechanisms of health inequality in more depth, which would provide an opportunity to draw competent conclusions to develop and target strategies for improving public health in the future.

If we look at the problem of health inequality in Russia, in fact this phenomenon is associated with the transformation of social attitudes that Russian society underwent in the early 90s of the last century due to a change in the political paradigm in the country. In the Soviet period, there were approximately equal living and work conditions as well as access to health care therefore the obvious socio-economic inequality of society was not observed. With the country's transition to a market economy, the commercialization of all spheres of society's life began to be actively pursued, resulting in a significant gaps and inequities in the quality of life of the various population groups "stratification of society". In conditions of socio-economic stratification of society, differences began to appear in the distribution of fertility, morbidity, all-cases and infant mortality across the regions [8, 9].

The aim of our study is to develop a Russian derivation index (RDI), taking into account the peculiarities of the geographical, industrial, ecological, and socioeconomic characteristics of the regions, for the analysis and quantitative assessment of the problem of social and environmental inequality in health. An analysis of its associations with total and infant mortality was carried out to evaluate predictive validity of the index [10].

Materials and methods

DATA SOURCES

Data were obtained from official statistical publications of the Federal State Statistics Service of Russia (Rosstat) and the All-Russian Census of Population for 2010. The census took place from October 14th to 25th and covered the 83 federal subjects. The federal subject is the firstorder administrative level divisions in Russia. The 83 federal subjects comprise various different types of unit; these are viewed as administratively equal, though some enjoy significantly more autonomy than others: specifically there are 46 oblast', 21 republics, 9 kray,4 autonomous okrug, 2 cities of federal significance and 1 autonomous oblast'. The study of the deprivation of areas was carried out at a level of subjects of federation due to the possibility of obtaining the most complete information about the socio-economic situation and the state of the environment. All data are available on the official website of Rosstat (https://rosstat.gov.ru/).

SELECTION OF VARIABLES

The selection of indicators was carried out in two stages. At the first stage, a total 58 indicators were selected (the full list of indicators can be obtained from the corresponding authors upon request) in accordance

with the theory of deprivation and taking into account the socio-economic and environmental characteristics of the country, as well as the previous experience of constructing similar indices in other countries.

At the second stage, principal components analysis (PCA) was used to (1) select suitable deprivation indicators and (2) create the index.

STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

PCA is subject to the same restrictions as regression, so the distributions of each variable were checked for normality [11, 12]. To evaluate normality of variables we used SPSS-generated histograms and normal Q-Q plots. If data were nonnormal, natural and 10 log transformations were applied to increase normality [13]. To eliminate the indicators the following criteria are used (1) the indicators have no significant loadings, (2) even with a significant loading, the indicators 'communality is less than 0.50, (3) the indicators have a cross-loading (more than one significant loading) [14]. A component loading of 0.40 and over is significant [15].

The factorability of the indicators was examined using Bartlett's test of sphericity and the Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin (KMO) test. Bartlett's test of sphericity evaluates the studied data for the possibility of their compression with a significant result: the null hypothesis assumes that the variables are orthogonal, not correlated. P-value less than the significance level suggests that PCA can be performed. KMO test measures sampling adequacy for the complete model. KMO values less than 0.60 indicate the sampling is not adequate [16].

The steps taken were:

- 1. selection of the set of variables to be used;
- 2. calculation of the correlation matrix for all variables involved in the analysis;
- 3. extraction of factors by the method of principal components;
- 4. selection of a suitable number of factors using a scree test and the Kaiser rule components with an eigenvalue greater than one;
- 5. varimax rotation of components to create a simplified structure.

A Spearman's rank-order correlation was run to determine the relationship between deprivation and all-cause mortality. All-cases mortality were age-standardized by the direct method. For standardization, used the standardized European population (1976).

In addition, Spearman's correlation and ordinary least squares (OLS) regression were used to assess the relationship between deprivation and infant mortality. The dependent variable is infant mortality rate and the independent variable is the index scores. Infant mortality rate is log-transformed. All mortality data were taken from the official website of Federal Research Institute for Health Organization and Informatics of Ministry of Health of the Russian Federation (CNIIOIZ) from 2009 to 2012 (https://mednet.ru/).

To carry out PCA, the SPSS Statistics Base 22.0 (IBM Corporation New Orchard Road Armonk, NY 10504) statistical software package was used. Spearman's rank

correlation and OLS regression were run using the cor. test and lm functions in R. The significance level was set at 0.05.

Results

DEVELOPMENT OF THE DEPRIVATION INDEX

The final index includes 17 deprivation indicators (Tab. I). KMO coefficient = 0.79, Bartlett's test of sphericity was significant ($\chi 2$ (136) = 1557.56 p < 0.001). Only the first three components displayed eigenvalues greater than 1, and the results of scree test suggested that only the first three components were meaningful. Therefore, only the first three components were retained for rotation. Combined, components 1, 2 and 3 accounted for 73.5% of the total variance. Deprivation indicators and factor loadings are presented in Table II. In interpreting the rotated factor pattern, an indicator was said to load on a given component if the factor loading was 0.40 or greater for that component, and was less than 0.40 for the other. Using these criteria, five indicators were found to load on the first component, which was subsequently labelled the social deprivation component. The first

component explains 24.8% of the total variance and includes the following indicators: living in crowded households, children under age 5 years old, children +3, unemployment rate, and phone. Five indicators were found to load on the second component, which was subsequently labelled the economic deprivation component. The second component explains 24.6% of the total variance and includes indicators: stove heating, no hot water supply, no sewerage system, not central sewerage system, low income. Seven indicators were found to load on the third component, which was subsequently labelled the environmental deprivation component. The third component explains 24% of the total variance and includes indicators: dead forest, fire forest incidence, environmental crime, transport-related emissions, and emissions from stationary sources: NO₂, SO₂, CO. A variable with a positive loading indicates a negative association to the component.

Finally, all components are aggregated into the deprivation index according to the following equation:

$$RDI = w_1 (factor \ 1 \ score) + w_2 (factor \ 2 \ score) + w_3 (factor \ 3 \ score)$$

Domain	Variable	Description	Data source
Family structure /	Children +3	Percentage of families with 3 and more children (ages 0-18)	Census 2010
Demographics	Children under 5 years old	Children ages 0-4 as a percentage of total population	Census 2010
	Stove heating	Percentage of households with stove heating	Census 2010
	No hot water supply	Percentage of households without heat water supply	Census 2010
Housing	No central sewerage system	Percentage of households with toilets emptying into a cesspit	Census 2010
Tiousing	No sewerage system	Percentage of households without sewage system	Census 2010
	Overcrowded	Percentage of households (individual (single- family) houses, individual and communal apartments) with > 5 persons	Census 2010
Communication	Phone	Percentage of households with telephone	Census 2010
	Low income	Percentage of people below a low income threshold in the total population	Regions of Russia. Social and Economic Indicators – 2011
	Unemployment rate	Population 15 or older unemployed	Labour and Employment in Russia – 2011
	NO ₂	Nitrogen dioxide (thousand tons) from stationary sources	Environment Protection in Russia – 2012
Air quality	SO ₂	Sulphur dioxide (thousand tons) from stationary sources	Environment Protection in Russia – 2012
	СО	Carbon monoxide (thousand tons) from stationary sources	Environment Protection in Russia – 2012
	Transport-related emissions	Air emissions from vehicle (thousand tons)	Environment Protection in Russia – 2012
Natural disaster	Fire forest incidence	The number of fire forest incidence (unit)	Environment Protection in Russia – 2012
Green space	Area of dead forest	The area of dead forest (hectares)	Environment Protection in Russia – 2012
Crimes	Environmental crimes	The number of recorded environmental crimes	Environment Protection in Russia – 2012

Variables		Component		Communality
	Social deprivation	Economic deprivation	Environmental deprivation	
Children +3*	0.910	0.176	-0.261	0.928
Children under 5 years old*	0.821	0.344	-0.053	0.796
Unemployment rate**	0.698	0.243	-0.272	0.620
Phone*	-0.826	-0.186	0.198	0.756
Overcrowded	0.888	0.007	-0.347	0.908
Stove heating	0.295	0.798	0.097	0.732
No hot water supply	0.299	0.906	-0.006	0.910
No sewerage system	0.237	0.926	0.008	0.913
No central sewerage system	0.387	0.836	-0.117	0.862
Low income	-0.165	0.665	-0.217	0.517
Area of dead forest*	-0.299	0.328	0.556	0.506
Fire forest incidence*	-0.263	0.294	0.699	0.644
Emissions from stationary sources:				
NO ₂ *	-0.221	-0.299	0.863	0.883
SO ₂ *	-0.121	-0.099	0.774	0.624
CO*	-0.073	-0.180	0.843	0.749
Transport-related emissions*	-0.107	-0.343	0.629	0.524
Environmental crimes*	-0.334	0.218	0.686	0.629

Tab. II. Component loadings and communalities based on a principal components analysis with varimax rotation for 17 variables.

Extraction method: Principal component analysis; Rotation method: Varimax with Kaiser normalization. Loadings larger than .40 are in bold. * Natural log transformation: new variable = ln (1+old variable). ** Log 10 transformation: new variable = log10 (old variable).

Where w_k - weight which is calculated by dividing the percent of variance accounted for by $k_{\rm th}$ - principal component by the cumulative percentage of variance accounted for by all preceding principal components whose eigenvalues are 1 or greater; factor *j* score - regression factor score that is the actual value for each region on the underlying components in a particular row of data.

RDI scores were calculated for the 83 federal subjects. Moreover, the scores were divided into four quantiles (1Q, 0% -25%; 2Q, 25% -50%; 3Q, 50% -75%; 4Q, 75% -100%), where the first quantile (1Q) is the least deprived area and the fourth quantile (4Q) is the most deprived area (Tab. III). The distribution of RDI scores is shown in Figure 1.

VALIDATION OF THE DEPRIVATION INDEX

There was a positive correlation between deprivation and infant mortality, which was statistically significant ($r_s = 0.31$, p = 0.003). Regression model confirmed a significant relationship between deprivation and infant mortality (p = 0.02). For every one-unit increase in the value of the index, infant mortality rate increases by about 20%. The R^2 value was 0.108 thus 11% of the variation in infant mortality can be explained by the model containing only deprivation.

There is not a statistically significant correlation between deprivation and the age-standardized mortality rates (both sex, females and males) (Tab. IV).

Discussion

When selecting indicators for the index, economic, environmental and social issues were taken into account. The index includes socio-economic and environmental indicators due to the fact that a complex two-stage method base on conceptual (theory about deprivation) and empirical (previous experience with indicators, used PCA) approaches was used.

Russia is the largest country in the world, covering over 17,125,191 square kilometres. The largest federal subject of Russia is the Republic of Sakha (Yakutia),

Tab. I	II.	Mean	index	score	by	quantile
--------	-----	------	-------	-------	----	----------

Quantile	Number of federal subjects	Mean	SD	95% CI
1 – the least deprived	20	-0.687	0.268	(-0.813, -0.562) (-0.262, -0.176) (0.042, 0.170) (0.616, 0.921)
2	21	-0.219	0.094	
3	21	0.106	0.140	
4 – the most deprived	21	0.768	0.335	

SD: standard deviation; CI, confidence interval.



Tab. IV. Spearman's rank correlation between deprivation and the age-standardized mortality rate.

Variable	rs	P - value
Total population	0.15	0.164
Females	0.21	0.051
Males	0.08	0.462

with a total area of 3,083,523 km² and a population of 958,528 people; the smallest federal subject is St. Petersburg with an area of 1,403 km² and a population of 4,879,566 people. Our study showed that generally the most deprived regions are industrial with poor ecological conditions [17] such as Chelyabinsk, Kurgan, Sverdlovsk, Tyumen, Omsk Oblasts, and Sakha and located in Ural and the Western Siberia. Less deprived regions such as Voronezh, Ivanovo, Yaroslavl, Moscow Oblasts, and Moscow located in European part of Russia. Our study, unlike other similar ones [18, 19], was carried out at large area level because of the full dataset of the census and other indicators is publicly available only at a level of subjects of federation (the largest territorialadministrative unit of the country).

In our study, there is no the relationship between deprivation and overall mortality, unlike other similar studies that used indices to measure deprivation. Choi et al. [20] estimated an association between the most deprived population and all-cause mortality. The study found that all-cause mortality increased by 23% (RR: 1.23, 95% CI 1.16 to 1.30) in the most deprived population compared to the least deprived one. Deprivation was determined using the index that consists of no house ownership, no passenger car, poor house environment, single household, low level of education, male unemployment, divorced or separated, elderly people, female-headed variables. McCartney et al. [21] estimated the association between all-cause mortality and deprivation between four time periods (1981-1983, 1990-1993, 2000-2002, 2010-2012). Deprivation was determined using the Carstairs index, which consists of four indicators: male unemployment, overcrowding,

low social class, and lack of car ownership. The study found that the mortality ratios among the population of England, Wales and Scotland aged 35-79 years were higher in more deprived areas without significant gender differences. Kraftman et al. [22] assessed the dependence of the all-cause mortality on deprivation in 2003 and 2017. In 2003, the mortality from all causes among adult increased by 1.4 times in the more deprived area, and in 2017 the mortality increased by 1.6 times. Simultaneously, all-cause mortality among women living in the most deprived areas was 1.3 times higher in 2003 and increased 1.5 times by 2017. To determine deprivation level, the Index of Multiple Deprivation 2015 (IMD) was used, including domains related to income, employment, education, crime, environmental and housing conditions as well as living environment. Pearce et al. [23] created an environmental deprivation index consisting of the following indicators: air pollution, average UV radiation, green space, average annual ambient temperature, and established a positive association of all-cause mortality (Incidence Rate Ratio (IRR) = 1.14) with the most deprived area.

In our study along with other similar studies, deprivation is significant associated with infant mortality. However, unlike our study, they generally used indices that formed only from socio-economic indicators. Yun et al. [24] developed a deprivation index that includes the following indicators: unemployment rate, low social class, lack of car ownership, overcrowded housing, married status, family structure, and low education level. Furthermore, they established that the risk of infant mortality increased by 26% (Hazard Ratio (HR):1.261, 95% CI 1.199 to 1.326) among the most deprived population compared to the least deprived one. Padilla et al. [25] also analyzed the association between infant mortality and deprivation between two time periods (2002-2005 and 2006-2009). The study showed that infant mortality was higher in more deprived census tracts than in less deprived ones. The deprivation index included five domains: family structure, immigration status and mobility, occupation and income, education and housing conditions. Guildea et al. [26] established that risk of infant death increased

by 53% (RR: 1.53, 95% CI 1.35 to 1.74) in the most deprived areas compared to the least deprived ones. To measure deprivation level, they used Townsend index that included unemployment rate, car ownership, owner occupation, and overcrowding variables.

Similarly, socioeconomic inequality in health outcomes have been observed around the world. Pathirana et al. [27] conducted a systematic review and found that low level of education was associated with a 64% increased odds of multimorbidity (summary Odd Ratio (OR): 1.64, 95% CI 1.41 to 1.91). Another systematic review [28] investigated the relationship between stroke survival and socio-economic inequality in China. It was found that both low level of education (a pooled Relative Risk (RR): 3.07, 95% CI 1.27 to 7.45) and low per capita income (the pooled RR: 1.58, 95% CI 1.50 to 1.65), as well as rural status (the pooling RR: 1.47, 95% CI 1.37 to 1.58) increase the risk of death from stroke. Kim et al. [29] reviewed studies which analyzing the relationship between income and obesity. The result of the meta-analysis demonstrated that lower income is associated with obesity (OR: 1.27, 95% CI 1.10 to 1.47; RR: 1.52, 95% CI 1.08 to 2.13).

Cohort studies conducted in Asia and Australasia [30] showed that low level of education increased the risk of mortality from all causes by 56% (HR: 1.56, 95% CI 1.38 to 1.76) in Asia and by 14% in Australasia (HR 1.14, 95% CI 1.05 to 1.23). Furthermore, low level of education increased the risk of mortality from cardiovascular diseases by 78% (HR: 1.78, 95% CI 1.42 to 2.23) in Asia and by 20% (HR: 1.20, 95% CI 1.04 to 1.38) in Australasia as well as increased the risk of mortality from cancer by 39 % (HR: 1.39, 95% CI 1.15 to 1.69) in Asia.

Only few studies have analyzed the relationship between deprivation and infant mortality using indices formed from environmental indicators. For instance, Genowska et al. [31] created index, which consists of total particle pollution, sulfur dioxide, nitrogen oxides, industrial waste, and untreated industrial waste water variables and found that an increase in index of 1 SD was related to an increase in the expected infant mortality rate of 16 (95 % CI 2 to 30) per 100,000 live births.

STRENGTHS AND LIMITATIONS

Strengths of the study is firstly using deprivation indicators from open access datasets that makes the data aggregation transparent. Moreover, it allows researchers to trace the entire process of transform primary indicators and to restore the original data. Secondly, the index includes both socio-economic and environmental characteristics that allow analyzing the multifaceted nature of factors influence on health. Furthermore, our methodology of development of the index allows including many more different variables (not only socio-economic ones as in many indices) and avoiding overloading indicator systems. Limitations to the study should be noted. Our study did not take into account possible confounders that could affect the results [32]. For instance, when studying the relationship

of deprivation with overall mortality, there are not individual – level information on age, behavioral risk factors (alcohol, smoking use, physical activity), and when studying the relationship with infant mortality, there are not information on infant sex and gestational age as well as maternal age, behavioral characteristics and morbidity. Nakaya et al. [33] applied two regression models to estimate the relationship all-cause mortality with deprivation. First model adjusted by age, sex, and public health centre district and showed that the most deprived neighborhoods have 1.144 times higher (95% CI 0.987 to 1.326) HR for all-cause mortality compared with the least deprived ones. Second model adjusted by age, sex, public health centre district, histories of diabetes and hypertension, and body mass index and demonstrated that the most deprived neighborhoods have about 1.160 (95% CI 1.001 to 1.344) times higher HR for all-cause mortality compared with the least deprived ones. Calling et al. [34] analyzed the relationship between deprivation and mortality of the preterm infant. The index included low education, low income, unemployment rate, and social benefits. Two logistic models were used: (1) adjusted for maternal age and (2) adjusted for infant sex, gestational age, small for gestational age, maternal age and maternal marital status. First model showed that OR for mortality in preterm infants born in the most deprived neighborhoods was 1.33 (95% CI 1.12 to 1.58) times higher compared to preterm infants born in the least deprived ones. Second model showed that there is not statistically significant result when comparing the most deprived areas with the least deprived ones (OR: 0.99, 95% CI 0.82 to 1.20).

.....

Conclusion

The study assessed the relationship the level of deprivation with all-cause and infant mortality and showed that there is a statistically significant relationship between deprivation and infant mortality, whereas there is not a link with all-cases mortality.

RDI require further study. We will continue to analyze the relationship of deprivation with health behaviors and outcomes. Evidence will be obtained from the Epidemiology of Cardiovascular Risk Factors and Diseases in Regions of the Russian Federation study (ESSE-RF) [35]. ESSE-RF is a large cross-sectional multicenter population-based study conducted in 2012-2014, covering 13 federal subjects of Russia, differing in climatic, geographic, economic, and demographic characteristics. Data were obtained from questionnaires administered face-to-face, by a brief physical examination, and fasting venous blood samples. Dataset of ESSE-RF study will be used to increase opportunities for high-quality research and analysis of the impact of deprivation on health in Russia, taking into account possible confounders. Also, in the future, it seems necessary to create an index using the methodology from this study to measure the level of deprivation at a small area level.

Overall, we sought to create an easy-to-calculate and interpret index, which implies its use both in the practical activities of public health specialists and policymakers. As far as we are aware, this is the first deprivation index characterizes the level of physical environmental and socio-economic deprivation of Russian regions. Moreover, it makes it possible to carry out comparative regional assessments of inequality in relation to population health. The research findings demonstrate the need for further study of the impact of deprivation on health both at the population and individual level in order to a more in-depth study of the mechanisms of the development of the social gradient of health.

Acknowledgements

None.

Conflict of interest statement

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

Authors' contributions

All authors discussed the results and contributed to the final manuscript.

References

- [1] Regional Committee for Europe, 61st session. Sixty-first Regional Committee for Europe: Baku, 12-15 September 2011: interim second report on social determinants of health and the health divide in the WHO European Region. World Health Organization. Regional Office for Europe; 2011. Available at: https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/336040 (Accessed on: 10/01/2022).
- [2] Prüss-Üstün A, Wolf J, Corvalán C, Bos R, Neira M. Preventing disease through healthy environments: a global assessment of the burden of disease from environmental risks. World Health Organization; 2016. Available at: https://www.who.int/ publications/i/item/9789241565196 (Accessed on: 15/01/2022).
- [3] WHO report on cancer: setting priorities, investing wisely and providing care for all. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2020. Available at: https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/330745 (Accessed on: 10/01/2022).
- [4] Prüss-Üstün, Annette, Corvalán, Carlos F, World Health Organization (2006). Preventing disease through healthy environments: towards an estimate of the environmental burden of disease / Prüss-Üstün A, Corvalán C. World Health Organization. Available at: https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/43457 (Accessed on: 15/01/2022).
- [5] Townsend P. Deprivation. J Soc Policy 1987;16:125-46. https:// doi.org/10.1017/S0047279400020341
- [6] Ravaghi V, Durkan C, Jones K, Girdler R, Mair-Jenkins J, Davies G, Wilcox D, Dermont M, White S, Dailey Y, Morris AJ. Area-level deprivation and oral cancer in England 2012-2016. Cancer Epidemiol 2020;69:101840. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. canep.2020.101840
- [7] McQuarrie EP, Mackinnon B, Bell S, Fleming S, McNeice V, Stewart G, Fox JG, Geddes CC; Scottish Renal Biopsy Registry. Multiple socioeconomic deprivation and impact on sur-

vival in patients with primary glomerulonephritis. Clin Kidney J 2017;10:49-54. https://doi.org/10.1093/ckj/sfw127

- [8] GBD 2016 Russia Collaborators. The burden of disease in Russia from 1980 to 2016: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016. Lancet 2018;392:1138-46. https:// doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(18)31485-5
- [9] Dubikaytis T, Larivaara M, Kuznetsova O, Hemminki E. Inequalities in health and health service utilisation among reproductive age women in St. Petersburg, Russia: a cross-sectional study. BMC Health Serv Res 2010;10:307. https://doi. org/10.1186/1472-6963-10-307
- [10] Pampalon R, Hamel D, Gamache P, Simpson A, Philibert MD. Validation of a deprivation index for public health: a complex exercise illustrated by the Quebec index. Chronic Dis Inj Can 2014;34:12-22. https://doi.org/10.24095/hpcdp.34.1.03
- [11] Boateng GO, Neilands TB, Frongillo EA, Melgar-Quiñonez HR, Young SL. Best practices for developing and validating scales for health, social, and behavioral research: a primer. Front Public Health 2018;6:149. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fpubh.2018.00149
- [12] Floyd FJ, Widaman KF. Factor analysis in the development and refinement of clinical assessment instruments. Psychological Assessment 1995;7:286-99. https://doi.org/10.1037/1040-3590.7.3.286
- [13] Kirkwood BR, Sterne JAC, Kirkwood BR. Essential medical statistics. Malden, Mass: Blackwell Science 2003.
- [14] Hair JF, Tatham RL, Anderson RE, Black W. Multivariate data analysis. 5th ed. London: Prentice-Hall 1998.
- [15] Stevens JP. Applied multivariate statistics for the social sciences. 2nd ed. Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum 1992.
- [16] Pallant J. SPSS survival manual: A step by step guide to data analysis using IBM SPSS. 4th ed. Crows Nest, NSW: Allen & Unwin 2013.
- [17] State of the environment and environmental protection in the Russian Federation in 2010. Annual State reports. [Russia] Available at: https://www.mnr.gov.ru/docs/gosudarstvennye_ doklady/o_sostoyanii_i_ob_okhrane_okruzhayushchey_sredy_ rossiyskoy_federatsii/ (Accessed on: 3/01/2022).
- [18] Zhang X, Chen X, Gong W. Type 2 diabetes mellitus and neighborhood deprivation index: A spatial analysis in Zhejiang, China. J Diabetes Investig 2019;10:272-82. https://doi.org/10.1111/ jdi.12899
- [19] Noble M, Wright G, Smith G, Dibben C. Measuring multiple deprivation at the small-area level. Environ Plan A 2006;38:169-85. https://doi.org/10.1068/a37168
- [20] Choi MH, Cheong KS, Cho BM, Hwang IK, Kim CH, Kim MH, Hwang SS, Lim JH, Yoon TH. Deprivation and mortality at the town level in Busan, Korea: an ecological study. J Prev Med Public Health 2011;44:242-8. https://doi.org/10.3961/ jpmph.2011.44.6.242
- [21] McCartney G, Popham F, Katikireddi SV, Walsh D, Schofield L. How do trends in mortality inequalities by deprivation and education in Scotland and England & Wales compare? A repeat cross-sectional study. BMJ Open 2017;7:e017590. https://doi. org/ 10.1136/bmjopen-2017-017590
- [22] Kraftman L, Hardelid P, Banks J. Age specific trends in mortality disparities by socio-economic deprivation in small geographical areas of England, 2002-2018: A retrospective registry study. Lancet Reg Health Eur 2021;7:100136. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.lanepe.2021.100136
- [23] Pearce JR, Richardson EA, Mitchell RJ, Shortt NK. Environmental justice and health: a study of multiple environmental deprivation and geographical inequalities in health in New Zealand. Soc Sci Med 2011;73:410-20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. socscimed.2011.05.039
- [24] Yun JW, Kim YJ, Son M. Regional Deprivation Index and Socioeconomic Inequalities Related to Infant Deaths in Korea.

J Korean Med Sci 2016;31:568-78. https://doi.org/10.3346/ jkms.2016.31.4.568

- [25] Padilla CM, Kihal-Talantikit W, Vieira VM, Deguen S. Cityspecific spatiotemporal infant and neonatal mortality clusters: links with socioeconomic and air pollution spatial patterns in France. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2016;13:624. https:// doi.org/10.3390/ijerph13060624
- [26] Guildea ZE, Fone DL, Dunstan FD, Sibert JR, Cartlidge PH. Social deprivation and the causes of stillbirth and infant mortality. Arch Dis Child 2001;84:307-10. https://doi.org/10.1136/ adc.84.4.307
- [27] Pathirana TI, Jackson CA. Socioeconomic status and multimorbidity: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Aust N Z J Public Health 2018;42:186-94. https://doi.org/10.1111/1753-6405.12762
- [28] Chen R, Hu Z, Chen RL, Zhang D, Xu L, Wang J, Wei L. Socioeconomic deprivation and survival after stroke in China: a systematic literature review and a new population-based cohort study. BMJ Open 2015;5:e005688. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2014-005688
- [29] Kim TJ, von dem Knesebeck O. Income and obesity: what is the direction of the relationship? A systematic review and metaanalysis. BMJ Open 2018;5;8:e019862. https://doi.org/10.1136/ bmjopen-2017-019862
- [30] Woodward M, Peters SA, Batty GD, Ueshima H, Woo J, Giles GG, Barzi F, Ho SC, Huxley RR, Arima H, Fang X, Dobson A, Lam TH, Vathesatogkit P; Asia Pacific Cohort Studies

Collaboration. Socioeconomic status in relation to cardiovascular disease and cause-specific mortality: a comparison of Asian and Australasian populations in a pooled analysis. BMJ Open 2015;5:e006408. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2014-006408

- [31] Genowska A, Jamiołkowski J, Szafraniec K, Stepaniak U, Szpak A, Pająk A. Environmental and socio-economic determinants of infant mortality in Poland: an ecological study. Environ Health 2015;14:61. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12940-015-0048-1
- [32] Greenland S. Ecologic versus individual-level sources of bias in ecologic estimates of contextual health effects. Int J Epidemiol 2001;30:1343-50. https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/30.6.1343
- [33] Nakaya T, Honjo K, Hanibuchi T, Ikeda A, Iso H, Inoue M, Sawada N, Tsugane S; Japan Public Health Center-based Prospective Study Group. Associations of all-cause mortality with census-based neighbourhood deprivation and population density in Japan: a multilevel survival analysis. PLoS One 2014;9:e97802. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0097802
- [34] Calling S, Li X, Sundquist J, Sundquist K. Socioeconomic inequalities and infant mortality of 46,470 preterm infants born in Sweden between 1992 and 2006. Paediatr Perinat Epidemiol 2011;25:357-65. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-3016.2011.01200.x
- [35] Research Organizing Committee of the ESSE-RF project Epidemiology of cardiovascular diseases in different regions of Russia (ESSE-RF). The rationale for and design of the study. Russ J Prev Med Public Health 2013;6:25-34.

Received on January 30, 2022. Accepted on November 10, 2022.

Correspondence: Anastasia Zelenina, Department of Epidemiology of Chronic Non-Communicable Diseases, National Medical Research Center for Therapy and Preventive Medicine, 10, Petroverigskiy per., Moscow 101990, Russia. E-mail: nasty-zelenin@yandex.ru

How to cite this article: Zelenina A. Russian subject-level index of multidimensional deprivation and its association with all-cause and infant mortality. J Prev Med Hyg 2022;63:E533-E540. https://doi.org/10.15167/2421-4248/jpmh2022.63.4.2498

© Copyright by Pacini Editore Srl, Pisa, Italy

This is an open access article distributed in accordance with the CC-BY-NC-ND (Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International) license. The article can be used by giving appropriate credit and mentioning the license, but only for non-commercial purposes and only in the original version. For further information: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/deed.en

OPEN ACCESS

HEALTH PROMOTION

What do young people know about HIV? Results of a cross sectional study on 18-24-year-old students

ALESSANDRA MEREU¹, ARIANNA LIORI¹, LUCA FADDA², MASSIMILIANO PUDDU³, LUCHINO CHESSA¹, PAOLO CONTU¹, CLAUDIA SARDU¹

¹ Department of Medical Science and Public Health, University of Cagliari, Italy; ²Regional Health Agency, Sardinia, Italy; ³ Chelsea and Westminster Hospital NHS Foundation Trust, UK

Keywords

Students • HIV knowledge • HIV perception • HIV prevention

Summary

Introduction. Increasing people's knowledge of transmission, prevention, early diagnosis, and available treatments is a key step toward HIV control; it means setting the conditions for empowerment and enabling individuals to make aware choices about the prevention strategy best suited to their needs. This study aims to identify unmet needs on HIV knowledge among freshman students. **Methods**. A cross sectional study was carried out at the University of Cagliari, which is an Italian public state university. Data were collected by means of an anonymous questionnaire; the final sample included 801 students.

Results. Results offer a detailed picture of students' knowledge and perceptions of HIV. Several topics deserve to be better understood by students, but the main gaps relate to the pre-exposure

Introduction

Currently, in the field of HIV, numerous benefits are ensured from the diagnostic and therapeutic advancements. Since 2000, the epidemiological trend suggests a positive evolution of HIV management. The global incidence decreased from 2.7 million in 2000 to 1.5 million in 2020, while AIDS related death decreased from 1.4 million in 2000 to 680.000 in 2020, and the prevalence of people living with HIV increased from 25.5 million in 2000 to 37.7 million in 2020 [1].

Although progress in HIV testing and treatment has reduced the disease's spread and improve affected people's health and well-being, HIV is still a serious public health issue, at the foreground of the public health agenda. Further reducing the possibility of transmission, promoting the early diagnosis, improving the access and coverage of effective HIV antiretroviral therapy, and contrasting stigma are the milestones to achieve HIV control [2-7].

At the community level, the lack of knowledge and the subsequent misconceptions about HIV not only foster stigma and discrimination but are also among the main barriers to primary and secondary HIV prevention. Low perceived risk of HIV and fear of HIV diagnosis are frequent reasons for late testing [8,9]. Other barriers can

prophylaxis and the decreased likelihood of sexually transmitting HIV due to early treatments. Students' vision of the quality of life of people living with HIV was negatively affected by perceiving as relevant the effects of HIV on physical health or on sexual/ affective domains, while conversely, it seemed positively affected by knowing that current treatments are useful for counteracting physical symptoms and decreasing the possibility of transmitting HIV.

Conclusion. Being aware of the potential benefits of current therapies could favour a less negative view, in line with the current state of the beneficial effects of HIV treatment. Universities are a valuable setting to bridge the HIV knowledge gap and thus also contribute to tackling stigma and actively promoting HIV testing.

be related to difficulties accessing health care services, specifically for migrants and black and minority ethnic populations and for those who are socioeconomically underprivileged. Language and religion, as well as taboos about discussing sexual behaviors and identities further highlight the cultural barriers, along with racism, discrimination, and isolation [10, 11]. Although knowledge is not the only factor that affects an individual's behaviour, it is certainly an important part of making conscious choices [12]. People should be able to identify potentially risky behaviours, and they should know all existing opportunities to manage the risk in those situations; they also should be aware of the benefits of early diagnosis which, in combination with current treatments, allows people living with HIV to have a good quality of life [12-15]. Some studies indicate that the 15-24 age group is the most at risk of contracting HIV and the least worried about incurring risky behaviour [16-19]. Monitoring young people's knowledge of transmission, prevention, early diagnosis, and available treatments is a key step toward HIV control [12, 14-24].

In the context of Italy, it is reasonable to assume that young people's knowledge about HIV is limited. In fact, ministerial teaching programs for secondary schools do not include sex education, and institutional communication on this topic is occasional and mainly

focused on condom use. This study aims to identify unmet needs on HIV knowledge among Italian students aged between 18 and 24 years, a crucial target for HIV control. In Italy, the incidence of new diagnoses of HIV infection, had increased until the second half of the 1980s, gradually declined in the 1990s, stabilised from 2000 to 2010, and since 2010 it has shown a decreasing trend again. Currently, Italy has an incidence of newly diagnosed with HIV of 4.2 per 100,000 residents, ranking among the nations that are slightly below the average value of European Union countries, which is equal to 4.7 cases per 100,000 residents. In 2019 the highest incidence of HIV was observed among people aged 25-29 (10.4 new cases per 100,000 residents) and 30-39 (9.8 new cases per 100,000 residents). However, the analysis of time trends suggests that the 15-24 age group should be given careful consideration. In fact, temporal trend data disaggregated by age group highlight that the incidence decrease is clear in the age groups above 25, while in the 15-24 age group, substantial stability was observed from 2012 to 2017. Additionally, Italian data show that in 2019, 58.7% of people newly diagnosed with HIV were diagnosed late (CD4 < 350 cells/µL) [25]. In line with these observations, the present study aims to achieve the following objectives:

- assessing knowledge of HIV transmission, prevention and testing;
- assessing the perceived benefits of early diagnosis and current treatments;
- exploring students' conception of HIV, perceived quality of life of early diagnosed people, and beliefs about the consequences of HIV in daily life;
- exploring the association between the envisioned quality of life of early diagnosed people and knowledge/misconceptions of HIV.

Methods

This study was carried out in 2019 at the University of Cagliari, which is an Italian public state university with six faculties: medicine, biology, science, engineering, economics and law, and humanistic/humanities. The study was carried out through the administration of a questionnaire to freshman students in the 18-24 age group of the different faculties; it involved 18-24-yearold freshman students to ensure that their knowledge and perceptions of HIV were not influenced by the subjects studied during the university classes or affected by other experiences. The investigation was authorised by the Vice Rector for Training Programs and by the deans of the six faculties of the university. The University Ethics Committee assessed the questionnaire and concluded that formal approval was not necessary because only non-sensitive data were collected.

Data were collected by means of an anonymous questionnaire administered by the researchers in the classrooms at the beginning of the lectures, through a previous agreement with tutors and lecturers. To guarantee students total anonymity, tutors and lecturers

were not involved in the questionnaire administration or subsequent collection. Before administering the questionnaires, the researchers specified that the survey would focus on HIV knowledge and perceptions, no identifying data would be collected, the results of the survey would be published only in aggregate form, and participation in the survey was voluntary (those who did not wish to participate could return the questionnaire not completed). To minimise the risk of potential bias, students were not notified in advance of the study.

.....

prevention. Knowledge of transmission. and consequences of being diagnosed with HIV, the perception of implications of early diagnosis and current therapies, and the envisioned quality of life of a person with an early HIV diagnosis were explored through an ad hoc questionnaire. The questionnaire, available on request, included questions on the main sociodemographic data (age, gender, attending biological/medical courses vs other courses), one open-ended question asking respondents to write the first word that comes to mind when they hear the term HIV, and subsequently, several closed questions on the following topics:

- knowledge of the main biological outcome of HIV: sporadic immune deficiency crises (yes or no), high fever (yes or no), infertility (yes or no), chronic loss of immune defences (yes or no);
- knowledge of infection transmission routes: handshake (yes or no), sweat (yes or no), shared use of needles for injections, piercings or tattoos (yes or no), breastfeeding (yes or no), semen (yes or no), saliva (yes or no), vaginal secretions (yes or no), tears (yes or no), coughing (yes or no), blood (yes or no);
- knowledge of protection from HIV: condom (yes or no), birth control pills (yes or no), oral sex (yes or no), pre-exposure prophylaxis (yes or no);
- knowledge of the minimum time required for diagnostic testing after possible/suspected exposure to HIV: 16 days (*yes or no*), 30 days (*yes or no*), 90 days (*yes or no*);
- knowledge of services to carry out the test in the shortest possible time: general practitioner (yes or no), emergency department (yes or no), diagnosis centre without a general practitioner's prescription (yes or no), pharmacy (yes or no);
- perceived consequences of early HIV diagnosis: improving the effectiveness of therapy (yes or no), worsening quality of life because it provides awareness of the disease before the symptoms (yes or no);
- perception of potential benefits of current HIV therapies: counteracting symptoms (yes or no), decrease in the likelihood of sexually transmitting HIV (yes or no), increase in life expectancy (yes or no), possibility of undergoing post-exposure prophylaxis (yes or no);
- envisioned quality of life of a person with HIV diagnosed at an early stage: worse than people without HIV (from here defined as poor) or comparable to that of people without HIV (from here defined as good) (*only one answer*);

• perceived HIV impact on different domains of the life of a person living with HIV: effects of the disease on physical health (*very relevant, quite, a little, not at all*), effects on the sexual/affective domain (*very relevant, quite, a little, not at all*), effects on the emotional/psychological domain (*very relevant, quite, a little, not at all*), social stigma (*very relevant, quite, a little, not at all*), discrimination in the workplace (*very relevant, quite, a little, not at all*).

Data were analysed using descriptive analysis and are expressed as relative frequencies with 95% confidence intervals. Gender differences, as well as differences between students attending biological/medical courses and those attending other courses, were assessed through chi square tests. A multivariate logistic regression analysis was performed to explore factors that affect the students' envisioned quality of life of people with an early diagnosis of HIV. An envisioned good quality of life vs a poor one was the dependent variable. The following factors were included as independent variables: gender, being aware that current therapies counteract symptoms (yes vs no), being aware that current therapies decrease the possibility of transmission (yes vs no), being aware that current therapies increase life expectancy (yes vs no), being aware that early diagnosis improves the effectiveness of therapy (ves or no), thinking that early diagnosis worsens quality of life due to awareness of the disease before the symptoms (yes or no), perceiving very relevant effects of HIV on physical health (very relevant vs quite/a little/not at all), perceiving very relevant effects of HIV on the sexual/affective domain (very relevant vs quite/a little/not at all), perceiving very relevant effects of HIV on the emotional/psychological domain (very relevant vs quite/a little/not at all), perceiving it as a very relevant social stigma (very relevant vs quite/a little/not at all), perceiving it as very relevant to discrimination in the workplace (very relevant vs quite/a little/not at all). Non-significant associated variables (p value ≥ 0.05) were consecutively deleted from the logistic model, and at each round the goodness of fit of the model was assessed through the likelihood statistic. The final regression model includes only significantly associated variables.

Results

A total of 871 questionnaires were administered, but 10 were excluded from the analysis because they were not completed, and additional 60 were excluded because the respondents' age was greater than 24 years old. The final sample included 801 university freshmen aged between 18 and 24; 48.3% (95% CI 44.9-51.8%) were attending the first year of a biological/medical course. Regarding gender, 57.6% of the respondents defined themselves as women, 41.9% defined themselves as men, and 0.5% indicated "undefined gender".

Regarding knowledge about the main biological outcome of HIV, respondents had to give a yes/no answer for each of four listed possibilities. The results revealed students' uncertainty on this item: the chronic loss of immune defences was indicated by 85.4% (95% CI 82.9-87.8%) of interviewees, the sporadic immune deficiency crises by 68.3% (95% CI 65.1-71.5%), the high fever by 53.8% (95% CI 50.4-57.3%), and infertility by 10.9% (95% CI 8.7-13.0%). Only 7.0% of respondents properly (95% CI 5.2-8.8%) indicated yes for "chronic loss of immune defences" and no for the other listed possibilities.

Knowledge of the transmission routes of HIV is illustrated in Table I.

Most students recognised the role that blood (96.1%), shared use of needles (94.4%), semen (91,4%), and vaginal secretions (85,0%) can play in the transmission of infection. Conversely, the possibility of virus transmission through breastfeeding, indicated by 30.6% of respondents, appears considerably less well known. Regarding the ways in which HIV cannot be transmitted, most students were aware that transmission cannot occur through handshake (95.0%), tears (92.1%), sweat (84.3%), and cough (82.6%), but only 64.2% know that saliva cannot transmit the virus. Overall, 14.0% of respondents (95% CI 11.6-16.4%) correctly identified all the ways in which the virus can be transmitted and all the ways in which it cannot be transmitted.

Concerning the knowledge on tools and strategies to prevent HIV, almost all interviewees identified condoms (98.5% CI 97.7-99.3%); pre-exposure prophylaxis was indicated by only 20.8% (CI 18.0-23.7%) of respondents. The awareness that the contraceptive pill does not protect

Item: transmission of HIV		Relative frequencies of correct answers %	95% Confidence Interval
	Blood	96.1	94.8-97.5
	Shared use of needles (piercings)	94.4	92.8-96.0
can be transmitted	Semen	91.4	89.4-93.3
	Vaginal Secretions	85.0	82.5-87.5
	Breast milk	30.6	27.4-33.8
	Handshake	95.0	93.5-96.5
	Tears	92.1	90.3-94.0
cannot be transmitted	Sweat	84.3	81.7-86.8
	Cough	82.6	80.0-85.3
	Saliva	64.2	60.8-67.5

Tab. I. Knowledges on the transmission routes of HIV.

Item: test for HIV		Relative frequencies of answers %	95% Confidence Interval
How long a person should wait to	16 days	14.2	11.8-16.7
get tested for HIV after suspected exposure	30 days	28.8	25.7-32.0
	90 days	27.5	24.4-30.6
	NHS Diagnostic Centre	56.8	53.4-60.2
Where a person should go to get	General Practitioner	67.8	64.6-71.0
tested for HIV	Emergency Department	48.7	45.2-52.2
	Pharmacy	18.5	15.8-21.2

Tab. II. Knowledge on diagnostic tests for HIV.

against HIV is widespread (90.6% CI 88.6%-92.7%), while understanding that limiting oneself to oral sex does not avoid the risk of HIV infection seems to be slightly less prevalent (70.8% CI 67.6-73.9%). Only 14.0% of the respondents (CI 11.0-16.1%) showed comprehensive knowledge of both the ways to avoid infection and the ways that do not protect against the risk of HIV.

The results of students' knowledge on diagnostic tests are shown in Table II.

Only 14.2% of students believed that it is possible to get tested from 16 days after a potential risky exposure; the possibility to be tested from 30 and 90 days after the risk exposure was known by 28.8% and 27.5% of the students, respectively. Overall, 5.7% of students (CI 4.1-7.4%) correctly indicated all three time intervals.

Regarding HIV testing services to go to in case of need for testing at the earliest possible time, 56.8% of students were aware of the possibility of going to National Health System diagnostic centres without a GP's prescription. General practitioners in Italy do not routinely provide this service, but the possibility was indicated by 67.8% of students; the emergency department was indicated by 48.7% and pharmacies by 18.5%.

Concerning the knowledge/perception of the implications of early HIV diagnosis, the idea that early diagnosis improves the effectiveness of therapy was shared by 78.8% (CI 75.9-81.6%) of students, while the idea that it worsens the quality of life because it provides awareness of the disease before the symptoms was shared by 15.0% (CI 12.5-17.5%).

The analysis of answers given to the question on the knowledge/perception of HIV treatments highlights that 84.4% (CI 81.9-86.9%) of students thought that the current therapies increase life expectancy; 65.3% (CI 62.0-68.6%) knew that treatments are useful for counteracting symptoms, and 53.4% (CI 50.0-56.9%) that treatments decreased the possibility of sexually transmitting HIV. The existence of post-exposure prophylaxis was known by 67.4% (CI 64.2-70.7%).

To explore freshmen's conception of HIV, the questionnaire included an open-ended question asking for the first word/thought that comes to mind when they hear the term HIV.

The transmission of the virus through sexual intercourse or by blood, was the first thought that 43.3% (CI 37.4-45.6%) of respondents associated with the term HIV. A further 32.2% (CI 27.0-34.7%) of interviewees thought at first glance about the consequences of the

transmission; among these, approximately one-fifth referred to a general immune system deficit, while the remaining identified HIV with AIDS or wrote words such as "*incurable disease*", "*fear*", "*suffering*" or "*death*". Only 15.0% (CI 11.4-17.3%) of the students when faced with the term HIV thought about the possibilities of prevention; most of these answers referred exclusively to primary prevention and mentioned condoms, but some were related to secondary/tertiary prevention mentioning "current therapies that prevent HIV from becoming AIDS". In 5.5% (CI 3.4-7.1%) of the responses, the term HIV was associated with famous people who have died of AIDS or with men who have sex with men (quoted as "homosexuals"), sex workers (quoted as "prostitutes"), and people with substance use disorders (quoted as "junkies"). Finally, 1.6% (CI 0.5-2.6%) of the interviewees thought about the misinformation existing on the subject, a further 1.8% (CI 0.7-2.9%) thought about the existing prejudices, and 0.5% (0-1.1%) thought about decreasing the spread of the infection.

The quality of life of a person with early diagnosed HIV was envisioned as potentially good by 57.3% of interviewees (CI 53.9-60.7%).

The perceived impact of HIV on different life domains of people living with HIV are shown in Table III.

A large proportion of students stated that the effects on the affective/sexual domain (83.8%) and on the psychological/emotional domain (79.8%) were very relevant. The rate of students who considered it very relevant to the effects on physical health was 65.7%; social stigma was perceived as a very relevant effect by 47.8%, while discrimination in the workplace was perceived as very relevant by 31.3% of students.

Overall, the knowledge/perception of the explored items showed a substantial overlap between men and women, and between students attending biological/medical courses and students of other courses. The only relevant differences relate to the following: the existence of preexposure prophylaxis, which was more known by men (21.6% vs 15.0%, p value 0.02); the impossibility of HIV transmission through sweat, which was more known by women (92.4% vs 86.6% p value 0.01); the possibility of going to the National Health System diagnostic centres without a GP's prescription to be tested for HIV, which was more known by women (66.1% vs 55.5% p value < 0.01) and the existence of post-exposure prophylaxis, which was more known by students attending biological/ medical courses (74.6% *vs* 60.6% p value < 0.01).

Domains	Prevalence of students who perceive a very relevant impact %	95% Confidence Interval
Sexual/affective domain	83.8	81.2-86.3
Emotional/psychological domain	79.8	77.0-82.6
Physical health	65.7	62.4-69.0
Social stigma	47.8	44.4-51.3
Employment discrimination	31.3	28.1-34.5

Tab. III. Prevalence of students who perceive the impact of HIV in different life domains of people living with HIV as very relevant.

With regard to the association between the envisioned quality of life of early-diagnosed people and the knowledge/perception of HIV topics, the multivariable logistic regression analysis revealed that some of the explored independent variables were not significantly associated. More specifically, perceiving as very relevant the effects of HIV on the emotional/psychological domain, the social stigma, and the discrimination in the workplace were not significantly associated with students' envisioned quality of life of people with an early diagnosis of HIV. Additionally, these variables do not show confounding effects; therefore, they were deleted from the model. The final logistic model, highlighting factors significantly affecting the students' perspectives is shown in Table IV. The probability of envisioning a good quality of life 1.45-fold higher in women than in men. It was 1.75-fold higher in students who knew that current treatments are useful for counteracting symptoms than in students who did not know this; it was 1.96-fold higher in students who knew that current treatments decrease the possibility of transmitting HIV than in student who did not know it. Conversely, the probability of envisioning a good quality of life was approximately halved in students thinking that early diagnosis worsens the quality of life because it gives awareness of the disease before the symptoms (OR 0.48), and in students perceiving a relevant effect of HIV on physical health (OR 0.61) or on the sexual/affective domain (OR 0.55).

Discussion

Increasing knowledge about HIV protection, testing, and treatments is one of the strategies to support HIV control.

This study provides a snapshot of young students' knowledge and perception of HIV, providing insights to strengthen prevention efforts. The results highlight several topics that deserve to be better understood by young people.

Overall, awareness of the potential consequences of HIV appears to be limited; more than half of the students indicated both chronic and sporadic loss of immune defences as consequences of the infection, showing that they have confused ideas on this aspect. Regarding primary prevention of HIV, our results show that knowledge of the main transmission routes was widely spread among students. The only exception was breastfeeding, which was recognised as a potential virus vector by only one third of the sample, in line with the findings of other studies [15, 16, 23]. This lack of knowledge may be affected by the young age of the respondents, for most of whom breastfeeding is not an issue in their daily lives. In turn, almost all students appeared to be aware of the possibility of transmission through semen, vaginal secretions, and sharing needles. However, the answers given by respondents on HIV protection suggest some shortcomings. All respondents knew that condoms protect against the virus, but approximately 1/3 of them believed that the virus cannot be transmitted during oral sex, a misconception found in other studies focused on students [21-24]. These results are consistent with the institutional information disseminated in Italy in the period preceding our survey [26-29]. Between 2017 and 2019, the campaign "With HIV you cannot joke, protect yourself and others" was implemented with the main focus on condom use; it was directed at a young target population and used an ironic style, but did not clarify that condoms use is appropriate in any type of

.....

Tab. IV. Factors affecting the probability of envisioning a good quality of life for people with early diagnosis of HIV.

Factors	Odds Ratio	95% Confidence Interval	p value		
Cender		1	-	0.07	
	Women	1.45	1.04-2.00	0.05	
Knowing that current treatments are useful for counteracting symptoms	No	1	-	0.003	
	Yes	1.72	1.21-2.47		
		1	-	. 0. 0004	
	Yes	1.96	1.41-2.72	< 0.0001	
Thinking that early diagnosis worsens the quality of life due to awareness of	No	1	-	0.004	
the disease before the symptoms		0.48	0.31-0.74	0.001	
Perceiving as very relevant the effects of HIV on physical health		1		0.01	
		0.61	0.43-0.87	0.01	
Perceiving as very relevant the effects of HIV on the sexual/affective domain	No	1	-	0.02	

sexual intercourse, whether vaginal, anal, or oral. Future communication should focus on safer sex education and clarify any type of sexual practices and other concomitant factors that could increase the risks of transmission.

The lack of knowledge on the existence of pre-exposure prophylaxis was common in our sample; indeed, only 1/5 of students knew it. Sometimes people choose not to use condoms for various reasons, even though they know that condoms protect against HIV [30-31]. In these circumstances, if people are highly-exposed or generally at higher risk, pre-exposure prophylaxis could be the appropriate strategy to enhance protection, but it is necessary to raise awareness about it [14, 32, 33]. Lack of knowledge is among the barriers that need to be overcome to advocate the implementation of official prophylaxis policies and pre-exposure prophylaxis availability [12, 32-34]. Furthermore, it is important to advocate the availability of post-exposure prophylaxis and its use within the timeframe of 24-hours up to 72-hours following a risk of transmission, as this could prove to be fundamental in preventing the contraction of HIV [35]. Regarding HIV secondary prevention, although the results revealed that most students recognised the role of early diagnosis in improving the effectiveness of therapies, a remarkable lack of knowledge of when and where to get tested emerged. In Italy, the HIV test has rarely been the subject of institutional communication campaigns, and the last campaign, prior to this study, was conducted in 2010 [28, 29]. Obviously, the high percentages of wrong answers on the HIV testing do not necessarily indicate that people would not be able to find this information if they needed it. However, in a context such as Italy, where half of the population has an inadequate level of health literacy, namely, inability to navigate the health care system, this information should be disseminated in an active and approachable way [36]. Concerning the knowledge of benefits from early HIV treatments, the most noteworthy result in terms of unmet information needs was that only half of the students were aware of the decreased likelihood of sexually transmitting HIV. Although this information has spread over time, a knowledge gap still exists, especially at the general community level [37]. To counteract stigma and discrimination, the benefits of "Treatment as Prevention" should be fully recognised, not only by people living with HIV and their potential sexual partners, but also by the general population.

Students' overall views and perceptions of HIV confirmed the existence of misconceptions and a lack of knowledge. The word HIV recalls the possibility of prevention for only a minority of students. In approximately a quarter of the interviewees, the term HIV evokes mental associations that suggest the existence of stigma and stereotypes towards the infection or the affected people. It is noteworthy that the term HIV call forth words such as "homosexuals" or "prostitutes" in students' mind. This suggests that the narrative about HIV is still negative and that people living with HIV are still stigmatized. It seems that for some students, the risk of HIV transmission concerns specific groups of

people rather than behaviuor that anyone could engage in. Reducing stigma is crucial to making a difference in the HIV prevention.

.....

Almost half of the respondents believed that the quality of life of a person with an early HIV diagnosis is poor. Their vision of the quality of life of people living with HIV was negatively affected by perceiving as relevant the effects of HIV on physical health or on sexual/ affective domains, while conversely, it seemed positively affected by knowing that current treatments are useful for counteracting physical symptoms and decreasing the possibility of transmitting HIV. These findings, therefore, support the hypothesis that being aware of the potential benefits of current therapies could favour a less negative view, in line with the current state of the beneficial effects of HIV treatment. According to the current literature, fear of being diagnosed with HIV is one of the individual barriers to accessing testing; fear, in turn, is influenced by misconceptions that still exist about HIV [37-40].

However, currently, HIV is no longer synonymous with AIDS, and the quality of life in people diagnosed and treated in the early stages, can be comparable to that of the general population. Raising awareness of these topics could contribute to reduce fear and encourage HIV testing, with a positive impact on early diagnosis and, consequently, on the control of HIV [37-40].

The present study offers a detailed picture of unmet needs about HIV information among freshman students attending an Italian public state university. Some limits should be recognised. The study is monocentric, although the students attending the University of Cagliari come from different Italian regions, especially in courses with restricted access because access rankings are nationwide. Only university freshmen were eligible to participate in this study to avoid the risk of information bias due to the subjects studied in biological/medical courses. Referring the results to all university students and more generally to young people who have graduated from college should be done with caution because potential bias cannot be ruled out with certainty. However, the main findings are in line with other HIV knowledge studies, so it is reasonable to assume that the impact of this potential bias is limited.

Conclusion

Information obtained from first-year university students could be useful for implementing prevention interventions tailored to young people. Bridging the knowledge gap is a complex task that requires striking a balance between alerting people about HIV's seriousness and reassurance about the current outcomes of early diagnosis. These two approaches seem to be at odds with each other, but both play a crucial role in HIV control. Future communications in university settings should emphasise that people living with HIV can envision a better life expectancy as it is now a chronic and manageable condition, provided it is diagnosed early

E546

and treatment is started early [41-42]. At the same time, the communications should not diminish the seriousness of HIV, and should continue to promote primary prevention tools. Providing comprehensive knowledge on all these aspects means setting the conditions for empowerment and enabling individuals to make aware choices about the prevention strategy best suited to their needs [12]. Universities are a valuable setting to bridge the HIV knowledge gap and thus also contribute to tackling stigma and actively promoting HIV testing. Health topics, such HIV prevention and control, could be embedded into university culture, processes and policies, and the potential benefits would affect not only students but also the communities to which those students belong and on which they have an impact [43, 44].

Authors' contributions

Conceptualization: CS, MP, LC; study design: CS, PC; Literature search: AL; data collection and management: LF, data analysis: CS, AM; writing original draft: CS, AM. Review and editing: CS, AM, AL, LF, MP, LC, PC. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Conflict of interest statement

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

References

- World Health Organization The Global Health Observatory. Data on the size of the HIV/AIDS epidemic. Available at: https://www.who.int/data/gho/data/themes/topics/topic-details/ GHO/data-on-the-size-of-the-hiv-aids-epidemic?lang=en (Accessed on: 26/11/2021).
- [2] World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe. Action plan for the health sector response to HIV in the WHO European Region. Available at: https://apps.who.int/ iris/bitstream/handle/10665/329423/9789289052894-eng. pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y (Accessed on: 26/11/2021).
- [3] Italian Ministry of Health. Piano Nazionale di Interventi contro HIV e Aids (PNAIDS). Available at: http://www.salute.gov.it/ imgs/C_17_pubblicazioni_2655_allegato.pdf (Accessed on: 26/11/2021).
- [4] UNAIDS. UNAIDS calls for greater urgency as global gains slow and countries show mixed results towards 2020 HIV targets. Available at: https://www.unaids.org/en/resources/presscentre/pressreleaseandstatementarchive/2019/july/20190716_ PR_UNAIDS_global_report_20197 (Accessed on: 26/11/2021).
- [5]Chambers LA, Rueda S, Baker DN, Wilson MG, Deutsch R, Raeifar, Sean B. Rourke SB and The Stigma Review Team. Stigma, HIV and health: a qualitative synthesis. BMC Public Health 2015;3:15-848. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-015-2197-0
- [6] Reinius M, Wiklander M, Wettergren L, Svedhem V, Eriksson L. The relationship between stigma and health-related quality of life in people living with HIV who have full access to antiretroviral treatment: an assessment of earnshaw and chaudoir's HIV stigma framework using empirical data. AIDS Behav 2018;22:3795-806. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10461-018-2041-5
- [7] Yigit I, Modi RA, Sheri D Weiser SD, Johnson MO, Mugavero MJ, Turan JM, Turan B. Effects of an intervention on in-

ternalized HIV-related stigma for individuals newly entering HIV care. AIDS 2020;34:S73-S82. https://doi.org/10.1097/ QAD.000000000002566

- [8] Svahn LG, Eriksson LE, Wiklander M. Barriers to HIV testing as reported by individuals newly diagnosed with HIV infection in Sweden. AIDS Care 2021;33:1286-95. https://doi.org/10.108 0/09540121.2020.1844862
- [9] Bedert M, Davidovich U, de Bree G, van Bilsen W, van Sighem A, Zuilhof W, Brinkman K, van der Valk M, de Wit J. Understanding Reasons for HIV Late Diagnosis: A Qualitative Study Among HIV-Positive Individuals in Amsterdam, The Netherlands. AIDS Behav 2021;25:2898-906. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10461-021-03239-3
- [10] Alvarez-del Arco D, Monge S, Caro-Murillo AM, Ramïrez-Rubio O, Azcoaga-Lorenzo A, Belza MJ, Rivero-Montesdeoca Y, Noori T, Del Amo J. HIV testing policies for migrants and ethnic minorities in EU/EFTA Member States. Eur J Public Health 2014;24:139-144. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurpub/ckt108
- [11] Weston HJ. Public honour, private shame and HIV: issues affecting sexual health service delivery in London's South Asian communities. Health Place 2003;9:109-17. https://doi. org/10.1016/S1353-8292(03)00002-9
- [12] UNAIDS 2019. Power to the people. Available at: https://www. unaids.org/en/20191226_WAD2019_report_power_people (Accessed on: 26/11/2021).
- [13] Lundgren JD, Babiker AG, Gordin F, Emery S, Grund B, Sharma S, Avihingsanon A, Cooper DA, Fätkenheuer G, Llibre JM, Molina JM, Munderi P. Initiation of antiretroviral therapy in early asymptomatic HIV infection. N Engl J Med 2015;373:795-807. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1506816
- [14] Prati G, Zani B, Pietrantoni L, Scudiero D, Perone P, Cosmaro L, Cerioli A, Oldrini M. PEP and TasP awareness among italian MSM, PLWHA, and high-risk heterosexuals and demographic, behavioral, and social correlates. PLoS One 2016;11:e0157339. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0157339
- [15] Loconsole D, Metallo A, Bruno V, De Robertis AL, Morea A, Quarto M, Chironna M. HIV awareness: a kap study among students in Italy reveals that preventive campaigns still represent a public health priority. Ann Ig 2020;32:56-64. https://doi. org/10.7416/ai.2020.2330
- [16] Degroote S, Vogelaers D, Liefhooghe G, Vermeir P, Vandijck DM. Sexual experience and HIV-related knowledge among Belgian university students: a questionnaire study. BMC Research Notes 2014;299. https://doi.org/10.1186/1756-0500-7-299
- [17] Anwuri C, Dunn MS, Schulze F. Determinants of voluntary HIV/AIDS counseling and testing among community college students in the United States. Int J MCH AIDS 2017;6:109-20. https://doi.org/10.21106/ijma.212
- [18] Santangelo OE, Provenzano S, Firenze A. Knowledge of sexually transmitted infections and sex-at-risk among Italian students of health professions. Data from a one-month survey. Ann Ist Super Sanità 2018;54:40-8. https://doi.org/10.4415/ANN_18_01_09
- [19] Li XM, Lin CD, Gao ZX, Stanton B, Fang X, Yin Q, Wu Y. HIV/ AIDS knowledge and the implications for health promotion programs among Chinese college students: geographic, gender and age differences. Health Promot Int 2004;19:345-56. https:// doi.org/10.1093/heapro/dah308
- [20] Signorelli C, Pasquarella C, Limina RM, Colzani E, Fanti M, Cielo A, Greco M, De' Somenzi CP, Chironna M, Quarto M. Third Italian national survey on knowledge, attitudes, and sexual behaviour in relation to HIV/AIDS risk and the role of health education campaigns. Eur J Public Health 2006:16;498-504. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurpub/ckl024
- [21] Mazzitelli M, Caridà G, Scigliano C, Vallone MC, Pirrò F, Lombardo MR, Clemente G, Bernaudo F, Postorino MC, Strazzulla A, Maselli R, Torti C. Knowledge of HIV infection and transmission: a knowledge, attitudes, beliefs and practices (KABP) survey among a sample of students at the "Magna Graecia",

University of Catanzaro. Ann Ist Super Sanità 2016;52:530-5. https://doi.org/10.4415/ANN_16_04_12

- [22] Hughes AK, Admiraal KR. A Systematic Review of HIV/AIDS Knowledge Measures. Res Soc Work Pract 2012:22,313-22. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049731511426277
- [23] Baytner-Zamir R, Lorber M, Hermoni D. Assessment of the knowledge and attitudes regarding HIV/AIDS among preclinical medical students in Israel. BMC Res Notes 2014;168. https://doi.org/10.1186/1756-0500-7-168
- [24] Alawad M, Alturki A, Aldoghayyim A, Alrobaee A, Alsoghair M. Knowledge, Attitudes, and Beliefs about HIV/AIDS and People Living with HIV among Medical Students at Qassim University in Saudi Arabia. Int J Health Sci (Qassim) 2019;13:22-30. https://doi.org/10.1186/1756-0500-7-168
- [25] Regine V, Pugliese L, Boros S, Santaquilani M, Ferri M, Suligoi B. Aggiornamento delle nuove diagnosi di infezione da HIV e dei casi di AIDS in Italia al 31 dicembre 2019. Notiziario dell'Istituto Superiore di Sanità 2019;11:7-11.
- [26] Campagna di comunicazione "Con l'HIV non si scherza" #HI-Vriguardatutti. Available at: http://old.iss.it/binary/publ/cont/ AGGIORNAMENTO_HIV_2018.pdfhttp://www.salute.gov.it/ portale/hiv/dettaglioCampagneHIV.jsp?lingua=italiano&menu= campagne&p=dacampagne&id=138 (Accessed on: 26/11/2021).
- [27] Campagna di comunicazione "Con l'HIV non si scherza, proteggi te stesso e gli altri". Available at: http://www.salute.gov.it/ portale/hiv/dettaglioCampagneHIV.jsp?lingua=italiano&menu= campagne&p=dacampagne&id=117 (Accessed on: 26/11/2021).
- [28] Tosco E. "E liberaci dal male...": vent'anni di comunicazione sul tema dell'AIDS. Dors – Centro Regionale di Documentazione per la promozione della salute. Available at: https://www. dors.it/page.php?idarticolo=2738 (Accessed on: 26/11/2021).
- [29] Ministero della Salute. Campagne di Comunicazione HIV. Available at: http://www.quadernidellasalute.it/portale/news/ p3_2_6.jsp?lingua=italiano&menu=campagne&area=aids&btn Cerca= (Accessed on: 26/11/2021).
- [30] Farrington EM, Bell D, Aron E. DiBacco AE. Reasons people give for using (or not using) condoms. AIDS Behav 2016;20:2850-62. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10461-016-1352-7
- [31] Mannheimer S, Wang L, Wilton L, H.V. Tieu HV, Del Rio C, Buchbinder S, Fields S, Glick S, Connor MB, Cummings V, Eshleman SH, Koblin B, Mayer KH. Infrequent HIV Testing and late HIV diagnosis are common among a cohort of Black Men Who Have Sex with Men (BMSM) in six US cities. Acquir Immune Defic Syndr 2014;67:438-45. https://doi.org/10.1097/ QAI.00000000000334
- [32] Detels R, Wu J, Zunyou W. Control of HIV/AIDS can be achieved with multi-strategies. J Glob Health 2019;3;29-32. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.glohj.2019.06.001
- [33] Pinto RM, Berringer KR, Melendez R, Mmeje O. Improving PrEP implementation through multilevel interventions: a syn-

thesis of the literature. AIDS Behav 2018;22:3681-91. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s10461-018-2184-4

[34] Palummieri A, De Carli G, Rosenthal E, Cacoub P, Mussini C, Puro V. Awareness, discussion and non-prescribed use of HIV pre-exposure prophylaxis among persons living with HIV/AIDS in Italy: A Nationwide, cross-sectional study among patients on antiretrovirals and their treating HIV physicians. BMC Infect Dis 2017;17;734. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12879-017-2819-5

.....

- [35] British Association of Sexual Health and HIV. UK Guideline for the use of HIV Post-Exposure Prophylaxis Following Sexual Exposure (PEPSE). Available at: https://www.bhiva.org/file/6074032ee885c/ PEPSE-guidelines-2015.pdf (Accessed on: 26/11/2021).
- [36] Palumbo R, Annarumma C, Adinolfi P, Musella M, Piscopo G. The italian health literacy project: insights from the assessment of health literacy skills in italy. Health Policy 2016;120:1087-94. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healthpol.2016.08.007
- [37] Bor J, Fischer C, Modi M, Richman B, Kinker C, King R, Calabrese SK, Mokhele I, Sineke T, Zuma T, Rosen S, Bärnighausen T. Changing Knowledge and Attitudes Towards HIV Treatment-as-Prevention and "Undetectable=Untransmittable": A Systematic Review. AIDS Behav 2021;25:4209-24. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s10461-021-03296-8
- [38] Deblonde J, De Koker P, Hamers F, Fontaine J, Luchters S, Temmerman M. Barriers to HIV testing in Europe: a systematic review. Eur J Public Health 2010:20;422-32. https://doi. org/10.1093/eurpub/ckp231
- [39] Tan K, Perry Black B. A systematic review of healthcare provider perceived barriers and facilitators to routine HIV testing in primary care settings in the Southeastern United States. J Assoc Nurses AIDS Care 2018;29:357-70. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jana.2017.12.006
- [40] White BL, Walsh J, Rayasam S, Pathman DE, Adimora AA, Golin CE. What makes me screen for HIV? Perceived barriers and facilitators to conducting recommended routine HIV testing among primary care physicians in the southeastern United States. J Int Assoc Provid AIDS Care 2015;14:127-35. https:// doi.org/10.1177/2325957414524025
- [41] Wandeler G, Johnson LF, Egger M. Trends in life expectancy of HIVpositive adults on antiretroviral therapy across the globe: comparisons with general population. Curr Opin HIV AIDS 2016;11:492-500. https://doi.org/10.1097/COH.00000000000298
- [42] British HIV Association. Standards of Care for People Living with HIV. Available at: https://www.bhiva.org/file/WSheCFExXG-BRK/BHIVAStandardsA4.pdf (Accessed on: 26/11/2021).
- [43] Suárez-Reyes M, Muñoz Serrano M, Van den Broucke S. How do universities implement the Health Promoting University concept? Health Promotion International 2019;34:1014-24. https:// doi.org/10.1093/heapro/day055
- [44] Dooris M, Powell S, Farrier A. Conceptualizing the 'whole university' approach: an international qualitative study. Health Promot International 2020;35:730-40. https://doi.org/10.1093/ heapro/daz072

Received on March 30, 2022. Accepted on November 9, 2022.

Correspondence: Claudia Sardu, Department of Medical Science and Public Health, University of Cagliari, Italy. Tel.: +390706753106 - E-mail: csardu@unica.it

How to cite this article: Mereu A, Liori A, Fadda L, Puddu M, Chessa L, Contu P, Sardu C. What do young people know about HIV? Results of a cross sectional study on 18-24-year-old students. J Prev Med Hyg 2022;63:E541-E548. https://doi.org/10.15167/2421-4248/jpmh2022.63.4.2555

© Copyright by Pacini Editore Srl, Pisa, Italy

This is an open access article distributed in accordance with the CC-BY-NC-ND (Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International) license. The article can be used by giving appropriate credit and mentioning the license, but only for non-commercial purposes and only in the original version. For further information: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/deed.en

..... E548

OPEN ACCESS

HEALTH PROMOTION

Effect of sexual enrichment program on the sexual satisfaction of pregnant women in Iran: A randomized clinical trial

FATEMEH BARVANLOO-GOLMOHAMADI¹, ZAHRA MOTAGHI², AFSANEH KERAMAT², ALI MOHAMMAD NAZARI², FATEMEH HADIZADEH- TALASAZ³

¹ Student Research Committee, School of Nursing and Midwifery, Shahroud University of Medical Sciences, Shahroud, Iran;
² Department of Reproductive Health, School of Nursing and Midwifery, Shahroud University of Medical Sciences, Shahroud, Iran;
³ Department of Midwifery, School of Nursing and Midwifery, Mashhad University of Medical Sciences, Mashhad, Iran

Keywords

Training program • Sexual satisfaction • Pregnant women • Clinical trial • Iran

Summary

Background. To improve the sexual satisfaction of pregnant women, there needs to be a culturally appropriate sex education program. This study aimed at determining the effectiveness of a sexual enrichment program on the sexual satisfaction of pregnant women.

Methods. This single-blind randomized clinical trial was conducted on 61 pregnant women aged 18 to 35 years old with lowrisk pregnancies and gestational ages of 14 to 32 weeks, who had referred to three healthcare centers in Mashhad. The participants were randomly assigned to two groups of control (n = 31) and intervention (n = 30) based on a table of blocks of four. The intervention group, in addition to receiving routine pregnancy training, participated in six one-hour sessions of a sexual enrichment program held on a weekly basis, while the control group received only the routine pregnancy healthcare. Larson's sexual satisfac-

Introduction

Sexual satisfaction is considered an important component of sexual health, a sexual right and an outcome of sexual well-being [1]. Sexual dissatisfaction of the couples accounts for 80% of marital conflicts and disagreements, and it causes many psychological disturbances and an increased number of infidelity [2].

Women's sex life is affected by pregnancy. Due to multiple physical and psychological changes which occur during pregnancy, there might also be fluctuations in sexual relations of the couple, including feelings, sexual desire, the frequency of intercourse and sexual satisfaction [3, 4]. The prevalence of sexual problems in non-pregnant women is between 30% and 46%, but during pregnancy, it reaches 57-75% [5-8]. The prevalence of sexual dysfunctions in the first trimester of pregnancy is 46.6%, in the second trimester it is 34.4%, and in the third trimester, it reaches 73.3% [5, 9]. Various reports also indicate a gradual decline in sexual desire and satisfaction throughout pregnancy [10, 11]. According to a study by Lee and colleagues (2002) in Taiwan, the frequency of intercourse decreases from the first to the third trimester [12].

tion questionnaire was used to assess the sexual satisfaction of pregnant women prior to the study and two weeks after the intervention. Comparison of mean scores between and within the two groups was performed using SPSS software (version 21) using independent and paired t-tests.

Results. After the intervention, there was a significant difference between the mean sexual satisfaction scores of the two groups (p = 0.02). Comparison of the differences between the mean sexual satisfaction scores of the intervention group before and after the intervention indicated a significant change (p = 0.009), while in case of the control group this change was not significant (p = 0.46).

Conclusion. A sexual enrichment program can be effective in improving the sexual satisfaction of pregnant mothers.

Although there are no specific reasons for limiting sexual activity in pregnancy, and the use of safe, hygienic and non-violent methods is innocuous [3], sexual issues are often overlooked during pregnancy, and couple's information is often based on superstition and false beliefs [13, 14]. In some cases, the misconceptions and inadequate information of couples about sexual relationships during pregnancy and the negative attitudes toward these issues lead to the decrease or cessation of sexual relationships, which in turn results in a reduced emotional and affectionate relationships on the part of the husband and it also causes anxiety and lower selfconfidence for the mother [15]. Research shows that women due to some reasons such as fear of injury to the fetus, abortion, premature rupture of the amniotic sac, preterm delivery, infection, painfulness of the intercourse, and discomfort due to large abdomen avoid sexual relationships during this period [16-18]. This will cause confusion and disagreement among the couples [19] exactly at a time when they need to be closer to each other more than any other time. Since women refrain from sexual relationship during this time, violence in couples' relationships often begins or worsens during pregnancy [15] and men experience the first sexual

relationship outside the family during the pregnancy of their wives [15, 20].

Though pregnancy can be the beginning of marital conflicts and sexual discontent, it is also a good time to create a strong sense of intimacy and mutual commitment [11, 10]. According to Lee (2002), sexual activity during pregnancy improves self-identity, empowers sexual relations, strengthens marital bonds, and reinforces the value of sexuality [12]. Since during pregnancy women have more emotional needs, their sexual orientation declines, which in many cases is rooted in their misconceptions and their beliefs, proper education and counseling can be helpful to lower the problems [21]. Through sexual counseling, people acquire the necessary information and knowledge about sexuality and form their attitudes, beliefs, and values [19]. Research has already confirmed the effect of educational interventions on the sexual performance of couples. In a study by Heidari and colleagues, it was found that the educational program had an impact on sexual performance and satisfaction of pregnant women, and therefore, the researchers concluded the effectiveness of sex education for pregnancy [5].

The sexual enrichment program is one of the educational and counseling programs on women's sexual satisfaction. Sexual enrichment enhances couples' current sexual relationship, and leaves no need for relationships outside of the family, and provides the couples with complete spiritual relief. In this counseling method, the couple are advised to have realistic and positive expectations. These expectations help to increase sexual satisfaction and intimacy, and intimacy in turn for each side creates a sense of the importance of the other side [22].

Despite the importance of sexual relations in pregnancy, and the emphasis of the previous studies that sexual issues should be an important part of prenatal care [23], not only such information on how couples should manage sexual life and meet sexual needs in pregnancy is not provided to couples [5, 24-29], but also during pregnancy, the couples are not provided with information and education on sexual health [5, 30, 31]. Therefore, a culturally appropriate sexual education program is required to improve the sexual satisfaction of pregnant women. Since the framework of sexual enrichment program is easy to implement, and since no study exists on this issue, it seems necessary to conduct the current study. This study aimed at determining the effectiveness of the sexual enrichment program on the sexual satisfaction of pregnant women.

Methods

STUDY DESIGN

This study was a single-blind randomized clinical trial with two groups. It was registered in the Iranian Registry of Clinical Trials (registration code: IRCT2016022526757N1) and is reported based on the CONSORT statement 2010 checklist.

PARTICIPANTS

This randomized clinical trial with two parallel groups (intervention and control groups) was conducted from August 2016 to February 2017 in Mashhad, Iran, on 61 pregnant women. Participants were 18 to 35-year-old women with gestational ages of 14 to 32 weeks who also had other characteristics including being healthy and at low-risk pregnancies; having singleton pregnancies; without embryonic anomalies; having no sexual problems before the pregnancy; having no medical and obstetric problems (including diabetes, hypertension, heart disease, history of drug use, placenta previa, cerclage); having no history of primary and secondary infertility; having no midwifery problems in previous pregnancies (including abortion, stillbirth, preterm labor, fetal anomalies) and having no psychological problems either themselves or their husbands. The participants and their husbands were required not to have a history of alcohol and drug abuse, and they were required to have at least elementary school education. Having no history of previous marriage or a lawsuit and a divorce request were the other inclusion criteria. Exclusion criteria also included the occurrence of medical and obstetric problems during the study, and failure to attend all educational sessions or failure to complete the questionnaires.

Based on Fatehizadeh's study [32] and taking into account the mean difference formula, a confidence interval of 95% ($\alpha = 0.05$), and a test power of 90% ($\beta = 0/10$), the minimum sample size was estimated to be 30 in each group, and with the inclusion of 10% of sample dropout, a total of 65 people were selected to take part in the study.

To select the participants, among the five health centers of Mashhad city (from number 1 to 5), three health centers (health center number 1, 2 and 5) were selected through cluster sampling. Then, a comprehensive health service center was selected from each of the centers through cluster sampling (Bahar, Shahid Fatiq and 17 Shahrivar). Subsequently, using the registry book of pregnant women, eligible women (71 women) were listed. Of these, 65 consented to participate in the study.

Randomized blocks size of 4, was used to randomly assign samples to each of the intervention and control groups. In this way, first six possible states of the blocks were listed (AABB, ABAB,ABBA, BBAA, BABA, BAAB). Then, each block was assigned a number from 1 to 6. One number (between 1 and 6) was randomly selected and individuals were assigned to the (A) and (B) based on the respective block, and this continued until the sample size was completed.

33 people were assigned to the intervention group and 32 people were assigned to the control group. Of these, 3 people in the intervention group (1 due to prenatal problems and 2 because of unwillingness to attend the counseling sessions for personal reasons) and 1 in the control group (due to failure to complete post-test questionnaires) were excluded from the study (Fig. 1).



PROCEDURES AND MEASUREMENTS

After extracting the names of qualified pregnant women from health records, they were contacted by telephone and the willing ones were invited to participate in the study. After obtaining written consent from the participants, all members of both groups completed the Larsson Sexual Satisfaction Questionnaire. Then, the intervention group, in addition to routine healthcare, received sexual counseling sessions. Considering the appropriate number of people for group counseling and also based on the suggested time and the possibility of participants attending the counseling sessions, the intervention group was divided into 3 group counseling groups (8, 10, and 12 people).

Sexual enrichment counseling and education classes were held in form of six weekly one-hour sessions for each group in the healthcare center. The training was conducted by one of the researchers (a graduate student), who is a midwife trained in sexual counseling. Meetings included group discussions, question and answer, slideshow, assignment setting and checking the previous session's tasks. Educational content was developed based on existing books [33], then using the judgment of specialists in sexology (as well as taking into account the educational needs of pregnant women and the Iranian culture), the content was modified. The control group received only routine pregnancy care. Two weeks after the intervention, the two groups completed Larson's Sexual Satisfaction Questionnaire again.

To maintain blindness in studying the outcome (sexual satisfaction), after determining which group the pregnant mother was assigned to, a code was assigned to her and based on that, a guide card with a code was given to her. Two weeks after the sixth session, each mother received the Larsson Sexual Satisfaction Questionnaire based on the code and the card she had, while the researcher was

not aware to which group the participant belonged. The content of the sessions of the enrichment program is presented in Table I.

The Larsson Sexual Satisfaction Questionnaire was designed and developed by Hudson in 1981 [34]. This Questionnaire has 25 items on a five-point Likert scale which ranges from 1 (Never) to 5 (Always) [35]. All items except items 1, 2, 3, 10, 12, 13, 16, 17, 19, 21, 22 and 23 are scored in reverse. The minimum score on this scale is 25, and the maximum score is 125. A score of 25-50 indicates sexual dissatisfaction, a score of 51-75 indicates low sexual satisfaction, a score of 101-125 is interpreted as high sexual satisfaction. The questionnaire was completed before the intervention and then two weeks after the sixth session by both groups. The reliability of the questionnaire in Larson's study was confirmed with Cronbach's alpha of 0.91 [35]. Bahrami and colleagues (2016) examined the face and content

and colleagues (2016) examined the face and content validity of the questionnaire and reported a Cronbach's alpha reliability of 0.93 [36].

DATA ANALYSIS

Data were analyzed using SPSS software (Version 21). The assumption of the normality of the data distribution was checked through Kolmogorov-Smirnov test and paired t-test and independent t-test were used as the appropriate tests to compare the quantitative variables in two groups and the chi-square test was used for comparing the qualitative variables in two groups. A p-value less than 0.05 (P < 0.05) was considered statistically significant.

Results

The average age of the participants in the intervention and control groups was 27.69 ± 5.33 and 30.29 ± 5.32

Tab. I. How to implement the sexual enrichment program.

- 1. Welcoming and establishing rapport with the participants, introducing session norms, number of meetings and instructing how to complete the questionnaires
- 2. Giving the pretest
- 3. Explaining the sexual enrichment program and its purpose
- 4. Explaining the importance of the sexual relationship in pregnancy and its impact on the husband's sense of security and support

Second Session

- 1. Introducing false beliefs and inhibitors of sexual relationships in pregnancy
- 2. Familiarity with sexual and reproductive system changes during pregnancy
- 3. The appropriate method of intercourse in pregnancy and cases of its prohibition
- 4. Teaching the first type of touching (affectionate) and assignment setting

Third Session

- 1. Reviewing the previous meeting and checking assignments and talking about the experience of relaying the contents to the spouse
- 2. Teaching the second type of touching (sensual) and assignment setting

Fourth Session

- 1. Reviewing the previous meeting and checking assignment and talking about the experience of relaying the contents to the spouse
- 2. Teaching the third type of touching (playful) and assignment setting

Fifth Session

- 1. Reviewing the previous meeting and checking the assignment and talking about the experience of relaying the contents to the spouse
- 2. Teaching the fourth type of touching (erotic) and assignment setting

Sixth session

- 1. Reviewing the previous meeting and checking assignment and talking about the experience of relaying the contents to the spouse
- 2. Teaching the fifth type of touching (intercourse) and emphasis on the practice of learned touches.
- 3. Instructing how to generalize the training into everyday life
- 4. Emphasizing the repetition of skills for their stabilization

years, respectively. In terms of education level, 53.4% and 54.8% of the participants in the intervention and control groups had below high school diploma education, respectively. In terms of employment status, the majority of participants in the intervention (66.7%) and control (77.4%) groups were housewives.

There was no significant difference between the two groups in terms of the main characteristics such as occupation, education, kinship with husband, age difference with husband, husband's occupation, husband's education, type of housing, age, marriage age, Distance to previous pregnancy and gestational age (Tab. II).

In both groups 88.1% of the participants were multigravidae and there was no significant difference between the two groups. Moreover, 84.7% of pregnancies were planned and 96.2% of the participants were satisfied with the fetal sex, and the two groups were not significantly different in this regard.

Prior to the intervention, the mean sexual satisfaction scores in intervention and control groups were 113.17 ± 25.06 and 110.74 ± 22.88 , respectively and there was no significant difference between the groups (p = 0.69). However, after the intervention, the results of the independent t-test showed a significant difference between the mean sexual satisfaction scores of the two groups (p = 0.02). The results of paired t-test also showed a significant difference between the mean sexual satisfaction scores before and after the intervention in the intervention group (p = 0.009), but this difference was

not significant in the control group (p = 0.46). Another independent t-test comparing the mean differences between the two groups before and after the intervention also showed a significant difference between the two groups (p = 0.01) (Tab. III).

Regarding the frequency of different types of touch per week in the intervention group, affectionate touch had the most frequency and the intercourse touch was the least frequent (Tab. IV).

Discussion

The present study showed that sexual enrichment program can be effective in increasing the sexual satisfaction of pregnant women. Since the sexual enrichment program in the present study focused on reformulating the attitudes of participants towards sexual activity in pregnancy and providing the knowledge required for engagement in healthy sexual relationships, the resulting enhancement of participants' sexual satisfaction seems reasonable. In other words, training women and increasing their information reduces fear and therefore, improves their sexual satisfaction. This finding was consistent with reports of previous studies on the positive role of education of pregnant women in the improvement of their sexual performance and sexual satisfaction [5, 25, 28, 37-40].

Therefore it is recommended that couples are well educated to understand changes in sexual function

Variable	Intervention group (n = 30)	Control group (n = 31)	P value
Qualitative variables			
Occupation			
Housewife	8 (26.7)	7 (22.6)	
Working	20 (66.7)	24(77.4)	0.83
Student	2 (6.7)	0 (0)	
Education			
Below high school diploma	16 (53.4)	17 (54.8)	
Diploma or Bachelor's	10 (33.3)	12 (38.7)	0.6
Mater's or higher	3 (10)	1 (3.2)	0.0
No answer	1 (3.3)	1 (3.2)	
Kinship with husband			
Yes	7(23.3)	11(35.5)	
No	22 (73.4)	20 (64.5)	0.4
No answer	1 (3.3)	0	
Age difference			
Husband is older	25 (83.3)	24 (77.5)	
Wife is older	5 (16.7)	5 (16.1)	0.75
The same age	0 (0)	1 (3.2)	0.75
No answer	0 (0)	1 (3.2)	
Husband's occupation			
Employee	8 (26.7)	10 (32.2)	
Self-employed	21 (73.3)	21 (67.74)	0.76
No answer	1 (3.3)	0	
Husband's education	19 (60)	16 (51.6)	
Below high school diploma	8 (26 7)	14 (45 2)	
Diploma or Bachelor's	1 (3 3)	0 (0)	0.4
Master's or higher	3 (10)	1 (3 2)	
No answer	5(10)	1 (3.2)	
Housing			
Owned	11 (36.7)	10 (32.3)	
Rented	18 (60)	18 (58.1)	0.13
Others	1 (3.3)	3 (9.7)	
Quantitative variables	Mean ± SD	Mean ± SD	
Age	27 69 + 5 33	30 29 + 5 32	0.06 ª
Marriage age	279 + 165	2 79 + 1 65	0.1 ^b
Distance to previous pregnancy (month)	39 25 + 41 45	75 23 + 47 4	0.06 ª
Gestational age before intervention (week)	22.86 ± 3.62	24.42 ± 3.27	
			0.08 ª

Tab. II. Comparison of demographic and midwifery characteristics of the participants in two groups of intervention and control.

SD: Standard Deviation; ^a Independent-samples t test; ^b Mann whitney test.

Tab. III. Comparison of sexual satisfaction scores before and after the intervention in the two groups.

Groups	N	Befor intervention	After intervention	Difference	Paired T- test
Intervention	30	113.17 ± 25.06	120.50 ± 16.51	7.3 ± 14.35	p = 0.009
Control	31	110.74 ± 22.88	109.16 ± 22.03	1.58 ± 11.99	P = 0.46
T- test		P = 0.69	P = 0.02	P = 0.01	

SD: Standard Deviation.

 $\ensuremath{\text{Tab. IV.}}$ Frequency of different types of touch in the intervention group.

Variables	Mean \pm SD	Min.	Max.
Affectionate touch	3.58 ± 1.95	1	7
Sensual touch	1.65 ± 2.79	1	7
Playful touch	1.91 ± 2.69	1	8
Erotic touch	1.69 ± 2.19	1	8
Intercourse touch	1.44 ± 1.66	0	7

SD: Standard Deviation.

during pregnancy [41]. Many studies have emphasized that sexual education during pregnancy can reduce the fear and concern of the couples, and as a result, they can continue their close and intimate relationships and sexual activity during pregnancy [42-45].

A decrease in sexual satisfaction may cause a decrease in the mental comfort of pregnant women, a disturbance in the process of pregnancy, childbirth and postpartum. Therefore, there is an obvious need for sexual counseling during pregnancy [46]. In other words, a normal sex life during pregnancy is the key to becoming parents [47].

Although in terms of the impact of educational programs on the sexual satisfaction of pregnant women the present study is in line with many other ones, it is unique because it focused on a sexual enrichment program where the false beliefs and misconceptions of the participants were recognized and through using five types of touches and providing the participants with materials and appropriate ways of sexual relationship during pregnancy, their sexual satisfaction was improved.

The findings of this study are also inconsistent with the report of Wannakosit and Phupong (2010) in which there was no significant difference between sexual behavior and sexual satisfaction of pregnant women in the control and intervention groups after sex education. The reason for this difference might be the demographic characteristics of the participants and the content and manner of implementation of the program. In the present study, six one-hour weekly sessions were held using a special educational program, while in the study conducted by Wannakosit and Phupong, the participants were trained in a 20-minute class [48].

Concerning the five-fold touches in the intervention group (affectionate touch, sensual touch, playful touch, erotic and intercourse touch), the findings showed that affectionate touch had the highest frequency and sexual touch was the least frequent. The results of the research indicate that even those who, for any reason, had had no sexual activity or full sexual intercourse and had often used non-sexual touches and had maintained warm and intimate relationships with their spouses, reported higher sexual satisfaction than what they reported before the intervention and compared to what the control group reported. This finding implies that sexual satisfaction does not necessarily mean full intercourse, a point which has also been emphasized in the protocol of the sexual enrichment and is, in fact, one of the strengths and novelties of the present study. During these emotional relationships, women are more likely to feel protected and experience more calmness and comfort during pregnancy. Evidence strongly suggests that non-genital sexual behavior is important for stimulation, pleasure, and orgasm of many people. According to Galinsky (2012), there is a positive relationship between sexual touch and satisfaction with emotional relationships. She also reported that people who do not engage in sexual touch during sexual intercourse are more likely to suffer from arousal, erection, and orgasm disorders [49].

Although the participants in the study were only pregnant women and their spouses did not participate in the training sessions, based on the implementation guidelines of the enrichment program which recommend participants to transfer information to their partners, the sexual enrichment program could increase the sexual satisfaction of the pregnant women. Heidari and colleagues (2017) also reported no significant differences in sexual functioning and sexual satisfaction of pregnant women who participated in their education programs with their spouses and received a training booklet and those who were participated in the training classes by themselves but had studied the booklet along with their

spouses. The researchers concluded that if pregnant women who receive the sexual education have a good relationship with their partner, they can easily exchange educational topics with them while their spouses may not take part in the classes, a finding which is in line with the current study [5]. In line with the present study, Ghasemi Moghadam and colleagues (2012) also reported that the overall marital satisfaction in the experimental group was more than the control group and concluded that the sexual enrichment program could increase marital satisfaction even when husbands did not participate in the enrichment program [50].

.....

Despite the fact that some previous studies have argued that increasing sexual behavior during pregnancy requires the care and understanding of the couples [48] and therefore they recommend that husbands should also participate in the sexual education programs for pregnant women [51, 52, 25, 26], since the implementation guidelines of the sexual enrichment program requires women to do some assignments and confer the information with their husbands, the obligation of husbands' attendance in training sessions can be ignored, taking into account time and occupational inconveniences that this obligation might bring about.

The results of this study showed that sexual enrichment program can be effective in increasing the sexual satisfaction of pregnant women, even in the absence of their husbands in educational classes. Therefore, the sexual enrichment program can be used as a simple user-friendly academic framework by health personnel, especially midwifery counselors, in healthcare centers to help women solve their sexual problems in particular pregnancy situations.

LIMITATIONS

Among the limitations in implementing the study was that pregnant women due to pregnancy problems were reluctant to attend the counseling classes. Furthermore, it was not possible to predict the health condition of healthy pregnant women either and some of them because of prenatal problems could not attend the sessions and withdrew from the study. Another limitation was that the researchers could not guarantee the participants' commitment to do the assignments and exercises. Sexual satisfaction of pregnant women requires mutual cooperation of the couple, therefore, absence of attendance spouses in counseling sessions are one of the limitations of the study.

Conclusion

The results of the study showed that the sexual enrichment program could impact on the sexual satisfaction of pregnant women. After conducting additional studies with similar methodology and larger sample size, if the findings of this study are confirmed, the integration of this program is suggested as a simple, practical and costeffective intervention in the prenatal care system.

Ethics Approval

Before launching the study, the proposal of the study was approved of by the Ethics Committee of Shahroud University of Medical Sciences (Ethical code No: IR.SHMU.REC.1395.39) and it was registered in the Iranian Registry of Clinical Trials (Code: IRCT2016092930048N). Then after obtaining written permission from the concerned authorities, the researchers were introduced to the research environments. Informed written consents were also obtained from all participants.

Acknowledgment

The present study was supported by Shahroud University of medical sciences as a MSc Thesis. We hereby acknowledge the research deputy for grant.

Conflict of interest statement

The authors report no conflict of interest.

Authors' contributions

FBG, AMN, AK, ZM, FHT: Study conception and design.

FBG, AMN: Acquisition of data.

FBG, AMN, AK, ZM, FHT: Analysis and interpretation of data.

FHT, FBG: Drafting of manuscript.

FHT: Critical revision. All authors have read and approved the final manuscript.

References

- Pascoal PM, Narciso Ide S, Pereira NM. What is sexual satisfaction? Thematic analysis of lay people's definitions. J Sex Res 2014;51:22-30. https://doi.org/10.1080/00224499.2013.815149
- [2] Shafi Abadi A, Honarparvaran N, Tabrizi M, Navabi Nezhad SH. Efficacy of emotion-focused couple therapy training with regard to increasing sexual satisfaction among, couples. Journal of clinical psychology Andisheh & Raftar 2010;4:59-70.
- [3] Jahanfar S, Molae Nezhad M. Sexual Problems. 2th ed. Tehran: Bezheh & Salemi Company 2006.
- [4] Trutnovsky G, Haas J, Lang U, Petru E. Women's perception of sexuality during pregnancy and after birth. Aust N Z J Obstet Gynaecol 2006;46:282-7. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1479-828X.2006.00592.x
- [5] Heidari M, Amin Shokravi F, Zayeri F, Azin SA, Merghati-Khoei E. Sexual life during pregnancy: effect of an educational intervention on the sexuality of iranian couples: a quasiexperimental study. J Sex Marital Ther 2018;44:45-55.https://doi.org/ 10.1080/0092623X.2017.1313799
- [6] Abdo CH, Oliveira WM Jr, Moreira ED Jr, Fittipaldi JA. Prevalence of sexual dysfunctions and correlated conditions in a sample of Brazilian women – results of the Brazilian study on sexual behavior (BSSB). Int J Impot Res 2004;16:160-6. https:// doi.org/ 10.1038/sj.ijir.3901198

- [7] Ahmed MR, Madny EH, Sayed Ahmed WA. Prevalence of female sexual dysfunction during pregnancy among Egyptian women. J Obstet Gynaecol Res 2014;40:1023-9. https://doi. org/10.1111/jog.12313
- [8] Naldoni LM, Pazmiño MA, Pezzan PA, Pereira SB, Duarte G, Ferreira CH. Evaluation of sexual function in Brazilian pregnant women. J Sex Marital Ther 2011;37:116-29. https://doi.or g/10.1080/0092623X.2011.560537
- [9] Leite AP, Campos AA, Dias AR, Amed AM, De Souza E, Camano L. Prevalence of sexual dysfunction during pregnancy. Rev Assoc Med Bras (1992) 2009;55:563-8. https://doi.org/10.1590/ s0104-42302009000500020
- [10] Asgari P, Pasha GH, Azar Kish M. A Comparative Study of Marital Commitment, Sexual Satisfaction, and Life Satisfaction between Employed and Unemployed Women in Dezful City. Thought Behav Clin Psychol 2011;6:53-60. https://doi. org/10.12691/ajnr-8-5-2
- [11] Bartellas E, Crane JM, Daley M, Bennett KA, Hutchens D. Sexuality and sexual activity in pregnancy. BJOG 2000;107:964-8. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1471-0528.2000.tb10397.x
- [12] Lee JT. The meaning of sexual satisfaction in pregnant Taiwanese women. J. Midwifery Women's Health 2002;47:278-86. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/s1526-9523(02)00264-7
- [13] Spence SH. Psychosexual therapy: a cognitive-behavioural approach. London: Chapman & Hall 1991.
- [14] Hyde JS, Delamater JD. Understanding human sexuality. 7th ed. Boston: McGraw-Hill 2000.
- [15] Bayrami R, Sattarzadeh N, Ranjbar Kooc F. Evalution of sexual behaviors and some of its related factors in pregnant women. J Urmia University Med Sci 2009;20:1-7.
- [16] Heydari M, Kiani Asiabar A, Faghih zade S. Couples' knowledge and attitude about sexuality in pregnancy. Tehran Univ Med J 2006 64:83-9.
- [17] Naim M, Bhutto E. Sexuality during pregnancy in Pakistan women. J Pak Med Assoc 2000;50:38-44.
- [18] Walbroehl G. Sexuality during pregnancy. Am Fam Physician 1984;29:273-5.
- [19] Masoomi S Z, Nejati B, Mortazavi A, Parsa P, Karami M. Investigating the effects of sexual consultation on marital satisfaction among the pregnant women coming to the health centers in the city of Malayer in the year 1394. Avicenna J Nurs Midwifery Care 2016;24:256-63. https://doi.org/10.21859/nmj-24046
- [20] Ahmadi Z, Molaie Yarandi E, Malekzadegan A, Hosseini AF. Sexual Satisfaction and its Related Factors in Primigravidas. IJN 2011;24:54-62
- [21] Ebrahimian A, Heydari MB, Saberi Zafarghandi MB. Comparison of female sexual dysfunctions before and during pregnancy. Iran J Obstet. Gynecol Infertil 2010;5:30-6. https://doi. org/10.22038/ijogi.2010.5826
- [22] Nazari AM. Foundations and family therapy. Tehran: Elm 2014, pp. 166-81.
- [23] Rivas RE, Navío JF, Martínez MC, Miranda León MT, Castillo RF, Hernández OO. Modifications in Sexual Behaviour during Pregnancy and Postpartum: Related Factors. The West Indian medical journal 2016;10:326. https://doi.org/10.7727/ wimj.2015.326
- [24] Andrews G. Women's sexual health. 3rd ed. London: Elsevier Health Sciences 2005.
- [25] Babazadeh R, Najmabadi KM, Masomi Z. Changes in sexual desire and activity during pregnancy among women in Shahroud, Iran. Int J Gynaecol Obstet 2013;120:82-4. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ijgo.2012.07.021
- [26] Gałązka I, Drosdzol-Cop A, Naworska B, Czajkowska M, Skrzypulec-Plinta V. Changes in the sexual function during pregnancy. J Sex Med 2015;12:445-54. https://doi.org/ 10.1111/ jsm.12747

- [27] Read J. Sexual problems associated with infertility, pregnancy, and ageing. BMJ 2004;329:559-61. https://doi.org/10.1136/ bmj.329.7465.559
- [28] Sossah L. Sexual behavior during pregnancy: a descriptive correlational study among pregnant women. European Journal of Research in Medical Sciences 2014;2:16-27.
- [29] Yeniel AO, Petri E. Pregnancy, childbirth, and sexual function: perceptions and facts. Int Urogynecol J 2014;25:5-14. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s00192-013-2118-7
- [30] de Pierrepont C, Polomeno V, Bouchard L, Reissing E. Que savons-nous sur la sexualité périnatale? Un examen de la portée sur la sexopérinatalité – partie 1 (What do we know about perinatal sexuality? A scoping review on sexoperinatality - part 1). J Gynecol Obstet Biol Reprod (Paris) 2016;45:796-808. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.jgyn.2016.06.003
- [31] Senkumwong N, Chaovisitsaree S, Rugpao S, Chandrawongse W, Yanunto S. The changes of sexuality in Thai women during pregnancy. J Med Assoc Thai 2006;89:124-9.
- [32] Fatehizadeh M, Mofid V, Ahmadi A, Etemadi O. The Comparison of Cognitive-Behavioral Counseling and Solution-Oriented Counseling on Women's Sexual Satisfaction in Isfahan. Quarterly Journal of Women and Society 2014;5:67-83.
- [33] Barry WM, Emily M. Discovering Your Couple Sexual Style: Sharing Desire, Pleasure, and Satisfaction. In: chapter 3: Communicating your sexuality: the five dimensions of touch. New York: Taylor & Francis 2009, pp. 21-31.
- [34] Hudson WW, Harrison DF, Crosscup PC: A short-form scale to measure sexual discord in dyadic relationships. J Sex Res 1981;17:157-74. https://doi.org/10.3390/bs12120503
- [35] Larson JH, Anderson SM, Holman TB, Niemann BK. A longitudinal study of the effects of premarital communication, relationship stability, and self-esteem on sexual satisfaction in the first year of marriage. J Sex Marital Ther 1998; 24:193-206. https://doi.org/10.1080/00926239808404933
- [36] Bahrami N, Yaghoobzadeh A, Sharif Nia H, Soleimani MA. Psychometric Properties of the Persian Version of Larsons Sexual Satisfaction Questionnaire in a Sample of Iranian Infertile Couples. Iranian Journal of Epidemiology 2016;12:18-31.
- [37] Afshar M, Mohammad-Alizadeh-Charandabi S, Merghti-Khoei ES, Yavarikia P. The effect of sex education on the sexual function of women in the first half of pregnancy: a randomized controlled trial. J Caring Sci 2012;22;1:173-81. https://doi. org/10.5681/jcs.2012.025
- [38] Bahadoran P, MohammadiMahdiabadzade M, Nasiri H, GholamiDehaghi A. The effect of face-to-face or group education during pregnancy on sexual function of couples in Isfahan. Iran J Nurs Midwifery Res 2015;20:582-7. https://doi. org/10.4103/1735-9066.164512
- [39] Shojaa M, Jouybari L, Sanagoo A. The sexual activity during pregnancy among a group of Iranian women. Arch Gynecol

Obstet 2009;279:353-6. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00404-008-0735-z

[40] Sagiv-Reiss DM, Birnbaum GE, Safir MP. Changes in sexual experiences and relationship quality during pregnancy. Arch Sex Behav 2012;41:1241-51. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10508-011-9839-9

- [41] Oche OM, Abdullahi Z, Tunau K, Ango JT, Yahaya M, Raji IA. Sexual activities of pregnant women attending antenatal clinic of a tertiary hospital in North-West Nigeria. Pan Afr Med J 2020;37:140.https://doi.org/10.11604/pamj.2020.37.140.25471
- [42] Corbacioglu Esmer A, Akca A, Akbayir O, Goksedef BP, Bakir VL. Female sexual function and associated factors during pregnancy. J Obstet Gynaecol Res 2013;39:1165-72. https://doi. org/10.1111/jog.12048
- Fok WY, Chan LY, Yuen PM. Sexual behavior and activity in Chinese pregnant women. Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand 2005;84:934-8. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0001-6349.2005.00743.x
- [44] Liu HL, Hsu P, Chen KH. Sexual activity during pregnancy in Taiwan: a qualitative study. Sex Med 2013;1:54-61. https://doi. org/10.1002/sm2.13
- [45] Riazi H, Banoo Zadeh S, Moghim Beig A, Amini L. Effects of sex education on beliefs of pregnant women to sexual activity during pregnancy. Payesh 2013;12;367-74.
- [46] Branecka-Woźniak D, Wójcik A, Błażejewska-Jaśkowiak J, Kurzawa R. Sexual and Life Satisfaction of Pregnant Women. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2020;17:5894. https://doi. org/10.3390/ijerph17165894
- [47] Zacharis K, Chrysafopoulou E, Kravvaritis S, Charitos T, Fouka A. Changes in sexual experiences and sexual satisfaction during pregnancy: data from a Greek secondary hospital. The Pan African Medical Journal 2020;37:312. https://doi.org/10.11604/ pamj.2020.37.312.26813
- [48] Wannakosit S, Phupong V. Sexual behavior in pregnancy: comparing between sexual education group and nonsexual education group. The journal of sexual medicine 2010;7:3434-8. https://doi.org/org/10.1111/j.1743-6109.2010.01715.x
- [49] Galinsky AM. Sexual touching and difficulties with sexual arousal and orgasm among US older adults. Arch Sex Behav 2012;41:875-90. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10508-011-9873-7
- [50] Ghasemi Moghadam K, Asgari A. Effectiveness of group education of marital enrichment program (Olson Style) on improvement of married womenâs satisfaction. Clinical Psychology and Personality 2013;11:1-10.
- [51] Johnson CE. Sexual health during pregnancy and the postpartum. J Sex Med 2011;8:1267-84; quiz 1285-6. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1743-6109.2011.02223.x
- [52] Serati M, Salvatore S, Siesto G, Cattoni E, Zanirato M, Khullar V, Cromi A, Ghezzi F, Bolis P. Female sexual function during pregnancy and after childbirth. J Sex Med 2010;7:2782-90. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1743-6109.2010.01893.x

Received on May 23, 2022. Accepted on October 13, 2022.

Correspondence: Fatemeh Hadizadeh- Talasaz, Department of Midwifery, School of Nursing and Midwifery, Mashhad University of Medical Sciences, Mashhad, Iran. Tel.: 985138591511 - E-mail: Shahnazhadizadeh@yahoo.com

How to cite this article:Barvanloo-Golmohamadi F, Motaghi Z, Keramat A, Nazari AM, Hadizadeh-Talasaz F. Effect of sexual enrichment program on the sexual satisfaction of pregnant women in Iran: A randomized clinical trial. J Prev Med Hyg 2022;63:E549-E556. https://doi. org/10.15167/2421-4248/jpmh2022.63.4.2610

© Copyright by Pacini Editore Srl, Pisa, Italy

This is an open access article distributed in accordance with the CC-BY-NC-ND (Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International) license. The article can be used by giving appropriate credit and mentioning the license, but only for non-commercial purposes and only in the original version. For further information: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/deed.en

..... E556

OPEN ACCESS

HEALTH PROMOTION

An epidemiological profile of women suffering from urinary incontinence residing at one of the cities of western India: A mixed method approach study

KARAN SHARMA¹, PARTH KHANDHEDIA¹, VIRAL R. DAVE² ¹ Intern, GCS Medical College, Ahmedabad, Gujarat, India;

² Professor & Head, Community Medicine Department, GCS Medical College, Ahmedabad, Gujarat, India

Keywords

Urinary Incontinence • ICIQ • Quality of Life • Treatment-seeking behavior

Summary

Introduction. Urinary incontinence (UI), a discomforting condition is predominantly seen in women. Affected women are forced to modify their lifestyles to alleviate symptoms and associated complications.

Objectives. To find the prevalence, determinants and association of UI with Socio-demographic, obstetrical, gynecological and personal history and its impact on quality of life.

Methods. Research was conducted with a mixed method approach (quantitative and qualitative assessment) among women residing in urban slum of Ahmedabad city, India. Sample size calculated was 457. The study was conducted in urban slums served by one of the Urban Health Centre (UHC) of Ahmedabad city. A modified pre-evaluated standard questionnaire developed by International Consultation on Incontinence Questionnaire (ICIQ) was used for quantitative part. Qualitative part consisted of Focused Group Discussions (FGD) which was carried out amongst the women in batches of 5-7 per discussion at the nearest anganwadi center. **Results**. Prevalence of UI was found to be 30% among studyparticipants. A statistical significant relation was seen between the presence of UI and age, marital status, parity, past history

Introduction

India is going through a transition phase in the pattern of health and disease profile of the population. The spectrum of health/disease status, in general, is getting widened with inclusion of non-communicable diseases and health-conditions other than communicable diseases. Urinary incontinence (UI) among post-menopausal females is one such health-related issue that is a part of submerged portion of iceberg in epidemiological profile of India. UI is one of priority health issues recognized by World Health Organisation. It is defined by international continence society as "a complaint of involuntary loss of urine [1]. It is a common and perilous medical condition severely affecting daily life activities of affected women. The UI may be divided into three broad categories: urge, stress incontinence, and mixed variety. The most common etiology for UI includes increasing age, increasing parity, vaginal deliveries, obesity, pelvic surgery, diabetes mellitus, depression, constipation, chronic respiratory problems as well as caffeine and alcohol [2, 3].

of abortion, and occurrence of urinary tract infection (UTI) in last year (P < 0.05). Comparison of severity of UI by calculating ICIQ score showed statistical significant relation of same with age, occupation, literacy, socioeconomic status, and parity (P < 0.05). More than 50% of women suffering from UI were having chronic constipation, reduced daily sleep, and diabetes. Only 7% of the total women suffering from UI had consulted doctor for their problem.

Conclusion. Prevalence of UI was found to be 30% in study participants. Sociodemographic factors like age, marital status and socio-economic class were found to have statistical significant effect on existing UI at the time of interview. ICIQ categories of UI were found to be influenced statistically with age, occupation, literacy, socio-economic classe, parity and obstetric factors like place of delivery and facilitator of delivery. Majority of participants (93%) had never consulted doctor for various reasons/ myths like perception that it shall resolve on its' own, Belief that it is an age-related normal phenomenon, shyness to discuss issue with male doctors/members of family and financial reasons.

Urge incontinence is a condition characterized by frequent urination during day or night and a sudden urge to urinate, with urinary leakage. A person may sometimes not be able to make it to the bathroom intime with associated leakage. This condition is caused by spontaneous bladder spasms which can result from dietary factors (bladder stimulants-caffeine or alcohol), increased fluid intake, drug side effects, urinary tract infection/cancer, and/or nerve dysfunction (associated with nerve trauma, diabetes, multiple sclerosis, or spinal cord injury). Primary treatments for overactive bladder include behavioral interventions and medications [4]. Stress incontinence is characterized by urinary leakage during physical activities which increases intraabdominal pressure including coughing, sneezing, exercising, lifting, and laughing. It can result from a variety of conditions including vaginal childbirth, aging, and injury to the pelvic floor muscle levator ani which in turn can lead to urethral hypermobility that manifests as urinary incontinence. As this is an anatomic condition, primary treatment may involve pelvic floor exercises

and/or minimally invasive surgery. [5]the involuntary loss of urine, is a common health condition that may decrease quality of life. Ten to twenty percent of women and up to 77% of women residing in nursing homes have urinary incontinence, yet only 25%seek or receive treatment.

Observations

Mixed incontinence is a condition in which the patient experiences symptoms of both stress and urge incontinence.

Women suffering from UI reframe their lifestyles to avoid social and sexual activities. Urge incontinence was associated with more mental distress, practical inconveniences, and social restrictions than stress incontinence [6].

The prevalence of UI and treatment-seeking behavior is comparatively a very less explored field of research in India. With numerous confining factors such as the non-availability of female doctors in the periphery, shyness, fear of surgery, lack of money, dependency on husbands and belief that it is a natural consequence of aging [7], women tend to avoid reporting this problem. Prevalence of UI ranges from 8-45% in different studies in India [8, 9].

So, with this background, research with mixed method approach (both quantitative and qualitative) to assess determinants, impact on quality of life, and treatmentseeking behavior for UI among females residing in urban slums, Ahmedabad was planned. The objectives of the study were: a) to determine prevalence of urinary incontinence and its determinants. b) To assess severity of UI in women and its association with various risk factors. c) To study Treatment seeking behavior and impact on quality of life of UI in focal group discussions (FGDs) by Qualitative approach.

Methodology

After necessary approval by institutional ethical committee, study was carried out from October 2020 to March 2021. For quantitative research part of study, following methodology was followed:

Based on previous study carried out by, Biswas et al. [3] in West Bengal province of India, the prevalence of UI was found to be 28% (27.7%). According to this data, estimated sample size calculated by 4pq/l2 with 15% allowable error gave an approximate sample size of 457. Multi-stage sampling technique was applied for selection of study area and study participants.

In current study, inclusion of women who were 45 years of age or above was done. This age limit was kept considering previous research carried out by Quiroz et al. [10] and Khan et al. [11] who concluded respectively that there is an association between age and numerous pelvic floor disorders in post-menopausal women and an association between years spent in menopause and presence of urinary incontinence.

The study unit was considered as one of the selected

areas of Ahmedabad city, India. The smallest healthadministrative unit at city level is Urban Health Center (UHC) which is managed by Municipal Corporation. One of the UHC catering to the population of 71,480 was selected randomly from list of total UHCs serving Ahmedabad city. The area served by selected UHC was divided into 7 regions comprising the various numbers of *Chawls* (a cluster of the urban slums)/society/areas in each region for further sampling. To represent all regions of UHC, four *chawls*/societies/areas were selected from each region using simple randomization, comprising a total number of 28 (7 x 4 = 28) chawls/societies/areas.

Within *chawls*/society/areas, house numbers provided by Municipal Corporation were used. A specific house number was selected randomly by currency note method. Starting from that house, participants were included from consecutive households. A total of 17 women above 45 years were taken as subjects. If ≥ 1 woman above 45 years were residing in same house-hold, all were included in study. Thus, total 476 (17 x 28) subjects were selected for study (larger than calculated sample size).

Informed oral consent of participants was taken before interviewing them. They were interviewed face to face using a standard questionnaire. The modified pre-evaluated standard questionnaire developed International Consultation on Incontinence bv Questionnaire - Urinary Incontinence short form (ICIQ-UI SF) [12] was used in current study. It was modified according to regional requirements and by adding relevant questions about socio-demographic profiles. It was validated by a pilot study (results of which were excluded from final data collection/analysis). The questionnaire included following information: sociodemographic data, socioeconomic status, gynaecological and obstetric history, personal relevant medical history, questions regarding UI (with Impact on quality of life and Treatment seeking behavior), and another coexisting medical history if any. The socioeconomic status of the family was obtained according to the Modified Prasad's Classification [13] which is based on monthly per capita income calculated by using the CPI-IW (Consumer Price Index - Industrial worker) provided by the Labour Bureau of India for the month of October 2020 [14]. The score of ICIQ was assessed on a scale of 0-21. Score ranges were 1-5 (slight), 6-12 (moderate), 13-18 (severe) and 19-21 (very severe). Question items were Frequency of urinary incontinence, Amount of leakage, Overall impact of urinary incontinence, and Self-diagnostic items [10, 12].

Height was measured by regular measuring tape and weight was noted by using manual weighing machine and analyzed to calculate BMI (Body Mass Index). The responses during personal interview were recorded by investigator directly in Google forms, data were exported to excel sheet and analyzed by chi-square test and correlation tests for significance with IBM SPSS (Statistical Package for the Social Sciences) version 26 for Windows.

Exclusion criteria considered in quantitative part were: Closed house at the time of visit, No women above 45 years of age were available, Consent not given, and Patients with leakage of urine from sites other than urethra. For Qualitative research part of study, women having urinary incontinence were individually contacted later on for FGD after completion of the quantitative part. Exclusion criteria for qualitative research part were: participants who did not give oral consent, who could not be contacted due to currently not living at the same place and who were unable to travel to place of FGD due to various reasons like old age/ co-morbidities/ Job timings and participants who died due to various reasons (co-morbidities/ COVID-19) in period between quantitative and qualitative research part.

.....

FGD was carried out amongst the women in batches of 5-7 women per discussion at nearest possible place where privacy was maintained. Besides investigators, two female social workers remained present in each FGD. The timings and schedule of FGD were kept flexible by keeping into consideration working hours and feasibility of attending each session for participants. FGD was carried out in a separate and quiet room for better audio recording and taking notes. Participants were made to sit in a circle for ease of discussion and communication. All possible due care was taken to create an environment where open and healthy discussion could be done. Before starting discussion, participants were oriented to whole process of FGD and most influential person in the group was assigned as a leader for that FGD. Role of the leader was to encourage her peers (other participants) to share their experiences. Various aspects regarding UI were discussed in FGD such as risk factors, symptoms, impact on quality of life, lifestyle modifications, and treatment-seeking behavior. All sessions were audiorecorded and subsequently analyzed. After the end of each FGD, participants were also counseled to consult doctors.

Result

THE QUANTITATIVE PART OF THE STUDY

Of total 476 study participants, 143 (30.04%) women were suffering from UI. Mixed incontinence was the most common type of UI (63, 44.06%) found in study participants (Fig. 1).

Of total participants affected with UI, majority were in the 61-65 years of age-group. Of total working participants, nearly one-third (19, 32.20%) had UI. On assessing role of various socio-demographic characteristics in participants with UI, it was revealed that age, marital status, and socio-economic class were statistically significantly associated with existing UI (Tab. I).

Participants were divided as per suggested categories of ICIQ as described in methodology. Among women with UI (143), 38, 72 and 33 had respectively very severe, severe and moderate UI as per ICIQ classification of same. The categorical distribution as per ICIQ was found to have a significant statistical association (for all p-value < 0.05) with age, literacy, occupation, and socio-economic status (Tab. II).



The obstetric profile is considered to be one of the prime factors responsible for occurrence of UI among females; the same was assessed among study participants which revealed that parity of \geq 3, history of abortion, and Number of UTI episodes in past 1 year had a statistically significant association with existing UI. Other obstetric factors like age at time of first delivery, place of delivery, type and facilitator for delivery, history of prolonged labor (> 20 hours for primigravida and > 14 hours for multigravida) [13], and history of previous pelvic surgeries did not reveal any statistically significant association with UI (Tab. III).

On comparing the impact of parity on ICIQ categorization of UI, a total of 44 women had parity < 3 (16, 20, and 8 had moderate, severe, and very severe UI respectively) while among women with \ge 3 parity (n = 99), 17, 52 and 30 women had moderate, severe and very severe UI respectively. The difference was found statistically significant with a χ^2 test statistic of 6.849 and P value = 0.032 (Tab. IV).

On assessing the relationship between ICIQ score and BMI (Body Mass Index) of women suffering from UI, a positive correlation was observed. The slope of the line is 0.524 (r = Karl Pearson's correlationcoefficient = 0.524, *p*-value = 0.000, +0.5 $\leq r < +1$) indicating a moderate correlation between ICIQ score and BMI (Fig. 2).

On assessing comorbidities among women suffering from UI, it was found that constipation (105, 73.42%), decreased/disturbed sleep (83, 58.04%), diabetes (78, 54.54%), hypertension (45, 31.46%), and chronic cough (25, 17.48%) were co-existed (multiple responses allowed). In context to tobacco exposure, tobacco chewing (36, 25.17%), Active smoking (7, 4.89%), Passive smoking (44, 30.76%), and snuffing (28, 19.58%) were reported among participants with UI (Multiple responses allowed).

Asking about treatment-seeking behavior revealed that out of total women with UI (n = 143), 10 (7%) had consulted doctor for single or multiple times while the remaining 93% had never consulted doctor for various reasons/myths like perception that it shall resolve on its' own (90, 62.93%), belief that it is an age-related

Variables		UI Present (%)	UI Absent (%)	Total	χ^2 test statistic	p-value
	45-50	42 (25.45)	123 (74.55)	165		0.003
	51-55	38 (40)	57 (60)	95	1	
Age (in	56-60	30 (27.27)	80 (72.73)	110	47.50	
completed years)	61-65	25 (43.10)	33 (56.90)	58	17.50	
	66-70	2 (7.69)	24 (92.31)	26	1	
	> 70	6 (27.27)	16 (72.73)	22		
Occuration	Working	19 (32.20)	40 (67.80)	59	0.45	0.699
occupation	Non-working	124 (29.74)	293 (70.26)	417	0.15	
Marital Status	Married	73 (25.44)	214 (74.56)	287		0.003
	Unmarried	0 (0)	5 (100)	5	47.40	
	Divorced	0 (0)	4 (100)	4	15.46	
	Widowed	70 (38.89)	110 (61.11)	180	1	
	Nuclear	39 (28.06)	100 (71.94)	139		0.425
Type of Family	Three Generation	53 (33.97)	103 (66.03)	156	1.708	
	Joint	51 (28.18)	130 (71.82)	181	7	
litoraov	Literate	58 (26.98)	157 (73.02)	215	4 757	0.400
LILEIACY	Illiterate	85 (32.57)	176 (67.43)	261	1.755	0.186
Socioeconomic Status	Class 2	16 (38.10)	26 (61.90)	42		< 0.0001
	Class 3	48 (23.65)	155 (76.35)	203	76 50	
	Class 4	142 (65.44)	75 (34.56)	217	/0.50	
	Class 5	4 (28.57)	10 (71.43)	14		

Tab. I. Association between various socio-demographic variables with Urinary Incontinence (n = 476).

Tab. II. Association between various categories of ICIQ and socio-demographic variables (n = 143).

Variable		ICIQ Categories (score: 0-21)				2 tost	
		Moderate (6-12) (%)	Severe (13-18) (%)	Very Severe (19-21) (%)	Total	statistic	p-value
	45-50	14 (33.33)	21 (50)	7 (16.67)	42		
	51-55	8 (21.05)	22 (57.89)	8 (21.05)	38		
Age (In	56-60	4 (13.33)	20 (66.67)	6 (20)	30	27.00	0.04
vears)	61-65	4 (16)	7 (28)	14 (56)	25	25.09	0.01
years,	66-70	0 (0)	1 (50)	1 (50)	2		
	> 70	3 (50)	1 (16.67)	2 (33.33)	6		
Occupation	Working	2 (10.53)	16 (84.21)	1 (5.26)	19	40.074	0.006
occupation	Non-working	31 (25)	56 (45.16)	37 (29.84)	124	10.231	
Litoracy	Literate	21 (36.21)	28 (48.28)	9 (15.52)	58	44.004	0.002
LILEIACY	Illiterate	12 (14.12)	44 (51.76)	29 (34.12)	85	11.861	
	Class 2	5 (31.25)	9 (56.25)	2 (12.50)	16	16.177	0.012
SOCIO-	Class 3	19 (39.58)	19 (39.58)	10 (20.83)	48		
Status	Class 4	9 (12)	42 (56)	24 (32)	75		
	Class 5	0 (0)	2 (50)	2 (50)	4		

normal phenomenon (74, 51.74%), shyness to discuss issue with male doctors/members of family (56, 39.16%) and financial reasons (5, 3.49%), (Multiple responses allowed).

QUALITATIVE PART RESULT

Each FGD consisted of 5-7 participants. A total number of 10 such FGDs were conducted. For sake of maintaining anonymity of each participant, they were given numbers to describe various qualitative variables. All recordings of FGDs were saved and coded separately which yielded following.

In-depth discussion classified based on selected themes relevant to UI.

KNOWLEDGE OF RISK FACTORS CONTRIBUTING то зумртомя

While some Women were aware of medically proven risk factors of UI, some were unsure of symptoms. For instance, when asked, "What do you think caused this condition?"

FGD1 (Sr. No. 2) answered: "I think it is caused by chronic tobacco use".

FGD3 (Sr. No. 14) answered: "I think it was caused by frequent infections in my genital tract".
Variables		UI Present (%)	UI Absent (%)	Total	χ^2 test statistic	p-value
Darity	< 3	44 (23.66)	142 (76.34)	186	E 024	0.014
Parity	≥ 3	99 (34.14)	191 (65.86)	290	5.924	0.014
	≤ 18	33 (29.73)	78 (70.27)	111		
Age at First Delivery	19-30	110 (30.47)	251 (69.53)	361	1.754	0.416
	> 30	0 (0)	4 (100)	4		
	Home	84 (31.46)	183 (68.54)	267		
Place of last Delivery	Hospital	59 (28.50)	148 (71.50)	207	1.348	0.509
	Others*	0 (0)	2 (100)	2		
	Doctor	50 (29.41)	120 (70.59)	170		
Who performed the last delivery	Nurse	11 (25.28)	32 (74.42)	43	0.601	0.740
	Others**	82 (31.18)	181 (68.82)	263		
Type of last Delivery	Vaginal	135 (31.03)	300 (68.97)	435	2.367	0.124
	Caesarean	8 (19.51)	33 (80.49)	41		
History of Prolonged Labour	Yes	39 (36.45)	68 (63.55)	107	2 606	0.1
History of Prolonged Labour	No	104 (28.18)	265 (71.82)	369	2.090	0.1
History of abortion	Yes	61 (35.67)	110 (64.33)	171	1.026	0.044
	No	82(26.89)	223 (73.11)	305	4.020	0.044
History of Polyic operation	Yes	71 (29.96)	166 (70.04)	237	0.002	0.064
	No	72 (30.13)	167 (69.87)	239	0.002	0.964
	0	69 (21.04)	259 (78.96)	328		
Number of episodes of UTI in past	1	19 (27.54)	50 (72.46)	69	71 066	- 0.0001
1 year	1-2	49 (69.01)	22 (30.99)	71	/ 1.000	< 0.0001
	3-5	6 (75)	2(25)	8		

Tab. III. Association of Urinary Incontinence with obstetric and other relevant details of study participants (n = 476).

.....

*Places other than Home or Hospital or during transit in vehicle. ** Dai or other local ladies or spontaneous.

Tab	IV. Association	between various	s categories of IC	CIQ and Gynaecologic	al/ obstetrical	variables (n = 143).	

			ICIQ Score			0 tost	
Gynecological/ob	stetrical history	Moderate (%)	Severe (%)	Very Severe (%)	Total	statistic	p-value
Derity	< 3	16 (36.36)	20 (45.45)	8 (18.19)	44	C 040	0.077
Parity	≥ 3	17 (17.17)	52 (52.53)	30 (30.30)	99	6.849 0.0	
Age at First	≤ 18	10 (30.30)	13 (39.40)	10 (30.30)	33	2 240	0 720
Delivery	19-30	23 (20.91)	59 (53.64)	28 (25.45)	110	2.210	0.529
Place of last	Home	14 (16.67)	43 (51.19)	27 (32.14)	84	6.07	0.040
Delivery	Hospital	19 (32.21)	29 (49.15)	11 (18.64)	59	6.03	0.049
	Doctor	15 (30)	24 (48)	11 (22)	50		
the delivery	Nurse	5 (45.45)	6 (54.55)	0 (0)	11	9.947	0.041
the delivery	Others	13 (15.85)	42 (51.22)	27 (32.93)	82		
Type of last	Vaginal	30 (22.22)	68 (50.37)	37 (27.41)	135	1.396	0 /07
Delivery	Caesarean	3 (37.50)	4 (50)	1 (12.50)	8		0.497
History of	Yes	8 (20.52)	18 (46.15)	13 (33.33)	39		
Prolonged Labour	No	25 (24.04)	54 (51.93)	25 (24.04)	104	1.262	0.532
History of	Yes	13 (21.31)	30 (49.18)	18 (29.51)	61	0 5 4 7	0 770
abortion	No	20 (24.39)	42 (51.22)	20 (24.39)	82	0.517	0.772
History of Pelvic	Yes	16 (22.54)	36 (50.70)	19 (26.76)	71	0.022	0 000
operation	No	17 (23.61)	36 (50)	19 (26.39)	72	0.025	0.900
	0	19 (27.54)	35 (50.72)	15 (21.74)	69		
Number of episodes of UTI in past 1 year	1	4 (21.05)	10 (52.63)	5 (26.32)	19	2620	0 050
	1-2	9 (18.37)	24 (48.98)	16 (32.65)	49	2.030	0.052
	3-5	1 (16.67)	3 (50)	2 (33.33)	6		

.....



FGD5 (Sr. No. 29) answered: "I don't know what caused this. It started gradually and worsened over time."

When asked about medical history, Sr. No. 29 said she was diagnosed with diabetes a few years back. She was explained that it may be cause of her symptoms and was advised regular monitoring of blood glucose and referred to hospital after FGD.

UNAVOIDABLE RISK-FACTORS

All women in FGDs were provided with knowledge of common risk-factors. Further discussion was done with some women who couldn't avoid those risk-factors. The most common was multiple parity. For instance,

FGD 5 (Sr. No. 27) said: "I have 5 children, this led to constant injury and laxity of my genital-tract, what can I do now"? She was given knowledge about different physiotherapeutic exercises to decrease frequency of symptoms and referred to doctor.

Other commonly unavoidable things were household chores and work that required heavy lifting. FGD6 (Sr. No. 34) said "I am a fruit seller. Constant heavy lifting of baskets and pulling a fruitcart is all I do the whole day. It's the only source of income for my family". FGD9 (Sr. No. 54) said "I am the only woman in house. I constantly work in kitchen where I left heavy boxes from storage room, and I do all cleaning of house along with broom-stick". Both of these women were referred to hospital. They were advised that they'll be started on medications, and if medications show no improvement, surgery may be indicated.

VARIATION OF SYMPTOMS ACCORDING TO WEATHER/ WORK ACTIVITY/UTI

Women were also asked about what things aggravate their symptoms.

FGD4 (Sr. No. 15) answered: "Drinking coffee before going to bed results in frequent waking up and going to bathroom".

FGD10 (Sr. No. 57) said: "frequency of symptoms increases when I am in stress". She was diagnosed with anxiety disorder a few years back. She drinks excessive water during anxiety attacks. She was advised to consult

a psychiatrist. FGD9 (Sr. No. 54) said "During winter season, symptoms of urge incontinence increase a lot". This was also said by a majority of women during that FGD.

VARIED SYMPTOMS FOR SIMILAR RISK FACTORS

Many women had similar types of risk factors but symptoms varied in them. For instance, FGD 5 (Sr. No. 27) and FGD 4 (Sr. No. 20) both have 5 children but ICIQ score in earlier was higher. She underwent delivery of all children at home which may have led to improper management of labor while FGD4 (Sr. No. 20) underwent delivery of all her children in hospital.

NON-MEDICAL MEASURES TAKEN TO AVOID THE INCONTINENCE

Preventive measures being taken by affected women on a day-to-day basis were also discussed. FGD1 (Sr. No. 3) answered "I stop drinking water 2 to 3hours before going to sleep".

FGD8 (Sr. No. 48) answered "I constantly wear an adult diaper when I am at home to prevent my clothes from getting spoiled".

FGD 3 (Sr. No. 14) answered "I ask my son/husband to do all the heavy lifting for me".

EFFORTS TAKEN TO AVOID SOCIAL EMBARRASSMENT

While majority of women avoided social gatherings and functions, some assorted to various tedious and cumbersome measures like drinking less water and wearing diapers whenever going out of the house. FGD9 (Sr. No. 52) said "I live in a very old house, our bathroom/ toilet is located outside inbackyard. Usually, I spoil my clothes by the time I reach there on time, so I have shifted my bed and all my stuff to room nearest to bathroom/toilet." It was noticed by observers that many old women resorted to this measure.

Reasons for not consulting the doctor

FGD2 (Sr. No. 10) answered "This problem started when I was pregnant and I hoped it will stop after delivery, but I continued. I considered it as side-effect of pregnancy. "It was explained to her that during pregnancy, pressure from her gravid uterus on her bladder may have caused symptoms and during labor, injury may have occurred in genital tract. She was advised to consult a specialist.

FGD6 (Sr. No. 34) said "My mother hadsame problem; even my mother-in-law hadsame problem. It's a normal phenomenon. We have to deal with it." It was explained to her that it can be avoided by proper management and treatment.

Many old women were dependent on their sons to take them to hospital and due to unavailability of time and/ or money; they had to resort to non-medical measures.

MISSING OUT ON DAILY CHORES/ACTIVITIES

It ranged from missing social gatherings to permanently leaving their job.

FGD1 (Sr. No. 6) and FGD7 (Sr. No. 44) wasa school teacher and office clerk respectively, due to frequent exacerbation of symptoms, they had to resign from their jobs.

IMPACT ON MENTAL HEALTH

Majority of women faced daily anxiety to avoid embarrassment. While younger women were more prone to mental health issues, older women avoided getting out as much as possible. FGD4 (Sr. No. 20) said "Earlier I used to be very anxious while going out. I used to take extra pair of clothing with me. But for the past 1.5 years, I avoid going out as I am retired, and my son earns for daily living".

Discussion

In India, there are lots of social barriers and misconceptions regarding reproductive and/or sexual health in general which include UI. It is a subject that is still not talked about or discussed in public and women appear not to be aware of how exactly to address issue. Present study reported prevalence of UI to be 30% with mixed incontinence to be the highest (63/143). A similar study conducted by Singh et al. [17] reported a prevalence of 21.8% while Bodhare et al. [18] in Telangana, India reported a prevalence of 10% for UI.Both of these studies may have different prevalence as they were conducted at different areas and different settings. A study conducted in China by Lan Zhu et al. [18] reported highest prevalence of Stress UI.

Present study reported significant association of existing UI with age and marital status (p < 0.05). Also, a significant association was seen based on age, occupation, literacy, and socioeconomic status and ICIQ scores among women having UI (P < 0.05). A study conducted by Singh et al. [17] in India also reported association of increasing age with UI. A study conducted at Nigeria by Abiola et al. [20] showed that Increasing age has a positive correlation with ICIQ score.

Present study demonstrated a significant difference between ICIQ scores among women (suffering from UI) with < 3 children and women having \geq 3 children (P < 0.05). Saadia [21] conducted by Al-Badr [22] among Saudi women showed a significant association between a history of previous gynecological surgery (like abortion) and the presence of UI.

A moderate correlation was seen between BMI and ICIQ scores in present study. Palms et al. [23] conducted a study in Brazil where correlation between BMI and overactive bladder was assessed which revealed that women with BMI \geq 30 presented a significantly higher score for ICIQ than women with a lower BMI (18.5-24.9).

Present study found that a high number of women suffering from UI had co-morbidities like constipation and diabetes mellitus. Maeda et al. [24] in their research found that functional constipation is related to moderate to severe overactive bladder symptoms (OAB) and to OAB with urinary incontinence. Nazaal et al. [25] in their research conducted amongst Palestinian women founda high prevalence of UI among women suffering from diabetes (43.2%).

In context to treatment-seeking behavior, the current study observed that 7% of affected women had consulted doctor. A study conducted by Singh et al. [26] in North India showed that 20% of women had consulted a doctor for their problems. Same reasons like "consideration of UI as normal and shyness" were provided in that study.

POSSIBLE LIMITATIONS OF STUDY

Social Desirability bias

In present research, it was observed that some women may still be denying presence of UI despite presence of female social worker.

Recall Bias

Respondents may have faced problems recalling number of UTIs in past one year. Many old women did not remember their age correctly.

For many women, problem of UI aggravated significantly during winter season, so ICIQ score may change over the months. This may have created the confounding bias. Cold weather being confounding factor.

There was a time lag between quantitative and qualitative data collection due to existing COVID pandemic which in turn may have resulted some lost to follow up participants.

Current study could not separate the risk factors for different types of UI (stress UI/ Urge UI/ Mixed UI).

Conclusion

The revealed prevalence of UI among study participants was 30% and mixed incontinence was the most common reported variety. Sociodemographic factors like age, marital status and socio-economic class were found to have statistical significant effect on existing UI at the time of interview. ICIQ categories of UI were found to be influenced statistically with age, occupation, literacy, socio-economic class parity and obstetric factors like place of delivery and facilitator of delivery. Other important factors which impacted existing UI with statistical significance were parity, history of abortions and number of episodes of UTI in past 1 year. Majority of participants (93%) had never consulted doctor for various reasons/myths like perception that it shall resolve on its' own, Belief that it is an age-related normal phenomenon, shyness to discuss issue with male doctors/members of family and financial reasons.

Acknowledgements

We would like to express our gratitude towards Director of GCS Medical College, Dr Kirti Patel as well as Dean of GCS Medical College, Dr Yogendra Modi for allowing us to conduct this research. Also, we would like to thank

faculty of Department of Community Medicine, GCS Medical College for their constant help and guidance.

Authors' contributions

VRD designed the methodology of the cross-sectional study and provided intellectual support. KS and PK collected the data for the study and carried out the data analysis. KS and PK wrote the manuscript and VRD did the final editing. All authors reviewed the final manuscript.

Conflict of interest statement

The Authors declare no conflict of interest.

Financial support

The study was applied for and approved by ICMR – STS grant (Indian Council of Medical Research – Short Term Studentship) ID- 2020-06417 which is an endeavour to support research being conducted by medical student from Central Government, India.

References

- [1] D'Ancona CD, Haylen BT, Oelke M, Herschorn S, Abranches-Monteiro L, Arnold EP, Goldman HB, Hamid R, Homma Y, Marcelissen T, Rademakers K, Schizas A, Singla A, Soto I, Tse V, de Wachter S. An International Continence Society (ICS) report on the terminology for adult male lower urinary tract and pelvic floor symptoms and dysfunction. Neurourol Urodyn 2019;38:433-77. https://doi.org/10.1002/nau.23897
- [2] Currie CJ, McEwan P, Poole CD, Odeyemi IA, Datta SN, Morgan CL. The impact of the overactive bladder on health-related utility and quality of life. BJU Int 2006;97:1267-72. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1464-410X.2006.06141.x
- [3] Biswas B, Bhattacharyya A, Dasgupta A, Karmakar A, Mallick N, Sembiah S. Urinary Incontinence, Its Risk Factors, and Quality of Life: a study among women aged 50 years and above in a rural health facility of west Bengal. J Midlife Health 2017;8:130-6. https://doi.org/10.4103/jmh.JMH_62_17
- [4] Brigham and Women's Hospital. Types of Incontinence and Risk Factors. Available at: https://www.brighamandwomens. org/obgyn/urogynecology/types-of-incontinence-and-risk-factors (Accessed on: 19/01/2023).
- [5] Lukacz ES, Santiago-Lastra Y, Albo ME, Brubaker L. Urinary incontinence in women: a review. JAMA 2017;318:1592-604. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2017.12137
- [6] Sandvik H, Hunskaar S, Seim A, Hermstad R, Vanvik A, Bratt H. Validation of a severity index in female urinary incontinence and its implementation in an epidemiological survey. J Epidemiol Community Health 1993;47:497-9. https://doi. org/10.1136/jech.47.6.497
- [7] Mitteness LS. Knowledge and beliefs about urinary incontinence in adulthood and old age. J Am Geriatr Soc 1990;38:374-8. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-5415.1990.tb03525.x
- [8] Agarwal BK, Agarwal N. Urinary incontinence: prevalence, risk factors, impact on quality of life and treatment seeking behaviour among middle aged women. Int Surg J 2017;4:1953-8. https://doi.org/10.18203/2349-2902.isj20172131

[9] Thomas TM, Plymat KR, Blannin J, Meade TW. Prevalence of urinary incontinence. Br Med J 1980;281:1243-5. https://doi. org/10.1136/bmj.281.6250.1243

- [10] Quiroz LH, White DE, Juarez D, Shobeiri SA. Age effects on pelvic floor symptoms in a cohort of nulliparous patients. Female Pelvic Med Reconstr Surg 2012;18:325-8. https://doi. org/10.1097/SPV.0b013e3182720255
- [11] Khan S, Ansari MA, Vasenwala SM, Mohsin Z. The influence of menopause on urinary incontinence in the women of the community: a cross-sectional study from North India. Int J Reprod Contraception Obstet Gynecol 2017;6:911. https://doi. org/10.18203/2320-1770.ijrcog20170555
- [12] International Consultation on Incontinence Questionaire ICIQ. Urinary Incontinence Short Form. Available at: https:// iciq.net/iciq-ui-sf (Accessed on: 25/08/2022).
- [13] Sharma R. Revision of Prasad's social classification and provision of an online tool for real-time updating. South Asian J Cancer 2013;2:157. https://doi.org/10.4103/2278-330X.114142
- [14] Consumer Price Index Numbers on Base 2012 =100 for Rural, Urban and Combined for the Month of October 2020." Consumer Price Index Numbers on Base 2012 =100 for Rural, Urban and Combined for the Month of October 2020, pib.gov.in/Press-ReleasePage.aspx?PRID=1672309 (Accessed on: 17/10/2022).
- [15] Schwertner-Tiepelmann N, Lorenz K, Schwab F, Beilecke K, Marschke J, Tunn R. Berlin survey on obstetric anal sphincter injury (OASI). Arch Gynecol Obstet 2022;306:1117-25. https:// doi.org/10.1007/s00404-022-06627-9
- [16] American Pregnancy Association. Prolonged Labor: Failure To Progress. Available at: https://americanpregnancy.org/healthypregnancy/labor-and-birth/prolonged-labor/ (Accessed on: 25/08/2022).
- [17] Singh U, Agarwal P, Verma ML, Dalela D, Singh N, Shankhwar P. Prevalence and risk factors of urinary incontinence in Indian women: A hospital-based survey. Indian J Urol 2013;29:31-6. https://doi.org/10.4103/0970-1591.109981
- [18] Bodhare TN, Valsangkar S, Bele SD. An epidemiological study of urinary incontinence and its impact on quality of life among women aged 35 years and above in a rural area. Indian J Urol 2010;26:353-8. https://doi.org/10.4103/0970-1591.70566
- [19] Zhu L, Lang J, Liu C, Han S, Huang J, Li X. The epidemiological study of women with urinary incontinence and risk factors for stress urinary incontinence in China. Menopause 2009;16:831-6. https://doi.org/10.1097/gme.0b013e3181967b5d
- [20] Abiola OO, Idowu A, Ogunlaja OA, Williams-Abiola OT, Ayeni SC. Prevalence, quality of life assessment of urinary incontinence using a validated tool (ICIQ-UI SF) and bothersomeness of symptoms among rural community: dwelling women in Southwest, Nigeria. Int J Community Med Public Health 2016;3:989-97. https://doi.org/10.18203/2394-6040.ijcmph20160976
- [21] Saadia Z. Effect of Age, Educational Status, Parity and BMI on Development of Urinary Incontinence – a Cross Sectional Study in Saudi Population. Mater Sociomed 2015;27:251-4. https:// doi.org/10.5455/msm.2015.27.251-254
- [22] Al-Badr A, Brasha H, Al-Raddadi R, Noorwali F, Ross S. Prevalence of urinary incontinence among Saudi women. Int J Gynaecol Obstet 2012;117:160-3. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ijgo.2011.12.014
- [23] Palma T, Raimondi M, Souto S, Fozzatti C, Palma P, Riccetto C. Correlation between body mass index and overactive bladder symptoms in pre-menopausal women. Rev Assoc Med Bras (1992) 2014;60:111-7. https://doi.org/10.1590/1806-9282.60.02.007
- [24] Maeda T, Tomita M, Nakazawa A, Sakai G, Funakoshi S, Komatsuda A, Ito Y, Nagata H, Tsukada N, Nakamura S. Female functional constipation is associated with overactive bladder symptoms and urinary incontinence. Biomed Res Int 2017;2017:2138073. https://doi.org/10.1155/2017/2138073

- [25] Nazzal Z, Khatib B, Al-Quqa B, Abu-Taha L, Jaradat A. The prevalence and risk factors of urinary incontinence amongst Palestinian women with type 2 diabetes mellitus: A cross-sectional study. Arab J Urol 2019;18:34-40. https://doi.org/10.108 0/2090598X.2019.1699340
- [26] Kumari S, Singh AJ, Jain V. Treatment seeking behavior for urinary incontinence among north Indian women. Indian J Med Sci 2008;62:352-6.

Received on October 17, 2022. Accepted on November 29, 2022.

Correspondence: Karan Sharma, B/12 Ghansyamnagar, Near Noble Nagar, Post-Kubernagar, Ahmedabad, Gujarat, India. Tel. +91- 7861030086 - E-mail: karansharma0801@gmail.com

How to cite this article: Sharma K, Khandhedia P, Dave VR. An epidemiological profile of women suffering from urinary incontinence residing at one of the cities of western India: A mixed method approach study. J Prev Med Hyg 2022;63:E557-E565. https://doi.org/10.15167/2421-4248/jpmh2022.63.4.2773

© Copyright by Pacini Editore Srl, Pisa, Italy

This is an open access article distributed in accordance with the CC-BY-NC-ND (Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International) license. The article can be used by giving appropriate credit and mentioning the license, but only for non-commercial purposes and only in the original version. For further information: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/deed.en

.....

HEALTH PROMOTION

Vaccine hesitancy among Ukrainian refugees

GIANMARCO TROIANO¹, GIUSEPPE TORCHIA², ALESSANDRA NARDI¹ ¹ UOSD Vaccinations, ASST Melegnano e della Martesana, Italy; ² School of Management, LUM University

Keywords

Ukraine • Vaccine hesitancy • Refugees

Summary

Background. On February 2022, Russia invaded Ukraine. Beyond Poland, Romania, Russia, several refugees reached Italy also. In the past, several factors contributed to low vaccination coverage in Ukraine and the occurrence of epidemic outbreaks. The purpose of our study was to analyze the main characteristics of Ukrainian refugees who accessed the Rozzano Vaccination Center (Italy), and the attitude towards proposed vaccinations.

Methods. In March-July 2022, we conducted a cross-sectional study on Ukrainian refugees under the age of 18. On the basis of their vaccination certificates or antibody dosages, the doctor proposed to the parents (or legal guardians) any vaccinations to be carried out on the basis of the Italian childhood vaccination schedule. Refused or accepted vaccinations were registered and

Introduction

War causes an enormous amount of deaths and disabilities around the world. It destroys families, communities and cultures, divert scarce resources, disrupts the social infrastructure that supports health. It forces people to leave their homes and to become internally displaced persons or refugees who have fled to other countries [1].

According to UNICEF, about forty percent of partially vaccinated or unvaccinated children live in partially or wholly conflict-affected countries. These children are often the most vulnerable to outbreaks of diseases such as measles and polio, which can cause death or severe disability.

Children in conflict-affected areas lose basic vaccinations due to the failure – and sometimes deliberate destruction – of vital health services [2].

On February 24, 2022, Russia launched a full-scale military invasion of Ukraine. Since then, millions of Ukrainians have fled their homes in search of refuge, especially in neighboring countries such as Poland, Romania and Russia [3].

Italy also welcomed thousands of Ukrainian refugees whose main destinations were the biggest Italian cities such as Milan, Rome, Naples and Bologna [4].

At the end of March 2022 (30th) the Italian authorities had announced that so far about 71,940 Ukrainian refugees had entered the country, of which 37,082 women, 6,661 men and 28,197 minors. About 3,000 Ukrainian refugees had reached Italy every day since the war began.

the data exported for statistical analysis. COVID-19 vaccination was excluded from the analysis.

Results. 27 refugees missed the appointment, so 79 Ukrainian refugees have been included in the study. Females represented the 51.90% of patients; the average age was 7.11 (sd 4.92) years. The most refused vaccinations were: HPV, MMR and men C. Significant differences due to age were found for Men C and Chickenpox acceptance.

Conclusions. The efforts made to ensure complete care and to promote vaccination among refugees, offering them a complete evaluation of the vaccination status and the possibility of being vaccinated for free, seem to be insufficient to convince most refugees to get vaccinated.

By the end of April 2022, almost 100,000 Ukrainian refugees arrived in Italy, most of them women and children. Exactly 97,912 people fleeing the war in Ukraine arrived in Italy, of which 50,612 women, 11,833 men and 35,467 minors [4].

Before the war, vaccination rates in Ukraine were among the lowest in Europe. Childhood vaccination coverage has steadily fallen below the WHO target thresholds required to establish herd immunity for some of the most serious diseases. In 2021, 20% of children in Ukraine were not fully vaccinated against measles and 13% were not protected against poliovirus; this percentage is likely to have increased due to the conflict [5].

Likewise, vaccination coverage against COVID-19 has been poor; by February 2022, less than 35% of the general population had received two doses of the vaccine, compared to an average of 65% in the rest of Europe [5].

Several factors have contributed to the low prevalence of vaccination in Ukraine, including widespread hesitancy about the vaccines, fueled in part by social media campaigns that have served to spread vaccine misinformation and undermine public trust in Ukrainian authorities [6].

The World Health Organization (WHO) defined the vaccine hesitancy as a behavior, influenced by a number of factors including issues of confidence (do not trust vaccine or provider), complacency (do not perceive a need for a vaccine, do not value the vaccine), and convenience (access) [7].

Wavering confidence has been compounded by problems

with vaccines provision and disruption of immunization services related to the COVID-19 pandemic.

Due to low vaccination coverage, Ukraine has recently experienced vaccine-preventable disease outbreaks. In 2017-2020, Ukraine reported over 115,000 measles cases and 40 measles-related deaths, representing the largest epidemic in Europe in over a decade [8].

An outbreak of type 2 poliovirus was confirmed in 2021. The poliovirus was isolated from over 20 children, two of whom suffered from acute flaccid paralysis [8]. A mass vaccination campaign in response to this outbreak began in February 2022, but was ultimately halted by the Russian invasion, putting Ukraine's children at risk. The risk of further vaccine-preventable disease outbreaks has been heightened by the conflict. Ukraine has experienced widespread disruption of health services, including immunization programs. Most internally displaced people flee to rural areas or small towns in Ukraine, which do not have the adequate infrastructure to run disease surveillance programs or vaccination campaigns [9].

Most families who have fled Ukraine include young children, the elderly (aged > 60), or people with chronic illnesses, and many are temporarily housed in crowded shelters. There is therefore a risk that crucial doses of vaccines will be missed or delayed.

The risk of epidemic outbreaks of vaccine-preventable diseases in the structures responsible for welcoming migrants, led the Italian Ministry of Health to provide instructions to the Health Authorities to manage the migratory phenomenon [10], indications that have then been declined in regional and local instructions.

The purpose of our study was therefore to analyze the main characteristics of the Ukrainian refugees who accessed the Rozzano Vaccination Center (Milan, Italy), analyzing some socio-demographic data and the attitude towards proposed vaccinations (acceptance or refusal).

Methods

The so called Azienda Socio Sanitaria Territoriale (ASST, translated as Territorial Social and Health Authority) Melegnano e della Martesana tries to respond to the multiple needs of daily life of the citizens who live and work in certain areas of the metropolitan city of Milan. It is present in the territory with: 6 hospitals, 14 territorial clinics, 23 social and health structures.

Vaccinations are administered in eleven vaccination centers (Rozzano, Melegnano, San Giuliano M., San Donato M., Peschiera Borromeo, Melzo, Gorgonzola, Pioltello, Segrate, Trezzo d'Adda). A clinic dedicated to travel medicine is active in Rozzano and Melzo.In the period March-July 2022, a cross sectional study was conducted in Rozzano Vaccination Center (VC).

In response to regional and ministerial indications, the strategic direction of ASST Melegnano Martesana has organized a specific path for taking charge of Ukrainian refugees.

At the beginning of March 2022, a single point for managing migrants was instituted, with the following registration to the national health service (giving them a Straniero Temporaneamente Presente "STP" code, translated as Temporarily Present Foreigner), the execution of a rapid antigenic nasopharyngeal swab for COVID and a complete clinical anamnesis. At the end of the visit, the refugees were then assigned an appointment in Rozzano vaccination center.

On the day of the appointment, the responsible doctor, with basic Ukrainian language knowledge, assessed patients' vaccination status (by evaluating the vaccination certificates in the original language or antibody dosages). Then the doctor recorded the vaccinations in the software used in the Lombardy Region (called Siavr), and proposed to the parents (or legal guardians assigned by the court) any vaccinations to be carried out on the basis of the Italian childhood vaccination schedule. The vaccinations carried out or refused have been registered in Siavr as per regional indications.

The software, connected to the registry, made it possible to obtain information such as the age and sex of the patient.

All the collected data were then exported in an Excel sheet for statistical analysis.

Percentages, means and standard deviation were calculated from the collected data. The Shapiro Wilk test was performed to evaluate the normality of the continuous variables. The Mann - Whitney test was then applied. Odds ratios were calculated to understand the relationship between vaccination refusal and gender. Data were organized and processed by Stata[®] SE software, version 12.1 (StataCorp, College Station, Texas, USA). The significance level was set at p < 0.05. The study was conducted in a totally anonymous way and approved by the Health Direction of the ASST Melegnano Martesana (Vizzolo Predabissi, Milan, Italy).

INCLUSION AND EXCLUSION CRITERIA

The study was conducted on all Ukrainian refugees under the age of 18 who accessed VC Rozzano during the study period. Minors had to be accompanied by a parent or guardian. The examined vaccinations were all those included in the Italian childhood vaccination schedule(obligatory or not). The anti COVID-19 vaccination was excluded from the study.

Results

From 23 March 2022 to 13 July 2022, 106 Ukrainian refugees received an appointment at VC Rozzano. Of these 27 (25.27%) missed the appointment.

The temporal trend of accesses to the Rozzano CV is summarized in Figure 1.

Females represented the 51.90% of patients (N = 41); the overall average age was 7.11 (sd \pm 4.92, median 6.49 years). There was no statistically significant age difference between the two genders(p = 0.26) as assessed by the Mann Whitney test (level of significance 95%).

Vaccinations that have been accepted or refused are resumed in Table I.



Tab. I. Accepted or refused vaccinations (anti-poliomyelitis, anti-diphtheria, anti-tetanus, anti-hepatitis B, anti-pertussis, anti-*Haemophilus influenzae* type b, anti-measles, anti-rubella, anti-mumps, anti-chickenpox are obligatory in Italy from 2017).

Vaccinations	Accepted (N)	%	Refused (N)	%
Hexavalent (DTaP-HepB-IPV-Hib i.e. diphtheria and tetanus toxoids and acellular pertussis adsorbed, hepatitis B and inactivated poliovirus vaccine, <i>Haemophilus influenzae</i> type b conjugate and hepatitis B vaccine)	9	64.29	5	35.71
Men ACWY (Meningitis ACYW)	8	72.73	3	27.27
Men C	16	39.02	25	60.98
Men B	8	47.06	9	52.94
MMR (Measles, Mumps, and Rubella)	3	37.50	5	62.50
MMR + Chickenpox	15	83.33	3	16.67
PCV 13 (Pneumococcal Conjugate Vaccine)	12	54.55	10	45.45
Rotavirus	3	60.00	2	40.00
Chickenpox	8	57.14	6	42.86
Hepatitis B	3	75.00	1	25.00
dTp - Polio	6	66.67	3	33.33
HPV (Papillomavirus)	0	0	1	100.00
Polio	2	100.00	0	0

As evidenced from the percentages reported in Table I, the vaccines that parents (or guardians) decided mostly to refuse were: the vaccine against HPV 100% (N = 1), against measles-mumps-rubella 62.50% (N = 5), against meningococcus C 60.98% (N = 25).

Moreover, the anti-Men C vaccine was the most refused if we consider the total refusals (25 refusals).

There was no difference in the vaccine acceptance if the child was a male or a female(all p > 0.05).

Through the Mann Whitney's test we could observe a difference in vaccine acceptance related to child's age for the following vaccinations:

• men C (p = 0.01): average age of child if parent/ guardian decided to refuse 6.25 (sd 3.46) years, average age of child if parent/guardian decided to accept 3.72 (sd 3.09) years;

.....

• chickenpox (p = 0.03): average age of child if parent/ guardian decided to refuse 7.73 (sd 4.30) years, average age of child if parent/guardian decided to accept 3.22 (sd 0.87) years.

Discussion

Our study tried to analyze the main characteristics of Ukrainian (minor) refugees who accessed the Rozzano Vaccination Center in a limited time span (almost three months), analyzing their socio-demographic data and the attitude of their parents / guardians towards the proposed vaccinations. War is, in fact, one of the most difficult emergencies [11], characterized by the interruption of basic social functions, including health care. In the health system, treatment takes priority and less attention is paid to prevention and rehabilitation. The implementation of the mandatory immunization program is also overlooked as one of the most important achievements in medicine and one of the most important prevention programs, the introduction of which has saved millions of lives [12].

For example, during the war in Bosnia and Herzegovina (1992-1995), the immunization program in the Sarajevo canton was completely interrupted. There were several problems related to immunization implementation. The main ones were: vaccine shortages, problems with maintaining the cold chain, difficulties to take children to vaccination centers, a large number of orphaned children, a large number of injured children. Immunization has sometimes been overlooked by parents, but also by healthcare workers [12].

Surely the Ukraine case had further complications.

Between 2012 and 2013, vaccination coverage in Ukraine was maintained at 76% (DPT3 i.e. Diphtheriatetanus-pertussis 3rd dose) (WHO UNICEF estimates), after which it dropped dramatically to 23% in 2014 following the onset of the conflict (the so called Donbass war) [13, 14].

Poor coverage has been amplified by the ongoing conflict and displacements in the east. In 2015, two circulating cases of vaccine-derived type 1 poliovirus were confirmed [14, 15], along with 3667 cases of rubella, 2937 cases of pertussis and 995 cases of mumps [16].

The ever-known vaccine hesitancy in Ukraine led to low childhood vaccination rates between 2008 and 2016. In 2016, only 19% of children received the third dose of the diphtheria-tetanus-pertussis vaccine, 31% the second dose of the measles, mumps and rubella vaccine and 56% received the third recommended dose of the oral polio vaccine. Vaccination rates increased dramatically thereafter, due to a major measles outbreak that resulted in numerous deaths [17].

Furthermore, the Ukrainian vaccination schedule does not include rotavirus and this infection accounts for a large percentage of childhood gastroenteritis [18].

Hepatitis B vaccinations were introduced in Ukraine in 2002. Initial coverage was high (92-98%) in 2004-2007, but then dropped to 21-48% in 2010-2016. Despite low vaccination rates, the prevalence of hepatitis B is low in Ukraine. Some areas of the country have reported a seroprevalence of the surface antigen of the hepatitis B virus (HbsAg) > 0.5% [19].

Fortunately the latest WHO data indicated that Ukraine had much higher childhood vaccination rates in 2019-2020 than in the decade before [18].

In our study, the highest rejection rates concerned the HPV vaccine 100% (N = 1), measles mumps rubella 62.50% (N = 5), and meningococcus C 60.98% (N = 25). The latter vaccination was the one most rejected in absolute numerical terms (25 refusals).

Beyond the historic vaccine hesitancy in Ukraine, a study conducted in Messina in 2017 partially tried to explain plausible reasons related to the vaccine hesitancy towards meningococcal and pneumococcal vaccinations. In this study 81.1% (95% CI: 78.3-84.0) of the parents agreed,

while 18.9% (95% CI: 13.0-24.8) responded that these vaccinations are not necessary. The explanation given by the unfavorable parents was the fear of side effects for 44.4% (95% CI: 40.8-48.0), the lack of information received for 30.3% (95% CI: 23, 4-37.2) and doubts about the actual efficacy of these vaccines for 13.1% (95% CI: 8.4-17.8). Furthermore, 53.7% (95% CI: 49.5-57.9) stated that they had received information on these vaccinations and the main sources of information were doctors for 82% (95% CI: 77.8-86.2). Among the respondents, 46.3% (95% CI: 41.8-50.8) replied that they had not received information on these vaccinations. In particular, the misinformation involved vaccines for HPV, meningococcus C and pneumococcus. Compared to HPV vaccination, meningococcal C and pneumococcal vaccinations have received more attention from parents. In fact, on the basis of the parents' declaration, these vaccinations were carried out respectively in 52.2% and 46.4% of cases, compared to the percentage of 66.6% in favor of them. These data is probably due to the outbreaks of meningitis in some Italian regions. Furthermore, most of those who received pneumococcal vaccination did so because it was administered together with other mandatory vaccinations [20, 21].

This latter aspect could certainly also explain our results which highlight significant differences in age-related acceptance for vaccinations against MenC and against chickenpox: in fact the average age of children who do not undergo these vaccinations is significantly higher (Men c almost 6 years, Chickenpox almost 8 years).

In Italy, the so-called "Vaccines Decree" has increased the number of obligatory vaccinations in childhood and adolescence from four to ten. The goal is to counter the gradual decline in vaccinations, both mandatory and recommended, in place since 2013, which resulted in an average vaccination coverage in Italy < 95%.

The Law Decree 7 June 2017 n. 73 "Urgent provisions on vaccine prevention", amended by the conversion law 31 July 2017, n. 119, provides for the following compulsory vaccinations for minors between the ages of zero and sixteen and for unaccompanied foreign minors:

- anti-poliomyelitis;
- anti-diphtheria;
- anti-tetanus;
- anti-hepatitis B;
- anti-pertussis
- anti-Haemophilus influenzae type b;
- anti-measles;
- anti-rubella;
- anti-mumps
- anti-chickenpox.

The following vaccinations, instead, are actively offered (free of charge)by the Regions and Autonomous Provinces, but are not obligatory:

- anti-meningococcal B;
- anti-meningococcal C;
- anti-pneumococcal;
- anti-rotavirus.

Obligatory vaccinations are free of charge and must all be given to those born after 2017 [22].

In general, meningococcal C vaccination is offered in conjunction with measles-mumps-rubella-chickenpox vaccination [23].

So probably, even in our case, the parents/guardians of the youngest Ukrainian children have better accepted vaccinations because they are associated with other obligatory ones.

However, the problem of refusing vaccinations is a very important problem. In several studies, vaccine rejection has been associated with outbreaks of invasive Haemophilus influenzae type b disease, chickenpox, pneumococcal disease, measles, and whooping cough [24, 25].

In particular, a study conducted in Colorado in 1998-2008 found that children of parents who refuse chickenpox vaccinations are at higher risk of chickenpox infection than vaccinated children [1].

Chickenpox is a common vaccine-preventable disease that usually presents in children as a mild infection; however, serious complications also occur. The chickenpox burden is significant in terms of the incidence, complications and hospitalization rate related to chickenpox and obviously also in terms of the economic burden of the disease. Despite the evidence for the overall positive effects of chickenpox vaccination, there are large differences in the implementation of chickenpox vaccination and vaccine adoption from country to country. Improving the acceptance of chickenpox vaccination at the national and individual levels would reduce the burden of the disease on children's health and health resources.

The determinants of chickenpox vaccine acceptance have been examined in several studies and according to these, the most important factors associated with chickenpox vaccination were the doctor's recommendation of this vaccination and the perception of chickenpox as a sufficiently serious disease.

For most vaccine-preventable diseases, many parents may not be aware of the danger: since they have not personally seen the devastating effect of tetanus, measles, whooping cough or polio, some of them do not consider the vaccination enough important. This is not the case of chickenpox, as most parents had chickenpox as a child and / or saw the disease in others. However, this factor could backfire on accepting chickenpox vaccination. If parents remember chickenpox as a mild infection and if they have learned to accept chickenpox as a normal part of childhood, these elements can undermine their willingness to vaccinate their children [26].

The problem of whether or not to accept vaccinations is certainly much broader.

In research, individual and interpersonal approaches have long been used to examine and facilitate behavior change. More recently, the factors that facilitate and / or hinder the implementation of health behaviors are addressed using a new approach: the social determinants of health (Social Determinants of Health SDoH) [27].

SDOH include elements in an individual's neighborhood, community and environment determined by where the individual is born, resides, learns, works, worships, etc. As a result, the Healthy People 2030 SDoH Framework

classifies SDoH indicators into five categories: social and community context, education, economic stability, neighborhood and built environment, health and healthcare [27].

SDoH includes access to education, affordable housing and health services, public safety, food safety [28].

SDoH are affected by the distribution of resources that improve quality of life and public health outcomes. For example, in the United States, people residing in certain metropolitan statistical areas (MSAs), non-MSAs (mostly rural), and without health insurance are disproportionately less likely to be vaccinated [29].

Also, parental education; living conditions and family income; access to health care; philosophical and cultural beliefs; religious affiliations; and urban *vs* rural residence are some of the SDoHs that influence childhood vaccination rates [30].

In 2019, a study conducted on American families showed that the prevalence of vaccine hesitancy was 6.1% for routine childhood vaccinations and 25.8% for influenza vaccines; 12% firmly and 27% somehow agreed to have concerns about the serious side effects of both routine childhood vaccines and influenza. A total of 70% firmly agreed that routine childhood vaccines are effective against 26% of the flu vaccine (P < .001). Also in this study, applying multivariable models, an education level below a college degree and a household income below 400% of the federal poverty level predicted hesitation on both routine childhood vaccines and influenza [31].

STUDY LIMITS

Some limits should be certainly reported in our study: first, the limited number of patients (and their parents), that could not be representative of the entire population; second, although refugees received information in their language, the language barriers have represented a great problem for an efficient communication. Moreover, in case of vaccine refusal, the reasons have not been asked, so we are not able to have a complete overview of vaccine hesitancy phenomenon among Ukrainian refugees.

Conclusions

The war in Ukraine and the resulting migration crisis represent a major challenge for public health in Italy. Years of organizational and vaccine procurement difficulties, as well as a long history of vaccine hesitancy in the country, widely spread both in the general population and among health workers, have resulted in low vaccination coverage in Ukraine and the occurrence of epidemic outbreaks. Low vaccination rates against major vaccine-preventable infectious diseases in Ukraine can certainly reduce the ability to effectively control probable outbreaks in the immediate and future. The efforts made by the ASST Melegnano Martesana and the Rozzano Vaccination Center to ensure complete care and promote vaccination among refugees, offering them a complete evaluation of the vaccination status and the possibility of being vaccinated for free, seem however to be insufficient to convince most refugees to get vaccinated.

Acknowledgments

No one.

Conflict of interest statement

The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

Authors' contribution

GTr had the idea of the study, collected and analyzed data, AN and GTo supervised the work and helped to conceptualize the ideas

References

- Sidel VW, Levy BS. The health impact of war. Int J Inj Contr Saf Promot 2008;15:189-95. https://doi. org/10.1080/17457300802404935
- UNICEF. Immunization and conflict. Available at: https://www. unicef.org/immunization/immunization-and-conflict (Accessed on: 31/08/2022).
- [3] Forum We. This map shows how many refugees are fleeing Ukraine 2022. Available at: https://www.weforum.org/agenda/2022/06/ukraine-refugee-crisis-europe-conflict-migration/ (Accessed on: 19/08/2022).
- [4] Shengen visa News. Timeline of Ukrainian Refugees Reaching EU Countries Amid Russian Invasion 2022. Available at: https://www.schengenvisainfo.com/news/timeline-of-ukrainian-refugees-reaching-eu-countries-amid-russian-invasion/ (Accessed on: 19/08/2022).
- [5] Hill M, Vanderslott S, Volokha A, Pollard AJ. Addressing vaccine inequities among Ukrainian refugees. Lancet Infect Dis 2022;22:935-6. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(22)00366-8
- [6] Broniatowski DA, Jamison AM, Qi S, AlKulaib L, Chen T, Benton A, Quinn SC, Dredze M. Weaponized health communication: twitter bots and russian trolls amplify the vaccine debate. Am J Public Health 2018;108:1378-84. https://doi.org/10.2105/ AJPH.2018.304567
- Troiano G, Nardi A. Vaccine hesitancy in the era of COVID-19. Public Health 2021;194:245-51. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. puhe.2021.02.025
- [8] Health Cluster Ukraine Ukraine public health situation analysis (PHSA)–short-form. Available at: https://reliefweb.int/sites/reliefweb.int/files/resources/ukraine-phsa-shortform-030322.pdf (Accessed on: 03/03/2022).
- [9] International Organization for Migration UN Migration Ukraine internal displacement report. Available at: https://displacement. iom.int/reports/ukraine-internal-displacement-report-generalpopulation-survey-round-4-29-april-3-may-2022 (Accessed on: 03/05/2022).
- [10] Ministero Della Salute. Oggetto: Crisi Ucraina Prime Indicazioni per Aziende Sanitarie Locali 2022. Available at: https:// www.trovanorme.salute.gov.it/norme/renderNormsanPdf?ann o=2022&codLeg=86063&parte=1%20&serie=null (Accessed on: 1/05/2022).

- [11] Nante N, Gialluca L, De Corso M, Troiano G, Verzuri A, Messina G. Quality of life in refugees and asylum seekers in Italy: a pilot study. Ann Ist Super Sanità 2016;52:424-7.
- [12] Obradovic Z, Balta S, Obradovic A, Mesic S. The impact of war on vaccine preventable diseases. Mater Sociomed 2014;26:382-4. https://doi.org/10.5455/msm.2014.26.382-384
- [13] World Health Organisation (WHO). Country Profile Ukraine. Available at: http://www.who.int/immunisation/monitoring_ surveillance/data/ukr.pdf (Accessed on: 08/09/2018).
- [14] Grundy J, Biggs BA. The impact of conflict on immunisation coverage in 16 countries. Int J Health Policy Manag 2019;8:211-21. https://doi.org/10.15171/ijhpm.2018.127
- [15] World Health Organization (WHO). Circulating vaccine-derived poliovirus – Ukraine. WHO website. Available at: http:// www.who.int/csr/don/01-september-2015-polio/en/ (Accessed on: 8/09/2018).
- [16] Bagcchi S. Inadequate vaccine coverage fuels polio outbreak in Ukraine. Lancet Infect Dis 2015;15:1268-9. https://doi. org/10.1016/S1473-3099(15)00367-9
- [17] Hadjipanayis A, van Esso D, Del Torso S, Dornbusch HJ, Michailidou K, Minicuci N, Pancheva R, Mujkic A, Geitmann K, Syridou G, Altorjai P, Pasinato A, Valiulis A, Soler P, Cirstea O, Illy K, Mollema L, Mazur A, Neves A, Zavrsnik J, Lapii F, Efstathiou E, Kamphuis M, Grossman Z. Vaccine confidence among parents: Large scale study in eighteen European countries. Vaccine 2020;38:1505-12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2019.11.068
- [18] Ludvigsson JF, Loboda A. Systematic review of health and disease in Ukrainian children highlights poor child health and challenges for those treating refugees. Acta Paediatr 2022;111:1341-53. https://doi.org/10.1111/apa.16370
- [19] Khetsuriani N, Zaika O, Chitadze N, Slobodianyk L, Allahverdiyeva V, O'Connor P, Huseynov S. Seroprevalence of hepatitis B virus infection markers among children in Ukraine, 2017. Vaccine 2021;39:1485-92. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2021.02.004
- [20] Facciolà A, Visalli G, Orlando A, Bertuccio MP, Spataro P, Squeri R, Picerno I, Di Pietro A. Vaccine hesitancy: An overview on parents' opinions about vaccination and possible reasons of vaccine refusal. J Public Health Res 2019;8:1436. https://doi.org/10.4081/jphr.2019.1436
- [21] Troiano G, Nardi A. Instagrammers' attitude towards Human Papillomavirus (HPV) vaccine: A review. J Hum Behav Soc Environ 2022;32:274-82. https://doi.org/10.1080/10911359.20 21.1885554
- [22] Capano D, Mercurio I, Gabbrielli M, Troiano G, Macrì PG. Vaccinations: Individual freedom vs the interest of the community. legislative updates and liability concerns. Rivista Italiana di Medicina Legale e del Diritto in Campo Sanitario 2019;35:1319-37.
- [23] Ministero Della Salute. Legge vaccini 2021. Available at: https://www.salute.gov.it/portale/vaccinazioni/dettaglioContenuti-Vaccinazioni.jsp?lingua=italiano&id=4824&area=vaccinazioni &menu=vuoto (Accessed on: 27/8/2022).
- [24] Phadke VK, Bednarczyk RA, Salmon DA, Omer SB. Association between vaccine refusal and vaccine-preventable diseases in the united states: a review of measles and pertussis. JAMA 2016;315:1149-58. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2016.1353
- [25] Glanz JM, McClure DL, Magid DJ, Daley MF, France EK, Hambidge SJ. Parental refusal of varicella vaccination and the associated risk of varicella infection in children. Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med 2010;164:66-70. https://doi.org/10.1001/archpediatrics.2009.244
- [26] Horváth A. Acceptance of varicella vaccination. Hum Vaccin Immunother 2021;17:1699-702. https://doi.org/10.1080/21645 515.2020.1843337
- [27] Thompson EL, Rosen BL, Maness SB. Social determinants of health and human papillomavirus vaccination among young

.....

adults, national health interview survey 2016. J Community Health 2019;44:149-58. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10900-018-0565-2

- [28] US Department of Health and Human Services. Social determinants of health - 2014. Available at: https://www.healthypeople.gov/2020/topics-objectives/topic/social-determinants-ofhealth (Accessed on: 01/03/2021).
- [29] Pingali C, Yankey D, Elam-Evans LD, Markowitz LE, Williams CL, Fredua B, McNamara LA, Stokley S, Singleton JA. national, regional, state, and selected local area vaccination coverage among adolescents aged 13-17 years - United States, 2020.

MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2021;70:1183-90. https://doi. org/10.15585/mmwr.mm7035a1

[30] Glatman-Freedman A, Nichols K. The effect of social determinants on immunization programs. Hum Vaccin Immunother 2012;8:293-301. https://doi.org/10.4161/hv.19003

[31] Kempe A, Saville AW, Albertin C, Zimet G, Breck A, Helmkamp L, Vangala S, Dickinson LM, Rand C, Humiston S, Szilagyi PG. Parental hesitancy about routine childhood and influenza vaccinations: a national survey. Pediatrics 2020;146:e20193852. https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2019-3852

Received on October 19, 2022. Accepted on December 26, 2022.

Correspondence: Gianmarco Troiano, UOSD Vaccinations, ASST Melegnano e della Martesana, Via Pandina 1, 20070 Vizzolo Predabissi (MI) Italy. E-mail: gianmarco-89@hotmail.it - gianmarco.troiano@asst-melegnano-martesana.it

How to cite this article: Troiano G, Torchia G, Nardi A. Vaccine hesitancy among Ukrainian refugees. J Prev Med Hyg 2022;63:E566-E572. https://doi.org/10.15167/2421-4248/jpmh2022.63.4.2774

© Copyright by Pacini Editore Srl, Pisa, Italy

This is an open access article distributed in accordance with the CC-BY-NC-ND (Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International) license. The article can be used by giving appropriate credit and mentioning the license, but only for non-commercial purposes and only in the original version. For further information: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/deed.en

INFECTIOUS DISEASES

Smear grading at initial treatment association with treatment outcomes among new smear positive pulmonary tuberculosis patients: A retrospective study

ABOLFAZL MOHAMMADBEIGI¹, SEYED ABBAS HOSSEINALI-POUR², MOHAMMAD ALIGOL³, MAHDI MOHAMMADI², MARYAM DERAKHSHANI⁴, MARJAN SOLEYMANI-MONFARED⁵ ¹Department of Epidemiology and Biostatistics, Faculty of Health, Qom University of Medical Sciences, Qom, Iran; ²Disease Prevention and Control Unit, Qom Health Vice chancellor, Qom University of Medical Sciences, Qom, Iran; ³Department of Public Health, Faculty of Health, Qom University of Medical Sciences, Qom, Iran; ⁴Department of Anesthesiology, Shahid-Beheshti Hospital, Qom University of Medical Sciences, Qom, Iran; ⁵Research Student Committee, Faculty of Health, Qom University of Medical Sciences, Qom, Iran

Keywords

DOTS • Mycobacterium sputum smear • Treatment failure • Tuberculosis • Smear grading

Summary

Introduction. Tuberculosis (TB) is one of the most challenging diseases in diagnosis, treatment and control. We aimed to assess the association of the initial grading of Mycobacterium Sputum Smear (MSS) on the outcomes of TB treatment.

Materials and methods. In a retrospective study, data of 418 positive pulmonary smear patients were retrieved from the TB registration system in Iran during 2014 to 2021. Patients' data included demographic, laboratory and clinical information and were recorded in our checklist. The grading of Mycobacterium Sputum Smear (MSS) at the initial treatment was assessed based on World Health Organization (WHO) guidelines. Chi-square test was used to assess the relationship between tuberculosis treatment outcomes and Mycobacterium grade at initial treatment in SPSS.

Results. The mean age of cases was 51.19 ± 22.29 years old and

Introduction

Tuberculosis (TB) is the major cause of death from infectious diseases that caused by Mycobacterium tuberculosis. Two main type of TB are pulmonary and external pulmonary TB that affected only the lugs and other organs of the body, respectively [1]. On the threshold of the 21th century, the world health organization (WHO) has declared tuberculosis as a global emergency, since it is not well controlled in some parts of the world and due to comorbidity and occurrence of resistant Mycobacterium and Acquired Immunodeficiency Syndrome (AIDS) [2]. The WHO estimates that one-third of the world's population is infected with TB and one person is added to their number per second [3]. In 2016, 10.4 million people were affected to tuberculosis, and 25% of them died due to this disease [4]. The overall incidence of tuberculosis in Iran was 14.4 per 100,000 populations and the incidence of positive pulmonary smear disease that year was 7.07 per 100,000 populations [5, 6].

Tuberculosis is one of the most challenging diseases

varied between 14 and 95 years. Laboratory results showed that the rate of 1-9, 1+,2+ and 3+ Mycobacterium tuberculosis was 17.7%, 44.3%, 19.4% and 18.7%, respectively. The rate of cure, death and treatment failure in patients was 87.1%, 6.9%, and 1.2%, respectively. The highest mortality rate (11.5%) occurred in patients with 3+ and the lower rate of cure was 79.5% in this group. Moreover, by increasing the Mycobacterium grade the rate of transferred out and lost to follow up from treatment increased (p = 0.024).

Conclusion. High smear grading of sputum is inversely associated with lower curing and on-time treatment. Moreover, by increasing the Mycobacterium grade at initial treatment, treatment failure and lost to follow up increased Therefore, improvement the health system and patient-diagnosis and screening programs is necessary to on-time diagnosis and facilitate the treatment process.

in diagnosis, treatment and control. Despite the implementation of effective prevention and treatment programs, the expected success in reducing and controlling TB in Iran has not been achieved yet. Numerous factors are considered as related factors of failure of treatment, death and unsuccessful in TB control including drug resistance, delaying in diagnosis, immigration and the role of neighbor countries, poverty, ethnicity, gender, poor nutrition, smoking and drug use [7-9]. However, inappropriate patient management and using the wrong of medication dose and poor compliance of patients play significant role in the development of drug resistance [8, 10, 11]. The survival rate of untreated patients is 50% within the first 5 years of pulmonary tuberculosis, while 25% of TB patients will recover spontaneously due the desired immune system, and another 25% will remain chronic infectious tuberculosis [1]. Positive pulmonary smear patients with sneezing and coughing are the cause of microbial transmission in the community [12]. A positive sputum smear case can infect 10 to 15 people in a year [13]. Therefore, not only diagnosing TB cases is essential for successful control of the disease in the

community but also achieving appropriate treatment is important factor [14].

The WHO policy for TB control is a short-term treatment under direct supervision (DOTS) strategy that includes an effective structure for diagnosis (examination of sputum smears with a light microscope) and treatment (short-time drug therapy) [15]. The DOST strategy was launched by the WHO to control tuberculosis in 1995, and more than 180 countries are currently implementing the program [16]. Monitoring the outcome of TB treatment and understanding the reason for treatment failure important to assess the effectiveness of the TB control program[1, 16, 17]. Failure to treat patients create economic and health problems, including drug resistance and inability to perform daily activities in patients [12]. Mycobacterium Sputum Smear (MSS) at the beginning of treatment, known as an effective predictor of treatment [3, 14]. Studies have shown that there is a link between bacillus levels in MSS at the beginning of treatment and the outcome of treatment, so that the rate of recovery is higher in people with low levels of MSS [3, 7, 18]. Moreover, the rate of death and treatment failure among patients with more grade MSS is higher [19] and it is the cause a delay of negative smear conversion rate in patients [15, 20].

Despite the implementation of the national TB control and care program in the country, the TB disease remained as a public health problem [12, 17]. Therefore, knowing the factors affecting death rate and treatment failure from TB and preventive factors of smear conversion could helpful for health policy and providing medical education. This study aimed to determine the association of the grading of positive MSS at the beginning of treatment on the outcome of TB treatment in confirmed cases.

Method

This is a descriptive-analytical, a retrospective study on all 418 positive pulmonary smear patients during 2014 to 2021. All the patients were being treated free of charge based on Iranian national TB control and care protocol, and their treatment results were available and analyzed in SPSS software. The informed consent was taken from all patients and the study protocol approved in ethical committee of Qom University of Medical Sciences by IR.MUQ. Rec.1399.105 code.

The inclusion criterion was that patients had to be new cases suffering from positive pulmonary smear. The exclusion criteria were wrong diagnosis, a history of disease relapse and failed treatment. Patients' data included demographic, laboratory and clinical information retrieved from the TB registration system (TB Register) and other registration offices and were recorded in our checklist.

Based on standard definitions, a patient is assured to have contracted positive pulmonary smear in three situations. First, if he/she have undergone at least two sputum positive smear tests regarding fast-acid bacilli. Two, if

he/she have undergone only one test but their chest's radiographic changes show pulmonary tuberculosis and Three, if he/she have undergone only one test but they have one sputum positive culture. Moreover, the bacillus level in the initial treatment is assessed based on the number of Mycobacterium tuberculosis in the microscopic field according to WHO guidelines [21]. Accordingly, if there are 1-9 bacilli in every 100 microscopic field, the exact number of observed bacillus is reported. If 10-99 bacilli are observed in every 100 microscopic fields, the grading is determined as +1, and if the ratio is 1-10 the grading is quantified as +2. Finally, if there are more than 10 bacilli in every microscopic field, the grading is specified as sputum smear 3+ [21, 22]. According to WHO's definitions, treatment outcome was classified to six different standard definitions including cured, treatment completed, treatment failed, died, lost to follow up and transferred out [21].

.....

A patient is regarded as cured if the result of their positive pulmonary smear test is negative at the end of the treatment process or if the result of their previous sputum test, carried out for treatment piloting, is negative. On the other hand, failed treatment happens when the patient suffering from positive pulmonary smear has been still positive for five months or more since the initial treatment, they have been positive again after being tested negative in the same period or the patient suffering from negative pulmonary smear dies. Lost to follow up means that the patient has stopped their own treatment for two months or more. Transferred out means that the patient has been transferred to another treatment unit after their initial treatment with no information about the final result of their treatment [22].

STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

After data collection by reviewing the medical records of patients in TB register system, all data were entered in SPSS (V.22) software. The Chi-square test was used to assess the relationship between tuberculosis treatment outcomes and *Mycobacterium* grade at initial treatment. The significance level was assigned as 0.05 for the statistical tests.

Results

This study conducted on 418 tuberculosis cases with the mean age of cases was 51.19 ± 22.29 years old and varied between 14 and 95 years. According to Table I, from all patients 46.7% (195 cases) were male and 53.3% (223 cases) were female. Our laboratory results showed that the rate of 1-9, 1+,2+ and 3+*Mycobacterium tuberculosis* in our patients was 17.7%, 44.3%, 19.4% and 18.7%, respectively. Therefore, 62% (259 cases) were affected to low grade of bacillus (1+ and lower bacillus) and 38% (159 cases) were affected to high grade of bacillus. The rate of cure, death and treatment failure in our patients was 87.1%, 6.9%, and 1.2%, respectively. Moreover, 4.8% (20 cases) were lost to followed or transferred out. Our results showed that gender, nationality, job and

Variables		Frequency (%)
Condor	Male	195 (46.7)
Gender	Female	223 (53.3)
	Iranian	217 (51.9)
Nationality	Afghan	187 (44.7)
	Other	14 (3.3)
	Worker	71 (17.0)
	Without job	43 (10.3)
Job	Non-governmental	19 (4.5)
	Housekeeper	181 (43.3)
	Other	104 (24.9)
	Illiterate	228 (54.5)
	Elementary	67 (16.0)
Education	High school	36 (8.6)
	Advanced	54 (12.9)
	College	33 (7.9)
Decidency are	Urban	359 (85.9)
Residency are	Rural	59 (14.1)
	2016	76 (18.2)
	2017	70 (16.7)
Year	2018	96 (23.0)
	2019	90 (21.5)
	2020	86 (20.6)
	1-9	74 (17.7)
Decil count	+	185 (44.3)
Basil Court	++	81 (19.4)
	+++	78 (18.7)
	Cured	364 (87.1)
	Death	29 (6.9)
Final Outcome	Treatment failure	5 (1.2)
	Lost to follow up/ transferred out	20 (4.8)

Tab.	I.	Demographic	characteristics	of	patients	with	tuberculosis.
------	----	-------------	-----------------	----	----------	------	---------------

education were significant variables that related to higher death, treatment failure and lost to followed or transferred out from treatment of tuberculosis (Tab. II). Based on our results, the mortality rate in male was 10.3% that was significantly higher from female patients (p = 0.004). The treatment failure was higher in patients from other countries (except Iranian and Afghan) who lived in Iran such as Pakistan and Iraq people. The mortality rate was 11.5% in Iranian patients, 2.1% in Afghan and 0% in Pakistan and Arab countries(P < 0.001).

Chi square test showed that housekeeper have the highest rate of cured and the highest rate of treatment failure showed in patients with non-governmental (p = 0.048). The treatment failure rate increased among patients by decreasing the education and mortality rate was 8.8% in illiterate patients and 0% in patients with advanced education. However, the failure rate in college educated patients was highest as 9.1% (p = 0.007). Based on our results residency place was not significant variable on the outcome of tuberculosis (p = 0.387).

Table III showed that the highest mortality rate (11.5%) occurred in patients with 3+ and the lower rate of cure was 79.5% in this group. Moreover, by increasing the *Mycobacterium* grade the rate of transferred out and lost to follow up from treatment increased (p = 0.024). According to the Figure 1, treated rate was higher in patients with 1+ and lower *Mycobacterium* grade.

Discussion

Literature shows that there is a significant relationship between the high bacillus grading of smear in the initial treatment and negative smear and when the number of bacilli increases in the smear in the initial treatment, the

.....

Tab. II. The association of demographic characteristics on the outcome of tuberculosis.

Variables		Cure n (%)	Death n (%)	Treatment failure n (%)	Lost to follow-up/ transferred out n (%)	P value	
Condor	Male	162 (83.1)	20 (10.3)	0	13 (6.7)		
Gender	Female	202 (90.6)	9 (4)	5 (2.2)	7 (3.1)	0.004	
	Iranian	185 (85.3)	25 (11.5)	1 (0.5)	6 (2.8)		
Nationality	Afghan	169 (90.4)	4 (2.1)	2 (1.1)	12 (6.4)	< 0.001	
	Other	10 (71.4)	0	2 (14.3)	2 (14.3)		
	Worker	63 (88.7)	2 (2.8)	0	6 (8.5)		
	Without job	34 (79.1)	4 (9.3)	1 (2.3)	4 (9.3)		
Job	Non-governmental	14 (73.7)	3 (15.8)	1 (5.3)	1 (5.3)	0.048	
	Housekeeper	167 (92.3)	8 (4.4)	1 (0.6)	5 (2.8)		
	Other	86 (82.7)	29 (6.9)	5 (1.2)	20 (4.8)		
	Illiterate	197 (86.4)	20 (8.8)	2 (0.9)	9 (3.9)		
	Elementary	58 (86.6)	5 (7.5)	0	4 (6)		
Education	High school	33 (91.7)	1 (2.8)	0	2 (5.6)	0.007	
	Advanced	50 (92.6)	0	0	4 (7.4)		
	College	26 (78.8)	3 (9.1)	3 (9.1)	1 (3)		
	Urban	310 (86.4)	28 (7.8)	4 (1.1)	17 (4.7)	0 207	
Residence	Rural	54 (91.5)	1 (1.7)	1 (1.7)	3 (5.1)	0.587	

Bacillus count	Cure n (%)	Death n (%)	Treatment failure n (%)	Lost to follow-up/ transferred out n (%)	P value
1-9	66 (89.2)	6 (8.1)	0	2 (2.7)	
+	166 (89.7)	13 (7)	1 (0.5)	5 (2.7)	0.024
++	70 (86.4)	1 (1.2)	3 (3.7)	7 (8.6)	0.024
+++	62 (79.5)	9 (11.5)	1 (1.3)	6 (7.7)	

Tab. III. The association of Mycobacterium grade at initial treatment on the outcome of tuberculosis.



smear becomes negative later [15, 23, 24]. Similarly, patients who have a huge number of bacillus in their smear remain infectious for a longer time and can easily transfer their disease to others [10, 15, 24]. In this study, a significant relationship was observed between the number of bacillus in the initial treatment and the cured rate. About 18.7% of the patients had high sputum smear grade (3+) whose rate of treatment was 79.5%. The rate of curing among these patients was lower than the rate of curing among all the patients (87.1%) and the cure expectation time among smear-positive patients (85%). Tiwari et al. [15] study showed similar results and they observed that there was a significant association between an initial positive smear and the treatment results so that those patients with a higher bacillus grading in their smears in the initial treatment had a weaker chance to be cured. Moreover, Buti et al. [25] found that high smear grading can negatively affect the process of smear conversion (changing from positive to negative). Qiao Liu et al. [26] reported the patients with high smear grade were less likely to respond to treatment.

Based on the results of this study, 6.9% of the patients died with a larger proportion (11.5%) belonging to those with high MSS grading (3+). Atif et al. [27] reported that high smear grading is a crucial factor in increasing the mortality of smear-positive patients. In addition, the higher rate of mortality among high smear grading patients was also reported by Hoa et al. [28]. We found that the rate of failed treatment in high smear grading patients (2+/3+) was higher than the rate in low smear grading patients. Similarly, Rajpal et al. [29] demonstrated that high smear grading patients experienced the highest rate of failed treatment. A study in Burkina Faso

......

also showed that there was a significant relationship between the number of bacilli and failed treatment [8]. A significant association was observed between gender and treatment result in this study, which is in agreement with the findings of Izudi et al. [30] study wherein they observed that treatment success rate was lower among male compared to female patients. In another study in Ethiopia, it was found that men experienced lower rates of treatment success, meaning that they experienced more mortality, failed treatment and treatment absence [24]. Another finding of this study was that a significant relationship was observed between patients' nationality and their treatment result as Afghani patients (90.4%)were cured more successfully than Iranians (85.3%) and patients from Pakistan and Arab countries (71.4%). Although there was no significant difference between Iranian and Afghan patients regarding to curing TB, higher centralization on Afghan immigrants people due to high percent of them in Iran could be justify the better curing of tuberculosis. Tok et al. [31] revealed a significant correlation between nationality and treatment result. Additionally, Shahrezaei et al. [32] observed that the nationality had significant effect on outcome.

Our result showed, there was no significant relationship between patients' residence and their rate of treatment success. Similarly, Sengul et al. [33] found that no association between patients' Living area and treatment success. Gebrezgabiher et al. [34] also demonstrated that patients' residence was associated with failed treatment in a way that rural patients revealed a higher risk of failed treatment. A significant relationship was observed between education and treatment results in the current study. Patel et al. [35] observed that education can be regarded as one of the significant factors impacting treatment success as educated patients were 2.4 times more likely to be cured of pulmonary tuberculosis [35]. Moreover, a significant correlation was found between patients' job and the rate of treatment success in this study as the results showed that businesspeople had lower chances of success for their treatments.

One of the main limitations of the current study was that causal relationships could not be exactly established among the variables in this cross-sectional study. Besides, no questionnaires or interviews were conducted in this study; thus, it was not possible to tap into the role of other factors influencing treatment results. On the other hand, the main advantage of this study was that it included all smear-positive patients. Additionally, this study investigated detailed information regarding patients' demographic and clinical status to provide a thorough analysis of the relationship between such factors and treatment success.

Conclusion

The findings of the study showed that death, treatment failure, lost to follow up and transferred out is more common in patients who have higher MSS. High smear grading of sputum is inversely associated with lower curing and on-time treatment. Moreover, by increasing the *Mycobacterium* grade at initial treatment, treatment failure and lost to follow up increased. Therefore, improvement the health system and patient-diagnosis and screening programs is necessary to on-time diagnosis, facilitate the treatment process and prevent the transference of the disease in suspicious cases. Moreover, the successful treatment in TB patients should be assured, and the TB patients with their families should receive necessary consultations and educations.

Source of Funding

Qom University of Medical Sciences.

Acknowledgement

The authors are very grateful for research deputy of Qom University of Medical Sciences that support financially this project.

Conflict of interest

None.

Contribution of authors

All authors have same contributions to the conception or design of the work, or interpretation of data for the work; and Final approval of the article.

References

- World Health O. Global tuberculosis report 2018. Geneva: World Health Organization. Available at: https://apps.who.int/ iris/handle/10665/274453. License: CC BY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO; 2018.
- [2] Sunday O, Oladimeji O, Ebenezer F, Akintunde B, Abiola T-O, Saliu A, Abiodun O. Treatment outcome of tuberculosis patients registered at DOTS centre in Ogbomoso, Southwestern Nigeria: A 4-Year retrospective study. Tuberculosis Research and Treatment 2014;2014:201705. https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/201705
- [3] Caetano Mota P, Carvalho A, Valente I, Braga R, Duarte R. Predictors of delayed sputum smear and culture conversion among a Portuguese population with pulmonary tuberculosis. Revista portuguesa de pneumologia 2012;18:72-9. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.rppneu.2011.12.005.

- [4] Adebisi YA, Agumage I, Sylvanus TD, Nawaila IJ, Ekwere WA, Nasiru M, Okon EE, Ekpenyong AM, Lucero-Prisno DE. Burden of Tuberculosis and Challenges Facing Its Eradication in West Africa. Int J Infect 2019;6:e92250. https://doi. org/10.5812/iji.92250.
- [5] Metanat M, Sharifi-Mood B, Alavi-Naini R, Aminianfar M. The epidemiology of tuberculosis in recent years: Reviewing the status in south-eastern Iran. Zahedan J Res Med Sci 2012;13:e93704.
- [6] Khazaei S, Zahiri A, Hasanbeigi A, Mohammadian-hafshejani A, Salehiniya H, Saatchi M, Soheylizad M. Effect of intensity of sputum smear positive in pulmonary tuberculosis patients at the beginning of treatment on treatment outcome. J Ilam Univ Med Sci 2016;24:1-7. https://doi.org/10.18869/acadpub.sjimu.24.1.1
- [7] Gunda DW, Nkandala I, Kavishe GA, Kilonzo SB, Kabangila R, Mpondo BC. Prevalence and risk factors of delayed sputum conversion among patients treated for smear positive PTB in Northwestern Rural Tanzania: a retrospective cohort study. J Trop Med 2017;2017:5352906. https://doi.org/10.1155/2017/5352906
- [8] Diallo A, Dahourou DL, Dah TTE, Tassembedo S, Sawadogo R, Meda N. Factors associated with tuberculosis treatment failure in the Central East Health region of Burkina Faso. Pan Afr Med J 2018;30:293. https://doi.org/10.11604/ pamj.2018.30.293.15074
- [9] Diktanas S, Vasiliauskiene E, Polubenko K, Danila E, Celedinaite I, Boreikaite E, Misiunas K. Factors associated with persistent sputum positivity at the end of the second month of tuberculosis treatment in Lithuania. Tuberc Respir Dis (Seoul) 2018;81:233-40. https://doi.org/10.4046/trd.2017.0096
- [10] Lohmann EM, Koster BF, le Cessie S, Kamst-van Agterveld MP, van Soolingen D, Arend SM. Grading of a positive sputum smear and the risk of Mycobacterium tuberculosis transmission. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis 2012;16:1477-84. https://doi. org/10.5588/ijtld.12.0129
- [11] Morris L, Hiasihri S, Chan G, Honjepari A, Tugo O, Taune M, Aia P, Dakulala P, Majumdar SS. The emergency response to multidrug-resistant tuberculosis in Daru, Western Province, Papua New Guinea, 2014-2017. Public Health Action 2019;9(Suppl 1):S4-S11. https://doi.org/10.5588/pha.18.0074
- [12] Taghizade Moghaddam H, Emami Moghadam Z, Khademi G, Bahreini A, Saeidi M. Tuberculosis: past, present and future. Int J Pediatr 2016;4:1243-54. https://doi.org/10.22038/ ijp.2016.6266
- [13] Gupta SN, Gupta N, Gupta S. Surveillance data analysis of revised national tuberculosis control program of kangra, himachal pradesh. J Family Med Prim Care 2013;2:250-5. https://doi. org/10.4103/2249-4863.120730
- [14] Sawadogo B, Tint KS, Tshimanga M, Kuonza L, Ouedraogo L. Risk factors for tuberculosis treatment failure among pulmonary tuberculosis patients in four health regions of Burkina Faso, 2009: case control study. Pan Afr Med J 2015;21:152. https://doi.org/10.11604/pamj.2015.21.152.4827. PubMed PMID: 26327989
- [15] Tiwari S, Kumar A, Kapoor SK. Relationship between sputum smear grading and smear conversion rate and treatment outcome in the patients of pulmonary tuberculosis undergoing dots--a prospective cohort study. Indian J Tuberc 2012;59:135-40.
- [16] Quissell K, Walt G. The challenge of sustaining effectiveness over time: the case of the global network to stop tuberculosis. Health Policy Plan 2016;31(Suppl 1):i17-i32. https://doi. org/10.1093/heapol/czv035
- [17] Glaziou P, Sismanidis C, Floyd K, Raviglione M. Global epidemiology of tuberculosis. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med 2014;5:a017798-a. https://doi.org/10.1101/cshperspect. a017798
- [18] Fallah S, Salarilak Sh, Khalkhali HR, Nejadrahim R, Nasehi M. Effective factors of treatment outcome in smear positive tuberculosis patients in Golestan province-Iran (2014). J Gorgan Univ Med Sci 2016;18:102-7.

.....

- [19] Kayigamba FR, Bakker MI, Mugisha V, De Naeyer L, Gasana M, Cobelens F, van der Loeff MS. Adherence to tuberculosis treatment, sputum smear conversion and mortality: a retrospective cohort study in 48 Rwandan clinics. PloS one 2013;8:e73501. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0073501
- [20] Yari M, Molaeipour L, Jafari MR, Valipour AA, Khazaei S, Roushanaei G. Assessing relation between sputum smear grading in positive pulmonary Tuberculosis patients with treatment outcome. Pajouhan Scientific Journal 2016;14:1-7. https://doi. org/10.21859/psj-140401
- [21] World Health Organization. WHO guidelines on tuberculosis infection prevention and control: 2019 update: World Health Organization 2019.
- [22] Nasehi M, Mirhaghani L. National guideline on Tuberculosis control. Tehran: Andishmand publication 2001.
- [23] Moosazadeh M, Bahrampour A, Nasehi M, Khanjani N. The incidence of recurrence of tuberculosis and its related factors in smear-positive pulmonary tuberculosis patients in Iran: A retrospective cohort study. Lung India 2015;32:557-60. https://doi. org/10.4103/0970-2113.168113
- [24] Melese A, Zeleke B. Factors associated with poor treatment outcome of tuberculosis in Debre Tabor, northwest Ethiopia. BMC Research Notes 2018;11:25. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13104-018-3129-8
- [25] Bouti K, Aharmim M, Marc K, Soualhi M, Zahraoui R, Benamor J, Bourkadi JE, Iraqi G. Factors Influencing Sputum Conversion among Smear-Positive Pulmonary Tuberculosis Patients in Morocco. ISRN Pulmonology 2013;2013:486507.https://doi. org/10.1155/2013/486507
- [26] Liu Q, Lu P, Martinez L, Yang H, Lu W, Ding X, Zhu L. Factors affecting time to sputum culture conversion and treatment outcome of patients with multidrug-resistant tuberculosis in China. BMC Infect Dis 2018;18:114. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12879-018-3021-0
- [27] Atif M, Sulaiman SA, Shafie AA, Ali I, Asif M, Babar ZU. Treatment outcome of new smear positive pulmonary tuberculosis patients in Penang, Malaysia. BMC Infect Dis 2014;14:399. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2334-14-399

- [28] Hoa NB, Sokun C, Wei C, Lauritsen JM, Rieder HL. Time to unsuccessful tuberculosis treatment outcome, Cambodia, China, and Viet Nam. Public Health Action 2012;2:15-20. https:// doi.org/10.5588/pha.11.0024
- [29] Rajpal S, Dhingra V, Aggarwal J. Sputum grading as predictor of treatment outcome in pulmonary tuberculosis. Indian J Tuberc 2002;49:139-42. https://doi.org/10.1378/chest.132.4_ MeetingAbstracts.475a
- [30] Izudi J, Tamwesigire IK, Bajunirwe F. Treatment success and mortality among adults with tuberculosis in rural eastern Uganda: a retrospective cohort study. BMC Public Health 2020;20:501. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-020-08646-0
- [31] Tok PSK, Liew SM, Wong LP, Razali A, Loganathan T, Chinna K, et al. Determinants of unsuccessful treatment outcomes and mortality among tuberculosis patients in Malaysia: A registry-based cohort study. PloS one 2020;15:e0231986. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0231986
- [32] Shahrezaei M, Maracy MR, Farid F. Factors Affecting Mortality and Treatment Completion of Tuberculosis Patients in Isfahan Province from 2006 to 2011. Int J Prev Med 2015;6:91. https:// doi.org/10.4103/2008-7802.165157
- [33] Sengul A, Akturk UA, Aydemir Y, Kaya N, Kocak ND, Tasolar FT. Factors affecting successful treatment outcomes in pulmonary tuberculosis: a single-center experience in Turkey, 2005-2011. J Infect Dev Ctries 2015;9:821-8. https://doi.org/10.3855/ jidc.5925
- [34] Gebrezgabiher G, Romha G, Ejeta E, Asebe G, Zemene E, Ameni G. Treatment Outcome of Tuberculosis Patients under Directly Observed Treatment Short Course and Factors Affecting Outcome in Southern Ethiopia: A Five-Year Retrospective Study. PloS one 2016;11:e0150560-e. https://doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pone.0150560
- [35] Patel SV, Nimavat KB, Alpesh PB, Shukla LK, Shringarpure KS, Mehta KG, et al. Treatment outcome among cases of multidrug-resistant tuberculosis (MDR TB) in Western India: A prospective study. J Infect Public Health 2016;9:478-84. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.jiph.2015.11.011

Received on January 5, 2022. Accepted on October 31, 2022.

Correspondence: Maryam Derakhshani, Assistant Professor, Department of Anesthesiology, Shahid-Beheshti Hospital, Qom University of Medical Sciences, Qom, Iran. E-mail: drmaryamderakhshani66@gmail.com

How to cite this article: Mohammadbeigi A, Hosseinali-Pour SA, Aligol M, Mohammadi M, Derakhshani M, Soleymani-Monfared M. Smear grading at initial treatment association with treatment outcomes among new smear positive pulmonary tuberculosis patients: A retrospective study. J Prev Med Hyg 2022;63:E573-E578. https://doi.org/10.15167/2421-4248/jpmh2022.63.4.2457

© Copyright by Pacini Editore Srl, Pisa, Italy

This is an open access article distributed in accordance with the CC-BY-NC-ND (Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International) license. The article can be used by giving appropriate credit and mentioning the license, but only for non-commercial purposes and only in the original version. For further information: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/deed.en

OPEN ACCESS

INFECTIOUS DISEASES

Determinants of public interest in emerging and re-emerging arboviral diseases in Europe: A spatio-temporal analysis of cross-sectional time series data

KRISTINA ALLGOEWER

Universität Hamburg, Faculty of Informatics, Mathematics & Natural Sciences; University of Essex, Health Department

Keywords

Arboviral diseases • Emerging diseases • Disease interest • Google Trends • Perceived susceptibility

Summary

Introduction. Climate change, the resulting geographical expansion of arthropod disease vectors, and increasing international mobility are contributing to the emergence of arboviral diseases in Europe. Public interest in vector-borne diseases and a subsequent gain of awareness and knowledge are essential to control outbreaks but had not yet been systematically assessed prior to this analysis.

Methods. Trends, patterns, and determinants of public interest in six emerging and re-emerging arboviral diseases were assessed in a spatio-temporal analysis of Google Trends data from 30 European countries between 2008 and 2020 while controlling for potential confounders.

Results. Only public interest in endemic arboviral diseases in Europe displays seasonal patterns and has been increasing since

Introduction

Arthropod-borne viruses, often abbreviated as arboviruses, are a group of RNA viruses which are mainly transmitted via hematophagous arthropod vectors between vertebrate hosts [1]. Arboviruses pathogenic to humans include dengue virus (DENV), yellow fever virus (YFV), chikungunya virus (CHIKV), Japanese encephalitis virus (JEV), West Nile virus (WNV), Crimean-Congo haemorrhagic fever virus (CCHFV), tick-borne encephalitis virus (TBEV), Rift Valley fever virus (RVFV), and Zika virus (ZIKV). While infections in humans are often asymptomatic, symptomatic infection can range from a mild febrile illness to severe disease such as encephalitis or haemorrhagic fever, which may cause long-term impairment and death [2, 3].

Arbovirus transmitting vectors, which include mosquitoes, ticks, fleas, and sandflies, are primarily found in tropical and subtropical regions [4, 5]. However, the geographical distribution of arboviral vectors and the frequency and magnitude of epidemics caused by arboviruses have been increasing globally during the past decades [6]. In sub-Saharan Africa, arboviral infections are expected to replace Malaria as most urgent public health problem [7]. DENV, endemic in only nine countries during the 1960s, has become endemic in 2008, while no significant patterns or trends could be determined for public interest in non-endemic diseases. The main drivers for public interest in all six analysed arboviral diseases are reported case rates, and public interest drops rapidly as soon as cases decline. For Germany, the correlation of public interest and the geographical distribution of locally-acquired reported cases of endemic arboviral infections could be shown on a sub-country level.

Conclusions. The results of the analysis indicate that public interest in arboviral diseases in Europe is heavily impacted by perceived susceptibility on a temporal as well as on a spatial level. This result may be crucial for the design of future public health interventions to alert the public to the increasing risk of infection with arboviral diseases.

more than 100 countries all over the world, causing an estimated 390 million infections per year with an eightfold increase in the past two decades [6, 8, 9].

Europe, climate change, urbanisation, In and international mobility have led to the emergence of exotic arboviruses and to the geographical expansion of endemic arboviruses [10, 11]. In the past 40 years, five invasive mosquito species have established habitats on European territory [12], and locally-acquired, vectorborne cases of CHIKV, DENV, and ZIKV infection have been reported [13-15]. While infections with tick-borne CCHFV have remained at a low rate, its geographical range is expanding, with Spain reporting its first two CCHFV cases in 2016, and further cases in 2018 (two) and 2020 (three). WNV cases reached an unprecedent peak in 2018 with 1605 cases, a reported case rate eight times higher than the previous year [16, 17]. The European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC) has called for immediate strengthening of surveillance and preparedness activities [18].

Awareness of arboviral diseases is not only considered important for clinicians in Europe [19-22]. Public awareness, interest, and knowledge of arboviral diseases are crucial to prevent and combat epidemics [23-25]. While public interest and its determinants have been analysed for select arboviral infections, disease vectors,

and regions [26-29], a comprehensive study of public interest in arboviral diseases in Europe had not been attempted to date.

In recent years, Google Trends data has emerged as a powerful tool in healthcare research to assess online seeking behaviour as a representation of public interest and disease awareness [30-33]. Google Trends data represents the popularity of key words used to query the internet search engine Google, reflecting relative public interest and awareness [30, 34]. The Google Trends platform (trends.google.com) provides quantitative data on a country- and sub-country level since 2004 [35]. Relative popularity of a search term is measured by using a sample of Google searches, normalizing it to the location and time of a query, and scaling it on a range from zero to 100 to generate an interest index. A Google Trends value of 100 represents peak popularity of a query during the time period of interest at a specified location, while a value of 50 indicates 50% of the maximum search volume [35-37].

Google Trends is frequently used as a data analysis tool in healthcare research for infodemiological and infoveillance studies, e.g., to assess geographical and temporal web interest in diseases, disease awareness, online health information seeking behaviour as well as for the prediction of outbreaks and epidemics [31, 36-43]. In this study, we will use Google Trends data for a comprehensive spatiotemporal analysis of public interest in three endemic and three non-endemic arboviral diseases in 30 European countries from 2008 to 2020.

AIM AND OBJECTIVES

This study aims to assess public interest in emerging and re-emerging arboviral infectious diseases in the European population and identify its determinants. To achieve this, the following objectives were set: First, to assess public interest in arboviral diseases in Europe using Google Trends data since 2008. Second, to identify determinants of public interest in arboviral diseases in European countries based on the acquired data. Third, to explore the spatial correlation of public interest and case rates on a sub-country level, using the example of Germany in 2020.

Methods

STUDY DESIGN

Using a cross-sectional study design with observational data, data collection included the extraction of the complete available epidemiological data from 30 European countries on arboviral diseases with an average of at least five cases per year as well as the extraction of the complete available Google Trends data representing public interest in arboviral diseases in 30 European countries since 2008. Trends and patterns of public interest were described and analysed via ordinary least squares (OLS) regression [44].

Potential determinants and confounders of public interest such as reported case rates, the proportion of the foreign-

born population, latitude, gross domestic product (GDP), and preventive care expenditure were examined in a Prais-Winsten regression analysis, which considers the spatio-temporal nature of the data and is a proven method for the analysis of disease interest using Google Trends data [32]. The independent variables for this analysis were chosen based on prior studies on specific arboviral diseases in select countries, which showed a correlation of public disease interest, awareness, and knowledge with incidence rates [27, 45], immigration status [46, 47], socio-economic status [28] and exposure to public health campaigns [29, 48].

Germany, Europe's most populous country, was selected for an analysis on a sub-country level, correlating Google Trends data from German federal states in 2020 with geographical coordinates via OLS regression and comparing the results to the locations of reported cases.

ACQUISITION AND PROCESSING OF EPIDEMIOLOGICAL DATA

For the six arboviral diseases with an average of at least five reported human cases per year since 2008 (CCHFV, CHIKV, DENV, TBEV, WNV, and ZIKV infection), the reported case numbers and notification rates (per 100,000 population) for all available countries were extracted from the ECDC Surveillance Atlas of Infectious Diseases (SAID) database on January 10, 2022.

For all diseases except CCHFV infection, a categorisation into locally-acquired and travel-associated cases was provided. Rates of locally-acquired cases per 100,000 population were extracted for TBEV and WNV infection. For CHIKV, DENV, and ZIKV infection, rates of locallyacquired cases per 100,000 population were calculated using the numbers of locally-acquired reported cases per year and the World Bank total population per country data for the respective years (indicator code: SP.POP.TOTL) [49]. The extracted SAID data on ZIKV infection further included information on the number of reported infected pregnant women, with case rates being calculated accordingly.

Acquisition and processing of Google Trends data (public interest)

Google Trends query data reflecting public interest in these arboviral diseases was obtained from the Google Trends platform using the first "Disease" topic suggestion as respective keyword for each disease, e.g., chikungunya virus infection (Disease), on January 21, 2022, with the time frame being set from 2008 to present. Disease topics include various terms from queries in any language that are related to a specific disease [30].

Using the "compare" feature of Google Trends, the search volume can be compared between up to five different terms or regions. After identifying the country with the highest peak for each disease term, it was kept in each of the groups of five as a "benchmark" region, while the other four slots were taken by the remaining 29 countries in eight iterations to generate equally scaled data for all 30 countries.

ACQUISITION AND PROCESSING OF DATA FOR FURTHER VARIABLES

The gross domestic product (GDP) per capita in purchasing power parity (PPP) for all 30 European countries of interest from 2008 to 2020 was extracted from the World Bank database (indicator code: NY.GDP. PCAP.PP.CD) and converted to the natural log [50]. Geographical coordinates in decimal degrees for the 30 countries were taken from a public dataset provided on the Google developers platform [51]. Geographical coordinates in decimal degrees for the capitals of the 16 German federal states were extracted from https://www. gps-coordinates.net.

The indicators "health care expenditure for preventive care" as well as the more specific subcategory "health care expenditure for preventive care information, education and counseling", both as percentage of GDP, were extracted from the Eurostat dataset "health care expenditure by function" (online data code: HLTH_SHA11_HC, indicator codes: [HC6] and [HC6.1], respectively) for all available countries and years [52]. The foreign-born population per 1000 inhabitants was calculated for each country and year using the Eurostat indicator "foreign-born population" (indicator code: TPS00178) and the World Bank total population per country data (indicator code: SP.POP.TOTL) [49, 53].

Assessment of trends and patterns of online interest

For the assessment of trends and patterns of public interest in each disease, monthly Google Trends data points were averaged between all 30 countries. Data points reported as "<1" were counted as 0.5. The Google Trends "compare "feature was used to compare the six benchmark countries for each disease term with each other. The maximum peak for each disease term and benchmark country was then used to scale the data for the other 29 countries in each disease category accordingly. After plotting the resulting values for each disease over time, trends and patterns were described. To analyse potential seasonal patterns further, Cochrane-Orcutt regression analyses with first-order serial correlation and iterated estimates were performed for each disease using the statistical software package Stata 17.0 and the 'prais' command [54, 55], with public interest in the respective disease averaged over 30 European countries as the dependent variable and the months of the year as (categorical, binary) independent variables (syntax: prais depvar [indepvars], corc). The analysis includes both original and transformed Durbin-Watson statistics. Autocorrelation plots were generated using the 'ac' command on the dependent variable (Supplementary Fig. 1). Two-tailed t tests were performed to determine the significance of coefficients of single variables, F statistics and Wald Chi-Squared tests to determine significance of Cochrane-Orcutt, OLS and Prais-Winsten regression models, respectively [56]. Significant p-values are indicated as follows: *** $p \le 0.001$; ** $p \le 0.01$; * p ≤ 0.05.

SPATIO-TEMPORAL ANALYSIS OF DETERMINANTS OF PUBLIC INTEREST

For the linear analysis of a variety of potential determinants of public interest, the monthly relative Google search volume indices reflecting public interest (not scaled between diseases) were summed up for each country, disease term, and year, to generate a value for yearly public interest, since all relevant co-variates are available as yearly values. The resulting data was used to compare public interest between countries for each disease separately.

To explore the correlation of public interest in each disease with multiple variables across all available countries and years, a linear cross-sectional timeseries model with Prais-Winsten regression parameter estimation was used [57]. The Stata command 'xtpcse' computes panel corrected standard error estimates, assuming heteroskedastic and contemporaneously correlated disturbances across panels with a firstorder autoregression (AR1) model autocorrelation structure [56, 58]. To compute the covariance, a pairwise selection was used to include all available observations with non-missing pairs (syntax: xtpcse depvar [indepvars], corr(ar1) pairwise). To assess the temporary nature of the influence of reported case rates on public interest, this independent variable was lagged by one year in an additional analysis using the command L1.indepvar. Further, the correlation of public interest and reported case rates was analysed for each country and each disease separately in bivariate OLS regression analyses using the Stata "reg" command.

ANALYSIS OF PUBLIC INTEREST ON SUB-COUNTRY LEVEL

To analyse subregional public interest in TBEV and WNV in Germany in 2020, the Google Trends feature "interest by subregion" was used. It assigns the German federal state in which the disease term was most popular in 2020 a value of 100 and scales interest values for the remaining 15 states accordingly. States with insufficient data for the disease term are given a value of 0. The feature also includes a map of the country divided into its 16 federal states, indicating the relative popularity of a search term by colour shading. In multiple linear regression analyses using the Stata command reg, public interest values for each arboviral disease in the 16 German federal states were correlated with the geographical coordinates of the state capitals. The results were then compared to the locations of reported cases on maps marking districts with reported cases were generated on the SAID platform for the most recent available year (2020).

Results

TRENDS AND PATTERNS OF PUBLIC INTEREST IN ARBOVIRAL DISEASES IN EUROPE

Six arboviral diseases with an average of at least five reported cases in Europe per year are recorded in the ECDC Surveillance Atlas of Infectious Diseases

(SAID). Of those, CCHFV, TBEV, and WNV infections are classified as endemic diseases in Europe, while CHIKV, DENV, and ZIKV infections are classified as non-endemic diseases [19, 59].

Public interest in the six arboviral infectious diseases in Europe was analysed using relative search volume indices generated from Google Trends data from January 2008 to January 2022. For each disease, the single highest interest peak in any of the 30 European countries served as a benchmark to scale the data points in any of the 29 remaining countries (see Methods). Using the Google Trends compare feature on the six benchmark countries and the respective disease, reveals how public interest values for the six different diseases relate to each other: Interest in ZIKV infection has by far the highest peak and keeps its value of 100, while data points for the other five diseases are scaled down accordingly, with peak interest in TBEV at 68%, DENV at 29%, WNV at 16%, CHIKV at 14%, and CCHFV at 6% of ZIKV peak interest. Transferring this scaling to the monthly data points averaged over all 30 countries for each disease,

.....

gives rise to Figure 1, with a ZIKV interest peak in 2016 being more than five times higher than the maximum TBEV interest peak in 2020, and values for interest in the other four diseases trailing far behind. After the abrupt initial spike in public interest in 2016 and 2017, ZIKV interest declined rapidly in subsequent years, even falling behind the interest values for TBEV and DENV infection.

Visual inspection of the temporal distribution of public interest in arboviral diseases from January of 2008 to January of 2022 shown in Figure 1 indicates a distinct seasonal pattern for interest in TBEV infection, with a mid-year peak and a low point around the turn of the year. To investigate this phenomenon further, the average monthly public interest values for all six arboviral infectious diseases were plotted separately and unscaled between diseases (Fig. 2), revealing a more regular distribution for the three endemic diseases CCHFV, TBEV, and WNF infection, and an irregular course for the three non-endemic diseases CHIKV, DENV, and ZIKV infection.





A Cochrane-Orcutt analysis, correlating the months of the year with public interest values for each disease, confirms this result (Tab. I): Models with public interest in the three endemic diseases are highly significant (F stats: p-value < 0.001), with maximum coefficients for the month of June for both CCHFV and TBEV, and for the month of August for WNV. Of the three models for endemic diseases, the model for TBEV shows the most distinct seasonal pattern with an adjusted R² of 0.65. While the coefficient for July has a slightly significant positive correlation with public interest in CHIKV infection and a negative correlation for the month of December for interest in ZIKV infection, the overall models for these two diseases are not significant, nor are the models for interest in DENV, the third nonendemic infectious disease.

As an additional independent variable, the overall order of observations was included in the respective models (Tab. I), with the first observation being January 2008 and the last (observation 168) being December 2021. Interestingly, the order of observations has a significant positive correlation for interest CCHFV and TBEV, indicating that only public interest in tick-borne endemic arboviral diseases has been increasing from 2008 to 2021. The increase of interest has the highest coefficient for TBEV (0.014), the arboviral disease with the highest and fastest increasing rate of locally-acquired cases in Europe, and lowest for CCHFV (0.003), the disease with the lowest case rate of the six. For WNV, the third endemic arboviral disease, public interest over time also has a slight positive coefficient (0.004), however it is not significant. No significant trend in public interest over time could be detected for any of the three non-endemic diseases.

While monthly public interest values seem to reveal seasonal patterns, plotting yearly values for each of the 30 European countries separately (Fig. 3) shows diverse

.....

	E	ndemic in Europ	e	Nor	n-endemic in Eu	rope
	Model	Model	Model	Model	Model	Model
	CCHFV	TBEV	WNV	СНІКУ	DENV	ZIKV
Independent	Coefficient	Coefficient	Coefficient	Coefficient	Coefficient	Coefficient
variables	(se)	(se)	(se)	(se)	(se)	(se)
January	Omitted	Omitted	Omitted	Omitted	Omitted	Omitted
February	0.058	0.646*	-0.028	-0.096	0.419	1.075
	(0.249)	(0.260)	(0.303)	(0.321)	(0.449)	(1.000)
March	0.113	2.084***	-0.003	-0.207	0.414	-1.381
	(0.261)	(0.329)	(0.370)	(0.394)	(0.538)	(1.284)
April	0.207	3.923***	0.023	0.081	0.514	-1.870
	(0.262)	(0.363)	(0.399)	(0.426)	(0.572)	(1.435)
Мау	0.496	5.197***	0.246	0.100	0.304	-1.659
	(0.263)	(0.381)	(0.412)	(0.440)	(0.586)	(1.520)
June	0.961***	5.421***	0.477	0.484	0.078	-1.647
	(0.263)	(0.390)	(0.418)	(0.446)	(0.591)	(1.563)
July	0.844**	4.265***	0.615	0.994*	0.111	-1.519
	(0.263)	(0.393)	(0.420)	(0.448)	(0.593)	(1.577)
August	0.674*	2.461***	1.822***	0.263	1.091	-1.323
	(0.263)	(0.391)	(0.418)	(0.447)	(0.592)	(1.565)
September	0.264	1.365***	1.247**	0.649	0.771	-1.882
	(0.263)	(0.382)	(0.413)	(0.441)	(0.586)	(1.524)
October	0.100	0.582	0.333	0.178	0.127	-2.052
	(0.262)	(0.365)	(0.400)	(0.427)	(0.573)	(1.443)
November	-0.069	0.025	0.0361	-0.056	0.713	-2.079
	(0.261)	(0.332)	(0.373)	(0.397)	(0.541)	(1.299)
December	0.024	-0.150	-0.028	-0.269	-0.450	-2.210*
	(0.249)	(0.267)	(0.309)	(0.328)	(0.457)	(1.027)
Overall order	0.003*	0.014***	0.004	0.001	-0.003	-0.010
of observations	(0.001)	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.003)	(0.004)	(0.015)
Constant	0.026	0.365	-0.048	0.683	3.134***	1.906
	(0.216)	(0.421)	(0.405)	(0.436)	(0.550)	(1.833)
Rho	0.101	0.591	0.487	0.495	0.427	0.646
Adjusted r ²	0.142	0.647	0.131	0.021	0.023	-0.002
F stats (p)	< 0.001***	< 0.001***	< 0.001***	0.223	0.206	0.473
D-statistic (original)	1.796	0.814	1.025	1.010	1.143	0.706
D-statistic (transformed)	2.000	1.932	1.838	2.24	2.081	1.701
N	167	167	167	167	167	167

Tab. I. Seasonal patterns and trends of public interest in arboviral diseases in Europe from January 2008 to January 2022.

Dependent variable: public interest in respective disease averaged over 30 European countries (Google Trends data). Models are estimated by an Cochrane-Orcutt AR(1) regression with iterated estimates including transformed Durbin-Watson (d) statistics. *** $p \le 0.001$; ** $p \le 0.01$; * $p \le 0.05$ (two-tailed tests). Coefficients with significant p-values are shown in light blue, with darker shades representing higher significance. Standard errors (se) are shown in parentheses below the coefficients. The month of January was omitted due to collinearity.

distributions across countries for all diseases except ZIKV infection, which has a characteristic, simultaneous course for all countries: Virtually no public interest until 2015, a rapid increase in 2015 and 2016, and a sharp decline in subsequent years.

DETERMINANTS OF PUBLIC INTEREST IN ARBOVIRAL DISEASES IN EUROPE

To examine the correlation of public interest in arboviral diseases in Europe with potential determinants and to control for possible confounders, five independent variables were included in a spatio-temporal analysis using data from 30 European countries from 2008 to 2020: reported case rates, geographical latitude of the country, percentage of foreign-born population, GDP per capita, and expenditure for preventive health care measures (Tab. II).

.....

Reported case rates are the only variable that consistently correlates significantly with public interest in all six arboviral infectious diseases [p-values: 0.016 (CCHFV), 0.003 (DENV), < 0.001 (CHIKV, TBEV, WNV, ZIKV)]. All coefficients are positive, with the highest values for CCHFV, ZIKV, and CHIKV infection. However, this effect is only temporary: If reported case rates are lagged by just one year, the significant correlation disappears for all six diseases.

Geographical latitude has a negative correlation with public interest in all diseases but TBEV infection, meaning that interest is higher in Northern countries for TBEV, but higher in Southern countries for all others (significant results for CCHFV (p-value < 0.001), CHIKV (p-value = 0.015), and TBEV (p-value = 0.018)) (Tab. II). The foreign-born population per 1000 inhabitants has a significant positive correlation only with public interest



in ZIKV infection (p-value = 0.006). Correlation with GDP per capita (in PPP) has positive coefficients for public interest in all six diseases [significant for CCHFV (p-value = 0.043) and DENV (p-value = 0.001)], indicating a higher interest in countries with higher GDPs.

Only interest in DENV and ZIKV infection have a significant positive correlation with expenditure for preventive health care measures (p-values = 0.023 and 0.029, respectively; Tab. II). Using the more specific indicator "expenditure for preventive care information, education, and counselling programmes", however, does not result in a significant correlation with public interest in any of the diseases. Replacing the reported case rate variable with rates for only locally-acquired

cases, however, leads to highly significant positive correlations for public interest in CHIKV, TBEV, and WNV (p-values < 0.001; Tab. IIIA). For the DENV model, results are not significant. For CCHFV case data, no distinction was made between locally-acquired and travel-associated cases. For the ZIKV model, the number of observations is insufficient for an analysis using locally-acquired cases. However, public interest in ZIKV is highly correlated with the case rates of ZIKV infected pregnant women (p-value = 0.004; Tab. IIIB). Analysing public interest each of the 30 European countries separately, using reported case rates as the sole determinant in a simple linear regression is sufficient to explain variation in public interest in more than 40% of countries (p-values \leq 0.05). For each of the six arboviral

	Model	Model	Model	Model	Model	Model
	CCHFV	TBEV	WNV	СНІКУ	DENV	ZIKV
Independent variables	Coefficient (se)	Coefficient (se)	Coefficient (se)	Coefficient (se)	Coefficient (se)	Coefficient (se)
Reported case rate	228.696* (94.925)	8.038*** (1.374)	21.807*** (2.995)	124.913*** (12.907)	12.056** (4.081)	141.976*** (31.696)
Latitude	-0.365*** (0.085)	2.346* (0.989)	-0.184 (0.182)	-0.710* (0.292)	-0.622 (0.360)	-0.059 (0.225)
Foreign-born population (per 1,000 inhabitants)	-0.007 (0.008)	-0.026 (0.018)	-0.008 (0.008)	0.019 (0.016)	-0.030 (0.020)	0.148** (0.054)
Gdp per capita (In PPP)	8.817* (4.262)	7.351 (8.691)	4.453 (4.133)	13.373 (12.059)	28.127*** (8.345)	11.252 (21.206)
Preventive care expenditure (% of GDP)	12.045 (9.901)	46.821 (38.586)	18.582 (20.276)	-34.587 (28.619)	46.801* (20.578)	34.280* (15.705)
Constant	-70.009 (45.424)	-169.262* (70.394)	-34.050 (42.773)	-92.794 (116.036)	-236.919** (86.324)	-111.641 (207.521)
R ²	0.077	0.306	0.262	0.447	0.214	0.350
N observations	228	159	223	202	220	97
N countries	28	26	28	25	27	26
Wald Chi ²	43.29***	73.30***	72.91***	115.52***	133.78***	142.13***
Rho	0.311	0.691	0.477	0.397	0.361	-0.110

Models are estimated by a Prais-Winsten regression with correlated panel-corrected standard errors and a first-order auto-regressive error process. *** p < 0.001; ** p < 0.01; * p < 0.05 (two-tailed tests). Coefficients with significant p-values are shown in light blue, with darker shades representing higher significance. Standard errors (se) are shown in parentheses below the coefficients.

Tab. III. Models using case rates for locally-acquired cases and infections in pregnant women.

	А			В	
	Model	Model	Model		Model
	CHIKV	TBEV	WNV		ZIKV
Independent variables	Coefficient (se)	Coefficient (se)	Coefficient (se)	Independent variables	Coefficient (se)
Reported locally acquired case rate	248.742*** (12.670)	8.064*** (1.436)	21.595*** (3.023)	Reported case rate in pregnant women	1183.424** (411.709)
Latitude	-0.685** (0.260)	2.798** (1.024)	-0.95 (0.180)	Latitude	-0.229 (0.379)
Foreign-born population (per 1,000 inhabitants)	0.0253226 (0.030)	-0.028 (0.018)	-0.008 (0.008)	Foreign-born population (per 1,000 inhabitants)	0.233*** (0.071)
GDP per capita (In PPP)	20.738 (13.824)	3.574 (8.929)	4.466 (4.118)	GDP per capita (In PPP)	22.971 (26.918)
Preventive care expenditure (% of GDP)	-8.622 (20.686)	46.163 (39.202)	19.043 (20.558)	Preventive care expenditure (% of GDP)	-3.550 (19.252)
Constant	-171.760 (128.903)	-149.653* (67.699)	-33.575 (42.823)	Constant	-222.967 (251.492)
R ²	0.171	0.311	0.247	R ²	0.249
N observations	194	149	223	N observations	97
N groups	25	26	28	N groups	26
Wald Chi ²	139.66***	89.77***	72.21***	Wald Chi ²	56.94***

(A) Replacing the independent variable "reported case rate" with "reported locally-acquired case rate". (B) A model using reported case rates of ZIKV infection in pregnant women. Dependent variable: public interest in respective disease in 30 European countries (Google Trends data). Models are estimated by a Prais-Winsten regression with correlated panel-corrected standard errors and a first-order auto-regressive error process. *** $p \le 0.001$; ** p < 0.01; * p < 0.05 (two-tailed tests). Coefficients with significant p-values are shown in light blue, with darker shades representing higher significance. Standard errors (se) are shown in parentheses below the coefficients.

infections, the countries with the most significant coefficients for the correlation of public interest with case rates are shown in Figure 4. The plots show public interest based on Google Trends data closely following

reported case rates. For interest in CCHFV infection, however, Spain is the only country with a significant correlation (p-value < 0.001) due to a low number of cases. Interest in ZIKV infections yields the highest

E586



percentage of countries with a significant bivariate model (68 % out of all countries with sufficient data), followed by 53 % for WNV, 38 % for CHIKV, 28 % for TBEV, 27 % for DENV, and 25 % for CCHFV infection (p-values ≤ 0.05).

Public interest in arboviral diseases on sub-country level (case study: Germany)

In the ECDC Surveillance Atlas of Infectious Disease, reported case data on a sub-country level is only available for the endemic arboviral infections with TBEV and WNV





(ECDC, 2022f). In 2020, TBEV cases were clustered in the South-Eastern part of Germany, while WNV cases were exclusively reported in the Eastern region, as can be seen in Figures 5A1 and 5B1, respectively.

For Germany, public interest data is available on a federal state level on the Google Trends platform. A visual inspection of the Google Trends "interest by subregion" visualisation of TBEV and WNV interest in Germany in 2020 shows increased interest in TBEV infection in the South-Eastern region of the country and increased interest in WNV infection in the Central-Eastern part (Figs. 5A2 and 5B2, respectively), congruent with the areas of reported infections.

To confirm this observation, a multiple linear regression analysis was performed, correlating public interest values for each of the six arboviral diseases on a federal state level with the geographical coordinates (latitude and longitude in decimal degrees) of each state's capital (Tab. IV).

Only the models for the two diseases endemic in Germany, TBEV and WNV, had significant results (F stats: p-values = 0.004 and 0.007, respectively), with a significant negative correlation of latitude and a positive correlation of longitude for TBEV interest (p-values = 0.003 and 0.013, respectively) and a positive correlation of longitude for WNV interest

	Model	Model	Model	Model	Model	Model
	CCHFV	TBEV	WNV	CHIKV	DENV	ZIKV
Independent	Coefficient	Coefficient	Coefficient	Coefficient	Coefficient	Coefficient
variables	(se)	(se)	(se)	(se)	(se)	(se)
Latitudo	1.122	-7.024**	-3.086	-9.962*	-4.377	-6.475
Latitude	(4.571)	(1.941)	(2.651)	(4.616)	(3.026)	(4.975)
Longitude	3.802	4.756*	8.793**	1.803	-3.029	6.855
Longitude	(3.903)	(1.657)	(2.264)	(3.942)	(2.5849)	(4.249)
Constant	-62.990	371.352	118.005	526.204	309.716	297.677
Constant	(130.614)	(96.741)	(132.127)	(230.083)	(150.842)	(247.992)
Adjusted R ²	-0.054	0.499	0.466	0.151	0.154	0.086
F stats (p)	0.556	0.004**	0.007**	0.136	0.133	0.220
N (regions)	16	16	16	16	16	16

Tab. IV. Correlation of TBEV and WNV public interest in Germany in 2020 with geographical coordinates.

Dependent variable: public interest in respective disease in 16 German federal states (Google Trends data). Models are estimated by OLS regression. *** $p \le 0.001$; ** $p \le 0.01$; * $p \le 0.05$ (two-tailed tests). Standard errors (se) are shown in parentheses below the coefficients. The independent variables latitude and longitude constitute the geographical coordinates for the respective German state capitals.

(p-value = 0.002), confirming that interest in TBEV is highest in the South-East and interest in WNV is highest in the East of Germany. While the coefficient for latitude shows a slightly significant negative correlation with CHIKV interest (p-value = 0.050), the overall CHIKV model is not significant (F stats: p-value = 0.136), nor are any of the other models for interest in non-endemic diseases.

Overall, public interest in TBEV infection in 2020 was more than six-fold higher than public interest in WNV infection (Fig. 5C), with a broad peak for TBEV interest in the summer months and narrower peaks for WNV later in the year.

Discussion

ONLY PUBLIC INTEREST IN ENDEMIC ARBOVIRAL DISEASES INCREASES AND SHOWS SEASONAL PATTERNS

An analysis of trends and patterns of public interest in arboviral diseases across 30 European countries from 2008 to 2020 showed that significant seasonal patterns of public interest are only present in the endemic viral diseases, CCHFV, TBEV, and WNV infection, with (F statistic) p-values for each of the models below 0.001. For WNV, the two months of August and September show a significant seasonal increase of public interest, for CCHFV the three months from June to August. For TBEV, however, public interest increases most significantly during the seven months from March to September. These months closely match the seasons during which the underlying disease vectors – ticks for TBEV and CCHFV as well as *Culex* mosquitoes for WNV– are most active [60, 61].

While this analysis is the first to include a comprehensive set of arboviral diseases and countries, a seasonal pattern of public interest has previously been shown for select countries and arboviral disease-associated terms. Jensen et al. (2022) use Google Trends data of search terms synonymous with "tick(s)" in nine European countries and identify seasonal patterns that represent changes in precipitation and temperature [62], in accordance with the findings in this analysis.

Interestingly, the analysis of patterns and trends also showed that public interest in the two tick-borne endemic arboviral diseases, CCHFV and TBEV infections, was increasing significantly, while public interest in the three non-endemic arboviral diseases, *Aedes* mosquitoborne CHIKV, DENV, and ZIKV infections, showed no significant trends.

Both the existence of seasonal patterns and the increasing trends of public interest in only endemic arboviral diseases may be explained by the Health Belief Model, which maintains that health-related behaviours are more likely to occur when the perceived susceptibility to developing a health problem is high [63-65]. A population's perceived susceptibility to a disease which is already endemic would naturally be higher than to one that has not yet reached endemic status. The likelihood of catching an arboviral infection also increases temporarily during the seasons in which the respective disease vectors, i.e., ticks and mosquitoes, are most active, resulting in health-related behaviours, which in this case manifests itself in the online search for information on the disease.

Other key constructs of the Health Belief Model include perceived severity of the disease as well as perceived barriers and perceived benefits of the health action, the last of which may be a decreased risk of an arboviral infection due to preventive measures or the timely identification of symptoms of an arboviral infection, enabling the infected to seek appropriate medical treatment [66]. The concepts "cue to action" and "selfefficacy" were added to the Health Belief Model in more recent adaptions and refer to a stimulus to undertake the health action and to the self-confidence in the ability to perform the health action, respectively [65].

Among the three analysed endemic arboviral diseases, TBEV has both the highest coefficient for the increase of public interest and the fastest increasing rate of locallyacquired cases, while CCHFV, the arboviral disease with the lowest case rate, has the lowest – yet significant – positive coefficient for public interest, showing that interest in CCHFV is growing comparatively slowly.

This result indicates a correlation of public interest and case rates, which was investigated in more detail in the subsequent analysis and will be discussed in the following section.

CASE RATES DRIVE PUBLIC INTEREST IN ARBOVIRAL DISEASES - BUT ONLY TEMPORARILY

In a spatio-temporal Prais-Winsten regression analysis using Google Trends data from 2008 to 2020 across 30 European countries, reported case rates was the only one of five independent variables (see study design) to correlate significantly with public interest in all six analysed arboviral diseases, confirming the previous indication that case rates are an important driver of public interest (p < 0.001 for TBEV, WNV, CHIKV, and ZIKV; p < 0.01 for DENV, p < 0.05 for CCHFV).

The identified correlation of public interest in arboviral diseases and incidence rates in Europe is in accordance with results from studies in select countries for arboviral infections like WNV in Italy [27], DENV in Mexico [67] as well as for other viral infections such as Ebola in West Africa [68] and influenza in the United States [69].

Due to this correlation, Google Trends data was shown to be a valuable source of information for surveillance and dynamic prognostic tools to predict outbreaks and epidemics, using Google queries of disease terms such as "Zika" and "chikungunya" in Venezuela [43], of disease vectors like "ticks" in Sweden [42] or of common disease symptoms such as "bone pain" and "fever" in Singapore [70]. While surveillance via Google Trends data is considerably less expensive than conventional surveillance methods, the novel technique has also raised concerns that search queries could be more influenced by the media than by the actual disease burden, and may not be suitable for either widespread diseases with low media coverage or for rare diseases with high media coverage [71, 72].

Our analysis also revealed the temporary nature of the correlation of public interest and reported case rates. The significant correlation of yearly public interest values and reported case rates is lost for all six arboviral infections when values of reported case rates are lagged by one year. This transiency of public interest based on yearly Google Trends values confirms the previous result showing the seasonality of monthly values, indicating that public interest in arboviral diseases immediately declines when the risk of infection – or the perceived susceptibility, as stated in the Health Belief model – decreases again.

The impermanence of public interest in arboviral infections becomes immediately obvious when looking at the example of interest in Zika. For decades ZIKV had been endemic in Africa and Asia, before the Asian lineage started spreading to naïve areas, causing massive outbreaks in Micronesia in 2007, French Polynesia and other Pacific islands from 2013 on [73]. The ECDC only started recording cases after the large outbreak in South America in 2015/16, when the WHO declared ZIKV infections a "Public Health Emergency of International Concern" and clusters of foetal malformations and

neurological disorder emerged [74]. After a sharp increase from 2015 to 2016, ZIKV cases have declined rapidly – and so has public interest in all European countries. At the time of writing, ECDC data for ZIKV infection is only available until 2019, which is the year the first three European cases of vector-borne ZIKV transmission were reported in France [75, 76]. Future analyses will need to determine whether vector-borne acquisition via local *Aedes albopictus* mosquitoes becomes a major transmission mode for ZIKV infections in Europe, and what effect this development may have on public interest in the disease.

The finding that public interest in diseases – represented by online health information-seeking behaviour – may be short-lived, matches results from Google Trends analyses in other contexts: The analysis of Google Trends data from six countries on the Arabian Peninsula before and after four different public health interventions, i.e., "Global Public Health Days", which were supposed to raise awareness for specific health topics such as diabetes and hypertension, showed that the search volume declined by up to 80 % within a week of peak interest [77].

Public health interventions like these awareness campaigns have also been considered in our analysis, by including the annual preventive care expenditure per country as an independent variable. However, the results show that preventive care expenditure (as percentage of the GDP) had a significant positive correlation only with public interest in DENV and ZIKV infection (p = 0.023 and 0.029, respectively), two closely relatedviruses that are primarily transmitted by Aedes aegypti mosquitoes [78] and have the lowest yearly average number of locally-acquired cases in Europe (5.4 and 5.8, respectively). It may be speculated that prior to public health campaigns, public awareness and knowledge is lowest for the infections with the lowest number of local transmissions, and interventions may therefore have the greatest effect.

Analysing only locally-acquired cases also shows a high positive correlation with public interest in the respective arboviral diseases, with significant results for CHIKV, WNV, and TBEV (p<0.001 for all) and larger coefficients compared to the analysis using the total case rates. For ZIKV, public interest is correlated positively with the case rates of infected pregnant women (p = 0.004), with a coefficient more than eight times higher than for total case rates. This effect may be explained by the phenomenon that risk is perceived as being higher when future generations are potentially impacted [79-81]. Lozano et al. (2021) propose that an overestimation of the perceived risk of ZIKV transmission compared to other arboviruses is mainly caused by the fact that ZIKV is known to cause malformations in foetuses of pregnant infected women [81].

A difference in perceived risk or susceptibility may also be the reason why – even when controlling for the countries' case rates – public interest in arboviral infections with viruses that are widespread in tropical and subtropical regions such as CCHFV and CHIKV is significantly higher in European countries at a lower geographical latitude (p < 0.001 and p = 0.015, respectively), while public interest in TBEV, which is more prevalent in regions with cooler climates, is positively correlated with countries at a higher latitude (p = 0.018).

SPATIAL CORRELATION OF PUBLIC INTEREST IN ARBOVIRAL DISEASES CAN BE SHOWN ON SUB-COUNTRY LEVEL

The identified correlation of public interest and geographical location could also be shown on a subcountry level in a case study using Google Trends data from the 16 German federal states in 2020. In an OLS regression, geographical coordinates of the state capitals were correlated with public interest in TBEV and WNV infection, the two arboviral diseases that are endemic in Germany. The results of this analysis showed that public interest in TBEV correlates significantly with South-Eastern coordinates, while public interest in WNV correlates significantly with Eastern coordinates. These geographical distributions closely match the locations of locally-acquired infections of the respective diseases in Germany in 2020, according to maps extracted from the ECDC Surveillance Atlas of Infectious diseases.

For WNV in Europe, the main geographical distribution are countries is in the South-East. However, an Eastern-German cluster has formed in recent years, with a distinct group of WNV strains termed the "Eastern German WNV clade" [82]. Even though TBEV infection is generally more widespread in Northern-European regions, in Germany, the main TBEV risk areas are located in the woodland habitats of the Southern States of Bavaria and Baden-Württemberg as well as the Eastern States of Thuringia and Saxony [83]. Interestingly, a significant correlation of geographical coordinates of public interest and geographical coordinates does not exist for any of the other four arboviral diseases, all of which are nonendemic in Germany.

The findings of this analysis indicate that perceived susceptibility, an important element in the Health Belief Model [63] as discussed above, also influences public interest in arboviral diseases on a sub-country level. The use of subregional Google Trends data has already proven to be useful in other contexts: In the United States, influenza-related Google queries have been used to improve flu surveillance on a state level [84]. For TBEV, a precise knowledge of the location of infections is particularly crucial, since TBEV infested ticks are known to cluster in specific focus areas [85-87].

The results of our spatio-temporal analysis point to perceived susceptibility as the main driver of public interest in arboviral diseases in Europe on all levels. This finding is in accordance with a qualitative study of vector control strategies following the ZIKV epidemic of 2015/16 in Brazil, which revealed susceptibility to infection to be a key influence on the engagement in health protection measures [88]. In Indonesia, a cross-sectional study on behaviour to prevent DENV infection found that participants with a higher perceived susceptibility showed better prevention behaviour [89]. However, an evaluation of public health messages on *Aedes aegypti* mosquito-transmitted arboviruses in Brazil discovered that less than a third of messages were aiming to convey perceived susceptibility, while "cue to action" was the most frequently featured concept of the Health Belief Model [90].

LIMITATIONS OF ANALYSIS

This study is subject to several limitations. In our analysis, only arboviral diseases in the ECDC SAID with an average of at least five reported human cases per year since 2008 were considered. This excludes other arboviruses that are considered potential threats to humans in Europe [59, 91, 92], but had either an insufficient reported case count such as infections with RVFV, YFV, and the SAID category "other viral haemorrhagic fevers", or are not at all covered in the SAID, such as JEV, Usutu virus, Toscana virus, and louping ill virus infections.

A valid Google Trends analysis depends on the correct selection of key words. This may be complicated by the comparison of trends across countries with different languages as well as by queries with alternative spellings and nomenclatures [30]. Since suggested "disease topics" such as "Zika fever (Disease)" instead of individual search terms were selected for the analysis in this dissertation, queries cover a group of terms related to the disease topic that share "the same concept in any language" [35]. While this approach solves the problems regarding language, nomenclature, and spelling, the exact key words included in each disease topic are not public and can therefore not be evaluated. However, the "related queries" section on the platform includes queries searched for by users who also searched for the topic in question and may give an indication of the contents aggregated within disease topics (the most popular related queries for the six disease topics for 30 European countries are available as Supplemental *Data*). While related queries for tick-borne encephalitis (TBE) include apparent misspellings of the video platform YouTube ("you tbe"), the very distinct seasonal pattern of the TBE disease topic makes it seem unlikely that this related query, which has no apparent seasonal trends, has been included. In some countries, related queries refer to more specific encephalitis subtypes caused by TBEV, such as the abbreviation FSME for early summer meningoencephalitis in Germany, Austria, and Luxemburg. However, some queries also refer to unrelated tick-borne infections such as borreliosis. In other cases, a lack of searches may not reflect a lack of interest but a lack of inclusion of proper search terms in the disease topic. While a distortion of results cannot be ruled out, it has likely been at least partially mitigated by the simultaneous analysis of queries across 30 countries and the separate analyses for each disease, levelling out potential biases arising from the tool's inclusion of key words for disease topics.

A further limitation of Google Trends analyses may arise through the fact that only a sample of the billions

of Google searches per data is used to generate Google Trends data [35]. For regions of interest that are small, sampling noise may be extensive [93] and results should be evaluated with caution. To keep sampling noise as low as possible for the analysis on sub-country level, the most populous European country, Germany, was selected for the case study.

In some cases, public interest in arboviral diseases may have been substantially influenced by variables not included in this analysis. Hantavirus haemorrhagic fever and hantavirus pulmonary syndrome are emerging diseases in Europe that are not caused by an arbovirus but by a rodent-borne virus (robovirus), orthohantavirus or hantavirus [93, 94]. In late March 2020, shortly after the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic, Google searches for keywords related to orthohantavirus spiked more than 10 times higher than the previous maximum peak in the Google Trends data, which dates back to 2004 [95]. This sudden increase of interest does not seem to have been caused by rising incidence rates. On the contrary, the number of reported hantavirus infections in 2020 had dropped to its lowest point since the start of ECDC reporting in 2008 [96]. However, a "viral" post claiming that hantavirus had emerged as a new fatal virus in China and could potentially cause a COVID-19 like pandemic, had started spreading rapidly across social media after one fatal case of hantavirus infection had been reported in the Chinese Shandong province on March 24, 2020 [97-99]. This example shows that random and seemingly minor occurrences like a single fatality may have a major and hardly predictable impact on public interest in diseases. Triggers for these phenomena may not always be identifiable in retrospect.

Less surprisingly, a major world event such as the COVID-19 pandemic may have influenced public interest in other viral diseases as well, either by drawing attention to or deflecting attention from other potential viral threats. However, the data collected for this analysis does not seem to show outliers for public disease interest in 2020 compared to other years.

The COVID-19 pandemic also may have had an impact on reported case rates of arboviral diseases through travel restrictions, rising outdoor activities, and underdiagnoses due to overburdened healthcare systems. Underdiagnoses, however, do not only occur during a global pandemic. Especially emerging diseases are frequently underdiagnosed due to a lack of knowledge among clinicians as well as due to insufficient standardised diagnostic testing methods when unexplained and non-specific febrile illnesses occur [19, 22].

Conclusion

This work marks the first comprehensive spatio-temporal analysis of Google Trends data from 30 European countries to assess trends, patterns, and determinants of public interest in emerging and re-emerging arboviral diseases.

The results of this analysis indicate that public interest in arboviral diseases in Europe is heavily impacted by perceived susceptibility on a temporal as well as on a spatial level. Only public interest in the three endemic arboviral diseases, CCHFV, TBEV, and WNV, displayed significant seasonal patterns, with a significant increase of public interest since 2008 for the tick-borne infections with CCHFV and TBEV. While controlling for potential confounders, a Prais-Winsten regression showed that public interest in all six analysed arboviral diseases, including non-endemic CHIKV, DENV, and ZIKV infections, is driven by reported case rates. This effect is temporary, and public interest drops rapidly when cases decline. A correlation of public interest in arboviral infections and the geographical distribution of locallyacquired reported cases could be shown both on a country level in Europe as well as on a sub-country level in a case study using Google Trends data from German federal states.

.....

In future studies, the presented results could be validated and supplemented by further quantitative analyses that include other novel data streams such as Twitter data and Wikipedia edits as well as traditional data collection methods such as surveys. The latter would enable both the acquisition of demographic metadata and an evaluation of the impact of specific public health interventions and awareness campaigns on public interest arboviral diseases. Future public health interventions should focus on perceived susceptibility being the main driver of public interest and attempt to alert the public to the increasing risk of infection with currently non-endemic arboviral diseases.

Ethical approval

Ethical approval for this study was obtained from the Ethics Committee at the Health Department of the University of Essex Online prior to data acquisition

Acknowledgements

The author thanks Debbi Marais for her helpful feedback and comments.

Funding sources: this research did not receive any specific grant from funding agencies in the public, commercial, or not-for-profit sectors.

Conflict of interest statement

The author declares no conflict of interest.

Authors' contributions

The author developed the research concept and design, collected and analysed the data, interpreted the results and wrote the manuscript.

References

 Artsob H, Lindsay R, Drebot M. Arboviruses. In: Quah SR (ed.). International Encyclopedia of Public Health (Second Edition). Oxford: Academic Press 2017, pp. 154-160. https:// doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-803678-5.00023-0

.....

- [2] LaBeaud AD, Bashir F, King CH. Measuring the burden of arboviral diseases: the spectrum of morbidity and mortality from four prevalent infections. Popul Health Metr 2011;9:1. https://doi.org/10.1186/1478-7954-9-1
- [3] García-Sastre A, Endy TP. Arboviruses. In: Schaechter M (ed.). Encyclopedia of Microbiology. 3rd edition. Oxford: Academic Press 2009, pp. 313-321. https://doi.org/10.1016/ B978-012373944-5.00375-8
- [4] Marchi S, Trombetta CM, Montomoli E. Emerging and reemerging arboviral diseases as a global health problem. IntechOpen 2018. https://doi.org/10.5772/intechopen.77382.
- [5] Failloux AB, Bouattour A, Faraj C, Gunay F, Haddad N, Harrat Z, Jancheska E, Kanani K, Kenawy MA, Kota M, Pajovic I, Paronyan L, Petric D, Sarih M, Sawalha S, Shaibi T, Sherifi K, Sulesco T, Velo E, Gaayeb L, Victoir K, Robert V. Surveillance of arthropod-borne viruses and their vectors in the Mediterranean and black sea regions within the MediLabSecure Network. Curr Trop Med Rep 2017;4:27-39. https://doi. org/ 10.1007/s40475-017-0101-y
- [6] Girard M, Nelson CB, Picot V, Gubler DJ. Arboviruses: a global public health threat. Vaccine 2020;38:3989-3994. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2020.04.011
- [7] Mordecai EA, Ryan SJ, Caldwell JM, Shah MM, LaBeaud AD. Climate change could shift disease burden from malaria to arboviruses in Africa. Lancet Planet Health 2020;4:e416-423. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2542-5196(20)30178-9
- [8] Bhatt S, Gething PW, Brady OJ, Messina JP, Farlow AW, Moyes CL, Drake JM, Brownstein JS, Hoen AG, Sankoh O, Myers MF, George DB, Jaenisch T, Wint GRW, Simmons CP, Scott TW, Farrar JJ, Hay SI. The global distribution and burden of dengue. Nature 2013;496:504-507. https://doi. org/10.1038/nature12060
- [9] WHO. Dengue and severe dengue 2022. Available at: https:// www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/dengue-and-severe-dengue (Accessed on 05/18/2022).
- [10] Barzon L. Ongoing and emerging arbovirus threats in Europe. J Clin Virol 2018;107:38-47. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. jcv.2018.08.007
- [11] Schmidt-Chanasit J, Tiedke J. Tropical viruses approaching Europe. Med Monatsschr Pharm 2017;40:151-153.
- [12] Higgs S, Vanlandingham DL. The potential for the establishment of new arbovirus transmission cycles in Europe. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg 2015;109:543-544. https://doi. org/10.1093/trstmh/trv061
- [13] Watson R. Europe witnesses first local transmission of chikungunya fever in Italy. BMJ 2007;335:532-533. https://doi. org/10.1136/bmj.39332.708738.DB
- [14] La Ruche G, Souarès Y, Armengaud A, Peloux-Petiot F, Delaunay P, Desprès P, Lenglet A, Jourdain F, Leparc-Goffart I, Charlet F, Ollier L, Mantey K, Mollet T, Fournier JP, Torrents R, Leitmeyer K, Hilairet P, Zeller H, Van Bortel W, Dejour-Salamanca D, Grandadam M, Gastellu-Etchegorry M. First two autochthonous dengue virus infections in metropolitan France, September 2010. Euro Surveill 2010;15:19676.
- [15] Durand GA, Piorkowski G, Thirion L, Ninove L, Giron S, Zandotti C, Denis J, Badaut C, Failloux AB, Grard G, Leparc-Goffart I, de Lamballerie X. Vector-Borne Transmission of the Zika Virus Asian genotype in Europe. Viruses 2020;12:296. https://doi.org/ 10.3390/v12030296
- [16] ECDC. Surveillance Atlas of infectious diseases. European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control 2022. Available

at: http://atlas.ecdc.europa.eu/public/index.aspx (Accessed on 02/01/2022).

- [17] ECDC. West Nile virus infection Annual Epidemiological Report for 2018. European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control 2019. Available at: https://www.ecdc.europa.eu/en/ publications-data/west-nile-virus-infection-annual-epidemiological-report-2018 (Accessed on 03/11/2022).
- [18] ECDC. New settlements of Aedes aegypti raising concerns for continental EU 2018. Available at: https://www.ecdc.europa.eu/en/news-events/new-settlements-aedes-aegypti-raising-concerns-continental-eu (Accessed on 05/20/2022).
- [19] Sigfrid L, Reusken C, Eckerle I, Nussenblatt V, Lipworth S, Messina J, Kraemer M, Ergonul O, Papa A, Koopmans M, Horby P. Preparing clinicians for (re-)emerging arbovirus infectious diseases in Europe. Clin Microbiol Infect 2018;24:229-239. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.cmi.2017.05.029
- [20] Díaz-Menéndez M, de la Calle-Prieto F, Montero D, Antolín E, Vazquez A, Arsuaga M, Trigo E, García-Bujalance S, de la Calle M, Sánchez Seco P, de Ory F, Arribas JR; Grupo de Trabajo Multidisciplinar del Hospital La Paz-Carlos III en Enfermedad por Virus Zika. Initial experience with imported Zika virus infection in Spain. Enferm Infecc Microbiol Clin (Engl Ed) 2018;36:4-8. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j. eimc.2016.08.003
- [21] Ziegler U, Lühken R, Keller M, Cadar D, van der Grinten E, Michel F, Albrecht K, Eiden M, Rinder M, Lachmann L, Höper D, Vina-Rodriguez A, Gaede W, Pohl A, Schmidt-Chanasit J, Groschup MH. West Nile virus epizootic in Germany, 2018. Antiviral Res 2019;162:39–43. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.antiviral.2018.12.005.
- [22] Eckerle I, Briciu VT, Ergönül Ö, Lupşe M, Papa A, Radulescu A, Tsiodras S, Tsitou C, Drosten C, Nussenblatt VR, Reusken CB, Sigfrid LA, Beeching NJ. Emerging souvenirs-clinical presentation of the returning traveller with imported arbovirus infections in Europe. Clin Microbiol Infect 2018;24:240-245. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.cmi.2018.01.007
- [23] Funk S, Gilad E, Watkins C, Jansen VAA. The spread of awareness and its impact on epidemic outbreaks. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 2009;106:6872-6877. https://doi.org/10.1073/ pnas.0810762106
- [24] Jourdain F, Roiz D, Valk H. de, Noël H, L'Ambert G, Franke F, Paty, M-C, Guinard A, Desenclos, J.-C, Roche B. From importation to autochthonous transmission: Drivers of chikungunya and dengue emergence in a temperate area. PLoS Negl Trop Dis 2020;14:e0008320. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pntd.0008320
- [25] WHO. Framework for a national vector control needs assessment. World Health Organization 2017.
- [26] Caputo B, Manica M. Mosquito surveillance and disease outbreak risk models to inform mosquito-control operations in Europe. Curr Opin Insect Sci 2020;39:101-108. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.cois.2020.03.009
- [27] Bragazzi NL, Bacigaluppi S, Robba C, Siri A, Canepa G, Brigo F. Infodemiological data of West-Nile virus disease in Italy in the study period 2004-2015. Data Brief 2016;9:839-845. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dib.2016.10.022
- [28] Kumar N, Verma S, Shiba, Choudhary P, Singhania K, Kumar M. Dengue awareness and its determinants among urban adults of Rohtak, Haryana. J Family Med Prim Care 2020;9:2040-2044. https://doi.org/10.4103/jfmpc.jfmpc_1203_19
- [29] Paixão MM, Ballouz T, Lindahl JF. Effect of education on improving knowledge and behavior for arboviral diseases: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Am J Trop Med Hyg 2019;101:441-447. https://doi.org/10.4269/ajtmh.19-0170
- [30] Mavragani A, Ochoa G. Google Trends in infodemiology and infoveillance: methodology framework. JMIR Public Health Surveill 2019;5:e13439. https://doi.org/10.2196/13439
- [31] Havelka EM, Mallen CD, Shepherd TA. Using Google Trends to assess the impact of global public health days on

.....

online health information seeking behaviour in Central and South America. J Glob Health 2020;10:010403. https://doi. org/10.7189/jogh.10.010403

- [32] Fang Y, Shepherd TA, Smith HE. Examining the trends in online health information-seeking behavior about chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in Singapore: analysis of data from Google Trends and the global burden of disease study. J Med Internet Res 2021;23:e19307. https://doi. org/10.2196/19307
- [33] Merheb S, Wang N, Weinberg J, Wang DS, Wason SEL. Online interest in surgical treatment for benign prostatic hyperplasia using Google trends. World J Urol 2021;39:2655-2659. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00345-020-03445-z
- [34] Laico SA. Insights and tracking of pollution awareness using Google Trends. J Health Pollut 2018;8:180609. https://doi. org/10.5696/2156-9614-8.18.180609
- [35] Google. FAQ about Google Trends data Trends help 2021. Available at: https://support.google.com/trends/ answer/4365533?hl=en (Accessed on 10/29/2021).
- [36] Nuti SV, Wayda B, Ranasinghe I, Wang S, Dreyer RP, Chen SI, Murugiah K. The use of google trends in health care research: a systematic review. PLoS One 2014;9:e109583. https://doi.org/ 10.1371/journal.pone.0109583
- [37] Boehm A, Pizzini A, Sonnweber T, Loeffler-Ragg J, Lamina C, Weiss G, Tancevski I. Assessing global COPD awareness with Google Trends. Eur Respir J 2019;53:1900351. https:// doi.org/10.1183/13993003.00351-2019
- [38] Mattin MJ, Solano-Gallego L, Dhollander S, Afonso A, Brodbelt DC. The frequency and distribution of canine leishmaniosis diagnosed by veterinary practitioners in Europe. Vet J 2014;200:410-419. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tvj1.2014.03.033
- [39] Shariatpanahi SP, Jafari A, Sadeghipour M, Azadeh-Fard N, Majidzadeh-A K, Farahmand L, Madjid Ansari A. Assessing the effectiveness of disease awareness programs: evidence from Google Trends data for the world awareness dates. Telemat Inform 2017;34:904-913. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. tele.2017.03.007
- [40] Sulyok M, Richter H, Sulyok Z, Kapitány-Fövény M, Walker MD. Predicting tick-borne encephalitis using Google Trends. Ticks Tick Borne Dis 2020;11:101306. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ttbdis.2019.101306
- [41] Sulyok M, Ferenci T, Walker M. Google Trends Data and COVID-19 in Europe: correlations and model enhancement are European wide. Transbound Emerg Dis 2021;68:2610-2615. https://doi.org/10.1111/tbed.13887
- [42] Martin LJ, Hjertqvist M, Straten E van, Bjelkmar P. Investigating novel approaches to tick-borne encephalitis surveillance in Sweden, 2010-2017. Ticks Tick Borne Dis 2020;11:101486. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ttbdis.2020.101486
- [43] Strauss R, Lorenz E, Kristensen K, Eibach D, Torres J, May J, Castro J. Investigating the utility of Google trends for Zika and Chikungunya surveillance in Venezuela. BMC Public Health 2020;20:947. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-020-09059-9
- [44] Bender R. Introduction to the use of regression models in epidemiology. Methods Mol Biol 2009;471:179-195. https://doi. org/10.1007/978-1-59745-416-2_9
- [45] Watad A, Watad S, Mahroum N, Sharif K, Amital H, Bragazzi NL, Adawi M. Forecasting the West Nile Virus in the United States: an extensive novel data streams-based time series analysis and structural equation modeling of related digital searching behavior. JMIR Public Health Surveill 2019;5:e9176. https://doi.org/ 10.2196/publichealth.9176
- [46] Caputo B, Manica M, Russo G, Solimini A. Knowledge, attitude and practices towards the tiger mosquito Aedes albopictus. A questionnaire based survey in Lazio Region (Italy) before the 2017 Chikungunya outbreak. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2020;17:E3960. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17113960

.....

[47] Gleviczky V. Knowledge, attitude and practices concerning dengue fever in South of France: a quantitative study. 2019.

- [48] Gamboa J, Lamb MM, de la Cruz P, Bull S, Olson D. Using social media to increase preventative behaviors against arboviral diseases: a pilot study among teens in the Dominican Republic. Mhealth 2019;5:30. https://doi.org/10.21037/ mhealth.2019.07.03
- [49] World Bank. Population, total OECD members. Data 2021. Available at: https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SP.POP. TOTL?locations=OE (Accessed on 01/15/2022).
- [50] World Bank. GDP per capita, PPP (current international \$). Data 2021. Available at: https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/ NY.GDP.PCAP.PP.CD (Accessed on 01/16/2022).
- [51] Google Developers Datasets. Countries coordinated. Dataset publishing language. Google Developers 2012. Available at: https://developers.google.com/public-data/docs/canonical/ countries_csv (Accessed on 01/27/2022).
- [52] Eurostat Data Explorer. Health care expenditure by function | Statistics. Eurostat HLTH_SHA11_HC 2021. Available at: https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/databrowser/view/HLTH_ SHA11_HC_custom_1939498/default/table (Accessed on 01/27/2022).
- [53] Eurostat Data Explorer. Foreign-born population, Eurostat Dataset TPS00178 2021. Available at: http://appsso.eurostat. ec.europa.eu/nui/show.do?dataset=tps00178&lang=en (Accessed on 01/27/2022).
- [54] StataCorp. Stata Statistical Software: Release 17. 2021.
- [55] StataCorp. Stata Manual Prais-Winsten and Cochrane-Orcutt regression. Available at: https://www.stata.com/manuals/ tsprais.pdf (Accessed on 12/28/2022).
- [56] Greene WH. Econometric analysis. 8th ed. New York: Pearson 2018.
- [57] Prais SJ, Winsten CB. Trend estimators and serial correlation. Cowles Commission Discussion Paper 1954; Stat. No. 383.
- [58] StataCorp. Stata Manual Linear regression with panel-corrected standard errors. Available at: https://www.stata.com/ manuals/xtxtpcse.pdf (Accessed on 03/04/2022).
- [59] Esser HJ, Mögling R, Cleton NB, van der Jeugd H, Sprong H, Stroo A, Koopmans MPG, de Boer WF, Reusken CBEM. Risk factors associated with sustained circulation of six zoonotic arboviruses: a systematic review for selection of surveillance sites in non-endemic areas. Parasit Vectors 2019;12:265. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13071-019-3515-7
- [60] Thum M. Spring marks the beginning of tick season. Public Health Command Europe 2021. Available at: https://www. army.mil/article/243643/spring_marks_the_beginning_of_ tick_season (Accessed on 05/14/2022).
- [61] Rosà R, Marini G, Bolzoni L, Neteler M, Metz M, Delucchi L, Chadwick EA, Balbo L, Mosca A, Giacobini M, Bertolotti L, Rizzoli A. Early warning of West Nile virus mosquito vector: climate and land use models successfully explain phenology and abundance of Culex pipiens mosquitoes in north-western Italy. Parasit Vectors 2014;7:269. https://doi. org/10.1186/1756-3305-7-269
- [62] Jensen PM, Danielsen F, Skarphedinsson S. Monitoring temporal trends in internet searches for "ticks" across Europe by Google Trends: tick-human interaction or general interest? Insects 2022;13:176. https://doi.org/10.3390/insects13020176
- [63] Rosenstock IM. Why people use health services. Milbank Mem Fund Q 1966;44(Suppl.):94-127.
- [64] Rosenstock IM. The health belief model: Explaining health behavior through expectancies. Health behavior and health education: theory, research, and practice, Hoboken, NJ, US: Jossey-Bass/Wiley 1990, pp. 39-62.
- [65] Glanz K, Rimer BK, Viswanath K. Health behavior and health education: theory, research, and practice. 4th ed. Jossey-Bass 2008.

[66] Bond L, Nolan T. Making sense of perceptions of risk of diseases and vaccinations: a qualitative study combining models of health beliefs, decision-making and risk perception. BMC Public Health 2011;11:943. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-11-943

- [67] Gluskin RT, Johansson MA, Santillana M, Brownstein JS. Evaluation of Internet-Based Dengue Query Data: Google Dengue Trends. PLoS Negl Trop Dis 2014;8:e2713. https:// doi.org/10.1371/journal.pntd.0002713
- [68] Alicino C, Bragazzi NL, Faccio V, Amicizia D, Panatto D, Gasparini R, Icardi G, Orsi A. Assessing Ebola-related web search behaviour: insights and implications from an analytical study of Google Trends-based query volumes. Infect Dis Poverty 2015;4:54. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40249-015-0090-9
- [69] Cook S, Conrad C, Fowlkes AL, Mohebbi MH. Assessing Google flu trends performance in the United States during the 2009 influenza virus A (H1N1) pandemic. PLoS One 2011;6:e23610. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0023610
- [70] Althouse BM, Ng YY, Cummings DAT. Prediction of dengue incidence using search query surveillance. PLoS Negl Trop Dis 2011;5. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pntd.0001258
- [71] Cervellin G, Comelli I, Lippi G. Is Google Trends a reliable tool for digital epidemiology? Insights from different clinical settings. J Epidemiol Glob Health 2017;7:185-189. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.jegh.2017.06.001
- [72] Husnayain A, Fuad A, Lazuardi L. Correlation between Google Trends on dengue fever and national surveillance report in Indonesia. Glob Health Action 2019;12:1552652. https://doi. org/10.1080/16549716.2018.1552652
- [73] Braack L, Gouveia de Almeida AP, Cornel AJ, Swanepoel R, de Jager C. Mosquito-borne arboviruses of African origin: review of key viruses and vectors. Parasit Vectors 2018;11:29. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13071-017-2559-9
- [74] WHO. Zika virus disease outbreak 2015-2016 2022. Available at: https://www.who.int/emergencies/situations/zikavirus-outbreak (Accessed on 03/11/2022).
- [75] ECDC. Zika virus disease in Var department, France. 2019.
- [76] Brady OJ, Hay SI. The first local cases of Zika virus in Europe. The Lancet 2019;394:1991-1992. https://doi.org/10.1016/ S0140-6736(19)32790-4
- [77] Ajbar A, Shepherd TA, Robinson M, Mallen CD, Prior JA. Using Google Trends to assess the impact of Global Public Health Days on online health information-seeking behaviour in Arabian Peninsula. J Egypt Public Health Assoc 2021;96:4. https://doi.org/10.1186/s42506-020-00063-w
- [78] Allgoewer K, Maity S, Zhao A, Lashua L, Ramgopal M, Balkaran BN, Liu L, Purushwani S, Arévalo MT, Ross TM, Choi H, Ghedin E, Vogel C. New proteomic signatures to distinguish between Zika and Dengue infections. Mol Cell Proteomics 2021;20:100052. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. mcpro.2021.100052
- [79] Hampel J. Different concepts of risk a challenge for risk communication. Int J Med Microbiol 2006;296(Suppl. 40):5-10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijmm.2005.12.002
- [80] Savulescu J, Kahane G. The moral obligation to create children with the best chance of the best life. Bioethics 2009;23:274-290. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8519.2008.00687.x
- [81] Lozano S, Day J, Ortega L, Silver M, Connelly R. Perceived risk of mosquito-borne Arboviruses in the Continental United States. Pathogens 2021;10:1562. https://doi.org/10.3390/ pathogens10121562
- [82] Ziegler U, Santos PD, Groschup MH, Hattendorf C, Eiden M, Höper D, Eisermann P, Keller M, Michel F, Klopfleisch R, Müller K, Werner D, Kampen H, Beer M, Frank C, Lachmann R, Tews BA, Wylezich C, Rinder M, Lachmann L, Grünewald T, Szentiks CA, Sieg M, Schmidt-Chanasit J, Cadar D, Lüh-

ken R. West Nile virus epidemic in Germany triggered by epizootic emergence, 2019. Viruses 2020;12:448. https://doi.org/ 10.3390/v12040448

- [83] Research Network Zoonotic Infectious Diseases. Ticks and their souvenirs: record number of TBE cases in 2020. Nationale Forschungsplattform für Zoonosen 2021. Available at: https://zoonosen.net/en/ticks-and-their-souvenirs-recordnumber-tbe-cases-2020 (Accessed on 05/16/2022).
- [84] Lu FS, Hattab MW, Clemente CL, Biggerstaff M, Santillana M. Improved state-level influenza nowcasting in the United States leveraging Internet-based data and network approaches. Nat Commun 2019;10:147. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41467-018-08082-0
- [85] Schielein L, Tizek L, Biedermann T, Zink A. Tick bites in different professions and regions: pooled cross-sectional study in the focus area Bavaria, Germany. BMC Public Health 2022;22:234. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-021-12456-3
- [86] Zubriková D, Wittmann M, Hönig V, Švec P, Víchová B, Essbauer S, Dobler G, Grubhoffer L, Pfister K. Prevalence of tick-borne encephalitis virus and Borrelia burgdorferi sensu lato in Ixodes ricinus ticks in Lower Bavaria and Upper Palatinate, Germany. Ticks Tick Borne Dis 2020;11:101375. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.ttbdis.2020.101375
- [87] Friedsam AM, Brady OJ, Pilic A, Dobler G, Hellenbrand W, Nygren TM. Geo-spatial characteristics of 567 places of tick-borne encephalitis infection in Southern Germany, 2018-2020. Microorganisms 2022;10:643. https://doi.org/10.3390/ microorganisms10030643
- [88] Bancroft D, Power GM, Jones RT, Massad E, Iriat JB, Preet R, Kinsman J, Logan JG. Vector control strategies in Brazil: a qualitative investigation into community knowledge, attitudes and perceptions following the 2015-2016 Zika virus epidemic. BMJ Open 2022;12:e050991. https://doi.org/ 10.1136/bmjopen-2021-050991
- [89] Rakhmani AN, Limpanont Y, Kaewkungwal J, Okanurak K. Factors associated with dengue prevention behaviour in Lowokwaru, Malang, Indonesia: a cross-sectional study. BMC Public Health 2018;18:619. https://doi.org/10.1186/ s12889-018-5553-z
- [90] Clancy IL, Jones RT, Power GM, Logan JG, Iriart JAB, Massad E, Kinsman J. Public health messages on arboviruses transmitted by Aedes aegypti in Brazil. BMC Public Health 2021;21:1362. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-021-11339-x
- [91] Reusken C, Baronti C, Mögling R, Papa A, Leitmeyer K, Charrel RN. Toscana, West Nile, Usutu and tick-borne encephalitis viruses: external quality assessment for molecular detection of emerging neurotropic viruses in Europe, 2017. Euro Surveill 2019;24:1900051. https://doi.org/10.2807/1560-7917. ES.2019.24.50.1900051
- [92] Cadar D, Maier P, Müller S, Kress J, Chudy M, Bialonski A, Schlaphof A, Jansen S, Jöst H, Tannich E, Runkel S, Hitzler WE, Hutschenreuter G, Wessiepe M, Schmidt-Chanasit J. Blood donor screening for West Nile virus (WNV) revealed acute Usutu virus (USUV) infection, Germany, September 2016. Euro Surveill 2017;22:30501. https://doi.org/ 10.2807/1560-7917.ES.2017.22.14.30501
- [93] Eichenauer V, Indergand R, Martínez I, Sax C. Constructing daily economic sentiment indices based on Google Trends. KOF Working Papers 2020.
- [94] Klempa B. Hantaviruses and climate change. Clin Microbiol Infect 2009;15:518-523. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-0691.2009.02848.x
- [95] Srikiatkhachorn A, Spiropoulou CF. Vascular events in viral hemorrhagic fevers: a comparative study of dengue and hantaviruses. Cell Tissue Res 2014;355:621-633. https://doi. org/10.1007/s00441-014-1841-9
- [96] Google Trends. Orthohantavirus (Topic) Google Trends results. Google Trends 2022. Available at: https://trends.google.

.....

com/trends/explore?date=all&q=%2Fm%2F025vss (Accessed on 05/03/2022).

- [97] ECDC. Disease data from ECDC Surveillance Atlas hantavirus. European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control 2022. Available at: https://www.ecdc.europa.eu/en/hantavirus-infection/surveillance-and-disease-data/atlas (Accessed on 05/03/2022).
- [98] Griffin A. Misleading WhatsApp messages about "hantavirus" spread fear amid coronavirus panic. The Independ-

ent 2020. Available at: https://www.independent.co.uk/tech/ hantavirus-whatsapp-twitter-truth-coronavirus-covid-19-ratmice-a9422211.html (Accessed on 05/03/2022).

[99] Holroyd M. Debunked: Claims a new virus has emerged from China are false. Euronews 2020. Available at: https://www. euronews.com/my-europe/2020/04/01/debunked-claims-anew-virus-has-emerged-from-china-are-false (Accessed on 05/03/2022).

Received on October 11, 2022. Accepted on December 29, 2022.

Correspondence: Kristina Allgoewer, Universität Hamburg Faculty of Informatics, Mathematics & Natural Sciences, Welckerstr. 8, Room 6.12, D-20354 Hamburg, Germany. Tel.: +49 171 128 19 33 - E-mail: k.allgoewer@gmail.com

How to cite this article: Allgoewer K. Determinants of public interest in emerging and re-emerging arboviral diseases in Europe: A spatio-temporal analysis of cross-sectional time series data. J Prev Med Hyg 2022;63:E579-E597. https://doi.org/10.15167/2421-4248/jpmh2022.63.4.2736

© Copyright by Pacini Editore Srl, Pisa, Italy

This is an open access article distributed in accordance with the CC-BY-NC-ND (Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International) license. The article can be used by giving appropriate credit and mentioning the license, but only for non-commercial purposes and only in the original version. For further information: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/deed.en


Supplementary Fig. 1. Autocorrelation plots of monthly disease interest averaged over 30 European countries from January 2008 to

E597

OPEN ACCESS

NON COMMUNICABLE DISEASES

Inadequate management of cardiovascular risk factors prior to admission for an acute coronary event

CHRISTOS SIAFARIKAS¹, STAVROS LIATIS¹, CHRISTOS KAPELIOS², MARINA SKOULOUDI², MARIA BONOU²,

JOHN BARBETSEAS²

¹ First Department of Propaedeutic Medicine, Medical School, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens, Laiko General Hospital, 11527, Athens, Greece; ²Department of Cardiology, Laiko General Hospital, 11527 Athens, Greece

Keywords

Cardiovascular risk factors • Primary prevention • Secondary prevention • Acute coronary syndrome • Diabetes mellitus

Summary

Objectives. Optimal regulation of modifiable risk factors has been proposed as the standard of care both for primary and secondary prevention of cardiovascular disease (CVD). The aim of this study was to assess primary and secondary cardiovascular risk management received before admission for an acute coronary event.

Methods. Data were analyzed for 185 consecutive hospitalized patients with a diagnosis of acute coronary syndrome (ACS) in the Cardiology department of a University hospital during an annual period (1/7/2019 until 30/6/2020). The study population was divided into two groups, the primary and secondary prevention subgroups, according to previous medical history of cardiovascular disease (CVD).

Results. The mean age of the participants was 65.5 ± 12.2 years and most patients were male (81.6%). Previous CVD was present in 51 patients (27.9%). Fifty-seven patients (30.8%) had a history of diabetes mellitus (DM) and 97 (52.4%) had a history of dyslipidemia. Hypertension was present in 101 (54.6%) patients.

Introduction

Acute coronary syndrome (ACS) is associated with significant morbidity and mortality, despite advances in pharmacological and non-pharmacological management [1]. The prevalence of coronary artery disease (CAD) worldwide remains high due to aging of the population, improved survival after an initial cardiovascular (CV) event and increasing prevalence of certain CV risk factors such as diabetes and obesity [2]. Primary and secondary prevention of CV disease (CVD) through aggressive modification of classical risk factors has been proposed as the most effective way to reduce the incidence and severity of ACS and its long-term complications [3, 4]. In order to implement aggressive primary and secondary prevention of CVD, several risk stratification scores have been developed [5]. The European Society of Cardiology and the European Atherosclerosis Society (ESC/EAS) have adopted the SCORE (Systematic Coronary Risk Estimation) system for risk stratification in individuals without known CVD, while they have further proposed a global risk stratification to encompass the entire spectrum of the population at risk [6].

Aim of the present study was to investigate if individuals

.....

In the secondary prevention group, the LDL-C was on target in only 33.3% of the patients, while 20% patients did not use statins. The use of antiplatelet/anticoagulant agents was 94.5%. Among patients with diabetes, only 20% had been using a GLP-1 receptor agonist or/and an SGLT-2 inhibitor, while the HbA_{1c} was on target in 47.8%. Twenty-five percent of the patients were active smokers. In the primary prevention group, the use of statins was overall low (25.8%) but more frequent in patients with diabetes and those without diabetes at very high-risk for CVD (47.1% and 32.1% respectively). The LDL-C was on target in less than 23.1% of the patients. The use of antiplatelet/anticoagulant agents was low (20.1%), but higher in those with diabetes (52.9%). In the diabetic group, HbA_{1c} was on target in 61.8%. Active smoking was practiced by 46.3% of the patients.

Conclusions. Our data show that in a substantial proportion of patients presenting with ACS, previous CVD prevention, both primary and secondary, fails to meet the current recommendations provided by scientific societies.

who suffered an ACS had previously been receiving adequate preventive care against risk factors for CVD.

Methods

The Institutional Review Board of Laiko General Hospital, a University tertiary hospital in Athens, Greece, approved the study protocol, which conforms to the principles outlined in the 1975 Declaration of Helsinki [7]. An informed consent was obtained from all participants prior to their involvement in the study.

We prospectively enrolled all patients with a diagnosis of ACS who were hospitalized at the Cardiology department during a one-year period (between 1/7/2019 and 30/6/2020) and analyzed their clinical characteristics. ACS was defined as unstable angina, non-ST elevated myocardial infraction or ST elevated myocardial infraction, as indicated by the admission ICD-10 code and further adjudicated by the investigators on the basis of clinical features, electrocardiogram and cardiac enzymes on admission and during hospitalization.

Data regarding the patients' previous medical history, use of medications, demographics, somatometric features and laboratory parameters on admission were recorded. Body weight was measured on admission only in ambulatory patients. The presence of diabetes mellitus (DM), hypertension and dyslipidemia were ascertained by self-reporting and/or previous intake of relevant medications. The use of medications preceding the ACS was also self-reported and ascertained on the basis of a dispensed prescription (from the national prescription electronic database) up to three months before admission.

In order to assess the adequacy of the antecedent risk factor management, individuals were classified, as being "at very high risk" (VHR), "at high risk" (HR), "at moderate risk" (MR) or "at low risk" (LR), according to the 2016 ESC/EAS guidelines [8], which rely on factors such as history of established CVD, presence duration and possible end-organ damage of diabetes, presence of chronic kidney disease, SCORE levels etc.

The study participants were initially divided into two groups, according to the absence or presence of established CVD prior to the indexed ACS, comprising the primary and secondary prevention group, respectively. Patients with established CVD were identified as those with a medical history of previous coronary artery disease or/and previous cerebrovascular accident or/ and previous peripheral artery disease as reported and ascertained on the basis of their medical files/documents. All individuals in the secondary prevention group were considered as VHR. In the primary prevention group, the risk stratification of individuals without DM was based on the SCORE for European populations at low cardiovascular disease risk, ranging from LR to VHR. The risk stratification of individuals with DM in the primary prevention group, depended on specific parameters indicated by the ESC/EAS guidelines, such as the presence of target organ damage (such as proteinuria or retinopathy) or the co-existence of a major risk factor such as smoking, hypertension or dyslipidemia [8]. An LDL-C target of < 70 mg/dl and < 100 mg/dl was considered as appropriate for the VHR

Fig. 1. Flowchart of the study.

and HR categories respectively, while an LDL-C target of < 115 mg/dl was considered for both the MR and LR categories [8]. For patients with diabetes, an HbA_{1c} of < 7% was considered as appropriate, according to the 2018 American Diabetes Association/European Association for the Study of Diabetes (ADA/EASD) guidelines (Fig. 1) [9].

Statistical analysis was performed using IBM SPSS Version 28.0 (IBM Corporation, Armonk, NY, USA). Baseline characteristics were presented as means \pm SD, median (25th-75th percentile) or counts (percentage). Between-group comparisons were performed using the chi-square test. In all instances, statistical significance was evaluated at the 0.05 level (p < 0.05).

Results

A total of 185 patients with ACS were hospitalized during the indicated period and were included in the present analysis. The mean age \pm SD was 65.5 \pm 12.2 years, and 81.6% were men. The main demographic and clinical characteristics of the study population are shown in Table I. A history of CVD was pre-existing in 51 (27.6%) patients (secondary prevention group) and, within this group, 23 patients (45.1%) had a history of DM (Tab. II). Out of the remaining 134 patients without previous CVD (primary prevention group), 34 (25.4%) had a history of DM (Tab. III). All the patients with DM were classified as VHR. Out of the non-DM patients of the primary prevention group, 53 were classified as VHR or HR and 47 as MR or LR (Tab. III). Out of the total study population, a history of hypertension was reported by 101 (54.6%) patients. This proportion was higher in patients with diabetes (61.4%) as compared to the patients without DM (51.6%).

Among the secondary prevention group (Tab. II), although 42/51 patients (82.4%) were previously treated with a statin and 22/51 (43.1%) with a high-intensity statin or a statin plus ezetimibe, LDL-C was on target in only



Tab. I. Main demographic and clinical characteristics of the study population.

ACS	n = 185
Age (years)	65.5 (± 12.2)
Male sex n (%)	151 (81.6)
Height (cm)	171.6 (± 8.4)
Weight (kg)	84.4 (± 15)
BMI (kg/m2)	28.6 (± 4.6)
Hypertension n (%)	101 (54.6)
Diabetes n (%)	57 (30.8)
Lipid disorders n (%)	97 (52.4)
Coronary artery disease n (%)	51 (27.6)
Smoking n (%)	
Never	86 (46.5)
Active smokers	74 (40.0)
Ex-smokers	25 (13.5)
Family history of CVD n (%)	22 (11.9)
Chronic kidney disease n (%)	46 (24.9)
Prior PCI or CABG n (%)	47 (25.4)

17/51 (33.3%). The proportion of patients with LDL-C on target was higher in those receiving a statin (20/42 patients, 47.6%) than in those not on statin therapy (1/9, 11.1%, p < 0.001). The highest proportion of LDL-C target achievement was observed among patients under a high-intensity statin or a statin plus ezetimibe (59.1%, p < 0.01 vs those on low-intensity statin treatment). An antiplatelet agent had been received by 48 patients (94.1%), while active smoking had been practiced by 13 patients (25.5%). Among the patients with diabetes, 5/23(21.7%) were previously being treated with a glucagonlike receptor agonist (GLP-1RA) or a sodium-glucose transporter-2 inhibitor (SGLT-2i) and 11/23 (43.7%) had an HbA_{1c} on target. The use of statins and/or antiplatelet agents, active smoking and LDL-C target achievement did not differ between patients with and without diabetes (Tab. II).

Among the primary prevention group (Tab. II), the use of a statin prior to the ACS event was overall low (25.8%) but more frequent in patients with diabetes and those without diabetes at VHR (47.1 and 32.1%)

respectively) than in those at HR (27.3%), MR (10%) and LR (14.3%), with all p values < 0.01. Accordingly, less than one quarter of patients achieved the appropriate LDL-C target across all the risk categories (Tab. II). The proportion of patients with LDL-C on target was higher in those receiving a statin (14/36, 38.8%) than in those not on statin therapy (17/98, 17.3%, p < 0.001). Among patients with diabetes, 21 (61.8%) had an HbA_{1c} on target. Antiplatelet/anticoagulant agents had been previously received by 52.9% of patients with diabetes, but, within the non-diabetic population, their use was, as expected, infrequent (Tab. II). More than one third of patients were active smokers, the proportion being lowest in those with diabetes (35.3%) and highest in those at HR (59.1%).

.....

Hypertension was present in 102/185 (55.1%) of the total study population and its prevalence was highest among those with established CVD (80.4%) and diabetes (67.7%), while it was lowest in the primary prevention cohort among those at LR (14.3%) and at MR (17.5%) (Tabb. II, III). Among patients with hypertension, anti-hypertensive medications were used by 90.2% in the secondary cohort and by 72.1% in the primary cohort.

Discussion

Despite the progress being achieved in the pharmacological and supportive management of patients hospitalized for ACS over the last decades, coronary artery disease still remains the number one cause of morbidity and mortality worldwide [10]. Primary and secondary prevention of CVD, by aggressively modifying risk factors, is mandatory in order to prevent CV events and their complications. Nevertheless, according to the present study's findings, the majority of patients suffering from an ACS had been receiving insufficient prevention management of modifiable CVD risk factors prior to the event.

Among patients in the secondary prevention group requiring very aggressive management of risk factors, although the majority was receiving lipid-lowering medications, a notable proportion (15.7%) was no

Tab. II. Prevention measures, active smoking and target achievement in key metabolic parameters in patients with previous CVD (secondary prevention group).

Patients with previous CVD (secondary prevention group), $n = 51$					
	Diabetes n = 23	No diabetes n=28	р		
Statin, n (%)	18 (78.2)	24 (86)	NS		
Antiplatelet/anticoagulant, n (%)	20 (87)	28 (100)	NS		
SGLT-2-i/GLP-1, n (%)	5 (21.7)	-	NA		
Smoking, n(%)	6 (26)	7 (25)	NS		
LDL-C on target, n (%)*	10 (43.5)	11 (39.3)	NS		
LDL-C on target among those on statin n (%)*	9 (50%)	11 (45.8)	NS		
HbA _{1c} on target n (%)**	11 (47.8)	-	NS		
Hypertension	17 (73.9)	24 (85.7)	NS		
Anti-hypertensive drugs	20 (86.9)	20 (71.4)	NS		

NS: Not Significant at the level Of 0.05; NA: Not Applicable.

* The LDL-C target for patients both with and without diabetes was considered as < 70 mg/dl. ** The HbA_{1c} target for patients with diabetes was considered as < 7.0%.

Patients without previous CVD (primary prevention group), $n = 134$							
	Diabetes n = 34		No diabet	es n = 100			
HEART Score		VHR n = 31	HR n = 22	MR n = 40	LR n = 7		
Statin n (%)	16 (47.1)	10 (32.3)	6 (27.3)	4 (10)	0 (0)		
Antiplatelet/anticoagulant	18 (52.9)	5 (16.1)	3 (13.6)	1 (2.5)	0 (0)		
Hypertension	18 (52.9)	19 (61.2)	16 (72.7)	7 (17.5)	1 (14.3)		
Anti-hypertensive drugs	16 (47)	14 (45.2)	10 (45.4)	4 (10)	0 (0)		
SGLT-2-i/GLP-1, n (%)	7 (20.6)	-	-	-	-		
Smoking	12 (35.3)	12 (38.7)	13 (59.1)	22 (55)	3 (42.7)		
LDL-C on target n (%)*	8 (23.5)	8 (25.8)	2 (9,1)	12 (30)	1 (14.3)		
LDL-C on target among those on statin n (%)*	4 (25)	4 (40)	2 (33,3)	4 (100)	-		
HbA _{1c} on target n (%)**	21 (61.8)	-	-	-	-		

Tab. III. Prevention measures, active smoking and target achievement of key metabolic parameters in patients without previous CVD (primary prevention group).

* The LDL-C target for VHR and HR patients was considered as < 70 mg/dl, for MR as < 100 mg/dl and for LR as < 115 mg/dl. ** The HbA_{1c} target for patients with diabetes was set at < 7.0%

under such treatment at all, while a remarkable fraction (43.1%) should have required treatment intensification. Disappointingly, active smoking was practiced by one quarter of the patients. In the diabetic subgroup, 52.2% of the patients seemed to need intensification of glucose-lowering treatment, while a substantial underuse of GLP-1RA and/or SGLT-2i was also noticed (21.7%), despite the latest ADA/EASD guidelines strongly recommending their use in patients with diabetes and established CVD [11]. Antiplatelet/ anticoagulant treatment seemed to be the most well-established preventive treatment in this group, as it was followed by 94.2% of the patients.

In primary prevention, considerable heterogeneity regarding the previous CV risk status was noticed among. Almost two thirds of the patients in this group had been at HR or VHR to suffer an ACS (87/134, 64.9%), either because they had diabetes (and additional risk factors) or because of their calculated SCORE. Among them (at VHR/HR), 60% were not treated with any kind of lipid-lowering medications and only 25% had their LDL-C on target. Additionally, about one third of these patients were active smokers and about 40% of those with diabetes needed glucose-lowering treatment intensification. The proportion of patients with diabetes under GLP-1RA and/or SGLT-i was 20%, similar to that in the secondary prevention group. About one third were treated with an antiplatelet/anticoagulant, a proportion that was significantly higher in those with diabetes (52.6%) than in those without (16.1%). One third of the patients comprising the primary prevention group (and hence one quarter of the total study population) had been at MR or LR, previously to the indexed acute coronary event. Among these patients, only one quarter had their LDL-C on target, and, strikingly, more than 50% were active smokers.

Overall, the present study shows that the vast majority of patients suffering an ACS had been receiving insufficient preventive management of classical CV risk factors, while some individuals had not been receiving such management at all. A significant underuse/underdose of lipid-lowering medications, especially statins, in both primary and secondary prevention, was shown. An even greater underuse was noticed regarding the novel glucose-lowering medications (GLP-1Ras and SGLT-2i), which have been recently shown to reduce CV events in patients with DM at high CV risk. The use of antiplatelet/anticoagulant agents was sufficiently high in secondary prevention but relatively low in high and very high-risk patients of the primary prevention group, with the exception of patients with diabetes, in whom it slightly surpassed 50%. Last but not least, an alarming finding of the present study is the high proportion of active smokers in all groups. Vigorous counselling for smoking cessation and offering of structured smoking cessation programs are urgently needed.

In line with the results of the present study, previous studies have also shown concerning gaps in managing CV risk factors in patients with a history of CVD [12], diabetes [13] and acute myocardial infarction [14]. To our knowledge, however, no previous studies have considered the adequacy of CVD prevention management in the context of risk stratification according to the ESC/EAS guidelines in patients presenting with ACS. This approach offered the opportunity to eschew some limitations of larger registry-based studies, such as missing information and misclassification of CVD risk. The present analysis included a broad range of risk factor management, including lipid-lowering, glucoselowering and antiplatelet medications. Importantly, very few studies have yet reported on the use of the newer glucose-lowering medications in this population. Additionally, the prospective inclusion of patients offered more accurate data collection and ascertainment of actual ACS events. Finally, the study population came from Greece, a medium-to-high income country under austerity measures, in which such an analysis has not been previously performed. On the other hand, the present study has some important limitations: first, this is a single-center study, a fact limiting representativeness of the sample population and generalizability of the results; second, the number of ACS events is relatively

small and third, some important factors related to CVD prevention such as diet habits and physical activity were not recorded. Importantly, however, the study population included patients admitted during the shift schedule of the single participating Cardiology clinic, which, being part of the Greek National Health System, allows access to virtually all inhabitants of the broader Athens area who need emergency care.

Physician's lack of awareness, clinical inertia, patients' non-adherence to follow up, the lack of a national program for systematic outpatient CVD prevention and high cost of newer hypolipidemic and glucose-lowering agents, are all probable contributing factors, explaining our results [15-17].

In conclusion, data from a single cardiology clinic of a tertiary hospital in Greece show that in a substantial proportion of patients presenting with ACS, previous CVD prevention, both primary and secondary, fails to meet the current recommendations. Establishing stricter local prescription protocols, implementing adequate follow up, enhancing physicians' awareness and addressing clinical inertia might serve as measures to improve management and achieve proper care.

Acknowledgements

The project was partially supported by an unrestricted grant from Boehringer Ingelheim Hellas. Boehringer Ingelheim Hellas was not involved in the study design, roll-out, data collection, and data analysis.

Authors' contribution

S.L., M.B. and J.B. conceived of the presented idea. C.S, C.K. and M.S processed the data and performed the analysis. C.S. and S.L. wrote the manuscript with input from all authors. All authors provided critical feedback and helped shape the research, analysis and manuscript.

Informed Consent Statement

Informed consent was obtained from all subjects involved in the study. Written informed consent has been obtained from the patients to publish this paper.

Conflict of interest statement

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

Ethical approval

The study was approved by the Ethics Committee of our institution and was carried out in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki.

References

 Sanchis-Gomar F, Perez-Quilis C, Leischik R, Lucia A. Epidemiology of coronary heart disease and acute coronary syndrome. Ann Transl Med 2016;4:256. https://doi.org/10.21037/ atm.2016.06.33

- [2] Bhatnagar P, Wickramasinghe K, Wilkins E, Townsend N. Trends in the epidemiology of cardiovascular disease in the UK. Heart 2016;102:1945-52. https://doi.org/10.1136/ heartjnl-2016-309573
- [3] Visseren FLJ, Mach F, Smulders YM, Carballo D, Koskinas KC, Bäck M, Benetos A, Biffi A, Boavida JM, Capodanno D, Cosyns B, Crawford C, Davos CH, Desormais I, Di Angelantonio E, Franco OH, Halvorsen S, Hobbs FDR, Hollander M, Jankowska EA, Michal M, Sacco S, Sattar N, Tokgozoglu L, Tonstad S, Tsioufis KP, van Dis I, van Gelder IC, Wanner C, Williams B; ESC National Cardiac Societies; ESC Scientific Document Group. 2021 ESC Guidelines on cardiovascular disease prevention in clinical practice. Eur Heart J 2021;42:3227-337. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehab484
- [4] Gaede P, Lund-Andersen H, Parving HH, Pedersen O. Effect of a multifactorial intervention on mortality in type 2 diabetes. N Engl J Med 2008;358:580-91. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJ-Moa0706245
- [5] Bonner C, Fajardo MA, Hui S, Stubbs R, Trevena L. Clinical validity, understandability, and actionability of online cardiovascular disease risk calculators: systematic review. J Med Internet Res 2018;20:e29. https://doi.org/10.2196/jmir.8538
- [6] Conroy RM, Pyörälä K, Fitzgerald AP, Sans S, Menotti A, De Backer G, De Bacquer D, Ducimetière P, Jousilahti P, Keil U, Njølstad I, Oganov RG, Thomsen T, Tunstall-Pedoe H, Tverdal A, Wedel H, Whincup P, Wilhelmsen L, Graham IM; SCORE project group. Estimation of ten-year risk of fatal cardiovascular disease in Europe: the SCORE project. Eur Heart J 2003;24:987-1003. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0195-668x(03)00114-3
- [7] World Medical Association. World Medical Association Declaration of Helsinki: ethical principles for medical research involving human subjects. JAMA 2013;310:2191-4. https://doi. org/10.1001/jama.2013.281053
- [8] Piepoli MF, Hoes AW, Agewall S, Albus C, Brotons C, Catapano AL, Cooney MT, Corrà U, Cosyns B, Deaton C, Graham I, Hall MS, Hobbs FDR, Løchen ML, Löllgen H, Marques-Vidal P, Perk J, Prescott E, Redon J, Richter DJ, Sattar N, Smulders Y, Tiberi M, van der Worp HB, van Dis I, Verschuren WMM, Binno S; ESC Scientific Document Group. 2016 European Guidelines on cardiovascular disease prevention in clinical practice: The Sixth Joint Task Force of the European Society of Cardiology and Other Societies on Cardiovascular Disease Prevention in Clinical Practice (constituted by representatives of 10 societies and by invited experts)Developed with the special contribution of the European Association for Cardiovascular Prevention & Rehabilitation (EACPR). Eur Heart J 2016;37:2315-81. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehw106
- [9] Davies MJ, D'Alessio DA, Fradkin J, Kernan WN, Mathieu C, Mingrone G, Rossing P, Tsapas A, Wexler DJ, Buse JB. Management of hyperglycemia in type 2 diabetes, 2018. A consensus report by the American Diabetes Association (ADA) and the European Association for the Study of Diabetes (EASD). Diabetes Care 2018;41:2669-701. https://doi.org/10.2337/dci18-0033
- [10] Roth GA, Mensah GA, Johnson CO, Addolorato G, Ammirati E, Baddour LM, Barengo NC, Beaton AZ, Benjamin EJ, Benziger CP, Bonny A, Brauer M, Brodmann M, Cahill TJ, Carapetis J, Catapano AL, Chugh SS, Cooper LT, Coresh J, Criqui M, DeCleene N, Eagle KA, Emmons-Bell S, Feigin VL, Fernández-Solà J, Fowkes G, Gakidou E, Grundy SM, He FJ, Howard G, Hu F, Inker L, Karthikeyan G, Kassebaum N, Koroshetz W, Lavie C, Lloyd-Jones D, Lu HS, Mirijello A, Temesgen AM, Mokdad A, Moran AE, Muntner P, Narula J, Neal B, Ntsekhe M, Moraes de Oliveira G, Otto C, Owolabi M, Pratt M, Rajagopalan S, Reitsma M, Ribeiro ALP, Rigotti N, Rodgers A, Sa-

ble C, Shakil S, Sliwa-Hahnle K, Stark B, Sundström J, Timpel P, Tleyjeh IM, Valgimigli M, Vos T, Whelton PK, Yacoub M, Zuhlke L, Murray C, Fuster V; GBD-NHLBI-JACC Global Burden of Cardiovascular Diseases Writing Group. Global burden of cardiovascular diseases and risk factors, 1990-2019: update from the GBD 2019 study. J Am Coll Cardiol 2020;76:2982-3021. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2020.11.010

- [11] Buse JB, Wexler DJ, Tsapas A, Rossing P, Mingrone G, Mathieu C, D'Alessio DA, Davies MJ. 2019 Update to: management of hyperglycemia in type 2 diabetes, 2018. A consensus report by the American Diabetes Association (ADA) and the European Association for the Study of Diabetes (EASD). Diabetes Care 2020;43:487-93. https://doi.org/10.2337/dci19-0066
- [12] Arnold SV, de Lemos JA, Liu Y, Mues KE, Bhatt DL, Cannon CP, Kosiborod M. Adherence to guideline medication recommendations to prevent atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease progression among adults with prior myocardial infarction. JAMA Netw Open 2020;3:e203032. https://doi.org/10.1001/ jamanetworkopen.2020.3032
- [13] Khunti K, Ceriello A, Cos X, De Block C. Achievement of guideline targets for blood pressure, lipid, and glycaemic

control in type 2 diabetes: A meta-analysis. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2018;137:137-48. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.diabres.2017.12.004

- [14] Jortveit J, Halvorsen S, Kaldal A, Pripp AH, Govatsmark RES, Langørgen J. Unsatisfactory risk factor control and high rate of new cardiovascular events in patients with myocardial infarction and prior coronary artery disease. BMC Cardiovasc Disord 2019;19:71. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12872-019-1062-y
- [15] Brenner S, Oberaigner W, Stummer H. In guidelines physicians trust? Physician perspective on adherence to medical guidelines for type 2 diabetes mellitus. Heliyon 2020;6:e04803. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2020.e04803
- [16] Cabana MD, Rand CS, Powe NR, Wu AW, Wilson MH, Abboud PA, Rubin HR. Why don't physicians follow clinical practice guidelines? A framework for improvement. JAMA 1999;282:1458-65. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.282.15.1458
- [17] Arts DL, Voncken AG, Medlock S, Abu-Hanna A, van Weert HC. Reasons for intentional guideline non-adherence: A systematic review. Int J Med Inform 2016;89:55-62. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2016.02.009

.....

Received on August 16, 2022. Accepted on October 12, 2022.

Correspondence: Siafarikas Christos, First Department of Propaedeutic Medicine, Medical School, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens, Laiko General Hospital, Agiou Thoma 17, 11527, Athens. Tel.: +306944604258 - E-mail: xsiafar@gmail.com

How to cite this article: Siafarikas C, Liatis S, Kapelios C, Skouloudi M, Bonou M, Barbetseas J. Inadequate management of cardiovascular risk factors prior to admission for an acute coronary event. J Prev Med Hyg 2022;63:E598-E603. https://doi.org/10.15167/2421-4248/ jpmh2022.63.4.2684

© Copyright by Pacini Editore Srl, Pisa, Italy

This is an open access article distributed in accordance with the CC-BY-NC-ND (Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International) license. The article can be used by giving appropriate credit and mentioning the license, but only for non-commercial purposes and only in the original version. For further information: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/deed.en

OPEN ACCESS

NON COMMUNICABLE DISEASES

Predicting role of illness perception in treatment self-regulation among patients with type 2 diabetes

FARIBA ABDOLLAHI¹, HAMED BIKDELI², SAKINEH MOGHADDAM ZEABADI³, RANA REZAI SEPASI¹, ROGHAYE KALHOR², SEYEDEH AMENEH MOTALEBI⁴

¹Department of Medical Sciences, Qazvin Branch, Islamic Azad University, Qazvin, Iran; ²Student Research Committee, Qazvin University of Medical Sciences, Qazvin, Iran; ³ Department of Medical Emergencies, School of Paramedical Sciences, Social Determinants of Health Research Center, Research Institute for Prevention of Non-Communicable Diseases, Qazvin University of Medical Sciences, Qazvin, Iran; 4 Social Determinants of Health Research Center, Research Institute for Prevention of Non-Communicable Diseases, Qazvin University of Medical Sciences, Qazvin, Iran

Keywords

Treatment self-regulation • Illness perception • Chronic disease • Type 2 diabetes

Summary

Background and Objective. Impaired self-regulation negatively impacts self-efficacy, self-management, blood sugar control, and quality of life among patients with diabetes. Hence, identifying the predictors of self-regulation is a necessity for healthcare providers. The current study aimed to determine the predictive role of illness perception in treatment self-regulation in patients with type 2 diabetes.

Methods. The current study is a descriptive cross-sectional study. A total of 200 patients with type 2 diabetes, who were referred to the only specialized clinic for endocrinology and diabetes affiliated with Qazvin University of Medical Sciences in 2019-2020, were recruited through a convenience sampling method. For data collection, the brief Illness Perception Questionnaire and the Treatment Self-Regulation Questionnaire were used. Collected data were analyzed by SPSS v21 using a multivariable regression model.

Introduction

Diabetes is one of the most common chronic diseases in the world [1, 2]. According to the International Diabetes Federation announcement in 2019, the total number of people living with diabetes is projected to rise to 700 million by 2045 [3]. In Iran, the number of people suffering from diabetes mellitus is projected to rise to 9.2 million by the year 2030 [4]. The condition can lead to many problems, such as cardiovascular, renal and brain dysfunction, and imposes a large economic burden on patients as well as their societies [5]. Diabetes is the seventh leading cause of death in the United States and has been one of the ten most common causes of death in Iran [6]. In 2010, the mortality rate was estimated at 10.6 deaths per 100,000 population in Iran that was higher than Greece (7.9 per 100,000 people) and lower than Italy (32.2 per 100,000 people) [7]. The mortality rate among diabetic patients is mostly related to an unhealthy diet and a sedentary lifestyle [8]. Self-regulation assists as a guide for diabetic patients to attain their goals and continue selfcare behaviors [9].

Self-regulation is defined as one's common values or motivations to execute certain behaviors in order to

......

Results. Mean and standard deviation scores of self-regulation and illness perception were 69.11 ± 17.61 and 36.21 ± 7.05 , respectively. Results of the multivariate regression model revealed the significant correlations of self-regulation with illness perception, age, cardiovascular complications, diabetic retinopathy, and diabetic foot ulcers.

Conclusions. In this study, participants presented a moderate level of self-regulation. The results also revealed that illness perception could be a predictor of improving patients' self-regulation. Therefore, providing infrastructure programs such as continuous education and appropriate care programs for diabetic patients to improve their illness perception can effectively improve their selfregulation behaviors.

improve health when suffering from diseases [10]. It is classified as controlled and independent motivations. Controlled motivation is comprised of external regulation, and internal motivations are controlled by internal feelings, leading to certain beliefs in a person to execute a behavior [11]. Basic structures of selfregulation learning abilities include the following processes: goal-setting, planning to achieve them, monitoring them, comparing them with standards, and changing behaviors to improve performance [12]. Self-regulation leads to adaptive behaviors which are effective in dealing with disease [13], improving one's physical health, quality of life, and self-care behaviors [14], and reducing disease complications and its psychological burden [15]. Impaired self-regulation negatively impacts health outcomes [10], self-efficacy [13], disease complications, self-management, blood sugar control and quality of life [15, 16]. Diabetic patients are responsible for executing certain behaviors, such as having a healthy lifestyle, controlling blood sugar, and taking medications on time, in order to improve their own health [17, 18], and self-regulation strategies strengthen their efforts to meet such ends [19]. However, poor treatment self-regulation leads to poor adherence to medication as well as poor blood sugar control, and long-term hyperglycemia increases the risk of microvascular and macrovascular complications [20].

Recent studies conducted in different settings showed that the prevalence of adherence to diabetes medication varied between 36 and 93%. Motivation plays a predictive role in diabetes self-management through consuming more vegetables/fruits and fewer fats, eating healthier foods, changing diet, doing regular exercise, regularly taking medication, and self-monitoring blood sugar levels resulting in better diabetes control. Cultural, religious, personal and social factors can also affect patients' beliefs and motivation in this regard. Taking several oral drugs and insulin, being concerned about their side effects, lack of confidence in their efficacy and lack of knowledge about them can all negatively impact individuals' adherence to medication [21, 22]. Illness perception and knowledge about diabetes significantly predict self-care behaviors in diabetic patients [23]. Hence, identifying such predictors is of great importance in these patients.

When dealing with a disease, patients usually create an image of the disease and its treatment process in their mind, which is defined as "illness perception" [24]. Factors such as poor blood sugar control, duration of treatment, presence or absence of complications lead to emotional reactions, and impaired self-management can affect individuals' illness perception [25]. In other words, patients living with diabetes consider their disease as a threat, and this belief leads to poor illness perception, and eventually depression [26]. The way people perceive an illness (illness perceptions) plays a role in how they adapt to their illness [27]. Therefore, assessing illness perception in such patients should be considered as a part of the healthcare services [28].

Regardless of the physiological factors, illness perception significantly affects the consequences of the disease [27]. Paying attention to the physical and mental problems of patients living with diabetes and assessing the consequences of their disease, including illness perception, are highly important. As a member of the treatment team, nurses play a key role in this regard by promoting self-regulation and assessing illness perception [10]. Due to the fact that the role of illness perception, as an effective factor in self-regulation, is not clearly evident, the current study aimed to determine the predictive role of illness perception in treatment selfregulation in patients with type 2 diabetes.

Methods

The current study is a descriptive cross-sectional study. The study population included patients with type 2 diabetes, who were referred to the only specialized clinic for endocrinology and diabetes in Qazvin, Iran, from 2019 to 2020. This clinic is located in Velayat teaching hospital affiliated with Qazvin University of Medical Sciences.

Considering $\alpha = 0.05$ (a 95% confidence interval), $\beta = 0.05$



(95% power), results of a previous study (r = -0.33) [23], and the possibility of a 30% not responding, the final sample size was calculated to be 200.

A convenience sampling method was applied for sampling. Patients met the inclusion criteria if they were diagnosed with type 2 diabetes by a specialist, were able to read and write, and consented to participate in the study. Those patients who were diagnosed with type 1 or gestational diabetes and suffered from acute mental problems were excluded from the study. For data collection, each patient completed the demographic characteristics and disease information forms, the brief Illness Perception Questionnaire (Brief IPQ), and the Treatment Self-Regulation Questionnaire (TSRQ). Figure 1, shows the flow diagram of the study.

The demographic characteristics and clinical characteristics associated with diabetes mellitus forms included age, gender, educational level, marital status, employment status, medications prescribed, and duration of the disease.

The brief IPQ is a 9-item questionnaire designed to assess one's emotional and cognitive perception of his/her illness. The 9 items, respectively, assess consequences, timeline, personal control, treatment control, identity, concern, illness comprehensibility, emotional impact, and cause of the disease. Items 1-8 are scored on a 10-point Likert scale, ranging from 1-10. Item 9, which is an open-ended question,

involves patients identifying the three most important perceived causes of their disease. In the final analysis, it is recommended that each of the subscales be analyzed separately. In items 3, 4, and 7, a higher score indicates a more negative perception, and in the other items, a lower score indicates a more positive perception. The Cronbach's alpha for this questionnaire is 0.80, and the test-retest reliability coefficients for a 6-week interval were reported between 0.42 and 0.75. To assess the concurrent validity of the questionnaire, the revised IPQ was applied to a sample of patients with asthma, diabetes, and renal problems, indicating a correlation of the subscales from 0.32 to 0.63. The discriminant validity of the brief IPQ was calculated and confirmed by comparing the scores of patients with diabetes, asthma, chest pain, and colds [29].

The TSRQ is a 19-item questionnaire developed by Ryan and Cannell to assess self-regulation in patients with diabetes [30-31]. It utilizes a general approach to autonomously assessing self-regulation using the following subscales: autonomous regulatory style, controlled regulatory style, and motivation. The autonomous regulatory style represents the most selfdetermined form of motivation and has consistently been associated with maintained behavior change and positive healthcare outcomes [32, 33]. Based on the 19-item version, there are a variety of reasons why diabetic patients take their medications, check their blood sugar levels, follow a diet, or do regular exercises. The questionnaire is comprised of 2 subscales, autonomous self-regulation, and controlled self-regulation, which are assessed with 2 headings: 1. I take or would take my medications or control my glucose because ... (8 items), and 2. I follow or would follow the recommended diet and exercise or would regularly because ... (11 items). Items 2, 3, 7, 10, 13, 16, 18, and 19 assess the first subscale, and items 1, 4, 5, 6, 8, 9, 11, 12, 14, 15, and 17 assess the second subscale. Responding to each item is based on a 7-point Likert scale, ranging from 1-7. A relative autonomous index is also calculated [34, 35].

DATA ANALYSIS

Collected data were analyzed by IBM SPSS Statistics for Windows, version 21.0, using descriptive statistics (mean, standard deviation and frequency distribution), and a multiple linear regression model. Kolmogorov– Smirnov test was used to assess the normality of data, and Levene's test was used to assess the equality of variance for the groups. A p-value of < 0.05 was considered significant.

Results

In this study, 200 patients were enrolled. Of them, 103 patients (51.5%) were female and 97 patients (48.5%) were male. Their mean age was 59 years. Table I shows patients' demographic characteristics in more detail.

......

Variables	Freq.	%	
Condor	female	103	51.5
Gender	male	97	48.5
	single	17	8.5
Marital status	married	165	82.5
Marital status	widowed	15	7.5
	divorced	3	1.5
	illiterate	60	30.0
Educational loval	under diploma	94	47.0
Educational level	diploma and higher	46	23.0
	unemployed	102	51.0
Employment	employed	54	27.0
status	retired	44	22.0
	< 1	19	9.5
Diabetes duration	1-5	59	29.5
(year)	6-10	59	29.5
	> 10	63	31.5
	tablet	113	56.5
	insulin	44	22.0
Type of treatment	tablet + insulin	31	15.5
	no medication	12	6.0
	0	122	61.0
	1-10	27	13.5
Insulin (unit)	11-20	38	19.0
	21-30	13	65
	0	63	31.5
Tablet	1-2	42	21.0
	3 and more	95	47.5
Underlying	Ves	115	57.5
disease	no	85	42.5
	Ves	6	3.0
MI	no	194	97.0
	Ves	/1	20.5
ACS	no	159	79.5
	Ves	3	15
СКД	no	197	98.5
Diabotic	Ves	116	58.0
complications	no	8/	12.0
Diabetic	Ves	18	9.0
nephropathy	no	182	91.0
Diabetic	Ves	61	69.5
retinopathy	no	139	30.5
Cardiovascular	ves	50	25.0
complications	no	150	75.0
Diabetic	ves	75	37.5
neuropathy	no	125	62.5
Diabetic foot	ves	23	11 5
ulcers	no	177	88.5

Tab. I. Patients' demographic characteristic.

N: Number; %: Percent; MI: Myocardial Infraction, ACS: Acute Coronary Syndrome; CKD: Chronic Kidney Disease.

Patients' mean and standard deviation scores of self-regulation and illness perception were 69.11 ± 17.61 and 36.21 ± 7.05 , respectively.

The multivariate regression model showed that diabetic patients' self-regulation decreases as their age increases.

Variables		M (SD)	Adjusted eta	p-value	95% CI
	Married	70.79 (17.78)	-		-
Marital status	Single	88.76 (21.35)	-0.019	0.806	-11.70-9.11
	Divorced	ivorced 85.33 (7.77) 0.0		0.536	-12.94-24.79
	Widowed	59.33 (12.40)	-0.033	0.621	-11.59-6.94
	Illiterate	66.78 (16.72)	-		-
Educational level	Under diploma	70.64 (17.77)	-0.113	0.159	-10.10-1.67
	Diploma and higher	80.20 (20.33)	-0.134	0.179	-14.51-2.68
	Tablet	66.14 (14.89)	-0.032	0.857	-14.42-12.00
Type treatment	Insulin	73.48 (22.04)	-0.144	0.248	-17.52-4.55
Type treatment	Tablet+ insulin	68.39 (17.38)	0.046	0.751	-12.26-16.96
	No medicine	83.00 (15.99)	-		-
	< 1	76.58 (16.23)	0.037	0.474	-7.43-12.13
Diabatas duration (year)	1-5	72.86 (18.25)	0.056	0.503	-4.46-9.05
Diabetes duration (year)	6-10	67.73 (16.46)	0.017	0.820	-5.42-6.84
	> 10	64.65 (17.38)1	-		-
Underlying disease	Yes	65.11 (15.71)	0.074	0.302	-0.710.037
	No	74.53 (18.68)	-		-
Diabetic retinonathy	Yes	62.10 (15.24)	-0.152	0.04	-12.270.49
	No	72.19 (17.76)	-		-
Cardiovascular complications	Yes	58.44 (10.93)	-0.170	0.022	-13.591.07
	No	72.67 (18.01)	-		-
Diabotic nouropathy	Yes	63.67 (15.51)	-0.018	0.801	-6.15-4.76
	No	72.38 (18.05)	-		-
Diabetic foot ulcers	Yes	79.61 (15.74)	0.255	0.000	7.03-22.75
	No	67.75 (17.43)	-		-
	0	74.51 (20.70)	-		-
Tablet	1-2	71.19 (15.61)	-0.148	0.218	-17.61-4.04
	3 and more	64.62 (15.05)	-0.271	0.056	-20.42-0.25
Variables	M (SD)	Range	Adjusted β	p-value	95% CI
Age	59.91 (14.09)	15-84	-0.329	0.001	-0.700.17
Perceived illness	43.89 (7.05)	5-70	-0.141	0.030	-0.710.04

Tab	ш	Predictors	for	self-re	aulation	among	diabetic	natients
iab.	п.	FIGUICIOIS	101	2011-10	guiation	annong	ulabelic	patients

M: Mean; SD: Standard deviation; CI: Confidence Interval.

The results also showed that as illness perception increases, patients' self-regulation improves (p = 0.03). Compared to other patients, self-regulation was significantly lower in patients with diabetic retinopathy (p = 0.048) or cardiovascular complication (p = 0.022). Also, compared to other patients, self-regulation was significantly lower in patients with diabetic foot ulcers (p < 0.0001) (Tab. II).

Discussion

The current study aimed to determine the role of illness perception in treatment self-regulation among patients with type 2 diabetes.

In this study, participants presented a moderate level of self-regulation. This finding is supported by Shahbazi et al. (2018) and Salehi et al. (2014) studies, in which self-regulation was reported to be at a moderate level among diabetic patients [36, 37]. However, Mahdilouy et al. (2019) and Lin et al. (2016) concluded that self-regulation is low in diabetic patients [38, 39]. Fuladvandi et al. (2017) also reported that self-regulation is low in patients with high blood pressure [40]. Based on these results, it seems that the current educational programs are not enough to improve and promote self-care behaviors among patients with diabetes. Hence, the treatment team, especially nurses, should consider other measures to better and more effectively educate this group of patients in order to improve their awareness about the potential and hazardous complications of improper diabetes control.

Based on the results of the current study, diabetic patients with greater illness perception used more self-regulation. This is consistent with national [41] and international [42, 43] studies which reported similar results. For instance, Kugbey et al. (2017) reported that illness perception and diabetes knowledge significantly predict overall diabetes self-care practices [23]. Abubakari et al. (2018) also found that illness perceptions are important determinants of self-management among diabetic patients [42]. Furthermore, illness perception was correlated with

The results of the current study also showed a significant decrease in self-regulation among diabetic patients with cardiovascular complications, diabetic retinopathy, and diabetic foot ulcers. In line with this finding, Gholamaliei et al. (2016) reported that patients with type 2 diabetes who develop diabetes complications and have elevated HbA1C levels show lower levels of self-regulation [43]. Gabr et al. (2015) also concluded that self-care and self-regulation are low in epilepsy patients suffering from complications [44]. Poor treatment self-regulation leads to poor medication adherence as well as poor blood sugar control, and long-term hyperglycemia increases the risk of microvascular and macrovascular complications [45].

Based on the results of the current study, self-regulation significantly decreased with advancing age. Fuladvandi et al. (2017) concluded that patients' self-regulation decreases as their age increases [40]. However, on the contrary, Mahdilouy et al. (2019) showed that self-regulation has no statistically significant relationship with age [38]. Also, Gholamaliei et al. (2016) reported that older patients have higher levels of self-regulation and better medication adherence [43]. It seems that age-related conditions, such as hearing loss, vision problems, and cognitive/physical disorders, cause older adults to become dependent and reduce their self-efficacy in adopting self-regulation behaviors.

Conclusions

In this study, diabetic patients presented a moderate level of self-regulation. Predictive factors of self-regulation including illness perception, age, cardiovascular complications, diabetic retinopathy, and diabetic foot ulcers should be taken into consideration by healthcare providers. Therefore, providing infrastructure programs such as continuous education and appropriate care programs for diabetic patients to improve their illness perception can effectively improve their self-regulation behaviors.

Ethical consideration

The current study was approved by the ethics committee of Qazvin University of Medical Sciences (IR.QUMS. REC.1398.313). Patients were reassured about the confidentiality of data, and necessary explanations on how to complete the questionnaire were provided to them. Prior to data collection, informed consent was also obtained from them.

.....

Acknowledgments

We would like to appreciate the Vice-Chancellor for Research of Qazvin University of Medical Sciences as well as all the patients participated in the current study.

Funding

This research was funded by Research Council of Qazvin University of Medical Sciences (Grant ID: 14003851).

Conflict of interest statement

The author declares no conflict of interest.

Authors' contributions

Conceptualization: FA, HB, RK, SAM. Methodology: FA, HB, RK, SAM. Investigation, Writing – original draft, and Writing – review & editing: All authors. Data collection: HB and RK. Data analysis: SAM. Supervision: FA and SAM.

References

- [1] Saeedi P, Petersohn I, Salpea P, Malanda B, Karuranga S, Unwin N, Colagiuri S, Guariguata L, Motala AA, Ogurtsova K, Shaw JE, Bright D, Williams R; IDF Diabetes Atlas Committee. Global and regional diabetes prevalence estimates for 2019 and projections for 2030 and 2045: Results from the International Diabetes Federation Diabetes Atlas, 9th edition. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2019;157:107843. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.diabres.2019.107843
- [2] Lee EH, Lee YW, Lee KW, Nam M, Kim SH. A new comprehensive diabetes health literacy scale: Development and psychometric evaluation. Int J Nurs Stud 2018;88:1-8. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2018.08.002
- [3] IDF, International Diabetes Federation. IDF Diabetes Atlas, 9th edition. Brussels, Belgium: 2019. Available at: https://www. diabetesatlas.org.
- [4] Moradpour F, Rezaei S, Piroozi B, Moradi G, Moradi Y, Piri N, Shokri A. Prevalence of prediabetes, diabetes, diabetes awareness, treatment, and its socioeconomic inequality in west of Iran. Sci Rep 2022;12. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-022-22779-9
- [5] Hilliard ME, De Wit M, Wasserman RM, Butler AM, Evans M, Weissberg-Benchell J, Anderson BJ. Screening and support for emotional burdens of youth with type 1 diabetes: strategies for diabetes care providers. Pediatr Diabetes 2018;19:534-43. https://doi.org/10.1111/pedi.12575
- [6] Heron MP. Deaths: leading causes for 2012. Natl Vital Stat Rep 2015;64:1-93.
- [7] Jafarvand E, Ataey A, Edalati S. Epidemiology and death trends due to diabetes in Iran. Intern Med Today 2021; 27 (2) :198-213. http://doi.org/10.32598/hms.27.2.2764.1
- [8] Ketema DB, Leshargie CT, Kibret GD, Assemie MA, Alamneh AA, Kassa GM, Alebel A. Level of self-care practice among diabetic patients in Ethiopia: A systematic review and

E608

meta-analysis. BMC Public Health 2020;20:309. https://doi. org/10.1186/s12889-020-8425-2

[9] Chuman N, Hatamochi C. Intervention effect based on selfregulation to promote the continuation of self-care behavior of patients with type-2 diabetes mellitus. Health 2021;30;13:472. https://doi.org/10.4236/health.2022.1412086

- [10] Abasi MH, Eslami AA, Rakhshani F, Shiri M. Development and psychometric properties of a selfregulation scale about leisure time physical activity in Iranian male adolescents. Iran J Nurs Midwifery Res 2016;21:1890. https://doi. org/10.4103/1735-9066.178246
- [11] Deci E, Ryan, RM. The "What" and "Why" of goal pursuits: human needs and the self-determination of behavior. Psychol Inq 2009;11. https://doi.org/10.1207/S15327965PLI1104_01
- [12] Kadivar P. Psychology of learning. 7th Edition. Tehran: Samt 2014.
- [13] Azizi Karaj M, Dehghani F, Kamali Zarch M. The moderating role of emotion self-regulation in the relationship between mindfulness and self-efficacy of patients with type 2 diabetes Yazd township. Intern Med Today 2017; 23 (3) :243-250. https://doi.org/18869/acadpub.hms.23.3.243
- [14] Chuman N, Hatamochi C. Intervention effect based on selfregulation to promote the continuation of self-care behavior of patients with type-2 diabetes mellitus. Health 2021;30;13:472. https://doi.org/10.4236/health.2021.134037
- [15] Abdoli S, Ashktorab T, Ahmadi F, Parvizy S, Dunning T. Seeking new identity through the empowerment process Iran J Nurs Midwifery Res 2014;19:145-51.
- [16] Vaid E, Lansing AH, Stanger C. Problems with self-regulation, family conflict, and glycemic control in adolescents experiencing challenges with managing type 1 diabetes. J. Pediatr Psychol 2018;43:525-33. https://doi.org/10.1093/jpepsy/jsx134
- [17] American Diabetes Association. Standards of medical care in diabetes 2019. Diabetes Care 2019;42:S1-193. https://doi. org/10.2337/cd18-0105
- [18] Araki E, Goto A, Kondo T, Noda M, Noto H, Origasa H, Osawa H, Taguchi A, Tanizawa, Kazuyuki Tobe Y, Yoshioka N. Japanese clinical practice guideline for diabetes 2019. J Diabetes Investig 2020;11:165-223. https://doi.org/10.1111/ jdi.13306
- [19] Weidner G, Sieverding M, Chesney MA. The role of self-regulation in health and illness. Psychol Health Med 2016;21:135-7. https://doi.org/10.1080/13548506.2015.1115528
- [20] Egede LE, Gebregziabher M, Echols C, Lynch CP. Longitudinal effects of medication nonadherence on glycemic control. Ann Pharmacother 2014;48:562-70. https://doi. org/10.1177/1060028014526362
- [21] Siebolds M, Gaedeke O, Schwedes U; SMBG Study Group. Self-monitoring of blood glucose – psychological aspects relevant to changes in HbA1c in type 2 diabetic patients treated with diet or diet plus oral antidiabetic medication. Patient Educ Couns 2006;62:104-10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. pec.2005.06.013
- [22] Al-Sahouri A, Merrell J, Snelgrove S. Barriers to good glycemic control levels and adherence to diabetes management plan in adults with Type-2 diabetes in Jordan: a literature review. Patient Prefer Adherence 2019;13:675. https://doi. org/10.2147/PPA.S198828
- [23] Kugbey N, Oppong Asante K, Adulai K. Illness perception, diabetes knowledge and self-care practices among type-2 diabetes patients: a cross-sectional study. BMC Res Notes 2017;10:381. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13104-017-2707-5
- [24] Pizzignacco TMP, Mello DFd, Lima RAGd. Stigma and cystic fibrosis. Rev Lat Am Enfermagem 2010;18:139-42. https:// doi.org/10.1590/S0104-11692010000100021
- [25] Huang CH, Li SH, Shu B. Exploring the relationship between illness perceptions and negative emotions in relatives of people with schizophrenia within the context of an affiliate stigma

model. Nurs Res 2016;24:217-23. https://doi.org/10.1097/jnr.00000000000124

- [26] Li J, Qiu X, Yang X, Zhou J, Zhu X, Zhao E, Qiao Z, Yang Y, Cao D. Relationship between illness perception and depressive symptoms among type 2 diabetes mellitus patients in China: a mediating role of coping style. J Diabetes Res 2020;15. https://doi.org/10.1155/2020/3142495
- [27] Zhou Q, Li X, Zou F, Wu L, Chen H, Liu Z. Effect of systematic self-management education on quality of life, anxiety and depression of patients with Type 2 diabetes in communities. Zhong Nan Da Xue Xue Bao Yi Xue Ban 2011;36:133-7. https://doi.org/10.3969/j.issn.1672-7347.2011.02.007
- [28] Fineschi D, Acciai S, Napolitani M, Scarafuggi G, Messina G, Guarducci G, Nante N. Game of mirrors: health profiles in patient and physician perceptions. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2022;19:1201. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph19031201
- [29] Rahimi Z, Baljani S, Zadgasem Z. Investigating the relationship between illness perception and quality of life in hemodialysis patients. Iran J Crit Care Nurs 2012;5:151-158.
- [30] Browne JL, Ventura A, Mosely K, Speight J. I call it the blame and shame disease: a qualitative study about perceptions of social stigma surrounding type 2 diabetes. BMJ Open 2013;3:e003384. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2013-003384
- [31] Børte S, Ottersen VS. Stigmatization of children with chronic diseases, exemplified by type 1 diabetes mellitus. Differences between India and Norway 2012.
- [32] Rasoolinajad M, Abedinia N, Noorbala AA, Mohraz M, Moradmand B. Effect of mental health, coping mechanisms and stigma on risky behaviors in HIV positive patients in Iran - A Cross-Sectional Study. RJMS 2017; 24 (159) :83-93. URL: http://rjms.iums.ac.ir/article-1-4685-en.html
- [33] Gaffman E. Stigma-netesonth management of spiiled identify. 15th ed. England: Touchstone Publish 2012.
- [34] Weiss M, Ramakrishna J, Somma D. Health-related stigma: rethinking concepts and interventions. Psychol Health Med 2006;11:277-87. https://doi.org/10.1080/13548500600595053
- [35] Aghayousefi A, Shaghaghi F, Dehestani M, Barghi Irani Z, the relationship between Quality of Life (QoL) and psychological capital with illness perception in MS patients. Health Psychol 2012;1:32-45.
- [36] Shahbazi H, Ghofranipour F, Amiri P, Rajad A. Perceptions, enablers and nurturers related to self-care behaviors in adolescent with type 1 diabetes. Iran. J Endocrinol Metab 2018;19:435-58.
- [37] Salehi S, Shafiei S, Amini P, Abdeyazdan G. Self-care performance in children and adolescents with type 1 diabetes mellitus. J Chronic Dis Care 2014;3:e21706. https://doi. org/10.17795/jjcdc-21706
- [38] Mahdilouy P, Ziaeirad M. Self-care status and its relationship with demographic and clinical characteristics in adolescents and young people with type I diabetes. J Diabetes Nurs 2019;7:714-27.
- [39] Lin K, Yang X, Yin G, Lin S. Diabetes self-care activities and health-related quality-of-life of individuals with type 1 diabetes mellitus in Shantou, China. Int J Med Res 2016;44:147-56. https://doi.org/10.1177/0300060515597933
- [40] Fuladvandi M, Safarpour H, Malekyan L, Moayedi S, Mahani MA, Salimi E. The Survey of self-regulation behaviors and related factors in elderly with hypertension in southeast of Iran. Health 2017;9:592-600. https://doi.org/10.4236/ health.2017.94042
- [41] Sabeti Bilondi S, Delshad Noghabi A, Aalami H. The relationship between illness perception and medication adherence in patients with diabetes mellitus type II: illness perception and medication adherence. J Prev Med Hyg 2021;62:E966–E971. https://doi.org/10.15167/2421-4248/jpmh2021.62.4.2277
- [42] Abubakari AR, Jones MC, Lauder W, Kirk A, Anderson J, Devendra D. Associations between knowledge, illness per-

ceptions, self-management and metabolic control of type 2 diabetes among African and European-origin patients. J Nurs Healthc Chronic Illn 2011;3:245-56. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1752-9824.2011.01098.x

- [43] Gholamaliei B, Karimi-Shahanjarini A, Roshanaei G, Rezapour-Shahkolaei F. Medication adherence and its related factors in patients with type II diabetes. J Educ Community Health 2016;2:3-12. https://doi.org/10.21859/jech-02042
- [44] Gabr WM, Shams ME. Adherence to medication among outpatient adolescents with epilepsy. Saudi Pharm J 2015;23:33-40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsps.2014.05.003
- [45] Selvin E, Coresh J, Brancati FL. The burden and treatment of diabetes in elderly individuals in the U.S. Diabetes Care 2006;29:2415-9. https://doi.org/10.2337/dc06-1058

Received on October 3, 2022. Accepted on December 12, 2022.

Correspondence: Seyedeh Ameneh Motalebi, Social Determinants of Health Research Center, Research Institute for Prevention of Non-Communicable Diseases, Qazvin University of Medical Sciences, Qazvin, Iran. Tel.: +98 283338034 - Fax: +98 28 33328212 - E-mail: ammotalebi@yahoo.com

How to cite this article: Abdollahi F, Bikdeli H, Zeabadi SM, Sepasi RR, Kalhor R, Motalebi SA. Predicting role of illness perception in treatment self-regulation among patients with type 2 diabetes. J Prev Med Hyg 2022;63:E604-E610. https://doi.org/10.15167/2421-4248/jpmh2022.63.4.2727

© Copyright by Pacini Editore Srl, Pisa, Italy

This is an open access article distributed in accordance with the CC-BY-NC-ND (Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International) license. The article can be used by giving appropriate credit and mentioning the license, but only for non-commercial purposes and only in the original version. For further information: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/deed.en

OPEN ACCESS

NURSING

Validation of the Italian version of the SexContraKnow instrument

VALENTINA ROSSI¹, FRANCESCA NAPOLITANO², MARK HAYTER³, ROGER WATSON⁴, MICHELA CALZOLARI², GIUSEPPE ALEO^{2.5}, MILKO ZANINI², GIANLUCA CATANIA², LOREDANA SASSO², ANNAMARIA BAGNASCO² ¹Health Institute GVM, Villa Serena GMV, Genoa, Italy; ²Department of Health Sciences, University of Genoa, Italy; ³Faculty of Health and Education, Manchester Metropolitan University, Manchester, United Kingdom; ⁴Academic Dean. Institution, Southwest Medical University, Luzhou, China; ⁵Faculty of Nursing and Midwifery, Royal College of Surgeons in Ireland, Dublin, Ireland

Keywords

Validation study • Contraception • Sex education • Adolescent • Health literacy

Summary

Introduction. A large proportion of all pregnancies worldwide occur in young adolescent women, and almost all these pregnancies are unintentional. To address effective educational interventions, it is necessary to assess adolescents' literacy on this topic. The aim of this study was to translate and validate the Italian version of the SexContraKnow instrument.

Methods. This was a methodological study. The validation of the instrument was performed following the EORTC Quality of Life Group translation procedure. The process consisted of four phases: translation, content validation, face validation, and pilot test. Data were collected between May and September 2021. The STROBE guidelines were followed for this study.

Results. After performing forward and backward translations, we

Introduction

Health literacy is a set of skills that improve people's ability to process information that enables to live in a healthier way. Such skills include reading, writing, listening, talking, calculating, and critical analysis, as well as communication and interaction [1]. Health literacy is an important social benefit [2] because it reduces improper access to hospital and emergency services, drug utilization, and increases health autonomy, individuals' usage of preventive services and the development of correct health care behaviours [3]. To achieve a good level of health literacy, people should have the ability to find, select and understand healthcare information from the Internet, brochures about health, verbal or written healthcare instructions, and healthcare journals [3]. Although the process of health literacy is of undoubted relevance, today half of the adult population still have inadequate levels of health literacy and is unable to understand information about their health [4] and require more support when having to manage their health problems [5].

Similarly, in the adolescent population – meaning people of any gender aged between 10 and 19 years [6] – the situation is no better, as less than one-fifth of all European students have a high level of health

evaluated content validity (Scale-Content Validity Index = 0.91) and face validity. We then conducted a pilot test, test re-test, with 10 students (Cronbach α = 0.928; Pearson's R = 0.991).

Conclusion. The Italian Version of the SexContraKnow instrument has a good level of validation and reliability and can be effectively used by nurses to assess adolescents' literacy about the use of contraceptives and to develop targeted educational interventions. This instrument will help to evaluate the effectiveness of education programmes about health literacy about safe sex and contraception. The attention of nurses should be actively directed towards the process of health literacy among adolescents, in the perspective of a society focused on the empowerment of the population.

literacy [7]. This deficiency affects the broader concept of health, defined as a "state of physical, psychological and social well-being [...]" [8], but is even more true in sexual and reproductive health, defined as "...a state of physical, emotional, mental and social well-being in relation to sexuality; it is not merely the absence of disease, dysfunction or infirmity. Sexual health requires a positive and respectful approach to sexuality and sexual relationships, as well as the possibility of having pleasurable and safe sexual experiences, free of coercion, discrimination, and violence. For sexual health to be attained and maintained, the sexual rights of all persons must be respected, protected and fulfilled" [9]. Adolescents face numerous physical, cognitive, emotional, and behavioural changes that they know very little about, as they acquire increasing autonomy and experience in many areas [10, 11]. These experiences may include alcohol use, drugs, smoking, and sexual activities, each of which may be associated with sexual and reproductive risks, such as sexually transmitted diseases and/or unintentional pregnancies [7].

In fact, 11% of all pregnancies worldwide involve young adolescent women, and almost all these pregnancies are unintentional [12]. Health literacy is especially important in adolescents because it impacts not only on the individual but also on the whole family. Education

enables individuals to change behaviours about their health habits [5]. In literature, it is widely recognised that adolescence is a critical period due to frequent incorrect health behaviours [5, 10, 12-14]. Moreover, health behaviours are acquired during adolescence, and therefore receiving correct health education at this age is an important determinant for health promotion [10]. The Health 2020 Strategy of the World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe [15] highlighted the importance of health literacy for the population and has become a key point on the European health agenda [13]. This context suggests that there is a need to increase educational interventions aimed at providing health literacy and skills regarding sexual and reproductive health, especially in adolescents. To properly design such interventions, it is necessary to understand what this population knows about this topic. Adequate literacy about sexuality and contraception is defined as the possession of training about sexuality and contraception that allows one to make informed decisions and pursue one's sexuality safely [10, 16]. Several studies have been conducted internationally and in the Italian context focusing on adolescents' literacy of safe sex and contraception, but most of them used non-validated ad-hoc tools [14, 17-20]. It is essential to use valid and reliable tools. Sebastian Sanz-Martos and his Spanish nursing research group of the University of Jean in 2019 developed an instrument to evaluate health literacy about sexuality and contraceptive methods in young university students. The SexContraKnow instrument proved to have sufficient validity and reliability and could be used in future research also to evaluate the effect of educational interventions or develop future educational programmes [5].

Methods

Аім

The purpose of this study is to provide a valid and reliable Italian instrument to assess adolescents' health literacy about contraception and develop an effective educational program. We selected the *SexContraKnow* instrument [5], translated it (Appendix 1) in Italian, adapted it to the adolescent population (aged between 14 and 19 years) and validated it.

Methodology

For the validation of the *SexContraKnow* instrument, we followed the EORTC *Quality of Life Group* guidelines [21]. The validation process consisted of four phases: translation, content validation, face validation, pilot test.

To translate the instrument, we used the *forward-backward translation* method. We asked two different Italian mother-tongue translators with a good knowledge of the Spanish language to independently translate the questionnaire. They had not been previously informed of the study or the content of the questionnaire. The two

translations were reconciled into one through an online meeting with the two translators and the researchers. This final version was translated back into Spanish by a native Spanish translator with a good knowledge of the Italian language.

.....

To validate the content of the instrument, we submitted it to a group of experts and asked them to rate the relevance of the 15 items of the questionnaire. These were scored using a four-point *Likert* scale, from 1 (notrelevant at all) to 4 (very relevant). Then we calculated the Content Validity Index (CVI) for each item and for the whole instrument. Following the recommendation on an acceptable indicator of content validity [22] we determined that each item-CVI (I-CVI) had to be at least \geq 0.78 to be considered item relevant. The scale-CVI (S-CVI) had to be at least \geq 0.90 for the entire instrument to be valid.

To test the face validity, we asked a group of volunteer high school students (between 14 and 19 years) to evaluate the questionnaire and then we performed a qualitative analysis of their answers. We asked them whether the 15 items were difficult to understand, confusing, contained difficult words, contained offensive words, or needed to be rephrased. At the end of this phase, we considered all the changes proposed by the students and performed the cultural adaptation.

To test the internal consistency, we performed a pilot *test re-test* and calculated *Cronbach's alpha* and the *Pearson correlation coefficient (Pearson's r)*. We asked a convenience sample of high school students to complete the questionnaire (T0) and then to repeat this after one week (T1). During the week, the students did not receive any further information or education.

PARTICIPANTS

Sample sizes were consistent with the EORTC *Quality* of Life Group guidelines [21]. Throughout the phases, we used a convenience sample. The content of the questionnaire was validated by a group of 9 experts of adolescent sexual health. For face validity, we invited 12 volunteer high school students (between 14 and 19 years) whose mean age was 16.5 years (SD = 1.78) to evaluate the questionnaire. For the pilot test, the sample included 10 volunteer high school students (between 14 and 19 years) with a mean age of 18.1 years (SD = 1.6).

DATA COLLECTION

The data across all the phases were collected using a Google Forms[®] link. The link was sent to the participants via email. For content validity, the data were collected in May 2021. We gave the participants two weeks' time to answer the questionnaire. For face validity, the data were collected in July 2021 and the students had two weeks to answer. For internal consistency, instead, the data were collected in September 2021. The first administration of the questionnaire took place on the 21st of September 2021 and the second on the 28th of September 2021. The high school students had to complete the questionnaire within the day after it was emailed to them on both occasions.

DATA ANALYSIS

For content and face validity the data we collected were codified and analysed using a Microsoft Excel[®] spreadsheet. I-CVI was obtained using the mean relevance score of each item. S-CVI was obtained using the computed mean of all the I-CVIs. Face validity was qualitatively analysed. The data relating to the pilot test were entered in a Microsoft Excel sheet and analysed using the Jamovi[®] software version 2.2.2. We calculated Cronbach's alpha to assess internal consistency and Pearson's r value to assess internal reliability.

THE INSTRUMENT

The purpose of the *SexContraKnow* instrument is to verify the level of health literacy about safe sex and contraception in university students [5]. It was validated on a population of university students aged 19-24 years, attending the faculty of nursing and the faculty of law. The instrument contains 15 items about sex and contraception. The possible answers for each question are: "true", "false", "I don't know". The third possible answer is useful to identify the least known subjects and therefore develop an educational intervention. The highest possible score is 15 and the average completion time was about 10 minutes.

ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS

The questionnaire was translated only after obtaining the approval of the authors for use. This pilot study was part of a larger study about health literacy approved by the Ethical Regional Committee of Liguria (156/2019). Participation was voluntary. The students aged over 18 signed a consent form, whereas, for students who were still minors, the consent form was signed also by their

parents. The collected data were stored in a passwordprotected computer. Only the researchers of the study could access the data.

Results

CONTENT AND FACE VALIDITY

We invited a group of experts to evaluate the instrument. The experts were all females (mean age 43.7; SD = 14.7): 5 high school teachers, 2 midwives, 1 gynaecologist, and 1 healthcare assistant. All the healthcare professionals involved were employed in a counselling centre. We calculated the Content Validity Index (CVI) for each item (I-CVI) and for the entire questionnaire (S-CVI). The S-CVI score was 0.91, meaning that the Italian experts found the instrument to be relevant to evaluate adolescents' health literacy. All the I-CVI scores are reported in Table I. Only one item had an I-CVI score < 0.78 but, since the S-CVI score was \geq 0.90, it was not excluded from the instrument. At the end of this phase, the questions were transformed into sentences, as suggested by the group of experts.

For the face validation, a convenience sample of 12 high school students was invited to evaluate the instrument. The sample consisted of 6 males and 6 females, and the mean age was 16.5 years (SD = 1.78). None of the items was considered offensive. The questions that were considered confusing or containing difficult words were modified and reformulated based on the students' suggestions.

INTERNAL CONSISTENCY

To verify the internal consistency of the instrument we performed a pilot test re-test on 10 volunteer students.

.....

Tah	r.	Item.	Conte	nt ۱	/alidity	Index	values
Iau.	١.	ILCIII.		ע טווג	allulu	ILIUEA	values

SexContraKnow items	I-CVI§
N. 1 - There is a risk of pregnancy when you have unprotected sex in the 2 days before or after ovulation	1.00
N. 2 - The male condom is safe if placed just before ejaculation, even if penetration has occurred previously	0.89
N. 3 - The "calendar method" (calculating the fertile period to not have sexual intercourse within this period) is effective in preventing pregnancy	1.00
N. 4 - When you start taking the birth control pill, it is effective from day one	1.00
N. 5 - Hormonal contraceptive methods of birth control (for example, the birth control pill or vaginal ring) are recommended for adolescents	1.00
N. 6 - When the contraceptive pill is not taken at the correct time due to forgetfulness, the pill can be taken without loss of effectiveness as long as no more than 12 hours have passed since the correct time	1.00
N. 7 - The "dual contraceptive method" consists of the simultaneous use of a barrier contraceptive method (e.g., male condom) and a hormonal contraceptive method (e.g., contraceptive pill)	1.00
N. 8 - If the contraceptive pill is started after the 5 th day of the menstruation cycle, the use of another contraceptive method for one week is recommended	1.00
N. 9 - The regimen for taking the contraceptive pill is one pill per day for 21 days starting from the 1st day of the cycle, followed by a week of rest or use of 7 placebo pills during this rest period	0.78
N. 10 - The contraceptive skin patch must be applied on the first day of the menstruation cycle	0.78
N. 11 - The birth control skin patch should be replaced only when the patch detaches itself	0.78
N. 12 - The contraceptive skin patch should be placed on the buttocks, lower abdomen, upper back, or outer arms	0.67
N. 13 - It is necessary to see a specialist for the placement of the vaginal ring	0.78
N. 14 - The vaginal ring can be removed for 2 hours during sexual intercourse without risk of pregnancy	1.00
N. 15 - The vaginal ring should be left in place for 21 days, followed by a week of rest	1.00

§ Item-content validity index.

Characteristics	High school students			
	N (%)	Mean (SD)		
Gender				
Males	2 (20)			
Females	8 (80)			
Age		18.1 (1.66)		
High school classes				
First year	1 (10)			
Fourth year	2 (20)			
Fifth year	7 (70)			
Parents' relationship				
Married/cohabiting	7 (70)			
Separated/divorced	3 (30)			
Parents working in healthcare				
Yes	3 (30)			
No	7 (70)			
Older siblings				
Yes	5 (50)			
No	5 (50)			

Tab. II. Characteristics of the test-retest sample (N = 10).

The majority were females (80%) with a mean age of 18.1 years (SD = 1.6) (Tab. II).

After the second administration of the instrument, we analysed the data and calculated Cronbach's alpha ($\alpha = 0.928$) and Pearson's r (r = 0.991).

DESCRIPTIVE DATA

We performed a descriptive analysis on the answers of the students at T0 and T1. After calculating the mean score between T0 and T1, the items with the highest score were Item 1, "There is a risk of pregnancy when you have sex without any protection in the two days before or after ovulation.", and Item 3, The "calendar method (calculating the fertile period for not having sex during this period) is effective to avoid a pregnancy". The item with the lowest score was Item 13: "For the placement of the vaginal ring it is necessary to consult a medical specialist". The items the students were least knowledgeable about were: Item 10, "The contraceptive skin patch must be applied on the first day of menstrual cycle", and Item 12, "The contraceptive skin patch should preferably be applied on the buttock, to the lower abdomen, on the upper back or the outer arms". All the answers are summarized in Table III.

Discussion

The results we obtained, following the EORTC *Quality* of Life Group guidelines [21], showed that the reliability and validity of the Italian version of the SexContraKnow instrument were acceptable. Therefore, this instrument could be reliably used to explore adolescents' literacy about safe sex and contraception. The original instrument also showed good fit and reliability [5]. The invariability of the 15 items of the scale was assessed for differences across gender (male/female), previously training in

SexContraKnow items	Percentage of success		Percentage of mistakes		Percentage of "don't know/ no answer" responses		
	то	T1	то	T1	то	T1	
1	90%	90%	0	0	10%	10%	
2	60%	60%	20%	20%	20%	20%	
3	90%	90%	10%	0	0	10%	
4	70%	60%	10%	20%	20%	20%	
5	70%	80%	0	0	30%	20%	
6	70%	70%	10%	10%	20%	20%	
7	80%	80%	0	0	20%	20%	
8	40%	40%	0	0	60%	60%	
9	70%	60%	10%	10%	20%	30%	
10	30%	30%	10%	0	60%	70%	
11	30%	30%	10%	10%	60%	60%	
12	40%	30%	0	0	60%	70%	
13	40%	40%	40%	50%	20%	10%	
14	20%	20%	30%	20%	50%	60%	
15	60%	60%	10%	10%	30%	30%	

Tab. III. Descriptive analysis of the items (N = 10).

using the questionnaire (yes/no) and academic degree discipline (nursing/law). The Bonferroni-adjusted α value (0.05/15 = 0.0033) showed no significance. The reliability of the scale was 0.99 for items and 0.74 for people. Both values indicate the fitness of the items to adequately rank people on the latent trait. The temporal stability of the scale was calculated using test-retest, obtaining a value of 0.81 (CI 0.692-0.888).

A descriptive analysis of the answers given to the instrument was also performed by the Spanish research group. Considering that the maximum score is 15 points, the mean score of all the answers was 7.47 (SD = 3.16). The item that obtained the highest percentage (93%) of correct answers was Item 2, "The male condom is safe if placed just before ejaculation, even if penetration has occurred previously", while the lowest (15.8%) was Item 14, "During sexual intercourse, the vaginal ring can be removed for 2 hours without risk of pregnancy". The most unknown item (73.9%) was Item 10, "The contraceptive skin patch must be applied on the first day of menstrual cycle" [5]. Although we validated the Italian version of the SexContraKnow Instrument on a high school population, the results were comparable to those obtained from the Spanish nursing research group of the University of Jean. We found that teenagers had more health literacy about the contraceptive methods they used most, in accordance with the National Survey on Contraception carried out by the Spanish Society of Contraception in 2018 [23].

For the Italian context, we found that it was essential to have this instrument for the adolescent population. The Ministry of Health in Italy performed several surveys on adolescents' health, including sexual health, but the instruments used were old [19] or non-specific for contraceptive methods and safe sex [20, 24]. Thanks to the validation of this instrument, Italian researchers now have a new validated and reliable tool that could be used also in combination with the surveys that will be conducted by the Italian Ministry of Health in the future. It is important to improve health literacy through formal health education provided in schools. Health literacy provided through formal health education, improves people's self-efficacy, knowledge, and correct health behaviours [3, 12, 25]. People with a high level of health literacy can educate their children and help them adopt correct health behaviours, and adolescents would be more conscious about safe sex and contraception [2]. Nurses are the healthcare professionals who mostly interact with people and are the key to improving health literacy in the society [10]. Nurses play an active role because they can understand how to address appropriate educational interventions and how to transfer correct health information to adolescents [2, 12]. In particular, public health nurses and school nurses have the responsibility to promote health programs for adolescents [10].

LIMITATIONS

This study has some limits. First, the sample size for the pilot test-retest was limited to 10 participants because the validated instrument was intended to be used for a secondary larger study. Second, all the participants were from the same city. Third, we selected a sample aged between 14-19 years (high school population) so that more parents would accept their children's participation in our study. It would have been interesting to evaluate contraceptive health literacy in an even younger population.

Conclusions

The Italian version of the *SexContraKnow* instrument showed evidence of acceptable reliability and validity. It can be reliably used in Italy to assess adolescents' (high school students) health literacy about safe sex and contraception. It could be useful to test the instrument with younger or older populations than high school students. To further confirm its validity and reliability, it would be useful to conduct a multicentre nationwide study. This instrument could also be used to evaluate the effectiveness of educational programs currently available in Italy and promote the implementation of the most effective ones.

Acknowledgements

None.

Funding sources

This research did not receive any spe-cific grant from funding agencies in the public, commer-cial, or not-forprofit sectors.

Conflict of interest statement

The author declares no conflict of interest.

Authors' contributions

All authors contributed to the study conception and design. Material preparation and data collection were performed by VR, FN, and GC. Data analyses were performed by VR, FN, and MC. The first draft of the manuscript was written by VR, FN, MC, MH, RW, and GA. All authors commented on previous versions of the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

References

- The Calgary Charter on Health Literacy. Rationale and core principles for the development of health literacy curricula. 2008. Available at: https://www.centreforliteracy.qc.ca/sites/ default/files/CFL_Calgary_Charter_2011.pdf (Accessed on: 31/01/2023).
- [2] Akca A, Ayaz-Alkaya S. Effectiveness of health literacy education for nursing students: a randomized controlled trial. Int J Nurs Pract 2021;27:e12981. https://doi.org/10.1111/ijn.12981
- [3] Ayaz-Alkaya S, Terzi H. Investigation of health literacy and affecting factors of nursing students. Nurse Educ Pract 2019;34:31-5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.nepr.2018.10.009
- [4] Singh NS, Smith J, Aryasinghe S, Khosla R, Say L, Blanchet K. Evaluating the effectiveness of sexual and reproductive health services during humanitarian crises: a systematic review. PloS One 2018;13:e0199300. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0199300
- [5] Sanz-Martos S, López-Medina IM, Álvarez-García C, Álvarez-Nieto C. Sexuality and contraceptive knowledge in university students: instrument development and psychometric analysis using item response theory. Reprod Health 2019;16:127. https:// doi.org/10.1186/s12978-019-0791-9
- [6] World Health Organisation. Survive, Thrive, Transform. Global Strategy for Women's, Children's and Adolescents' Health (2016-2030) 2018 monitoring report: current status and strategic priorities. 2018. Available at: https://www.who.int/life-course/ partners/global-strategy/gswcah-monitoring-report-2018. pdf?ua=1 (Accessed on: 5/10/2021).
- [7] Okan O, Paakkari L, Dadaczynski K. SHE factsheet n° 6, Health literacy in schools, state of the art. 2020. Avaiable at: https:// www.schoolsforhealth.org/sites/default/files/editor/fact-sheets/ factsheet-2020-english.pdf (Accessed on: 5/10/2021).
- [8] World Health Organization. Health Promotion Glossary. 1998. Available at: https://www.who.int/healthpromotion/about/ HPR%20Glossary%201998.pdf (Accessed on: 5/10/2021).
- [9] World Health Organization. Sexual and Reproductive Health and Research (SRH), sexual health definition. 2006. Available at: https://www.who.int/teams/sexual-and-reproductive-healthand-research/key-areas-of-work/sexual-health/defining-sexualhealth (Accessed on: 5/10/2021).
- [10] Korkmaz Aslan G, Kartal A, Turan T, Taşdemir Yiğitoğlu G, Kocakabak C. Association of electronic health literacy with health-promoting behaviours in adolescents. Int J Nurs Pract 2021;27:e12921. https://doi.org/10.1111/ijn.12921
- [11] World Health Organization. Adolescence: a period needing special attention. Age not the whole story. Available at: http://apps. who.int/adolescent/second-decade/section2/page2/age-not-thewhole-story.html (Accessed on: 5/01/2021).

- [12] Todd N, Black A. Contraception for adolescents. J Clin Res Pediatr Endocrinol 2020;12(Suppl. 1);28-40. https://doi.org/10.4274/ jcrpe.galenos.2019.2019.S0003
- [13] Sørensen K, Pelikan JM, Röthlin F, Ganahl K, Slonska Z, Doyle G, Fullam J, Kondilis B, Agrafiotis D, Uiters E, Falcon M, Mensing M, Tchamov K, van den Broucke S, Brand H, HLS-EU Consortium. Health literacy in Europe: comparative results of the European health literacy survey (HLS-EU). Eur J Public Health 2015;25:1053-8. https://doi.org/10.1093/eurpub/ckv043
- [14] Morales Díaz E, Solanelles Rojas AM, Mora González SR, Miranda Gómez O. Embarazo no deseado en alumnas universitarias. Rev Cub Med Mil 2013;42:153-163.
- [15] World Health Organization. Health 2020: A European policy framework supporting action across government and society for health and well-being. Proceedings of Regional Committee for Europe. 2012. Avaiable at: https://www.euro.who.int/__data/assets/pdf_file/0006/199536/Health2020-Short.pdf (Accessed on: 5/01/2021).
- [16] López F, Fuertes A. Para comprender la sexualidad. Navarra: Varios 1999.
- [17] White AL, Mann ES, Larkan F. Contraceptive knowledge, attitudes, and use among adolescent mothers in the Cook Islands. Sex Reprod Healthc 2018;16:92-97. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. srhc.2018.02.004
- [18] Aziken ME, Okonta PI, Ande AB. Knowledge and perception of emergency contraception among female Nigerian undergraduates. Int Fam Plan Perspect 2003;29:84-87. https://doi. org/10.1363/ifpp.29.084.03

- [19] Istituto Superiore di Sanità. Reproductive health among adolescents: knowledge, attitude and behaviour. Rapporti ISTISAN 00/7. 2000. Avaiable at: https://www.salute.gov.it/imgs/C_17_ pubblicazioni_778_allegato.pdf (Accessed on: 31/01/2023).
- [20] Italian Ministry of Health. Principali risultati del Progetto "Studio Nazionale Fertilità", Indagini sulle conoscenze, comportamenti e atteggiamenti in ambito sessuale e riproduttivo in adolescenti, studenti universitari e adulti in età fertile e dei professionisti sanitari. 2018. Avaiable at: https://www.salute.gov. it/imgs/C_17_pubblicazioni_2823_allegato.pdf (Accessed on: 5/01/2021).
- [21] Kuliś D, Bottomley A, Velikova G, Greimel E, Koller M; on behalf of the EORTC Quality of Life Group. EORTC Quality of Life Group Translation Procedure. 4th Edition. 2017. Available from: https://www.eortc.org/app/uploads/sites/2/2018/02/translation_manual_2017.pdf (Accessed on: 5 March 2021).
- [22] Polit DF, Beck CT, Owen SV. Is the CVI an acceptable indicator of content validity? Appraisal and recommendations. Res Nurs Health 2007;30:459-467. https://doi.org/10.1002/nur.20199.
- [23] Istituto Superiore di Sanità. La sorveglianza HBSC 2018 Health Behaviour in School-aged Children: i risultati dello studio italiano tra i ragazzi di 11, 13 e 15 anni. 2020. Avaiable at: https://www.epicentro.iss.it/hbsc/pdf/HBSC-2018.pdf (Accessed on 5 January 2021).
- [24] Ayaz-Alkaya S, Terzi H, Işık B, Sönmez E. A healthy lifestyle education programme for health literacy and health-promoting behaviours: a pre-implementation and post-implementation study. Int J Nurs Pract 2020;26:e12793. https://doi.org/10.1111/ ijn.12793

Received on August 5, 2022. Accepted on January 16, 2023.

Correspondence: Milko Zanini, Department of Health Sciences, University of Genoa, via Pastore 1, 16132 Genoa, Italy - Tel.: 0039 010 3538590 - E-mail: milko.zanini@edu.unige.it

How to cite this article: Rossi V, Napolitano F, Hayter M, Watson R, Calzolari M, Aleo G, Zanini M, Catania G, Sasso L, Bagnasco A. Validation of the Italian version of the SexContraKnow instrument. J Prev Med Hyg 2022;63:E611-E617. https://doi.org/10.15167/2421-4248/ jpmh2022.63.4.2676

© Copyright by Pacini Editore Srl, Pisa, Italy

This is an open access article distributed in accordance with the CC-BY-NC-ND (Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International) license. The article can be used by giving appropriate credit and mentioning the license, but only for non-commercial purposes and only in the original version. For further information: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/deed.en

Appendix 1

Di seguito, troverai una serie di affermazioni sulla sessualità, sulla gravidanza e sui metodi anticoncezionali. Alcune affermazioni sono vere e altre sono false, indica in ogni caso l'opzione che ritieni più corretta. Indichiamo una terza opzione di risposta, non sa/ non risponde. Nel caso non si conosca se l'affermazione è vera o falsa, per favore indicacelo tramite l'opzione NS/NC e non rispondere a caso.

1 - C'è rischio di gravidanza quando si hanno rapporti sessuali senza alcuna protezione nei due giorni precedenti o posteriori all'ovulazione	V	F	NS/NC
2 - Il preservativo maschile è sicuro se si mette giusto prima di eiaculare, anche se precedentemente ci sia stata una penetrazione	V	F	NS/NC
3 - Il "metodo del calendario" (calcolare il periodo fertile per non avere rapporti sessuali durante questo periodo) è efficace per evitare una gravidanza	V	F	NS/NC
4 - La pillola anticoncezionale è efficace sin dal primo giorno	V	F	NS/NC
5 - I metodi anticoncezionali ormonali (per esempio, la pillola anticoncezionale o l'anello vaginale) sono raccomandabili per gli adolescenti	V	F	NS/NC
6 - Quando ci si dimentica di assumere la pillola anticoncezionale all'ora corretta, si può prendere entro 12 ore senza perdita di efficacia	V	F	NS/NC
7 - Il "doppio metodo anticoncezionale" consiste nell'utilizzo simultaneo di un anticoncezionale di barriera (per esempio, preservativo) e uno ormonale (per esempio, pillola anticoncezionale)	V	F	NS/NC
8 - Se l'inizio dell'assunzione della pillola anticoncezionale è dopo il 5º giorno del ciclo, è raccomandabile usare un altro metodo anticoncezionale per una settimana	V	F	NS/NC
9 - Lo schema di assunzione della pillola anticoncezionale è giornaliero partendo dal 1º giorno del ciclo, per 21 giorni con una settimana di riposo. Per mantenere l'abitudine alcune aziende hanno inserito la possibilità di assumere una pastiglia placebo in tale settimana	V	F	NS/NC
10 - Il cerotto cutaneo anticoncezionale si deve applicare sin dal primo giorno di ciclo	V	F	NS/NC
11 - La sostituzione del cerotto cutaneo anticoncezionale si deve fare solo quando questo si stacca in autonomia	V	F	NS/NC
12 - Il cerotto cutaneo anticoncezionale si deve applicare preferibilmente sul gluteo, sulla zona del basso ventre, sulla parte superiore della schiena o esterna delle braccia	V	F	NS/NC
13 - Per la collocazione dell'anello vaginale è necessario rivolgersi a un medico specialista	V	F	NS/NC
14 - Durante un rapporto sessuale, l'anello vaginale si può rimuovere per 2 ore senza che ci sia il rischio di gravidanza	V	F	NS/NC
15 - L'anello vaginale si deve lasciare inserito per 21 giorni, lasciando successivamente una settimana di pausa	V	F	NS/NC

OPEN ACCESS

HEALTH PROMOTION/HISTORY OF MEDICINE AND ETHICS

Hepatitis B vaccination in Iran: Historical policies and programs

MEYSAM BEHZADIFAR¹, SAMAD AZARI^{2,3}, SOMAYEH SHIRKHANI¹, SHIRIN GHOLAMREZAEI¹, SAEED SHAHABI⁴, LEILA DOSHMANGIR⁵, SEYED JAFAR EHSANZADEH⁶, MARIANO MARTINI⁷, NICOLA LUIGI BRAGAZZI⁸, MASOUD BEHZADIFAR¹

¹Social Determinants of Health Research Center, Lorestan University of Medical Sciences, Khorramabad, Iran; ²Research Center for Emergency and Disaster Resilience, Red Crescent Society of the Islamic Republic of Iran, Tehran, Iran; ³Hospital Management Research Center, Health Management Research Institute, Iran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran; ⁴Health Policy Research Center, Institute of Health, Shiraz University of Medical Sciences, Shiraz, Iran; ⁵Tabriz Health Services Management Research Center, School of Management & Medical Informatics, Tabriz University of Medical Sciences, Tabriz, Iran; ⁶English Language Department, School of Health Management and Information Sciences, Iran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran; ⁷Department of Health Sciences, University of Genoa, Genoa, Italy; ⁸Laboratory for Industrial and Applied Mathematics (LIAM), Department of Mathematics and Statistics, York University, Toronto, ON, Canada

Keywords

Health policy • Hepatitis B • Vaccine • Iran • Sustainable Development Goals

Summary

Hepatitis B virus (HBV) infection is a main challenge of the health system worldwide. Health policymakers in most countries attempt to help HBV patients by implementing support programs in addition to controlling HBV in their community so that the economic burden caused by HBV do not deprive the patients of accessing health services and reducing their quality of life. There are several health interventions for the prevention and control of HBV. Providing the first dose of the HBV vaccine within 24 hours after the infant is born is the most cost-effective way to prevent and control HBV. The purpose of this study is to review the nature of HBV, its epidemiology in Iran and worldwide, and to review the various policies and programs in Iran regarding the prevention and control of HBV, especially the use of vaccination. One of the goals of Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) is to consider hepatitis as a threat to human health. In this regard, one of the top priorities of WHO is the prevention and control of HBV. In connection with the prevention of HBV, it is claimed that vaccination is the most effective and best intervention. Thus, vaccination in the

Introduction

Hepatitis B virus (HBV) is a liver disease that can occur in both acute and chronic forms. Acute hepatitis refers to cases in which the virus takes less than 6 months from onset to recovery, during which time the infection is completely removed and the virus clears from the blood [1]. In this case, the structure and function of the liver remains normal, and usually the patient does not need any treatment except in special cases. On the other hand, in chronic hepatitis the virus stays in the body for more than 6 months, and the body's immune system is unable to kill the virus. Using contaminated syringes, unsafe sex, mother-to-child transmission, contacting with contaminated needles or equipment in hospital settings, and organ transplants are methods of disease transmission [2].

The World Health Organization (WHO) 2021 Report

......

safe's program of countries is highly recommended. According to the Ministry of Health and Medical Education (MOHME) reports, Iran has the lowest prevalence of HBV among the countries in Eastern Mediterranean Region Organization (EMRO). There is a hepatitis unit in MOHME whose responsibility is to coordinate and implement the hepatitis prevention and control programs. The HBV vaccine has been officially included in the vaccination program for children in Iran since 1993, and three doses of the vaccine are given to all infants. In 2007, during a large-scale program in Iran, 17-year-olds received the HBV vaccine, followed by adolescents born in 1990 and 1991. In recent years, the health system in Iran has made significant progress in preventing and controlling HBV. Over 95% coverage of the HBV vaccination is one of the achievements that have had a great impact on reducing the trend of HBV infection. In order to achieve the 2030 goals, the Iranian government, in addition to paying more attention to HBV elimination programs, should encourage other organizations to cooperate more effectively with MOHME.

states that approximately 296 (Uncertainly interval (UI) 95%: 228 to 423) million people worldwide have already been infected with HBV; however, this report underscores the very important point that health policymakers should pay special attention to this serious challenge [3]. According to the 2021 Report, the highest rate of HBV infection based on the WHO region is in the Western Pacific, African, and South-East Asia (Fig. 1) [3]. Compared with WHO 2017 Report [approximately 257 (UI 95%: 199 to 368) million people worldwide were infected with HBV], the number of people infected with HBV has increased. This increase is worrying, warning countries to adopt more coherent policies and programs in order to combat HBV. HBV and hepatitis C virus (HCV) can cause chronic diseases in infected people, and if these people do not receive appropriate health services, it can lead to liver cirrhosis, a malignant disease that is likely to cause death [4].



Mother-to-child transmission of hepatitis B continues to be a major mode of transmission [5]. Other reasons for the increase of HBV worldwide are: Increasing costs of care and medical services, lack of proper political interactions, lack of information and strategic surveys, lack of a meticulous action plan, and shortage and cost of diagnosis [6].

Meanwhile, HBV and HCV are among the most common causes of cancer and mortality worldwide [7]. Due to the nature of HBV and the highly likelihood of causing severe complications in infected patients, HBV can place a great economic burden on patients and their family. Alongside, health systems pay large sums for HBV annually [8].

There are several health interventions for the prevention and control of HBV. Vaccination is one of the most important interventions that can provide the 98-100% protection. Implementing blood safety strategies is another valuable intervention, which means that all donated blood and blood components used to transfuse blood to patients need to be carefully screened [9]. Another important intervention in the prevention and control of HBV is to educate and raise the level of awareness of all people in the community about the transmission and prevention of HBV. In this regard, syringes and condoms should also be readily available to anyone in the community, especially those with highrisk behaviors. Screening mothers before pregnancy, and creating a safe environment for tattoos and piercings are other health interventions in preventing and controlling HBV [10].

Hepatitis B virus (HBV) infection is one of the main challenges of the health system worldwide, where a large number of people die every year due to the complications of this disease [11]. Health policymakers in most countries attempt to help HBV patients by implementing support programs in addition to controlling HBV in their community so that the economic burden caused by HBV do not deprive the patients of accessing health services and reducing their quality of life [12]. Reducing prices and making services available to patients, increasing insurance support, and reducing out-of-pocket (OOP) payments are some of the main patient support policies [13]. The purpose of this study is to review the nature of HBV, its epidemiology in Iran and worldwide, and to review the various policies and programs in Iran regarding the prevention and control of HBV, especially the use of vaccination.

Hepatitis and Sustainable Development Goals

The Millennium Development Goals (MDGs) were to focus on HIV, malaria, and tuberculosis; and with the efforts of many countries, the incidence and mortality of these diseases were reduced [14]. However, the mortality of HBV has been on the rise since 2000 [15]. Figure 2 compares the mortality rates of HBV, HIV, malaria, and tuberculosis [16].



In September 2015, world leaders agreed to set on a path toward Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) by approving the 2030 Agenda [17]. The agenda, which contains 17 goals and 169 targets, envisages quantitative operational goals in the social, economic, and environmental domains of sustainable development that must be achieved by 2030 [18]. One of the goals of SDGs is to consider hepatitis as a threat to human health. In this regard, the following two targets should be achieved by 2030 [10]:

- 90% reduction in new cases of chronic HBV and HCV infections by 2030;
- 65% reduction in HBV and HCV deaths by 2030;
- Therefore, in order to achieve the 2030 goals, the coverage of some HBV- and HCV-related services should also be change, some of which are as below:
- 90% coverage of HBV vaccination by 2030;
- 90% coverage of prevention of mother-to-child transmission of HBV by 2030;
- 100% of blood donations screened in a qualityassured manner by 2030;
- 90% of injections administered with safetyengineered devices in and out of the health system by 2030;
- 300 sterile needles and syringes provided annually per person who injects drugs by 2030;
- 90% of chronic viral hepatitis B and C infections diagnosed by 2030.

The purpose of determining HBV controlling programs is to plan for reducing the incidence, mortality rate, complications, and transmission of HBV and HCV [19]. The implementation of these policies requires high political commitment, resource mobilization, and the advocacy of policymakers [20].

The Center for Disease Analysis (CDA) and the Center for Disease Analysis Foundation (CDAF) evaluate countries' performance on hepatitis B and C in their programs. According to these organizations, Australia, Austria, Egypt, and Georgia were successful in achieving the 2030 goals [21].

Despite ubiquitous efforts to achieve the 2030 goals, it seems that some countries are not yet on the track toward achieving these goals [22]. In order to achieve the 2030 goals regarding viral hepatitis, awareness of these infections should first be increased. In terms of the political commitment to achieving the 2030 goals, governments need to use all their resources, especially for diagnostic, screening, and treatment services, which require extensive financial resources to be provided to the health system. Having an action plan based on demographic, cultural, social, political, and economic characteristics that are based on valid data will be also effective [17].

The Iraninan healthcare system

The Ministry of Health and Medical Education (MOHME), as the main custodian of health in Iran, has the responsibility for taking care of public health [23]. At

the macro level, the ministry prioritizes some services by adopting policies and programs based on the country's health problems. Also, the centers for disease control (CDC) in Iran is responsible for planning and controlling diseases [20]. In all provinces of the country, medical universities also play the main role in implementing health policies and programs at the regional level [23].

.....

Epidemiology of HBV infection in Iran

According to MOHME reports, Iran has the lowest prevalence of HBV among the countries in Eastern Mediterranean Region Organization (EMRO). The MOHME estimates the prevalence of HBV in Iran at less than 1%. Also, it is estimated that about 1.4 million people are infected with HBV in Iran, many of whom are not aware of their infection with this disease [24]. In this regard, Rezaei et al. (2020) conducted a small-scale meta-analysis study in order to assess the HBV prevalence in Iran between 2000 and 2016. The findings of their study showed that the prevalence of HBV decreased from 3.02% in 2000 to 1.09% in 2016 [25]. To the best of our knowledge, however, no large-scale study in the general population of Iran has ever been conducted in order to assess the status of HBV in the country.

HBV surveillance system in Iran

There is a hepatitis unit in MOHME whose responsibility is to coordinate and implement the hepatitis prevention and control programs. Screening is provided to diagnose patients in public and private health-care centers. Also, all insurance companies in Iran cover these services; thus, OOP payments have declined in recent years [12]. Due to the limited financial resources of the MOHME, free and universal diagnostic tests are not available to everyone in the community [20]. Meanwhile, the National Committee for Hepatitis in the MOHME is responsible for all hepatitis programs, their annual evaluation, preparation of guidelines, and coordination with other health-related departments in the fight against hepatitis [26].

Also, there is a monitoring and reporting system throughout the country. All public and private laboratories are required to report the latest patient cases to CDCs in the cities, which is eventually is reported to MOHME [26]. One of the most important and valuable parts of the health system in Iran is the primary health-care (PHC) network that exists even in small villages [27]. This network has played a significant role in improving health indicators in recent decades; some of its achievements are: reducing infant and maternal mortality, increasing access to health services, and increasing life expectancy [27]. In connection with hepatitis programs, the network runs training programs annually in order to raise awareness about HBV; in parallel, the network is undoubtedly the most important player in the field of immunization through the HBV vaccination [28].

HBV vaccination

One of the top priorities of WHO is the prevention and control of HBV; in this regard, various programs and policies are introduced by this organization to be on the agenda of policymakers worldwide [29]. Along the same line, various hepatitis B training programs have been set up around the world in order to raise public awareness [30].

There is no treatment for acute hepatitis B. Thus, a safe and effective vaccine can play a very important role in preventing HBV, which is also a cost-effective prevention policy. Meanwhile, the implementation of this policy might motivate policymakers to continue to support HBV vaccination [22].

Providing the first dose of HBV vaccine within the 24 hours after the infant is born is the most cost-effective way to prevent and control HBV. By adopting this policy, protection is thus created for other groups in the general population that also reduces the incidence of chronic HBV [31].

HBV vaccination in Iran

The HBV vaccine has been officially included in the vaccination program for children in Iran since 1993, and three doses of the vaccine are given to all infants. In 2007, during a large-scale program in Iran, 17-year-olds received the HBV vaccine, followed by adolescents born in 1990 and 1991 [28]. Since 1993, with the inclusion of the HBV vaccine into the immunization program in Iran, various groups have received the vaccine.

The data shows that various countries have made great strides in preventing HBV through vaccine immunization. Figure 3 compares the coverage of the third dose of HBV vaccine between the geographical region of WHO and Iran.

The trend in Figure 2 demonstrates that HBV vaccination coverage has been very high in Iran. According to

MOHME reports, with the implementation of various policies and, most importantly, the high percentage of vaccination coverage, a decrease is observed in the cases of HBV infection in Iran.

Challenges of HBV immunization program in Iran

Although health policymakers in Iran hope to make the HBV immunization program as effective as possible, there are still some issues that need to be addressed. After the COVID-19 pandemic, most health-related programs in Iran, like other countries, have been suspended. Alongside, care and screening programs in connection with the HBV prevention and control programs have been decreased. Also, some families were reluctant to visit health centers for HBV vaccination because they were afraid of being infected with COVID-19. Due to the pandemic and a higher number of patients visiting health centers, the routine activities that health professionals were to take care have unprecedentedly increased in these centers; therefore, the quality of services related to HBV programs has been reduced.

Meanwhile, Iran's being under crippling sanctions in recent years caused MOHME to face serious problems in importing laboratory equipment, drugs, and WHOapproved rapid hepatitis virus kits. Also, sanctions reduce Iran's economic revenues, affecting negatively the financial resources allocated to the health sector. Another issue influencing the HBV programs is the population dispersion in Iran; the health sector due to lack of sufficient health professionals could not provide services to all residents appropriately. In this regard, the refugee population in Iran, mainly from Afghanistan and Iraq, has also increased marginalization. Due to insufficient financial resources available from international organizations, the refugees face serious problems accessing all services, including the HBV vaccine.



No	Group
1	All infants
2	People who are exposed to have occupational exposure to blood
3	People who have been hospitalized and cared for a long time in certain institutions due to their disability and special medical problems
4	Patients with chronic liver disease and people infected with HCV
5	Hemodialysis patients
6	Frequent recipients of blood or blood products
7	Users of injecting drugs
8	People with high-risk sexual behaviors, especially those with a history of sexually transmitted diseases
9	Prisoners with a history of high-risk behaviors and a stay of more than 6 months in jail
10	Municipal sweepers, firefighters, emergency workers, prison guards, forensic experts, and crime scene experts
11	People who are candidates for organ transplants
12	Health-care workers
13	People with HIV infection
14	Families of patients with HBV
15	Residents of homeless shelters
16	Patients with hemophilia and thalassemia

Many of these refugees may be unaware of their infection with HBV. Due to the financial problems of the health system in Iran, the diagnostic, prevention, and control services are not provided for all patients, which can lead to a failure in achieving the 2030 goals. Accessing to health services for the vulnerable refugee population is important, and in line with the international community's call for the elimination of viral hepatitis, countries need political and health strategies in order to combat this infection.

Iran has implemented extensive programs to prevent and control HBV that seems to have made good progress, given its priority in widespread vaccination, especially at birth. The use of skilled professionals, the provision of vaccines, improving the safety of blood and blood products, as well as the establishment of harm reduction centers in all provinces are other successes that can be a good example for other countries. However, serious issues in the nuclear Iran deal have affected Iran's economic activities that have led to a devastating effect on plans to eliminate viral hepatitis by 2030 due to financial issues. Also, to produce the vaccine inside the country, companies need raw materials, and the Blood Transfusion Organization of Iran uses imported kits for hepatitis screening. In addition, due to Iran sanction and the refusal of foreign companies to have financial transactions, Iran has suffered from hepatitis B immunoglobulin. We believe that these restrictions can affect the goals of eliminating viral hepatitis in Iran, as well as international programs.

Meanwhile, the weak hepatitis registration and reporting systems have deprived MOHME away from receiving comprehensive information. Another issue is the fact that several small urban areas in Iran cannot afford to have a diagnostic laboratory; and thus, the residents of such areas can not have access to the HBV services. In addition, many organizations that are involved with high-risk groups in the community do not have proper

cooperation with MOHME in implementing the HBV prevention and control program; thus, MOHME alone is not able to cover all the services. Although MOHME has been working with insurance companies to reduce the cost of diagnosing HBV, its costs are still high for many, making them unable to use diagnostic services. The final issue we want to mention here is that achieving the goals of SDGs has been only acknowledged as a political commitment, and because of insufficient financial resources it has never been top on the agenda of policymakers in Iran.

.....

Conclusion

In recent years, the health system in Iran has made significant progress in preventing and controlling HBV. Over 95% coverage of the HBV vaccination is one of such achievements that have had a great impact on reducing the trend of HBV infection. In parallel with efforts to provide a high coverage of vaccination in Iran, and paying attention to at-risk groups, lack of financial resources, lack of sufficient health professionals, international sanctions, and lack of sufficient attention from top policymakers are the major challenges in implementing HBV-related programs. In order to achieve the 2030 goals, the Iranian government, in addition to paying more attention to HBV elimination programs, should encourage other organizations to cooperate more effectively with MOHME.

Acknowledgements

This study was part of a PhD thesis supported by the School of Health Management, Iran University of Medical Sciences, Iran (IUMS/SHMIS_1396/9423557001).

Ethics approval

The study was reviewed and approved by the Ethics Committee of the School of Health Management and Information Sciences, Iran University of Medical Sciences.

Conflict of interest statement

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- Kim SW, Yoon JS, Lee M, Cho Y. Toward a complete cure for chronic hepatitis B: Novel therapeutic targets for hepatitis B virus. Clin Mol Hepatol 2022;28:17-30. https://doi. org/10.3350/cmh.2021.0093
- [2] Rizzo GEM, Cabibbo G, Craxì A. Hepatitis B Virus-Associated Hepatocellular Carcinoma. Viruses 2022;14:986. https://doi.org/10.3390/v14050986
- [3] World Health Organization. Global progress report on HIV, viral hepatitis and sexually transmitted infections; 2021. Available at: https://www.who.int/publications/i/ item/9789240027077 (Accessed on: 1 July 2021).
- [4] Cardona-Arias JA, Correa JCC, Higuita-Gutiérrez LF. Prevalence of hepatitis B/C viruses and associated factors in key groups attending a health services institution in Colombia, 2019. PLoS One 2020;15:e0238655. https://doi.org/10.1371/ journal.pone.0238655
- [5] Shemtob L, Ferris M, Asanati K. Hepatitis B vaccination booster for healthcare workers. Occup Med (Lond) 2022;72:55-6. https://doi.org/10.1093/occmed/kqab171
- [6] Flores JE, Thompson AJ, Ryan M, Howell J. The global impact of hepatitis B vaccination on hepatocellular carcinoma. Vaccines (Basel) 2021;10:793. https://doi.org/10.3390/vaccines10050793
- [7] King H, Xing J, Dean HD, Holtzman D. Trends in prevalence of protective levels of hepatitis B surface antibody among adults aged 18-49 years with risk factors for hepatitis b virus Infection-United States, 2003-2014. Clin Infect Dis 2020;70:1907-15. https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/ciz537
- [8] Lu J, Xu A, Wang J, Zhang L, Song L, Li R, Zhang S, Zhuang G, Lu M. Direct economic burden of hepatitis B virus related diseases: evidence from Shandong, China. BMC Health Serv Res 2013;13:37. https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6963-13-37
- [9] Lin CL, Kao JH. Hepatitis B: Immunization and Impact on Natural History and Cancer Incidence. Gastroenterol Clin North Am 2020;49:201-14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. gtc.2020.01.010
- [10] Nayagam S, Thursz M, Sicuri E, Conteh L, Wiktor S, Low-Beer D, Hallett TB. Requirements for global elimination of hepatitis B: a modelling study. Lancet Infect Dis 2016;16:1399-408. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1473-3099(16)30204-3
- [11] Sperle I, Steffen G, Leendertz SA, Sarma N, Beermann S, Thamm R, Simeonova Y, Cornberg M, Wedemeyer H, Bremer V, Zimmermann R, Dudareva S. Prevalence of Hepatitis B, C, and D in Germany: Results From a Scoping Review. Front Public Health 2020;8:424. https://doi.org/10.3389/ fpubh.2020.00424
- [12] Behzadifar M, Gorji HA, Rezapour A, Behzadifar M, Bragazzi NL. The role of insurance providers in supporting treatment and management of hepatitis C patients. BMC Health Serv Res 2019;19:25. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12913-019-3869-8

- [13] Jacob V, Qu S, Chattopadhyay S, Sipe TA, Knopf JA, Goetzel RZ, Finnie R, Thota AB; Community Preventive Services Task Force. Legislations and policies to expand mental health and substance abuse benefits in health insurance plans: a community guide systematic economic review. J Ment Health Policy Econ 2015;18:39-48.
- [14] Waheed Y. Transition from millennium development goals to sustainable development goals and hepatitis. Pathog Glob Health 2015;109:353. https://doi.org/10.1080/20477724.201 5.1126035
- [15] Raviglione M, Maher D. Ending infectious diseases in the era of the Sustainable Development Goals. Porto Biomed J 2017;2:140-2. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pbj.2017.08.001
- [16] World Health Organization. Health in 2015: From MDGs, Millennium Development Goals, to SDGs, Sustainable Development Goals. 1 ed. World Health Organization 2016.
- [17] Waheed Y, Siddiq M, Jamil Z, Najmi MH. Hepatitis elimination by 2030: Progress and challenges. World J Gastroenterol 2018;24:4959-61. https://doi.org/10.3748/wjg.v24.i44.4959
- [18] Hen S, Mao W, Guo L, Zhang J, Tang S. Combating hepatitis B and C by 2030: achievements, gaps, and options for actions in China. BMJ Glob Health 2020;5:e002306. https:// doi.org/10.1136/bmjgh-2020-002306
- [19] Suthar AB, Harries AD. A public health approach to hepatitis C control in low- and middle-income countries. PLoS Med 2015;12:e1001795. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pmed.1001795
- [20] Behzadifar M, Gorji HA, Rezapour A, Bragazzi NL. The hepatitis C infection in Iran: a policy analysis of agendasetting using Kingdon's multiple streams framework. Health Res Policy Syst 2019;17:30. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12961-019-0436-z
- [21] Razavi H. Polaris Observatory-supporting informed decisionmaking at the national, regional, and global levels to eliminate viral hepatitis. Antivir Ther 2022;27:13596535221083179. https://doi.org/10.1177/13596535221083179
- [22] European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control. The sustainable development goals and hepatitis B and C in the EU/EEA 2021. Available at: https://www.ecdc.europa.eu/ en/publications-data/hepatitis-b-and-c-sustainable-development-goals-eu-eea (Accessed on: 2 July 2021).
- [23] Behzadifar M, Azari S, Gorji HA, Martini M, Bragazzi NL. The hepatitis C virus in Iran: health policy, historical, ethical issues and future challenges. J Prev Med Hyg 2020;61:E109-E18. https://doi.org/10.15167/2421-4248/ jpmh2020.61.1.1438
- [24] Iran Hepatitis Network. Hepatitis in Iran 2019. Available at: https://www.isna.ir/news/97073016857 (Accessed on: 3 July 2021).
- [25] Rezaei N, Asadi-Lari M, Sheidaei A, Gohari K, Parsaeian M, Khademioureh S, Maghsoudlu M, Amini Kafiabad S, Zadsar M, Motevalian SA, Delavari F, Abedini S, FarzadFar F. Epidemiology of Hepatitis B in Iran from 2000 to 2016: a systematic review and meta-regression analysis. Arch Iran Med 2020;23:189-96.
- [26] Behzadifar M, Gorji HA, Rezapour A, Rezvanian A, Bragazzi NL, Vatankhah S. Hepatitis C virus-related policy-making in Iran: a stakeholder and social network analysis. Health Res Policy Syst 2019;17:42. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12961-019-0442-1
- [27] Behzadifar M, Gorji HA, Rezapour A, Bragazzi NL, Alavian SM. The role of the Primary Healthcare Network in Iran in hepatitis C virus elimination by 2030. J Virus Erad 2018;4:186-8.
- [28] Lankarani KB, Alavian SM, Peymani P. Health in the Islamic Republic of Iran, challenges and progresses. Med J Islam Repub Iran 2013;27:42-9.

- [29] Parija PP, M MK. Hepatitis B vaccine birth dose in India: time to reconsider. Hum Vaccin Immunother 2020;16:158-60. https://doi.org/10.1080/21645515.2019.1640557
- [30] Zhao H, Zhou X, Zhou YH. Hepatitis B vaccine development and implementation. Hum Vaccin Immunother 2020;16:1533-44. https://doi.org/10.1080/21645515.2020.1732166
- [31] Cho EJ, Kim SE, Suk KT, An J, Jeong SW, Chung WJ, Kim YJ. Current status and strategies for hepatitis B control in Korea. Clin Mol Hepatol 2017;23:205-11. https://doi. org/10.3350/cmh.2017.0104

Received on September 28, 2022. Accepted on November 29, 2022.

Correspondence: Masoud Behzadifar, Social Determinants of Health Research Center, Lorestan University of Medical Sciences, Khorramabad, Iran. Lorestan University of Medical Sciences, Anooshirvan Rezaei Square, Khorramabad, Lorestan, Iran. Tel.: +98 -066-33302033 - E-mail: masoudbehzadifar@gmail.com; Behzadifar@lums.ac.ir

How to cite this article: Behzadifar M, Azari S, Shirkhani S, Gholamrezaei S, Shahabi S, Doshmangir L, Ehsanzadeh SJ, Martini M, Bragazzi NL, Behzadifar M. Hepatitis B vaccination in Iran: Historical policies and programs. J Prev Med Hyg 2022;63:E618-E624. https://doi. org/10.15167/2421-4248/jpmh2022.63.4.2731

© Copyright by Pacini Editore Srl, Pisa, Italy

This is an open access article distributed in accordance with the CC-BY-NC-ND (Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International) license. The article can be used by giving appropriate credit and mentioning the license, but only for non-commercial purposes and only in the original version. For further information: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/deed.en

OPEN ACCESS

HISTORY OF MEDICINE AND

The Story of the plague in the Maritime Republic of Genoa (Italy) (1656-1657): An innovative public health system and an efficacious method of territorial health organization

MARIANO MARTINI^{1,2}, PAOLO CALCAGNO³, FRANCESCO BRIGO⁴, FRANCESCA FERRANDO³ ¹Department of Health Sciences, University of Genoa, Genoa, Italy; ²Unesco Chair "Anthropology of Health – Biosphere and Healing System", University of Genoa, Genoa, Italy; ³Department of Antiquities, Philosophy and History, University of Genoa, Italy; ⁴Department of Neurology, Hospital of Merano (sabes-asdaa), Italy

Keywords

History of pandemics, Plague • Maritime Republic of Genoa • History of public health • Hygiene regulations

Summary

Introduction. With the recent COVID-19 pandemic, the terms quarantine, contagion and infection have again become part of our everyday speech, prompting historians to reflect on the settings in which they were originally used and to make comparisons with the present time. How did people cope with epidemics in the past? What measures were taken?

Objectives. Here, we analyse the institutional response of the Republic of Genoa to a calamity that shook the city – the plague of 1656-1657. In doing so, we focus particularly on the public health measures implemented, as recorded also in unpublished and archival documents.

Discussion. In order to tighten control over the population, Genoa was divided into 20 zones, each of which was placed under the authority of a Commissioner endowed with criminal jurisdiction. The Commissioners' duties concerned the spheres of public

Introduction

The epidemic of bubonic plague that struck Genoa and its domain between May 1656 and August 1657 has gone down in history as the most fierce and devastating calamity to strike the territory of the Republic of Genoa during the modern age.

"To preserve and to rid the city of the plague" (Fig. 1) Its severity is revealed by copious historiography, which, right from the beginning of the epidemic, dealt with the characteristics of the disease and the means utilised to curb its spread. In addition to the testimony of those who played an active role in the fight against the plague, such as the Augustinian friar Antero da San Bonaventura [1], Chaplain of the Consolazione plague hospital, and the Capuchin friar Maurizio da Tolone (a so-called "perfumer") [2], we have the accounts collected by the notary Giovanni Bartolomeo Campasso, Chancellor to the Health Magistrate in 1669 [3].

The plague in Genoa: a "Mediterranean plague"

The Republic of Genoa, which had been spared (and

health, public order and those tasks which today we would assign to "civil protection". Through the official documentation and the trial records kept by the Chancellor of one of these zones, we can shed light on the Commissioners' everyday activities and assess the impact of the public health measures on the population. **Conclusions**. The 17th century plague in Genoa provides us with an important testimony of a well-organised and structured public health policy – an institutional response involving the adoption of efficacious measures of safety and prevention in the field of hygiene and public health. From the historical-social, normative and public health parenexities.

and public health perspectives, this meaningful experience highlights the organisation of a large port city, which was at the time a flourishing commercial and financial hub.

therefore not immunised) by the 1630-1633 series of epidemics recalled by Manzoni, was one of the four Italian theatres, together with Sardinia, the Papal State and the Kingdom of Naples, of what Bruno Anatra described as "a Mediterranean plague" [4]. The epidemic broke out in 1647 on the African coast, from where it spread first to Andalusia and then to Catalonia. It was subsequently carried by an infected ship from the port of Barcelona, reaching Sardinia in 1652. In Sardinia, the disease struck in two waves:

- the first wave (1652-1653) involved the northern part of the island and carried a mortality rate of over 55%;
- the second wave (1654-1657) involved the central and southern parts, from where it spread to mainland Italy.

Between April and May 1656, the plague reached Naples, followed by Rome and finally Genoa. The pattern of its spread was always the same; the disease first appeared in the vicinity of a port (in Rome, the cities of Civitavecchia and Nettuno) and then spread like wildfire throughout the rest of the territory, following trade routes and the pathways of flight from the cities to the countryside. Mortality rates varied enormously according to the geographical area affected, ranging from a minimum of 7.8% in Rome to horrendous levels in Naples and Genoa, where more than half of the population perished [5].



This disparity, however, did not stem from a lack of attention or preparation on the part of those responsible for tackling the emergency, as is well demonstrated by the case of the Republic of Genoa, the only one of the four above-mentioned states that had had a permanent and well-organised body dedicated to public health since the first half of the 16th century. Indeed, as Giovanni Assereto pointed out, the plague did not catch the city off its guard; the public health system, which had already been tested by the 1648-1650 epidemic of exanthematous typhus, was activated as soon as the plague manifested itself in Sardinia. Nevertheless, the attempt to cordon off the city, to impose quarantine and to ban the importation of goods coming from infected areas did not meet with success, and in May 1656, the disease reached Genoa's neighbouring villages in the Bisagno Captaincy [6].

According to some sources, the plague had been brought in by a few sailors arriving from Sardinia, who, having come ashore at Sturla, had sold "certain infected stuff" without respecting the hygiene regulations issued by the Magistrate [7]. According to others, the disease had been brought into the "marinas of Albaro" by Neapolitan refugees [8]. Whatever its vector was, however, the plague raged in the area and, despite efforts to protect Genoa (the capital), penetrated within the city's walls in July of the same year. The trend in contagion, which was initially fairly constant, displayed a downturn during the winter months; subsequently, however, it rose again, reaching its peak of morbidity and mortality as the weather warmed up in 1657, reflecting the life-cycle of fleas [8].

Public health measures and the role of the "Health Magistrate": hygiene regulations and sanctions

The measures implemented by the Health Magistrate roughly retraced the model that had already been tried and tested during the plague of 1579: public health officers were deployed to guard the coasts; the city gates

.....

were garrisoned, and a network of secondary hospitals was created to relieve the pressure on the Lazaretto at the Foce [6]. Paradoxically, the place where these measures differed most markedly from the previous intervention was the city of Genoa itself, which was divided into smaller districts in order to facilitate the application of the public health measures. In September 1656, the city authorities identified four areas (Fig. 2) inside the ancient walls; named after the patron saints of the city (St Laurence, St George, St John the Baptist and St Bernard), each of these areas was subdivided into five zones, denominated by the letters A to E [9]. Administration of these zones was entrusted to "Commissioners", who were randomly selected from among all the patricians aged between 25 and 70 years, excluding those already engaged as health officers in the coastal areas.

.....

The Commissioners of the zones were called upon to enforce the regulations of the Health Magistrate and to maintain public order. However, they also had duties in the sphere of public health and assistance [3]. For instance, they were to ensure cleanliness of the streets, supervise the burning of infected material, coordinate health personnel, seal warehouses containing precious goods in order to avoid their contamination, and authorise all movement of persons and things within their zone. In particular, they had to make sure that the physician and surgeon assigned to the zone did not leave it, even during the night, and to check that the procedures of quarantine and conveyance to the plague hospitals were meticulously implemented. Anyone who did not obey the Commissioner's orders was liable to be imprisoned or sentenced to serve as a galley slave, at the discretion of the Commissioner himself.

In order to carry out his duties, each Commissioner was assisted by a Chancellor and 6-8 "*Capistrada*" (neighbourhood watchmen), who were appointed at the moment of the Commissioner's election [3]. These latter constituted the Commissioner's network of informers and executors on the ground; they verified the proper functioning of "sewers and wash-houses", visited people in quarantine, and distributed bread and alms to the poorest. Their principal task, however, was to carry out a



census of the population living in the streets under their jurisdiction and to record, for each house:

• the surname and first name of the master [...]; whether he had a wife; how many sons and daughters he had and the age of each one; and, if the family kept servants, how many of each sex [...]. Regarding persons of inferior condition, the quality of the house was to be recorded (*i.e.* whether it had its own entrance), and, if such persons worked for a living, *whether on a large or small scale*) [3].

In the case of strangers, it was to be ascertained how long they had been in Genoa and whether they were vagabonds. The "Magistrato di consegna", who was responsible for checking on outsiders, was to facilitate this operation by not permitting "strangers, vagabonds, ne'er-do-wells and scroungers to remain in the city" [3]. This diffidence towards marginalised individuals stemmed from the ambivalent nature of the pauper, who was regarded both as an image of Christ and as a public health risk. Indeed, the conviction that the plague was caused by corrupted air aroused suspicion that the disease might be spread by poor individuals, who were typically dirty [13]. Thus, during the 1656 plague, the Magistrate for the poor suspended the Sunday distribution of "charity" bread in order to avoid dangerous gatherings of paupers, and the Commissioners took over the task of distributing alms door-to-door [3]. At the same time, the neighbourhood watchmen were called upon to report those who lived in hovels or makeshift accommodation, so that the Magistrate could find adequate housing for them. As pointed out by Maria Francesca Raggi in a letter, a good proportion of the lower orders lived "in houses of 10 or 12 families, where the plague was to be found even in healthy periods, owing to the filth and infected air therein" [8].

To study the social impact of the measures implemented, we consulted the deeds of the notary Giovanni Battista Lavagnino, Chancellor to Felice Spinola, the Commissioner of zone D of the St Laurence district. This documentation enabled us to investigate the everyday activities of the Commissioner and to sample the difficulties encountered in applying the public health provisions regarding the burning of infected materials and the limitation of the movement of inhabitants. Silk, velvet and leather were considered to be particularly dangerous, as the particles of contagion could easily adhere to these materials and remain active for years. According to one coeval source: Such materials, albeit not easily receiving contagion, conserve it for two or more years, as it is closed within and forms over time, becoming more active and efficacious than it was at the beginning. Merely by using an infected cotton cloth that covered a diamond, many people have died, and also after opening a trunk full of infected garments [11].

The only way to get rid of the danger was to burn any goods that had been in contact with plague victims, regardless of their financial value. To prevent this potential loss of property, several patricians and merchants asked the Commissioner to seal rooms in their houses and warehouses where they kept precious furnishings, unsold

goods and semi-finished raw materials. Dealers in silk and wool regarded this freezing of their activities as a necessary evil that could save them from the much greater loss of having all their material burnt. At the moment when the room was sealed, the Chancellor drew up a deed describing the room, its contents and the paper seal, in order to be able to check that it was not broken too soon. Most people, however, could not afford to avail themselves of these procedures and, heedless of the risks involved, appropriated furniture and materials that had belonged to plague victims and hid them from the neighbourhood watchmen. Giovanni Battista Lavagnino's papers include about 20 accusations, excerpts from trials and witness accounts that testify to this type of fraud and misappropriation. Sometimes, penal proceedings were initiated after a case of plague and the reconstruction of the network of contacts of the deceased. For instance:

- the death of Bastiana, a washerwoman from Bastia, helped to unmask a ring of smugglers of "*pepper*, *cloves... and Barbary wool*" run by Corsican soldiers billeted at the plague hospital at the Foce, together with compatriots of theirs who washed clothes in the river Bisagno [12];
- in the case of the trial of Faustina Giannina, who was accused of keeping on her balcony a trunk of clothes that had belonged to her daughter and son-in-law, both of whom had died of the plague, it was one of the woman's neighbours who reported the fact [13].

The information network of the local Commissioners and their neighbourhood watchmen was supported by part of the citizenry, alarmed by the high mortality of the epidemic and its economic consequences. The population was particularly sensitive to the issue of adherence to quarantine, so much so that accusations were made which subsequently proved unfounded:

on 3 October, Cesare Corte, "prompted by the interest of the public good [...] reported seeing a boy come out of the Torre Tavern situated in Sosilia and then go back in through the same door after buying a little tobacco from a spicer who was standing in the vicinity of the said tavern" [14]. The tavern had been placed under quarantine a few days earlier, but, according to Corte, the boy had gone in and come out through a small aperture in the façade of the building. Although the report had been made "quite late" in the evening, the Commissioner ordered that "due information" should immediately be gathered by the neighbourhood watchman and the notary; the boy, who was blind in one eye, was immediately identified, and both he and the spicer were interrogated. The boy swore that the tobacco and the money (soaked in vinegar) had only been passed under the door of the tavern. Unconvinced, the investigators insisted on testing whether it was physically possible for the boy to enter the tavern by passing through the aperture. After ascertaining that, "having made the said boy lie on the ground and having tried to push him through the aperture", it was not possible for the boy to get in that way, even "by pushing him hard", his questioners accepted the hapless lad's version;

• equally unfounded was the allegation made in an anonymous letter sent to Francesco Invrea, the Commissioner of zone E of the St George district, in February 1657. The writer claimed that the baker's assistant Bernardo Musso had the plague [...]. After investigation by the neighbourhood watchman and medical examinations by the physician and the surgeon, the Commissioner was obliged to admit that the report was groundless.

The Genoese plague hospitals: structure, organisation and location

Unfortunately, analysis of the available sources does not enable us to determine whether the accusations made were prompted by mass hysteria or by a desire for personal vendetta. Nevertheless, what emerges is that the system was efficient, well-tested and generally appreciated by the citizenry. Only a few anonymous denunciations of the woeful state of the plague hospitals and of the abuses perpetrated by the neighbourhood watchmen in some zones testify to a more variegated picture.

Some of the patricians openly opposed conveyance to the plague hospital at the Foce, as this facility did not ensure a treatment worthy of their social class; indeed, nobles were obliged to share the same spaces with members of the lower orders. Moreover, numerous informers pointed to the scant efficacy of the therapy offered, and even claimed that transferring a sick person to the plague hospital at the Foce was tantamount to issuing a death sentence (Fig. 3). Likewise, the Consolazione plague hospital was dubbed by the author of one missive as the "Desolation Hospital", as it was "infected" and its beds were "diseased and plague-ridden" [15].

In addition, corpse-gatherers and neighbourhood watchmen were accused of exploiting their position in order to commit theft and perpetrate violence. Indeed, surveying the population, questioning people and assisting the sick gave them the opportunity to examine the premises and to spot the most attractive objects to steal. Moreover, when a new Commissioner was appointed in zone E of the St George district in 1657, the previous neighbourhood watchmen were accused of stealing bread and arms intended for the poor and of taking bribes in order to close one eye to quarantine violations. Some of these abuses were reported shortly after they had been perpetrated, while others came to the attention of the Health Magistrate only in 1658, when the epidemic was over.

Despite these distortions, the end of the plague did not mark the end of the city's subdivision into districts; on the contrary, this scheme was adopted several times during the course of the 17th century, in order to carry out censuses of the population and other operations, such as the assignment of street numbers to buildings and the maintenance of public lighting [16]. Indeed, the dense information network utilised by the Commissioners proved to be a perfect means of controlling the territory and implementing measures aimed at safeguarding the citizenry.



Conclusions

The experience of the plague in Genoa in the 17th century once again testifies to the importance of adopting measures of safety and prevention in the field of hygiene and public health [17, 18]. This testimony is interesting from both the historical-social and public health standpoints, in that it dates back to a period in which public health legislation was not particularly advanced and the population was often scantly informed of the regulations to be respected and the measures to be implemented [19].

Indeed, in terms of hygiene, people's behaviours and habits, not only at that time but also even later, left much to be desired and were certainly not sufficient to ensure proper compliance with the principal rules of public health [20, 21].

This was the case even in "uneventful" conditions, and all the more so when such aggressive, devastating and, above all, rapid events occurred, as in the case described above. And yet, albeit with due caution and considering the standards of large cities in the middle of the 17th century, we can claim that Genoa was well organised from the public health standpoint; its planning was innovative and its set of dedicated norms and system of sanctions proved to be fairly efficacious. In order to curb the diffusion of the plague, the city was subdivided into restricted areas,

Fig. 3. State archive of Genoa, Health Office n. 1881 (Archivio di Stato di Genova, Ufficio di Sanità, N. 1881).

which were placed under the control, management and organisation of local Commissioners.

This helped to limit the further spread of contagion, providing greater equilibrium and more efficient organisation. This approach gained the approval of the citizenry, so much so that, once the emergency was over, the subdivision of the city into districts was maintained, being adopted for various purposes on other occasions during the course of the 17th century [20]. Indeed, it was an efficient structure that utilised a robust information network in order to control the territory and to implement measures aimed at protecting the city and its inhabitants.

Funding

This research did not receive any specific grant from funding agencies in the public, commercial, or not-forprofit sectors.

Conflict of interest statement

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

Author's contribution

FF and MM designed the study, conceived and drafted the manuscript; PC, FB and MM revised the manuscript, FF performed a search of the literature. All authors critically revised the manuscript. All authors have read and approved the latest version of the paper for publication.

References

- Antero da San Bonaventura P. Li lazaretti della città e riviere di Genova del MDCLVII [...] descritti dal R. P. Antero Maria da S. Bonaventura scalzo agostiniano, Genova, Pietro Giovanni Calenzani e Francesco Meschini, 1658, ristampa anastatica: Genova 1974.
- [2] Maurizio da Tolone, Trattato politico da praticarsi ne' tempi di peste circa gl'ordini communi e particolari dell'infermarie, purgationi e quarantene, Genova, Pietro e Giovanni Calenzani 1661.

- [3] Biblioteca Medica Mario Segale, Compendio de' decreti de Ser. mi Colleggi et Ill.mo Mag.to di Sanità con insertione di leggi de Consegli della Ser.ma Rep.ca per preservare, e liberare la città e dominio dalla peste negl'anni 1656 e 1657 raccolti da Gio. Bartolomeo Campasso, 1669.
- [4] Anatra B. La peste del 1647-1658 nel Mediterraneo occidentale: il versante italiano, in Popolazione, società e ambiente. Temi di demografia storica italiana (secc. XVII-XIX). Bologna: Clueb 1990, p. 549.
- [5] Topi L. Forme di controllo in una città "appestata": Roma 1656-1657. Eurostudium 2017:25-26.
- [6] Assereto G. Per la comune salvezza dal morbo contagioso, Novi Lig: La città del silenzio 2011.
- [7] ASG, Senato Senarega, n. 114, 27 July 1656.
- [8] Presotto D. Genova 1656-1657. Cronache di una pestilenza, in «Atti della Società ligure di Storia patria», n.s., V (LXXIX), 1965, fasc. II, p. 320-329.
- [9] ASG, Sanità, n. 1881, 13 sept 1656.
- [10] Pullan B. Plague and perceptions of the poor in early modern Italy. In: Crawshaw JLS (a cura di), Plague Hospitals. Public Health for the City in Early Modern Venice. Farnham: Ashgate Publishing Company 2012, pp. 101-123.
- [11] ASG, Manoscritti, n. 265, 1657.
- [12] ASG, Notai giudiziari, n. 2080, 1 sept 1656.
- [13] ASG, Notai giudiziari, n. 2080, 1 nov 1656.
- [14] ASG, Notai giudiziari, n. 2080, 3 oct 1656.
- [15] ASG, Ufficio di Sanità, n. 1891, 11 may 1657.
- [16] ASG, Senato Senarega, n. 1092.
- [17] Orsini D, Martini M. From inoculation to vaccination: the fight against smallpox in Siena in the 18th and 19th centuries. Infez Med 2020;4:634e41.
- [18] Martini M, Brigo F, Rasori G. Vaccination in the 19th century in Italy and the role of the catholic church in public health: a historical overview. J Prev Med Hyg 2022;63:E104e8. https://doi. org/10.15167/2421-4248/jpmh2022.63.1.2518
- [19] Bifulco M, Di Zazzo E, Pisanti S, Martini M, Orsini D. The nineteenth-century experience of the kingdom of the two Sicilies on mandatory vaccination: An Italian phenomenon? Vaccine 2022;40:3452-4. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.vaccine.2022.04.052
- [20] Martini M, Bifulco M, Orsini M. Smallpox vaccination and vaccine hesitancy in the Kingdom of the Two Sicilies (1801) and the great modernity of Ferdinand IV of Bourbon: a glimpse of the past in the era of the SARS-COV-2 (COVID-19) pandemic. Public Health 2022;213:47e53. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. puhe.2022.09.012
- [21] Barberis I, Martini M, Iavarone F, Orsi A. Available influenza vaccines: immunization strategies, history and new tools for fighting the disease. J Prev Med Hyg 2016;57:E41-E46.

.....

Received on March 11, 2022. Accepted on November 25, 2022.

Correspondence: Mariano Martini, Department of Health Sciences, University of Genoa, Genoa, Italy, Largo R. Benzi, n. 10 – Pad. 3, 16132, Genoa, Italy. E-mail: mariano.yy@gmail.com; mariano.martini@unige.it

How to cite this article: Martini M, Calcagno P, Brigo F, Ferrando F. The Story of the plague in the Maritime Republic of Genoa (Italy) (1656-1657): An innovative public health system and an efficacious method of territorial health organization. J Prev Med Hyg 2022;63:E625-E629. https://doi.org/10.15167/2421-4248/jpmh2022.63.4.2781

This is an open access article distributed in accordance with the CC-BY-NC-ND (Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivatives 4.0 International) license. The article can be used by giving appropriate credit and mentioning the license, but only for non-commercial purposes and only in the original version. For further information: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/deed.en

[©] Copyright by Pacini Editore Srl, Pisa, Italy







SANOFI PASTEUR 🎝



